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EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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Fax: (441) 292-3931
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Securities registered, or to be registered, pursudro Section 12(b) of the Act.
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such shorter period that the registrant was reduaesubmit and post such files). Ydxl No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer. See definition of
“accelerated filer and large accelerated filerRnle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large Accelerated FilerX] Accelerated Filer Non-Accelerated Filer [J

Indicate by check mark which basis of accountirgrégistrant has used to prepare the financiasiatts included in this filing:

U.S. GAAP International Financial Reporting Standards aseidsu Other O
by the International Accounting Standards Boe[l
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PART |

This annual report of Teekay LNG Partners L.P. om#20-F for the year ended December 31, 20126oual Repor} should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statetseand accompanying notes included in this report.

Unless otherwise indicated, references in thisgeotus to “Teekay LNG Partners,” “we,” “us” and tdand similar terms refer to Teekay
LNG Partners L.P. and/or one or more of its subsids, except that those terms, when used in thigiAl Report in connection with the
common units described herein, shall mean spelijffitaekay LNG Partners L.P. References in this éairReport to “Teekay Corporation”
refer to Teekay Corporation and/or any one or nodiies subsidiaries.

In addition to historical information, this Annuakport contains forward-looking statements thabive risks and uncertainties. Such forward-
looking statements relate to future events andperations, objectives, expectations, performaimancial condition and intentions. When
used in this Annual Report, the words “expect,téimd,” “plan,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “estimatednd variations of such words and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-logkétatements. Forward-looking statements in thisuah Report include, in particular,
statements regarding:

. our ability to make cash distributions on our ulit@any increases in quarterly distributio

. our future financial condition and results of ogenas and our future revenues and exper

. growth prospects of the liquefied natural gasLNG) and liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) shipping and oil tanker marke
. LNG, LPG and tanker market fundamentals, includimgbalance of supply and demand in the LNG, LP&tanker markets

. our ability to conduct and operate our businessthadusiness of our subsidiaries in a manner thiaimizes taxes imposed upon
us and our subsidiarie

. the expected lifespan of our vess:

. the expected source of funds for s-term and lon-term liquidity needs

. estimated capital expenditures and our abilityurdfthem;

. our ability to maintain lon-term relationships with major LNG and LPG importar&l exporters and major crude oil compar
. our ability to leverage to our advantage TeekaypGratior s relationships and reputation in the shipping #tiduy

. our continued ability to enter into lo-term, fixec-rate time-charters with our LNG and LPG custome

. our expectation of not earning revenues from voydgeters in the foreseeable futL

. the recent economic downturn and financial crisithe global market and potential negative effect®ur customers’ ability to
charter our vessels and pay for our servi

. obtaining LNG and LPG projects that we or Teekayp@eation bid on or that Teekay Corporation haslmearded

. our ability to maximize the use of our vessels|uding the re-deployment or disposition of vessgldonger under long-term
charter;

. expected purchases and deliveries of newbuildilsgele and commencement of service of newbuildingeulong-term contracts
and our ability to obtain lor-term contracts on our newbuilding

. the expected timing, amount and method of finan&imghe purchase of five of our leased Suezmaketem
. our expected financial flexibility to pursue acqtiis and other expansion opportuniti
. our ability to continue to obtain all permits, licses, and certificates material to our operati

. the expected cost of, and our ability to complyhwgovernmental regulations and maritime self-ratpulyy organization standards
applicable to our busines

. the expected cost to install ballast water treatragstems on our tankers in compliance with IMOpoisals;
. the expected impact of heightened environmentalqaiadity concerns of insurance underwriters, retgutaand charterer
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. the adequacy of our insurance coverage for acc-related risks, environmental damage and pollut
. the future valuation of goodwil

. our expectations as to any impairment of our ves

. our involvement in any EU ar-trust investigation of container line operatc

. our expectation regarding our ves’ ability to perform to specifications and maintdaeit hire rates
. anticipated taxation of our partnership and itssedibries; anc

. our business strategy and other plans and objactreuture operation:

Forward-looking statements involve known and unkneisks and are based upon a number of assumptimhestimates that are inherently
subject to significant uncertainties and contingesiamany of which are beyond our control. Actwslults may differ materially from those
expressed or implied by such forward-looking staets. Important factors that could cause actualtet differ materially include, but are
not limited to those factors discussed in ItemKey Information — Risk Factors”, and other factdetailed from time to time in other reports
we file with or furnish to the U.S. Securities a@axichange Commission (or ti$EC).

We do not intend to revise any forwdabking statements in order to reflect any chamgeur expectations or events or circumstancesnlag
subsequently arise. You should carefully review emasider the various disclosures included in Ariaual Report and in our other filings
made with the SEC that attempt to advise intergséeties of the risks and factors that may affectlusiness prospects and results of
operations.

Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management ad Advisors
Not applicable

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable

Item 3. Key Information
Selected Financial Data

Set forth below is selected consolidated finanaral other data of Teekay LNG Partners and its digv&és for the fiscal years 2008 through
2012, which have been derived from our consolidéitehcial statements. The following table shoutdreéad together with, and is qualified in
its entirety by reference to, (a) Item 5. “Opergtand Financial Review and Prospects,” includeéiheand (b) the historical consolidated
financial statements and the accompanying notestenBeport of Independent Registered Public ActngriFirm therein (which are included
herein), with respect to the consolidated finansiatements for the years ended December 31, 2012,and 2010.

From time to time we purchase vessels from Teelap&@ation. In 2008 and 2010, we acquired two LN#&iers and three conventional
tankers from Teekay Corporation, respectively. Ehtesnsactions were deemed to be business aconsshietween entities under common
control. Accordingly, we have accounted for theaedactions in a manner similar to the poolinghtdriest method whereby our financial
statements prior to the date these vessels wetéraddy us are retroactively adjusted to incluteresults of these acquired vessels. The
periods retroactively adjusted include all perititt we and the acquired vessels were both underaimmon control of Teekay Corporation
and had begun operations. As a result, our coreelidstatements of income (loss) for the yearsceBegeember 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
reflect the results of operations of these fiveseés referred to herein as theopdown Predecessomas if we had acquired them when each
respective vessel began operations under the ohipeyETeekay Corporation, which were Decemberd® &4, 2007 for the two LNG
carriers, and between May 2009 and September 2008 three conventional tankers. Please refdeto 5 — “Operating and Financial
Review and Prospects: Results of Operations — I¥oousShould Consider When Evaluating Our Result®pérations”.

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with United States generally acceptedunting principles (@GBAAP).

5
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(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except per unit et data

Income Statement Data:

Voyage revenue

Operating expense

Voyage expensed)

Vessel operating expens®)

Depreciation and amortizatic

General and administrati

Write down of vessel

Gain on sale of vess

Restructuring charg

Goodwill impairment

Total operating expens

Income from vessel operatio

Equity income®)

Interest expens

Interest incomt

Realized and unrealized loss on derivative instnts®

Foreign currency exchange gain (Io®

Other income (expens

Income tax expens

Net (loss) incomu

Non-controlling interest in net (loss) incor

Dropdown Predeces¢'s interest in net (loss) incon

General Partn’s interest in net (loss) incon

Limited partner’ interest in net (loss) incon

Limited partner’ interest in net (loss) income pi
Common unit (basic and dilute
Subordinated unit (basic and dilute
Total unit (basic and dilutec

Cash distributions declared per u

Balance Sheet Dati(at end of period)

Cash and cash equivalel

Restricted cas®

Vessels and equipme®

Net investments in direct financing lea®

Total asset(®)

Total debt and capital lease obligati«®

Partner’ and Dropdown Predecessor eqt

Common units outstandir

Subordinated units outstandi

Cash Flow Data:

Net cash provided by (used il

Operating activitie:

Financing activitie:

Investing activities

Other Financial Data:

Net voyage revenue®

EBITDA @0

Adjusted EBITDA®O)

Capital expenditure:

Expenditures for vessels and equipmr

Expenditures for dry dockin

Liguefied Gas Fleet Data:(11)

Calenda-shig-days®2)

Average age of our fleet (in years at end of per

Vessels at end of peric

Conventional Fleet Data:
Calenda-shif-dayst2)
Average age of our fleet (in years at end of pgr

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
$ $ $ $ $
314,40 343,04 374,00¢ 379,97! 392,25:
3,25¢ 2,03¢ 2,04z 1,387 1,772
77,11 82,37« 84,57 89,04¢ 86,34
76,88( 82,68¢ 89,34% 91,91¢ 99,82t
20,20: 19,76« 23,24 24,12( 27,14¢
— — — — 29,36
— — (4,340 — —
— 3,25(C 17t — —
3,64¢ - - - -
181,09! 190,10¢ 195,04 206,47. 244 ,46(
133,30 152,94( 178,96( 173,50: 147,79:.
13€ 27,63¢ 8,04: 20,58¢ 78,86¢
(138,31) (60,45Y) (49,019 (49,88() (54,217
64,32t 13,87: 7,19(C 6,687 3,50z
(99,95/) (40,95() (78,720 (63,030) (29,620)
18,24« (10,80¢) 27,54: 10,31( (8,249
1,25( 392 615 (37) 1,68
(205) (694) (1,670) (781) (625)
(21,217) 81,93% 92,94 97,35¢ 139,14:
(40,699 29,31( 3,06z 7,50¢ 15,43;
894 5,30z 2,25¢ — —
11,98¢ 5,18( 8,89¢ 11,47: 21,30:
6,60: 42,14°* 78,72¢ 78,37 102,40:
0.65 0.8¢ 1.4¢ 1.3 1.5¢
(0.29) 0.8C 2.0¢ — —
0.3¢€ 0.8t 1.4¢ 1.3 1.5¢
2.180( 2.280( 2.370( 2.520( 2.655(
117,64 108,35( 81,05¢ 93,62° 113,57
642,94¢ 611,52 572,13t 495,63: 528,58
2,207,87: 2,077,60. 2,019,571 2,021,12! 1,949,641
— 421.,44: 415,69! 409,54: 403,38t
3,432,84! 3,578,41. 3,547,39! 3,588,73 3,785,441
2,199,95; 2,257,60: 2,137,24! 1,962,27. 2,050,922
805,85: 903,23: 896,20( 1,113,46 1,212,98!
33,338,32 44,972,56 55,106,10 64,857,90 69,683,76
11,050,92 7,367,28I — — —
149,57( 171,38 174,97( 122,04¢ 192,01
403,26 (10,060 (167,74 7,17¢ 30,37«
(527,08)  (170,61Y (34,519  (116,64)  (202,43)
311,15: 341,01« 371,96t 378,58t 390,47¢
129,86! 211,90: 225,79( 233,24¢ 290,30:
206,60: 255,03: 277,33« 291,70t 352,89(
172,09: 134,92¢ 26,65: 64,68t 39,89«
11,96¢ 9,72¢ 12,721 19,63¢ 7,49
3,701 4,631 5,051 5,12¢ 5,85¢
4.4 4.€ 5.3 5.8 6.€
11 14 13 16 16
2,92¢ 3,44¢ 4,01¢ 4,01t 4,02¢
5.2 5.1 6.1 6.C 7.C



Vessels at end of peric 8 11 11 11

(1) Voyage expenses are all expenses unique tdiayar voyage, including any bunker fuel expengest fees, cargo loading and
unloading expenses, canal tolls, agency fees amanéssions
(2) Vessel operating expenses include crewing, repailsmaintenance, insurance, stores, lube oils amgntinication expense
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(3)
(4)

()

(6)

(7)
(8)

(9)

Equity income includes unrealized gains (lopsesderivative instruments of nil, $10.9 milliai$6.5) million, ($5.8) million and $5.5
million, for the years ended December 31, 200892@010, 2011 and 2012, respectiv

We entered into interest rate swaps to mitigateinterest rate risk from our floating-rate ddéases and restricted cash. We also have
entered into an agreement with Teekay Corporagtating to the Toledo Spirit time-charter contraatier which Teekay Corporation
pays us any amounts payable to the chartereresult of spot rates being below the fixed rate,@agay Teekay Corporation any
amounts payable to us as a result of spot rateg lireiexcess of the fixed rate. Changes in thevine of our derivatives are recognized
immediately into income and are presented as eshbnd unrealized loss on derivative instrumentlerconsolidated statements of
income (loss). Please see Item- Financial Statements: Note — Derivative Instruments

Substantially all of these foreign currencyeaage gains and losses were unrealized and nietdsigttcash. Under GAAP, all foreign
currency-denominated monetary assets and lialilisech as cash and cash equivalents, accounigafglee restricted cash, accounts
payable, accrued liabilities, unearned revenueaiacks from affiliates, long-term debt and capiabkk obligations, are revalued and
reported based on the prevailing exchange rateeatrid of the period. Starting in May 2012, foredgehange gains and losses included
realized and unrealized gains and losses on ogs @arrency swaps. Our primary sources for thedoreurrency exchange gains and
losses are our Euro-denominated term loans and égpan Kroner-denominated (BiOK) bonds. Euro-denominated term loans totaled
296.4 million Euros ($414.1 million) at December 2008, 288.0 million Euros ($412.4 million) at Reaber 31, 2009, 278.9 million
Euros ($373.3 million) at December 31, 2010, 268illon Euros ($348.9 million) at December 31, 2Crid 258.8 million Euros ($34
million) at December 31, 2012. N(-denominated bonds were issued in 2012 and tot&led million NOK ($125.8 million)

We operate certain of our LNG carriers undgr¢ase arrangements. Under these arrangementgmeeyv under term loans and deposit
the proceeds into restricted cash accounts. Coertilyr we enter into capital leases for the vesseld the vessels are recorded as asset
on our consolidated balance sheets. The restrigtsld deposits, plus the interest earned on thesdepwill equal the remaining amounts
we owe under the capital lease arrangements, iimgjualr obligations to purchase the vessels attiteof the lease term where
applicable. Therefore, the payments under our ahlgiases are fully funded through our restricteshcdeposits, and our continuing
obligation is the repayment of the term loans. Heeveunder GAAP we record both the obligations uride capital leases and the term
loans as liabilities, and both the restricted adegbosits and our vessels under capital leasesatsaghis accounting treatment has the
effect of increasing our assets and liabilitiedhsy amount of restricted cash deposits relatingeacorresponding capital lease
obligations.

Vessels and equipment consist of (a) our vesaglost less accumulated depreciation, (b) ieeasder capital leases, at cost less
accumulated depreciation and (c) advances on aubuilings.

The external charters that commenced in 2008 Wie Tangguh Production Sharing Contractors lhees accounted for as direct
financing leases. As a result, the two LNG vesskistered to The Tangguh Production Sharing Camtrai@re not included as part of
vessels and equipmel

Consistent with general practice in the shigpidustry, we use net voyage revenues (definetyage revenues less voyage expenses;
as a measure of equating revenues generated frgagea@harters to revenues generated from timearsawhich assists us in making
operating decisions about the deployment of ouselesand their performance. Under time-chartershiagterer pays the voyage
expenses, whereas under voyage charter contracshiih owner pays these expenses. Some voyagesespare fixed, and the remainder
can be estimated. If we, as the ship owner, paydljage expenses, we typically pass the approxiaratunt of these expenses on to ou
customers by charging higher rates under the carrabilling the expenses to them. As a resuthalgh voyage revenues from differ:
types of contracts may vary, the net voyage reveane comparable across the different types ofacist We principally use net voyage
revenues, a non-GAAP financial measure, becaysevides more meaningful information to us thanagg revenues, the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measure. Net voyage reesmare also widely used by investors and analys$t® shipping industry for
comparing financial performance between compamesa industry averages. The following table redesmet voyage revenues with
voyage revenue:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
(in thousands of U.S. Dollar 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Voyage revenue 314,40« 343,04¢ 374,00¢ 379,97! 392,25:
Voyage expense (3,259 (2,039 (2,042 (1,387 (1,772
Net voyage revenue 311,15: 341,01- 371,96t 378,58t 390,47¢

(10) EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are used as a seppntal financial measure by management and byretesers of our financial

statements, such as investors, as discussed k

. Financial and operating performan.. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA assist our managemnemd investors by increasing the
comparability of our fundamental performance froemipd to period and against the fundamental perdmae of other companies
our industry that provide EBITDA and Adjusted EBIADnformation. This increased comparability is ashéd by excluding the
potentially disparate effects between periods onganies of interest expense, taxes, depreciatiamortization and realized and
unrealized loss on derivative instruments relatminterest rate swaps and cross currency swapshwtkems are affected by
various and possibly changing financing methodgitabstructure and historical cost basis and witietns may significantly affect
net (loss) income between periods. We believeitithiding EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as financiah@é operating measures
benefits investors in (a) selecting between inwngsith us and other investment alternatives andangmitoring our ongoing financial
and operational strength and health in assessieghehto continue to hold our common un
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. Liquidity. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA allow us to assess thdity of assets to generate cash sufficient twiserdebt, pay
distributions and undertake capital expenditurgseBninating the cash flow effect resulting fromra@xisting capitalization and
other items such as ddecking expenditures, working capital changes anelin currency exchange gains and losses, EBITid
Adjusted EBITDA provides a consistent measure ofahility to generate cash over the long term. Mgmaent uses this
information as a significant factor in determinif@) our proper capitalization (including assess$iog much debt to incur and
whether changes to the capitalization should beednadd (b) whether to undertake material capitpkerlitures and how to finance
them, all in light of our cash distribution polidyse of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as liquidity mmaes also permits investors
to assess the fundamental ability of our businegeherate cash sufficient to meet cash needsidimg distributions on our
common units

Neither EBITDA nor Adjusted EBITDA, which are nonABP measures, should be considered as an alteertativet (loss) income,
income from vessel operations, cash flow from ofregaactivities or any other measure of financiatfprmance or liquidity presented in
accordance with GAAP. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDAckxde some, but not all, items that affect netg)ascome and operating
income, and these measures may vary among othqrasoes. Therefore, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA asganted in this Annual
Report may not be comparable to similarly titledaswees of other companies.

The following table reconciles our historical colidated EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to net (losstime, and our historical
consolidated Adjusted EBITDA to net operating cistv.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31

(in thousands of U.S. Dollar 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Reconciliation 0“EBITDA” and “Adjusted EBITDA” to

“Net (loss) incon”:
Net (loss) incomi (21,219 81,93" 92,94« 97,35¢ 139,14.
Depreciation and amortizatic 76,88( 82,68t 89,34’ 91,91¢ 99,82¢
Interest expense, net of interest incc 73,99: 46,58 41,82¢ 43,19: 50,70¢
Income tax expens 20k 694 1,67( 781 62E
EBITDA 129,86! 211,90: 225,79( 233,24¢ 290,30:
Restructuring charg — 3,25( 17t — —
Write down of vessel — — — — 29,36
Foreign currency exchange (gain) (18,24¢) 10,80¢ (27,54%) (20,310 8,24¢
Gain on sale of vess — — (4,340 — —
Goodwill impairment 3,64¢ — — — —
Unrealized loss (gain) on derivative instrume 84,54¢ 3,78¢ 34,30¢ 2717 (6,900
Realized loss on interest rate sw 6,78¢ 36,22: 42,49t 62,66( 37,42’
Unrealized (gain) loss on interest rate swaps uitgq

accounted joint ventures included in equity incc — (10,936 6,45: 5,83( (5,549
Adjusted EBITDA 206,60: 255,03: 277,33 291,70t 352,89(
Reconciliation 0“Adjusted EBITDA” to “Net operating

cash flov”:
Net operating cash flo 149,57( 171,38« 174,97( 122,04t 192,01:
Expenditures for dry dockin 11,96¢ 9,72¢ 12,727 19,63¢ 7,49:
Interest expense, net of interest incc 73,99: 46,58 41,82¢ 43,19: 50,70¢
Income tax expens 20k 694 1,67( 781 62t
Change in operating assets and liabili (34,450 (28,789 (6,657) 33,45¢ 7,301
Equity income from joint venture 13¢ 27,63¢ 8,04: 20,58« 78,86¢
Restructuring charg — 3,25( 17t — —
Realized loss on interest rate sw 6,78¢ 36,22: 42,49 62,66( 37,42.
Unrealized (gain) loss on interest rate swaps uitgq

accounted joint ventures included in equity incqfoss) — (10,936 6,45: 5,83( (5,54¢9)
Dividends received from equity accounted joint uees — — — (15,340 (14,700
Other, ne (1,604 (7479) (4,37)) (1,149 (1,300
Adjusted EBITDA 206,60: 255,03: 277,33 291,70t 352,89(

(11) Fleet data does not include six LNG carrierslieMALT LNG Carriers) relating to our joint venture with Marubeni Corption, four
LNG carriers (or th&RasGas 3 LNG Carriergrelating to our joint venture with QGTC Nakildt§43-6) Holdings Corporation, four LNG
carriers relating to the Angola Project (or thegola LNG Carrierg and two LNG carriers relating to our joint vergsiwith Exmar NV
(or theExmar LNG Carriers), all of which are accounted for under the equoigthod.

(12) Calendar-ship-days are equal to the aggregatder of calendar days in a period that our vesgete in our possession during that
period (including five vessels deemed to be inpmgsession for accounting purposes as a resuieodfrtpact of the Dropdown
Predecessor prior to our actual acquisition of stedsels)
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RISK FACTORS
We may not have sufficient cash from operationsatoable us to pay the current level of quarterly wisutions on our common units
following the establishment of cash reserves angpent of fees and expenses.

We may not have sufficient cash available eachtquér pay the current level of quarterly distribus on our common units. The amount of
cash we can distribute on our common units pridlgigeepends upon the amount of cash we generate dur operations, which may fluctuate
based on, among other things:

. the rates we obtain from our charte

. the charterers options to terminate charter cotsy

. the level of our operating costs, such as the@oatews and insuranc

. the continued availability of LNG and LPG productidiquefaction and regasification facilitie

. the number of unscheduled off-hire days for ouetfiend the timing of, and number of days requitedgcheduled dry docking of
our vessels

. delays in the delivery of newbuildings and the begig of payments under charters relating to thessels

. prevailing global and regional economic and pdditiconditions;

. currency exchange rate fluctuations; i

. the effect of governmental regulations and maritdeké-regulatory organization standards on the conduouobusiness

The actual amount of cash we will have availabtedistribution also will depend on factors such as:

. the level of capital expenditures we make, inclgdior maintaining vessels, building new vesselguamg existing vessels and
complying with regulations

. our debt service requirements and restrictionsistniloutions contained in our debt instrumel

. fluctuations in our working capital neec

. our ability to make working capital borrowings, imding to pay distributions to unitholders; &

. the amount of any cash reserves, including resdordature capital expenditures and other mattestablished by Teekay GP
L.L.C., our general partner (or tiGeneral Partnel) in its discretion

The amount of cash we generate from our operatiansdiffer materially from our profit or loss fdne period, which will be affected by non-
cash items. As a result of this and the other faattentioned above, we may make cash distributionsig periods when we record losses anc
may not make cash distributions during periods wilermrecord net income.

We make substantial capital expenditures to maintéie operating capacity of our fleet, which reduoer cash available for distributior
In addition, each quarter our General Partner is geiired to deduct estimated maintenance capital exgitures from operating surplus,
which may result in less cash available to unitheld than if actual maintenance capital expenditure®re deducted.

We must make substantial capital expenditures tiotaia, over the long term, the operating capagftgur fleet. These maintenance capital
expenditures include capital expenditures assatiatth dry docking a vessel, modifying an existirgssel or acquiring a new vessel to the
extent these expenditures are incurred to maitha@mperating capacity of our fleet. These expenelit could increase as a result of change

. the cost of labor and materia

. customer requirement

. increases in the size of our fle

. governmental regulations and maritime -regulatory organization standards relating to gafcurity or the environment; a
. competitive standard
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Our significant maintenance capital expendituresice the amount of cash we have available forilligton to our unitholders.

In addition, our actual maintenance capital exptemes vary significantly from quarter to quarteséd on, among other things, the number of
vessels dry docked during that quarter. Our pashipragreement requires our General Partner toatledtimated, rather than actual,
maintenance capital expenditures from operatinglssr(as defined in our partnership agreement) gaahter in an effort to reduce
fluctuations in operating surplus. The amount dihested maintenance capital expenditures deductad dperating surplus is subject to rev
and change by the conflicts committee of our Gdrieaetner’s board of directors at least once a.yl@ayears when estimated maintenance
capital expenditures are higher than actual maamea capital expenditures — as we expect will becise in the years we are not required to
make expenditures for mandatory dry dockings —atin@unt of cash available for distribution to unitiess will be lower than if actual
maintenance capital expenditures were deducted dqemating surplus. If our General Partner undenesés the appropriate level of estimatec
maintenance capital expenditures, we may haveckss available for distribution in future periodsem actual capital expenditures begin to
exceed our previous estimates.

We will be required to make substantial capital @xmlitures to expand the size of our fleet. We getigrwill be required to make
significant installment payments for acquisitiond aewbuilding vessels prior to their delivery anémeration of revenue. Depending on
whether we finance our expenditures through caslofin operations or by issuing debt or equity secedti our ability to make required
payments on our debt securities and cash distribag on our common units may be diminished or oundincial leverage could increase
or our unitholders could be diluted.

We make substantial capital expenditures to inerélaes size of our fleet. For example, on Febru&n2013, we acquired a 50% interest,
through a joint venture with Exmar NV (&xmar), to own and charter-in LPG carriers with a prignfrcus on the mid-size gas carrier
segment. The joint venture entity, called Exmar LB@BA includes 20 owned LPG carriers (includinggigewbuildings) and five chartered-
in LPG carriers. In addition, on December 12, 2(4@ entered into an agreement for the construcidwo 173,400 cubic meter LNG carrier
newbuildings, with options to order up to threeitiddal vessels. We expect these newbuildings tivelein 2016. Please read Item 5 —
Operating and Financial Review and Prospects,dditianal information about these acquisitions. i¥ay also be obligated to purchase fiv:
our leased Suezmax tankers upon the chartereiangpthich may occur at various times from 2014tlgh to 2018 and which have an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $165lltomat December 31, 2012.

We and Teekay Corporation regularly evaluate ardymiopportunities to provide the marine transpioraequirements for new or expanding
LNG and LPG projects. The award process relating\NG transportation opportunities typically invob/garious stages and takes several
months to complete. Neither we nor Teekay Corponatiay be awarded charters relating to any of thgepts we or it pursues. If any LNG
project charters are awarded to Teekay Corporatiomist offer them to us pursuant to the termarobmnibus agreement entered into in
connection with our initial public offering. If welect pursuant to the omnibus agreement to obte@kdy Corporation’s interests in any
projects Teekay Corporation may be awarded, oeibwd on and are awarded contracts relating ta.&y and LPG project, we will need to
incur significant capital expenditures to buy Teekamrporations interest in these LNG and LPG projects or todothie LNG and LPG carrie

To fund the remaining portion of existing or futwapital expenditures, we will be required to uashcfrom operations or incur borrowings or
raise capital through the sale of debt or addifieqaity securities. Use of cash from operationsneduce cash available for distributions to
unitholders. Our ability to obtain bank financingto access the capital markets for future offesingay be limited by our financial condition at
the time of any such financing or offering as veallby adverse market conditions resulting from, rgmather things, general economic
conditions and contingencies and uncertaintiesgtebeyond our control. Our failure to obtain filmeds for necessary future capital
expenditures could have a material adverse effeciuo business, results of operations and finamaatition and on our ability to make cash
distributions. Even if we are successful in obtagnnecessary funds, the terms of such financingkldimit our ability to pay cash distributio
to unitholders. In addition, incurring additionaht may significantly increase our interest exparsgfinancial leverage, and issuing additir
equity securities may result in significant unithed dilution and would increase the aggregate amofucash required to maintain our level of
quarterly distributions to unitholders, which coblave a material adverse effect on our ability ttkencash distributions.

A shipowner typically is required to expend subdtsums as progress payments during construofiannewbuilding, but does not derive i
income from the vessel until after its deliverywié were unable to obtain financing required to pate payments on any future newbuilding
orders, we could effectively forfeit all or a parti of the progress payments previously made.

Our ability to grow may be adversely affected by eash distribution policy.

Our cash distribution policy, which is consisterithwour partnership agreement, requires us toildigt all of our available cash (as defined in
our partnership agreement) each quarter. Accorgliglr growth may not be as fast as businessesdimest their available cash to expand
ongoing operations.

Our substantial debt levels may limit our flexibii in obtaining additional financing and in pursuig other business opportunities.

As at December 31, 2012, our consolidated debttatdpase obligations and advances from affiliatealed $2.1 billion and we had the
capacity to borrow an additional $381.4 million endur credit facilities. These facilities may k&ed by us for general partnership purpose
we are awarded contracts for new LNG or LPG prsjemtir consolidated debt and capital lease obtigatwill increase, perhaps significantly.
We will continue to have the ability to incur addital debt, subject to limitations in our creditifdgies. Our level of debt could have important
consequences to us, including the following:

. our ability to obtain additional financing, if nessary, for working capital, capital expendituresjwsitions or other purposes may



be impaired or such financing may not be availailéavorable terms

we will need a substantial portion of our cash fkmwmake principal and interest payments on out,debducing the funds that
would otherwise be available for operations, futbusiness opportunities and distributions to unitarcs;

our debt level may make us more vulnerable tharcompetitors with less debt to competitive pressrea downturn in our
industry or the economy generally; &

our debt level may limit our flexibility in respomdy to changing business and economic conditi
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Our ability to service our debt depends upon, anathgr things, our future financial and operatirgfprmance, which is affected by prevalil
economic conditions and financial, business, regufaand other factors, some of which are beyordcountrol. If our operating results are not
sufficient to service our current or future indelstess, we will be forced to take actions such dsaieg distributions, reducing or delaying our
business activities, acquisitions, investmentsapital expenditures, selling assets, restructumgfinancing our debt, or seeking additional
equity capital or bankruptcy protection. We may betable to effect any of these remedies on sat@faterms, or at all.

Financing agreements containing operating and finaial restrictions may restrict our business and éincing activities.

The operating and financial restrictions and coméma our financing arrangements and any futurarfcing agreements for us could adversel
affect our ability to finance future operationscapital needs or to engage, expand or pursue @imdss activities. For example, the
arrangements may restrict our ability to:

. incur or guarantee indebtedne

. change ownership or structure, including mergeyssolidations, liquidations and dissolutio

. make dividends or distributions when in defaulthef relevant loan:

. make certain negative pledges and grant certais;|

. sell, transfer, assign or convey ass

. make certain investments; a

. enter into a new line of busine:
Some of our financing arrangements require us tiotaia a minimum level of tangible net worth, toimtain certain ratios of vessel values i
relates to the relevant outstanding principal bagaa minimum level of aggregate liquidity, a maximlevel of leverage and require one of
subsidiaries to maintain restricted cash depoSits.ability to comply with covenants and restriosacontained in debt instruments may be
affected by events beyond our control, includingvailing economic, financial and industry condisoff market or other economic conditions
deteriorate, compliance with these covenants magnpaired. If restrictions, covenants, ratios @ts¢en the financing agreements are breac
a significant portion of the obligations may becamenediately due and payable, and the lenders’ ciomemt to make further loans may
terminate. We might not have or be able to obtaffigent funds to make these accelerated paymémesddition, our obligations under our

existing credit facilities are secured by certdimur vessels, and if we are unable to repay deteuthe credit facilities, the lenders could seel
to foreclose on those assets.

Restrictions in our debt agreements may prevenfrnasn paying distributions.

The payment of principal and interest on our delot @apital lease obligations reduces cash avaifableistribution to us and on our units. In
addition, our financing agreements prohibit therpagt of distributions upon the occurrence of tHefaing events, among others:

. failure to pay any principal, interest, fees, exggnor other amounts when d

. failure to notify the lenders of any material gilsor discharge of hazardous material, or of angion or claim related theret

. breach or lapse of any insurance with respect $sele securing the facilit

. breach of certain financial covenar

. failure to observe any other agreement, securgframent, obligation or covenant beyond specifigie periods in certain cas¢
. default under other indebtedne

. bankruptcy or insolvency even

. failure of any representation or warranty to beeriatly correct;

. a change of control, as defined in the applicable@ment; an

. a material adverse effect, as defined in the agplecagreemen

We derive a substantial majority of our revenuesiin a limited number of customers, and the loss af/austomer, charter or vessel, or
any adjustment to our charter contracts could resid a significant loss of revenues and cash flow.

We have derived, and believe that we will contituderive, a significant portion of our revenuesd aash flow from a limited number of
customers. Please read Item 18 — Financial Statsmiéote 5 Segment Reporting.

We could lose a customer or the benefits of a timerter if:
. the customer fails to make charter payments beaafisefinancial inability, disagreements with aisotherwise

11
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. the customer exercises certain rights to termitieecharter, purchase or cause the sale of thel&ssinder some of our charters,
convert the tim-charter to a bareboat charter (some of which righgsexercisable at any tim

. we decrease charter payments due under a chacudeeof the custon’s inability to continue making the original paymsi

. the customer terminates the charter because wefadliver the vessel within a fixed period of éinthe vessel is lost or damaged
beyond repair, there are serious deficienciesensgssel or prolonged periods of-hire, or we default under the charter;

. under some of our time-charters, the customer teates the charter because of the termination oflibeterer’s sales agreement or
a prolonged force majeure event affecting the enstpincluding damage to or destruction of relevantilities, war or political
unrest preventing us from performing services fiait tustomet

If we lose a key LNG time-charter, we may be unablee-deploy the related vessel on terms as féeta us due to the long-term nature of
most LNG time-charters and the lack of an estabdhiNG spot market. If we are unable to re-depl&\N& carrier, we will not receive any
revenues from that vessel, but we may be requir@@dy expenses necessary to maintain the vespadper operating condition. In addition, if
a customer exercises its right to purchase a vessealould not receive any further revenue fromueesel and may be unable to obtain a
substitute vessel and charter. This may cause igs#ive decreased revenue and cash flows frorm@ppdeiver vessels operating in our fleet.
Any compensation under our charters for a purcbasige vessels may not adequately compensate tisefdoss of the vessel and related time:
charter.

If we lose a key conventional tanker customer, veg ime unable to obtain other long-term conventiehakters and may become subject to th
volatile spot market, which is highly competitivedasubject to significant price fluctuations. If@stomer exercises its right under some
charters to purchase or force a sale of the vessetay be unable to acquire an adequate repladeressel or may be forced to construct a
new vessel. Any replacement newbuilding would restagate revenues during its construction and wehbeaynable to charter any replacen
vessel on terms as favorable to us as those aéthenated charter.

The loss of certain of our customers, time-chamengessels, or a decline in payments under outetsa could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and finhnoiadition and our ability to make cash distrilous.

We depend on Teekay Corporation and certain of guint venture partners to assist us in operatingrdausiness and competing in our
markets.

Pursuant to certain services agreements betweandusertain of our operating subsidiaries, on thefand, and certain subsidiaries of Teeka
Corporation and certain of our joint venture parshen the other hand, the Teekay Corporation didrgs and certain of our joint venture
partners provide to us administrative and busidesglopment services and to our operating subgdiaignificant operational services
(including vessel maintenance, crewing for someuwfvessels, purchasing, shipyard supervisionsamae and financial services) and other
technical, advisory and administrative services: @perational success and ability to execute oowtr strategy depend significantly upon
Teekay Corporation’s and certain of our joint veatpartners’ satisfactory performance of theseisesv Our business will be harmed if
Teekay Corporation or certain of our joint ventpegtners fails to perform these services satisfagtor if Teekay Corporation or certain of ¢
joint venture partners stops providing these ses/to us

Our ability to compete for the transportation regmients of LNG and oil projects and to enter irdavtime-charters and expand our customel
relationships depends largely on our ability tcelege our relationship with Teekay Corporation imdeputation and relationships in the
shipping industry. Our ability to compete for thartsportation requirement of LPG projects and tereinto new charters and expand our
customer relationships depends largely on ourtglidi leverage our relationship with certain of gint venture partners and their reputation
and relationships in the shipping industry. If TegkCorporation or certain of our joint venture pars suffer material damage to its reputation
or relationships it may harm our ability to:

. renew existing charters upon their expirati

. obtain new charter:

. successfully interact with shipyards during periofishipyard construction constrain
. obtain financing on commercially acceptable teran:

. maintain satisfactory relationships with our emgley and supplier

If our ability to do any of the things describedab is impaired, it could have a material adveféeceon our business, results of operations
and financial condition and our ability to makelcalstributions.

Our operating subsidiaries may also contract watttain subsidiaries of Teekay Corporation for tleelay Corporation subsidiaries and cer
of our joint venture partners for the subsidiateebave newbuildings constructed on behalf of qerating subsidiaries and to incur the
construction-related financing. Our operating sdidsies would purchase the vessels on or afteveigiibased on an agreed-upon price. None
of our operating subsidiaries currently has thpgetpf arrangement with Teekay Corporation or anyscdffiliates.

Our main growth depends on continued growth in demasfor LNG and LPG shipping.

Our growth strategy focuses on continued exparisitime LNG and LPG shipping sectors. Accordinglyt growth depends on continued
growth in world and regional demand for LNG and L8&@pping, which could be negatively affected byuaber of factors, such as:



increases in the cost of natural gas derived frdlrelative to the cost of natural gas gener:
increase in the cost of LPG relative to the costagfhtha and other competing petrochemic

increases in the production of natural gas in alieked by pipelines to consuming areas, the extensf existing, or the
development of new, pipeline systems in marketsnag serve, or the conversion of existing matural gas pipelines to natural |
pipelines in those market
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. decreases in the consumption of natural gas dineteases in its price relative to other energy®esior other factors making
consumption of natural gas less attract

. additional sources of natural gas, including slyale

. availability of alternative energy sources; ¢

. negative global or regional economic or politicahditions, particularly in LNG and LPG consumingimns, which could reduce
energy consumption or its grow

Reduced demand for LNG and LPG shipping would lsaxeaterial adverse effect on our future growth @nagld harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Changes in the oil markets could result in decredstemand for our conventional vessels and servicethe future.

Demand for our vessels and services in transpodiirdepends upon world and regional oil marketsy lecrease in shipments of crude oil in
those markets could have a material adverse affeour conventional tanker business. Upon compiaiiche remaining charter terms for our
conventional tankers, any adverse changes in theaskets may affect our ability to enter into letegm fixed-rate contracts for our
conventional tankers. Historically, those marketgehbeen volatile as a result of the many conditeomd events that affect the price, produc
and transport of oil, including competition fronteathative energy sources. Past slowdowns of thedh&world economies have resulted in
reduced consumption of oil products and decreaseathdd for our vessels and services, which reduessiel earnings. Additional slowdowns
could have similar effects on our operating results

Growth of the LNG market may be limited by infrasitture constraints and community environmental grpuiesistance to new LNG
infrastructure over concerns about the environmefety and terrorism.

A complete LNG project includes production, ligustfan, regasification, storage and distributionilfaes and LNG carriers. Existing LNG
projects and infrastructure are limited, and newganded LNG projects are highly complex and e#fritensive, with new projects often
costing several billion dollars. Many factors conkbatively affect continued development of LNGastructure or disrupt the supply of LNG,
including:

. increases in interest rates or other events thgtafiact the availability of sufficient financingf LNG projects on commercially
reasonable term

. decreases in the price of LNG, which might decrélasexpected returns relating to investments iGLojects;

. the inability of project owners or operators toahbtgovernmental approvals to construct or opdriit® facilities;

. local community resistance to proposed or existiNg facilities based on safety, environmental ansiy concerns
. any significant explosion, spill or similar incidanvolving an LNG facility or LNG catrrier; an

. labor or political unrest affecting existing or posed areas of LNG productic

If the LNG supply chain is disrupted or does nattawue to grow, or if a significant LNG explosiaspill or similar incident occurs, it could
have a material adverse effect on our businessitses operations and financial condition and ahility to make cash distributions.

Our growth depends on our ability to expand relatghips with existing customers and obtain new custers, for which we will face
substantial competition.

One of our principal objectives is to enter inta#idnal long-term, fixed-rate LNG, LPG and oil etexs. The process of obtaining new long-
term charters is highly competitive and generailyoives an intensive screening process and coriveetiids, and often extends for several
months. Shipping contracts are awarded based upanety of factors relating to the vessel operatwluding:

. shipping industry relationships and reputationdestomer service and safe

. shipping experience and quality of ship operati@msluding cost effectiveness
. quality and experience of seafaring crt

. the ability to finance carriers at competitive sagend financial stability generall
. relationships with shipyards and the ability to gi@table berths

. construction management experience, including tiigyto obtain on-time delivery of new vesselsaaing to customer
specifications

. willingness to accept operational risks pursuarh&charter, such as allowing termination of tharter for force majeure events;
and

. competitiveness of the bid in terms of overall pr
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We compete for providing marine transportation gewfor potential energy projects with a numbeexgerienced companies, including state
sponsored entities and major energy companiesadéiil with the energy project requiring energy phig services. Many of these competitors
have significantly greater financial resources thando or Teekay Corporation does. We anticipaaedh increasing number of marine
transportation companies — including many withrereeputations and extensive resources and expgeriewill enter the energy transportation
sector. This increased competition may cause grpate competition for time-charters. As a resiithese factors, we may be unable to
expand our relationships with existing customer®abtain new customers on a profitable basiat #ll, which would have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations arah€ial condition and our ability to make cashritisitions.

Delays in deliveries of newbuildings could harm oaperating results and lead to the termination aflated charters.

The delivery of newbuildings we may order or othisevacquire, could be delayed, which would delayreaeipt of revenues under the
charters for the vessels. In addition, under sohwipcharters if delivery of a vessel to our custo is delayed, we may be required to pay
liquidated damages in amounts equal to or, undaestharters, almost double, the hire rate duriegitflay. For prolonged delays, the
customer may terminate the time-charter and, initiaticto the resulting loss of revenues, we maydsponsible for additional, substantial
liquidated damages.

Our receipt of newbuildings could be delayed beeais
. quality or engineering problem
. changes in governmental regulations or maritim&regulatory organization standari
. work stoppages or other labor disturbances attitpyard,;
. bankruptcy or other financial crisis of the shigter;
. a backlog of orders at the shipya
. political or economic disturbances where our vessaet being or may be bui
. weather interference or catastrophic event, sueéhragjor earthquake or fir
. our requests for changes to the original vessalifspations;
. shortages of or delays in the receipt of necessamgtruction materials, such as st
. our inability to finance the purchase or consttf the vessels;
. our inability to obtain requisite permits or appats:

If delivery of a vessel is materially delayed,dutd adversely affect our results or operationsfarahcial condition and our ability to make
cash distributions.

We may be unable to secure long-term charters far bNG newbuildings before their scheduled delivesi.

On December 12, 2012, we entered into an agreenimDaewoo Shipbuilding & Marine Engineering Cbtd. of South Korea for the
construction of two LNG newbuildings (with the aptito order up to three additional vessels), withi@ying secured corresponding lotegm
charters. The process of obtaining new long-terartehs is highly competitive. Consequently, we rhayunable to secure long-term charters
for these or other newbuildings we may order befbedr scheduled delivery, if at all, which couldrin our business, results of operations anc
financial condition and our ability to make cashtdbutions.

We may have more difficulty entering into long-terrfixed-rate LNG time-charters if an active shorétm, medium-term or spot LNG
shipping market develops.

LNG shipping historically has been transacted \tig-term, fixed-rate time-charters, usually wighrs ranging from 20 to 25 years. One of
our principal strategies is to enter into additidoag-term, fixed-rate LNG time-charters. In retgaars the number of spot, short-term and
medium-term LNG charters of under four years hanbecreasing. In 2012, they accounted for appratéty 25% of global LNG trade.

If an active spot, short-term or medium-term madagitinues to develop, we may have increased diffientering into long-term, fixed-rate
time-charters for our LNG carriers and, as a resuit cash flow may decrease and be less stabéeldition, an active short-term, medidarm
or spot LNG market may require us to enter intoriglia based on changing market prices, as opposashtracts based on a fixed rate, which
could result in a decrease in our cash flow inquriwhen the market price for shipping LNG is depesl.

Over time vessel values may fluctuate substantialfyl, if these values are lower at a time when we attempting to dispose of a vessel,
we may incur a loss.

Vessel values for LNG and LPG carriers and coneenafitankers can fluctuate substantially over tihae to a number of different factors,
including:

. prevailing economic conditions in natural gas,amitl energy market
. a substantial or extended decline in demand farrabgas, LNG, LPG or oi
. increases in the supply of vessel capacity;



the cost of retrofitting or modifying existing vess, as a result of technological advances in Velestgn or equipment, changes in
applicable environmental or other regulation ondtads, or otherwis:
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Vessel values have declined over the past few yda<harter terminates, we may be unable toaq@ay the vessel at attractive rates and,
rather than continue to incur costs to maintain famahce it, may seek to dispose of it. Our in&pild dispose of the vessel at a reasonable
value could result in a loss on its sale and aglgifect our results of operations and financ@idition.

We may be unable to make or realize expected b&n&hm acquisitions, and implementing our growtlrategy through acquisitions me
harm our business, financial condition and operatirresults.

Our growth strategy includes selectively acquirxgsting LNG and LPG carriers or LNG and LPG shigpbusinesses. Historically, there
have been very few purchases of existing vesselbasinesses in the LNG and LPG shipping industRastors that may contribute to a
limited number of acquisition opportunities in thidG and LPG industries in the near term includertiatively small number of independent
LNG and LPG fleet owners and the limited numbel {5 and LPG carriers not subject to existing loag#t charter contracts. In addition,
competition from other companies could reduce @guisition opportunities or cause us to pay higireres.

Any acquisition of a vessel or business may ngtroditable to us at or after the time we acquirantl may not generate cash flow sufficient to
justify our investment. In addition, our acquisitigrowth strategy exposes us to risks that may lannibusiness, financial condition a
operating results, including risks that we may:

. fail to realize anticipated benefits, such as nest@mer relationships, c-savings or cash flow enhanceme;

. be unable to hire, train or retain qualified shanel seafaring personnel to manage and operate@uing business and flee

. decrease our liquidity by using a significant pmmtdf our available cash or borrowing capacityitamce acquisitions

. significantly increase our interest expense orrfaial leverage if we incur additional debt to fisaracquisitions

. incur or assume unanticipated liabilities, lossesasts associated with the business or vesselsradgor

. incur other significant charges, such as impairneégioodwill or other intangible assets, asset tatan or restructuring charge

Unlike newbuildings, existing vessels typically ot carry warranties as to their condition. While generally inspect existing vessels prior to
purchase, such an inspection would normally notigeous with as much knowledge of a vessel's camuias we would possess if it had been
built for us and operated by us during its life pRies and maintenance costs for existing vesselditficult to predict and may be substantially
higher than for vessels we have operated sincevileeg built. These costs could decrease our cashghd reduce our liquidity.

Our insurance may be insufficient to cover lossésit may occur to our property or result from our epations.

The operation of LNG and LPG carriers and oil tasks inherently risky. Although we carry hull améchinery (marine and war risks) and
protection and indemnity insurance, all risks maylre adequately insured against, and any particldan may not be paid. In addition, only
certain of our LNG carriers carry insurance covgtime loss of revenues resulting from vessel a#-time based on its cost compared to our
off-hire experience. Any claims covered by insumanould be subject to deductibles, and sincepbssible that a large number of claims may
be brought, the aggregate amount of these dedestitdluld be material. Certain of our insurance @& is maintained through mutual
protection and indemnity associations, and as almewf such associations we may be required to radd@ional payments over and above
budgeted premiums if member claims exceed associetserves.

We may be unable to procure adequate insuranceag®at commercially reasonable rates in the futtwe example, more stringent
environmental regulations have led in the pashtodgased costs for, and in the future may resultiériack of availability of, insurance against
risks of environmental damage or pollution. A catgshic oil spill, marine disaster or natural diesis could result in losses that exceed our
insurance coverage, which could harm our busirdiggs)cial condition and operating results. Any wired or underinsured loss could harm
our business and financial condition. In additionr; insurance may be voidable by the insurersraswt of certain of our actions, such as our
ships failing to maintain certification with appicle maritime self-regulatory organizations.

Changes in the insurance markets attributablertortst attacks may also make certain types ofransce more difficult for us to obtain. In
addition, the insurance that may be available meagipnificantly more expensive than our existingerage.

Terrorist attacks, piracy, increased hostilities war could lead to further economic instability, aneased costs and disruption of our
business.

Terrorist attacks, piracy, and the current cordlictthe Middle East, and other current and futaneflicts, may adversely affect our business,
operating results, financial condition, abilityrmse capital and future growth. Continuing hostii in the Middle East may lead to additional
armed conflicts or to further acts of terrorism andl disturbance in the United States, or elsesghehich may contribute to economic
instability and disruption of LNG, LPG and oil praction and distribution, which could result in redd demand for our services.

In addition, LNG, LPG and oil facilities, shipyardessels, pipelines and oil and gas fields coelthbgets of future terrorist attacks and our
vessels could be targets of pirates or hijackeny. guch attacks could lead to, among other thibgdily injury or loss of life, vessel or other
property damage, increased vessel operational, ¢éosksding insurance costs, and the inabilityremsport LNG, LPG and oil to or from cert
locations. Terrorist attacks, war, piracy, hijackior other events beyond our control that advera#fct the distribution, production or
transportation of LNG, LPG or ail to be shippedusycould entitle our customers to terminate ourtelh@ontracts, which would harm our cast
flow and our business.
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Terrorist attacks, or the perception that LNG ofd facilities and carriers are potential terrorésgets, could materially and adversely affect
expansion of LNG and LPG infrastructure and thetiooed supply of LNG and LPG to the United Stated ather countries. Concern that
LNG or LPG facilities may be targeted for attacktegrorists has contributed to significant commyihd environmental resistance to the
construction of a number of LNG or LPG facilitiggimarily in North America. If a terrorist incidemtvolving an LNG or LPG facility or LNG
or LPG carrier did occur, in addition to the possigffects identified in the previous paragraple, iticident may adversely affect constructio
additional LNG or LPG facilities in the United Statand other countries or lead to the temporapeonanent closing of various LNG or LPG
facilities currently in operation.

Acts of piracy on ocean-going vessels have receinttyeased in frequency, which could adversely affeur business.

Acts of piracy have historically affected oceanrgpvessels trading in regions of the world sucthasSouth China Sea and the Gulf of Aden
off the coast of Somalia. In recent years, thetfeeqy and severity of piracy incidents has sigaifity increased, particularly in the Gulf of
Aden and Indian Ocean. If these piracy attacksltr@stegions in which our vessels are deployeddeiamed on the Joint War Committee
Listed Areas, war risk insurance premiums payatresfich coverage can increase significantly antd swsurance coverage may be more
difficult to obtain. In addition, crew costs, indimg costs which may be incurred to the extent mpley onboard security guards, could
increase in such circumstances. We may not be atidglinsured to cover losses from these incidevitéch could have a material adverse
effect on us. In addition, detention hijacking agsult of an act of piracy against our vesselgmincrease in cost or unavailability of insure
for our vessels, could have a material adverse émpaour business, financial condition and resofitsperations

Our substantial operations outside the United Swexpose us to political, governmental and economatability, which could harm our
operations.

Because our operations are primarily conducteddritsf the United States, they may be affecteddmnemic, political and governmental
conditions in the countries where we engage innmss. Any disruption caused by these factors deatch our business, including by reducing
the levels of oil and gas exploration, developneard production activities in these areas. We desorae of our revenues from shipping oil,
LNG and LPG from politically and economically urisiaregions, such as Angola and Yemen. Hostilis&ses, or other political or econon
instability in regions where we operate or wheremay operate could have a material adverse effett@growth of our business, results of
operations and financial condition and ability taka cash distributions. In addition, tariffs, traabargoes and other economic sanctions by
the United States or other countries against ca@min which we operate or to which we trade mayrhaur business and ability to make cash
distributions. Finally, a government could requdsitone or more of our vessels, which is most \ildilring war or national emergency. Any
such requisition would cause a loss of the vessilcauld harm our cash flow and financial results.

We assume a credit risk by entering into charteragments with unrated entities.

Some of our vessels are chartered to unratedemtituch as the four LNG carriers chartered to NG Supply Services LLC and the two
LNG carriers chartered to Yemen LNG Company Limitedme of these unrated entities will use reveramneated from the sale of the ship
gas to pay their shipping and other operating esggnncluding the charter fees. The price of tiergay be subject to market fluctuations ant
the LNG supply may be curtailed by start-up delayd stoppages. If the revenue generated by théechiais insufficient to pay the charter
fees, we may be unable to realize the expectedoatiorbenefit from these charter agreements.
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Marine transportation is inherently risky, and amcident involving significant loss of or environméal contamination by any of our
vessels could harm our reputation and business.

Our vessels and their cargoes are at risk of baémgaged or lost because of events such as:
. marine disaster:
. bad weather or natural disaste
. mechanical failures
. grounding, fire, explosions and collisiot
. piracy;
. human error; an
. war and terrorisir

An accident involving any of our vessels could iesuany of the following:
. death or injury to persons, loss of property oriemmental damage
. delays in the delivery of carg
. loss of revenues from or termination of chartertamts;
. governmental fines, penalties or restrictions amdewting busines:
. higher insurance rates; a
. damage to our reputation and customer relationgieépsrally.

Any of these results could have a material adveffeet on our business, financial condition andrapeg results.

The marine energy transportation industry is subfdo substantial environmental and other regulatisnwhich may significantly limit ou
operations or increase our expenses.

Our operations are affected by extensive and charigternational, national and local environmeptattection laws, regulations, treaties and
conventions in force in international waters, thiesdictional waters of the countries in which eessels operate, as well as the countries o
vessels’ registration, including those governingspills, discharges to air and water, and the hagénd disposal of hazardous substances ar
wastes. Many of these requirements are designestitwe the risk of oil spills and other pollutidm.addition, we believe that the heightened
environmental, quality and security concerns ofitasce underwriters, regulators and chartererdedtl to additional regulatory requirements
including enhanced risk assessment and securityresmients and greater inspection and safety remeinés on vessels. We expect to incur
substantial expenses in complying with these lawgsragulations, including expenses for vessel nmatibns and changes in operating
procedures.

These requirements can affect the resale valusefullives of our vessels, require a reductiondrgo capacity, ship modifications or
operational changes or restrictions, lead to dseicéavailability of insurance coverage for enviremtal matters or result in the denial of ac

to certain jurisdictional waters or ports, or déimmin, certain ports. Under local, national andefgn laws, as well as international treaties anc
conventions, we could incur material liabilitiescliuding cleanup obligations, in the event thatetie a release of petroleum or other hazar
substances from our vessels or otherwise in commmewatth our operations. We could also become suhifepersonal injury or property dam:
claims relating to the release of or exposure aldous materials associated with our operationaddition, failure to comply with applicable
laws and regulations may result in administratind eivil penalties, criminal sanctions or the susgien or termination of our operations,
including, in certain instances, seizure or detentif our vessels. For further information abowgfutations affecting our business and related
requirements on us, please read Item 4 — Informatiothe Partnership: C. Regulations.

Climate change and greenhouse gas restrictions radyersely impact our operations and markets.

Due to concern over the risk of climate changeyraler of countries have adopted, or are considéna@doption of, regulatory frameworks
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. These regulagasures include, among others, adoption of ndgrade regimes, carbon taxes,
increased efficiency standards, and incentivesandates for renewable energy. Compliance with obsinglaws, regulations and obligations
relating to climate change could increase our amdéted to operating and maintaining our vessadsraquire us to install new emission
controls, acquire allowances or pay taxes relaiamlit greenhouse gas emissions, or administer andge a greenhouse gas emissions
program. Revenue generation and strategic growpbrignities may also be adversely affected.

Adverse effects upon the oil and gas industry irgdatio climate change may also adversely affectatehfor our services. Although we do not
expect that demand for oil and gas will lessen ditazally over the short term, in the long term @i change may reduce the demand for oil
and gas or increased regulation of greenhouse gaesgsreate greater incentives for use of alteraahergy sources. Any long-term material
adverse effect on the oil and gas industry coulteasignificant financial and operational adveénspact on our business that we cannot
predict with certainty at this time.
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Exposure to currency exchange rate fluctuations Wwiésult in fluctuations in our cash flows and opating results.

We are paid in Euros under some of our chartexscartain of our vessel operating expenses andglesned administrative expenses currently
are denominated in Euros, which is primarily a fiorc of the nationality of our crew and adminisivatstaff. We also make payments under
two Euro-denominated term loans. If the amountwfBuro-denominated obligations exceeds our Eurmuignated revenues, we must
convert other currencies, primarily the U.S. Dgllato Euros. An increase in the strength of theokelative to the U.S. Dollar would require
us to convert more U.S. Dollars to Euros to satilséyse obligations, which would cause us to hase ¢ash available for distribution. In
addition, if we do not have sufficient U.S. Dollange may be required to convert Euros into U.Sldbslfor distributions to unitholders. An
increase in the strength of the U.S. Dollar relatiy the Euro could cause us to have less caslableafor distribution in this circumstance. We
have not entered into currency swaps or forwardraots or similar derivatives to mitigate this risk

Because we report our operating results in U.Slabmlchanges in the value of the U.S. Dollar nedatto the Euro also result in fluctuations in
our reported revenues and earnings. In additiodeub.S. accounting guidelines, all foreign cursedenominated monetary assets and
liabilities such as cash and cash equivalents,uatsgeceivable, restricted cash, accounts payiing;term debt and capital lease obligations,
are revalued and reported based on the prevaikcigamge rate at the end of the period. This retaluistorically has caused us to report
significant non-monetary foreign currency exchaggims or losses each period. The primary sourcthése gains and losses is our Euro-
denominated term loans.

Many of our seafaring employees are covered byeaxilve bargaining agreements and the failure to mmthose agreements or any
future labor agreements may disrupt our operatioasd adversely affect our cash flows.

A significant portion of our seafarers, and thefaesas employed by Teekay Corporation and its o#ffdiates that crew some of our vessels,
are employed under collective bargaining agreem&vitéle some of our labor agreements have recématn renewed, crew compensation
levels under future collective bargaining agreememay exceed existing compensation levels, whichldvadversely affect our results of
operations and cash flows. We may be subject trldisruptions in the future if our relationshipsteriorate with our seafarers or the unions
that represent them. Our collective bargaining exguents may not prevent labor disruptions, partitplahen the agreements are being
renegotiated. Any labor disruptions could harm aperations and could have a material adverse affeour business, results of operations
financial condition and our ability to make cashtdbutions.

Teekay Corporation and certain of our joint ventugartners may be unable to attract and retain qudedd, skilled employees or crew
necessary to operate our business, or may haveatogubstantially increased costs for its employaed crew.

Our success depends in large part on Teekay Cdipusaand certain of our joint venture partnerisility to attract and retain highly skilled
and qualified personnel. In crewing our vesselsraggiire technically skilled employees with speazid training who can perform physically
demanding work. The ability to attract and retairalified crew members under a competitive industryironment continues to put upward
pressure on crew manning costs.

If we are not able to increase our charter rateoitopensate for any crew cost increases, our fiabogndition and results of operations may
be adversely affected. Any inability we experieircéhe future to hire, train and retain a suffictieamber of qualified employees could impair
our ability to manage, maintain and grow our bussne

Due to our lack of diversification, adverse devetogents in our LNG, LPG or oil marine transportatiohusinesses could reduce our abi
to make distributions to our unitholders.

We rely exclusively on the cash flow generated fium LNG and LPG carriers and conventional oil enskthat operate in the LNG, LPG and
oil marine transportation business. Due to our lafc#tiversification, an adverse development inlthis, LPG or oil shipping industry would
have a significantly greater impact on our finahc@ndition and results of operations than if wenteined more diverse assets or lines of
business.

Teekay Corporation and its affiliates may engagedompetition with us.

Teekay Corporation and its affiliates, includingeKay Offshore Partners L.P. (beekay Offshorg may engage in competition with us.
Pursuant to an omnibus agreement between Teekapfadion, Teekay Offshore, us and other relatetigsmeekay Corporation, Teekay
Offshore and their respective controlled affiliagether than us and our subsidiaries) generallelzyreed not to own, operate or charter LNG
carriers without the consent of our General Parffiee omnibus agreement, however, allows Teekap@ation, Teekay Offshore or any of
such controlled affiliates to:

. acquire LNG carriers and related time-chartersaasqf a business if a majority of the value of thial assets or business acquired
is not attributable to the LNG carriers and timexdtérs, as determined in good faith by the boamiretctors of Teekay Corporation
or the board of directors of Teekay Offshore’s gahpartner; however, if at any time Teekay Corgioraor Teekay Offshore
completes such an acquisition, it must offer tbtbel LNG carriers and related time-charters téougheir fair market value plus
any additional tax or other similar costs to TeeKayporation or Teekay Offshore that would be resflito transfer the LNG
carriers and timr-charters to us separately from the acquired bus;me

. own, operate and charter LNG carriers that retage bid or award for an LNG project that Teekayg@oation or any of its
subsidiaries submits or receives; however, at [E88tdays prior to the scheduled delivery datengfsuch LNG carrier, Teekay
Corporation must offer to sell the LNG carrier arthted time-charter to us, with the vessel valateits “fully-built-up cost,"which



represents the aggregate expenditures incurred @ incurred prior to delivery to us) by Teekayr@ration to acquire or
construct and bring such LNG carrier to the conditind location necessary for our intended uss, pheasonable allocation of
overhead costs related to the development of sgebjact and other projects that would have bediestito the offer rights set

forth in the omnibus agreement but were not corepl
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If we decline the offer to purchase the LNG cagiand time-charters described above, Teekay Cdiporar Teekay Offshore may own and
operate the LNG carriers, but may not expand thetgn of its business.

In addition, pursuant to the omnibus agreementkde€orporation, Teekay Offshore or any of thespective controlled affiliates (other than
us and our subsidiaries) may:

. acquire, operate or charter LNG carriers if our &ahPartner has previously advised Teekay Corjporar Teekay Offshore that
the board of directors of our General Partner lhetedd, with the approval of the conflicts commett its board of directors, not to
cause us or our subsidiaries to acquire or opénatearriers

. acquire up to a 9.9% equity ownership, voting a@fipparticipation interest in any publicly tradedmpany that owns or operate
LNG carriers; ant

. provide ship management services relating to LNGEers.

If there is a change of control of Teekay Corporatr Teekay Offshore, the non-competition provisiof the omnibus agreement may
terminate, which termination could have a matexthlerse effect on our business, results of op&atod financial condition and our ability to
make cash distributions.

Our General Partner and its other affiliates haveuwflicts of interest and limited fiduciary dutiesyhich may permit them to favor their
own interests to those of unitholders.

Teekay Corporation, which owns and controls ourésainPartner, indirectly owns our 2% General Partmerest and as at December 31, Z
owned a 36.2% limited partner interest in us. dotwlof interest may arise between Teekay Corpamatid its affiliates, including our Gene
Partner, on the one hand, and us and our unitrgldarthe other hand. As a result of these cosflmtir General Partner may favor its own

interests and the interests of its affiliates dherinterests of our unitholders. These confliotdude, among others, the following situations:

. neither our partnership agreement nor any otheremgent requires our General Partner or Teekay atipo to pursue a business
strategy that favors us or utilizes our assets,Taekay Corporation’s officers and directors havVielaciary duty to make decisions
in the best interests of the stockholders of Ted&kagporation, which may be contrary to our intesg

. the executive officers and three of the directdrsur General Partner also currently serve as dkexafficers or directors of
Teekay Corporatior

. our General Partner is allowed to take into acctluminterests of parties other than us, such akayeCorporation, in resolving
conflicts of interest, which has the effect of limg its fiduciary duty to our unitholder

. our General Partner has limited its liability aeduced its fiduciary duties under the laws of trerdhall Islands, while also
restricting the remedies available to our unithoddand as a result of purchasing common unitshaiders are treated as having
agreed to the modified standard of fiduciary duéied to certain actions that may be taken by oure@G# Partner, all as set forth in
our partnership agreeme

. our General Partner determines the amount anddiofiour asset purchases and sales, capital expessliborrowings, issuances
of additional partnership securities and resergash of which can affect the amount of cash thavaslable for distribution to our
unitholders;

. in some instances our General Partner may causehasrow funds in order to permit the paymentadic distributions, even if the
purpose or effect of the borrowing is to make insendistributions to affiliates to Teekay Corpaoat

. our General Partner determines which costs inclyetiand its affiliates are reimbursable by

. our partnership agreement does not restrict ouefaéPartner from causing us to pay it or its i@ffds for any services rendered to
us on terms that are fair and reasonable or egtéro additional contractual arrangements with ahthese entities on our behe

. our General Partner controls the enforcement dfatibns owed to us by it and its affiliates; ¢
. our General Partner decides whether to retain agpaounsel, accountants or others to performes\for us

Certain of our lease arrangements contain provisowhereby we have provided a tax indemnificatiorthiord parties, which may result
in increased lease payments or termination of fagble lease arrangements.

We and a joint venture partner are the lessee \B@gear capital lease arrangements with a thirty par three LNG carriers. Under the terms
of these capital lease arrangements, the lessarsctax depreciation on the capital expenditur@sciirred to acquire these vessels. As is
typical in these leasing arrangements, tax andgshahlaw risks are assumed by the lessee. Thelsgrdayable under the lease arrangements
are predicated on the basis of certain tax anahiimhassumptions at the commencement of the leHsesassumption proves to be incorrec
there is a change in the applicable tax legislatiotihe interpretation thereof by the United Kingd@U.K.) taxing authority, the lessor is
entitled to increase the rentals so as to mairntsiagreed after-tax margin. We do not have thitybo pass these increased rentals onto our
charter party. However, the terms of the leasengagments enable us and our joint venture partirhjdo terminate the lease arrangement or
a voluntary basis at any time. In the event of ayeermination of the lease arrangements, th# jgenture may be obliged to pay termination
sums to the lessor sufficient to repay its invesinie the vessels and to compensate it for thetéect of the terminations, including recapture
of tax depreciation, if any. Although the exact amtoof any such payments upon termination woulddgotiated between us and the lessor,
we expect the amount would be significe
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As described in Item 18 — Financial StatementseMNot Leases and Restricted Cash, the Teekay WNa&itet Venture is the lessee under 30-
year capital lease arrangements with a third ffartthe three RasGas Il LNG Carriers (or RasGas Il Leasés The UK taxing authority (or
HMRC) has been urging the lessor as well as otherressaler capital lease arrangements that haveetasfits similar to the ones provided
by the RasGas Il Leases, to terminate such finkras®e arrangements and has in other circumstaha#ierged the use of similar structures
a result, the lessor has requested that the Tad&layat Joint Venture enter into negotiations tartmate the RasGas Il Leases. The Teekay
Nakilat Joint Venture has declined this request dses not believe that HRMC would be able to sgstully challenge the availability of tl
tax benefits of these leases to the lessor. Thissament is partially based on a January 2012 deaision, regarding a similar financial lease
of an LNG catrrier, that ruled in favor of the taypa However, the HMRC is appealing that decisind the appeal is expected to be heard in
May 2013. If the HMRC were able to successfullylidmge the RasGas Il Leases, the Teekay Nakilat #gnture could be subject to
significant costs associated with the terminatibthe lease or increased lease payments to comethgalessor for the lost tax benefits. The
Partnership estimates its 70% share of the potengiosure to be approximately $29 million, exchesof potential financing and interest rate
swap termination costs.

The Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture has received iwatifon from the lessor of the three vessels akditrating downgrade to the bank that was
providing the letter of credit (or LC Bank) to TegkNakilat Joint Venturs'tax lease. As a result, the lessor has claimédcasase to the lea
rentals over the remaining term of the RasGas disks and instructed that an estimated $12 millilolitianal amount of cash be placed on
deposit by the Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture. Thekeg Nakilat Joint Venture has engaged externall legunsel to assess these claims. Our
70% share of the present value of the lease renttadase claim is approximately $10 million; howetke final amount is dependent on
external legal counseal’review. The Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture is ddésiking at other alternatives to mitigate the impafcthe downgrade 1
the LC Bank’s credit rating.

In addition, the subsidiaries of another joint weatformed to service the Tangguh LNG project isoimesia have entered into lease
arrangements with a third party for two LNG casieVe purchased Teekay Corporatfoimterest in this joint venture in 2009. The tewhthe
lease arrangements provide similar tax and chahlgevarisk assumption by this joint venture as veedwith the three LNG carriers above.

Our joint venture arrangements impose obligationpan us but limit our control of the joint venturesyhich may affect our ability to
achieve our joint venture objectives.

For financial or strategic reasons, we conductréigroof our business through joint ventures. Galigrwe are obligated to provide
proportionate financial support for the joint vemretsialthough our control of the business entity imagubstantially limited. Due to this limited
control, we generally have less flexibility to puesour own objectives through joint ventures thawwould with our own subsidiaries. There is
no assurance that our joint venture partners witlticue their relationships with us in the futurelmat we will be able to achieve our financial
or strategic objectives relating to the joint veagiand the markets in which they operate. In sxdibur joint venture partners may have
business objectives that are inconsistent with,@xgerience financial and other difficulties thay affect the success of the joint venture, or
be unable or unwilling to fulfill their obligationsnder the joint ventures, which may affect ouafinial condition or results of operations.

TAX RISKS

United States common unitholders will be requiraggay U.S. taxes on their share of our income eviethey do not receive any cash
distributions from us.

U.S. citizens, residents or other U.S. taxpayelisb@irequired to pay U.S. federal income taxes andome cases, U.S. state and local incom
taxes on their share of our taxable income, whathent they receive cash distributions from uss.ldommon unitholders may not receive
cash distributions from us equal to their sharewftaxable income or even equal to the actualia@xity that results from their share of our
taxable income.

Because distributions may reduce a common unithaldetax basis in our common units, common unitholderay realize greater gain ¢
the disposition of their units than they otherwiseay expect, and common unitholders may have a taingven if the price they receive
less than their original cost.

If common unitholders sell their common units, thalf recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal inaotax purposes that is equal to the
difference between the amount realized and thrib&esis in those common units. Prior distributionexcess of the total net taxable income
allocated decrease a common unitholder’s tax famswill, in effect, become taxable income if conmmmits are sold at a price greater than
their tax basis, even if the price received is thas the original cost. Assuming we are not tretaea corporation for U.S. federal income tax
purposes, a substantial portion of the amountzedlon a sale of units, whether or not represeméig, may be ordinary income.

The decision of the United States Court of Appefalsthe Fifth Circuit in Tidewater Inc. v. United &tes creates some uncertainty as to
whether we will be classified as a partnership 19rS. federal income tax purposes.

In order for us to be classified as a partnersbigX.S. federal income tax purposes, more than 9érfent of our gross income each year mus
be “qualifying income” under Section 7704 of theSUlnternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (lde)CFor this purpose, “qualifying
income” includes income from providing marine tnaoitation services to customers with respect tdemil, natural gas and certain products
thereof but does not include rental income fronsileg vessels to customers.

The decision of the United States Court of Appéaishe Fifth Circuit inTidewater Inc. v. United States65 F.3d 299 (5th Cir. 2009) held tl
income derived from certain time chartering aciégtshould be treated as rental income rathergbarice income for purposes of a fore



sales corporation provision of the Code. Howe\vrez,Ihternal Revenue Service (BS) stated in an Action on Decision (AOD 2010-0013tth
it disagrees with, and will not acquiesce to, tley\that the rental versus services framework walieapto the facts in th€idewaterdecision,
and in its discussion stated that the time chagtissue inTidewaterwould be treated as producing services incomedgogses of the passive
foreign investment company provisions of the Cade IRS’s statement with respecthislewatercannot be relied upon or otherwise cited as
precedent by taxpayers. Consequently, in the aksafneny binding legal authority specifically rétaf to the statutory provisions governing
“qualifying
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income” under Section 7704 of the Code, there @andassurance that the IRS or a court would nloWdhe Tidewaterdecision in
interpreting the “qualifying income” provisions werdSection 7704 of the Code. Nevertheless, we dntetake the position that our time
charter income is “qualifying income” within the amd@ng of Section 7704 of the Code. No assurancéeagiven, however, that the IRS, or a
court of law, will accept our position. As sucheté is some uncertainty regarding the status ofiow charter income as “qualifying income”
and therefore some uncertainty as to whether wiebwitlassified as a partnership for federal incéaxepurposes. Please read “ltem 10 —
Additional Information — Taxation — United StateaXTConsequences — Classification as a Partnership.”

The after-tax benefit of an investment in the commanits may be reduced if we are not treated asaatpership for U.S. federal income
tax purposes.

The anticipated after-tax benefit of an investmerr@ommon units may be reduced if we are not tobatea partnership for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. If we are not treated as a partnefehJ.S. federal income tax purposes, we woultréated as a corporation for such purpose:
and common unitholders could suffer material advéag or economic consequences, including theviahg:

. The ratio of taxable income to distributions wiéispect to common units would increase because ekl not be allocated to
account for any differences between the fair mavifie and the basis of our assets at the time@amon units are issue

. Common unitholders may recognize income or gaiagnchange in our status from a partnership tarpoeation that occurs whil
they hold units

. We would not be permitted to adjust the tax bake gecondary market purchaser in our assets (Befion 743(b) of the Code.
a result, a person who purchases common unitsd&raommon unitholder in the secondary market malyzeeenaterially more
taxable income each year with respect to the uffts could reduce the value of common unithol common units

. Common unitholders would not be entitled to claimy aredit against their U.S. federal income takility for non-U.S. income tax
liabilities incurred by us

. As to the U.S. source portion of our income attidile to transportation that begins or ends (btiboth) in the United States, we
will be subject to U.S. tax on such income on asgiioasis (that is, without any allowance for deidus) at a rate of 4.0 percent.
The imposition of this tax would have a negativieefon our business and would result in decreaast available for distribution
to common unitholder:

. We also may be considered a passive foreign inévegtaompany (oPFIC) for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
U.S. shareholders of a PFIC are subject to an advéIS. federal income tax regime with respedi¢dncome derived by the PF
the distributions they receive from the PFIC, amel@ain, if any, they derive from the sale or otlisposition of their interests in 1
PFIC.

Please read “Item 10 — Additional Information — @an — United States Tax Consequences — Possiassification as a Corporation.”

U.S. tax-exempt entities and non-U.S. persons faogue U.S. tax issues from owning common units thmay result in adverse U.S. tax
consequences to them.

Investments in common units by U.S. tax-exemptiestiincluding individual retirement accounts (lwmoaslRAS), other retirements plans
and non-U.S. persons raise issues unique to thesuming we are classified as a partnership for fédral income tax purposes, virtually all
of our income allocated to organizations exempinftd.S. federal income tax will be unrelated busintesable income and generally will be
subject to U.S. federal income tax. In additiom+thS. persons may be subject to a 4.0 percentfed8ral income tax on the U.S. source
portion of our gross income attributable to tramtgtmn that begins or ends (but not both) in thétéd States, or distributions to them may be
reduced on account of withholding of U.S. fedenabime tax by us in the event we are treated asnpavfixed place of business in the United
States or otherwise earn U.S. effectively connettedme, unless an exemption applies and theyJiig& federal income tax returns to claim
such exemption.

The sale or exchange of 50.0 percent or more of capital or profits interests in any 1&onth period will result in the termination of ot
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

We will be considered to have been terminated f@. federal income tax purposes if there is a@aéxchange of 50.0 percent or more of the
total interests in our capital or profits withinyah2-month period. Our termination would, amongeotthings, result in the closing of our
taxable year for all unitholders and could resulaideferral of depreciation deductions allowabhledmputing our taxable income. Please reac
“ltem 10 — Additional Information — Taxation — Uad States Tax Consequences — Disposition of Comumits — Constructive
Termination.”

Some of our subsidiaries that are classified aspaonations for U.S. federal income tax purposes mide treated as “passive foreign
investment companies,” which could result in additial taxes to our unitholders.

Certain of our subsidiaries that are classifieda@porations for U.S. federal income tax purposeddctbe treated as “passive foreign
investment companies” (®FICs) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. U.S. stadehs of a PFIC are subject to an adverse U.®rékd
income tax regime with respect to the income deriwe the PFIC, the distributions they receive fritie PFIC, and the gain, if any, they derive
from the sale or other disposition of their intésaa the PFIC. We have received a ruling fromI&8 that our subsidiary Teekay LNG Holdco
L.L.C. will be classified as a CFC rather than a@&s long as it is wholly-owned by a U.S. parth@rsOur subsidiaries DHJS Hull No. 2007-
001 L.L.C. and DHJS Hull No. 20-002 L.L.C. are also owned by our U.S. partnership\ae intend to take the position that these sidrséd



should also be treated as CFCs rather than PFIGedJer, we believe and intend to take the positiam these subsidiaries were not PFICs a
any time prior to the restructuring. No assurarare fee given, however, that the IRS, or a courawf, Will accept this position. Please read
“ltem 10 — Additional Information — Taxation — Uad States Tax Consequences — Taxation of our Sahsidorporations.”
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Teekay Corporation owns less than 50.0 percent af outstanding equity interests, which could causertain of our subsidiaries and us
to be subject to additional tax.

Certain of our subsidiaries are classified as c@fpans for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Afisthese subsidiaries will be subject to U.S.
federal income tax on the U.S. source portion afiocome attributable to transportation that beginends (but not both) in the United States
if they fail to qualify for an exemption from U.fderal income tax (th®ection 883 Exemptign Teekay Corporation indirectly owns less thar
50.0 percent of certain of our subsidiaries’ andauistanding equity interests. Consequently, weeekthese subsidiaries failed to qualify for
the Section 883 Exemption in 2012 and will faibjealify for the Section 883 Exemption in subsequartyears. Any resulting imposition of
U.S. federal income taxes will result in decreasssh available for distribution to common unithetdd®lease read “Item 10 — Additional
Information —Taxation — United States Tax Conseqgasnr-Taxation of our Subsidiary Corporations.”

In addition, if we are not treated as a partneréhip).S. federal income tax purposes, we expetwe also would fail to qualify for the
Section 883 Exemption in subsequent tax yearstaatdany resulting imposition of U.S. federal incotaees would result in decreased cash
available for distribution to common unitholders.

The Internal Revenue Service (or IRS) may challentpe manner in which we value our assets in detening the amount of income,
gain, loss and deduction allocable to the unithotdewhich could adversely affect the value of thentmon units.

A unitholder’s taxable income or loss with respeca common unit each year will depend upon a nurabfactors, including the nature and
fair market value of our assets at the time theéwhcquired the common unit, whether we issuetiaddi units or whether we engage in
certain other transactions, and the manner in wbictitems of income, gain, loss and deductioredioeated among our partners. For this
purpose, we determine the value of our assetsheneetative amounts of our items of income, gaiesland deduction allocable to our
unitholders and our general partner as holderefrtbentive distribution rights by reference to tadue of our interests, including the incentive
distribution rights. The IRS may challenge any aéilbn determinations that we make, particularlyoathe incentive distribution rights, for
which there is no public market. In addition, tRSlcould challenge certain other aspects of thenaran which we determine the relative
allocations made to our unitholders and to the g@mmartner as holder of our incentive distributraghts. A successful IRS challenge to our
valuation or allocation methods could increaseattm@unt of net taxable income and gain realized bgitholder with respect to a common
unit. Any such IRS challenge, whether or not susftgscould adversely affect the value of our commaits.

Common unitholders may be subject to income taome or more non-U.S. countries, including Canadas a result of owning our
common units if, under the laws of any such countrye are considered to be carrying on business ¢h&uch laws may require common
unitholders to file a tax return with, and pay tageo, those countries. Any foreign taxes imposedusror any of our subsidiaries will
reduce our cash available for distribution to commainitholders.

We intend that our affairs and the business of efctur subsidiaries is conducted and operatednaaner that minimizes foreign income
taxes imposed upon us and our subsidiaries or whaphbe imposed upon you as a result of owningcoormon units. However, there is a 1
that common unitholders will be subject to tax mear more countries, including Canada, as a re$okvning our common units if, under the
laws of any such country, we are considered taalbg/ing on business there. If common unitholdeessabject to tax in any such country,
common unitholders may be required to file a taxrrewith, and pay taxes to, that country basetheir allocable share of our income. We
may be required to reduce distributions to commuaitholders on account of any withholding obligadmposed upon us by that country in
respect of such allocation to common unitholdehe United States may not allow a tax credit for fomgign income taxes that common
unitholders directly or indirectly incur. Any foggi taxes imposed on us or any of our subsidiari#seduce our cash available for common
unitholders.

Item 4. Information on the Partnership
A. Overview, History and Development
Overview and History

Teekay LNG Partners L.P. is an international preriof marine transportation services for LNG, LR arude oil. We were formed in 2004
by Teekay Corporation (NYSE: TK), a leading providémarine services to the global oil and natgas industries, to expand its operatior
the LNG shipping sector. Our primary growth strgtéacuses on expanding our fleet of LNG and LPGiees under long-term, fixed-rate
charters. In executing our growth strategy, we eragage in vessel or business acquisitions or érttejoint ventures and partnerships with
companies that may provide increased access tag@meypportunities from global expansion of the LId@ LPG sectors. We seek to
leverage the expertise, relationships and reputatiareekay Corporation and its affiliates to persivese opportunities in the LNG and LPG
sectors and may consider other opportunities tealvbur competitive strengths are well suited. Altfo we may acquire additional crude oil
tankers from time to time, we view our conventiotaalker fleet primarily as a source of stable d&sh as we seek to continue to expand our
LNG and LPG operations.

As of December 31, 2012, our fleet, excluding neldings, consisted of 27 LNG carriers (including tsix MALT LNG Carriers, four RasGas
3 LNG Carriers, the four Angola LNG Carriers and ttvo Exmar LNG carriers that are all accountedufader the equity method), ten
Suezmax-class crude oil tankers, five LPG car@aei one Handymax product tanker, all of which amebdehulled. Our fleet is young, with |
average age of approximately six years for our L&d@iers, approximately eight years for our coni@rél tankers (Suezmax and Handymax).
and approximately two years for our LPG carrieesnpared to world averages of 11, 8 and 16 yeasperively, as of December 31, 2012.

Our fleets of LNG and LPG carriers currently happraximately 4.2 million and 0.1 million cubic meteof total capacity, respectively. T



aggregate capacity of our conventional tanker fieapproximately 1.6 million deadweight tonnesag ).

Subsequent to December 31, 2012, we entered joiataventure agreement with Belgium-based Exmar(®diExmar) to own and charter-in
LPG carriers with a primary focus on the nside gas carrier segment. The joint venture ertéiled Exmar LPG BVBA, took economic effe
as of November 1, 2012 and includes 20 owned LRGecs (including eight newbuildings scheduled defivery between 2014 and 2016) and

five chartered-in LPG carriers.
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We were formed in connection with our initial pubdiffering on May 10, 2005 and began trading asldigly-traded limited partnership. Ups
our formation, we acquired Teekay Corporation’s Lhi@&iness which it acquired in 2004 from Navierd &pias S.A.

We are incorporated under the laws of the Republithe Marshall Islands as Teekay LNG Partners arfd. maintain our principal executive
headquarters at'@4 Floor, Belvedere Building, 6&May Road, Hamilton, HM 08, Bermuda. Our teleghnomber at such address is
(441) 298-2530.

B. Operations
Our Charters

We generate revenues by charging customers fdrahsportation of their LNG, LPG and crude oil usour vessels. These services are
provided through either a time-charter or barelobatter contract, where vessels are charteredstomers for a fixed period of time at rates
that are generally fixed but may contain a variadgimponent based on inflation, interest rates areot market rates. The two newbuildings
which are scheduled for delivery in the first hafl2016 are currently without contracts; howeveg,imtend to secure long-term contract
employment for both vessels prior to their delivery

Our vessels mainly operate under long-term, fixa@-charters primarily with major energy and wtiibmpanies and Teekay Corporation. The
average remaining term for these charters is ajpiaiely 14 years for our LNG carriers, approxima#lyears for our conventional tankers
(Suezmax and Handymax), and approximately 13 yfeasur LPG carriers, subject, in certain circumses, to termination or vessel purchase
rights.

“Hire” rate refers to the basic payment from thstomer for the use of a vessel. Hire is payablethipnin advance, in U.S. Dollars or Euros,
as specified in the charter. The hire rate genenatludes two components — a capital cost compoaed an operating expense component.
The capital component typically approximates th@amh we are required to pay under vessel finanobigations and, for five of our existing
conventional tankers, adjusts for changes in thetifig interest rates relating to the underlyingset financing. The operating component,
which adjusts annually for inflation, is intendedcompensate us for vessel operating expenses.

In addition, we may receive additional revenuesobelthe fixed hire rate when current market raieeed specified amounts under our time-
charter for four Suezmax tankers.

Hire payments may be reduced or, under some chawermust pay liquidated damages, if the vessed dot perform to certain of its
specifications, such as if the average vessel sfadleelow a guaranteed speed or the amountabfcionsumed to power the vessel under
normal circumstances exceeds a guaranteed amasturiehlly, we have had few instances of hire rauctions and only one in our joint
venture with Exmar that had an impact on our ojregatesults.

When a vessel is “off-hire”—or not available forngee— the customer generally is not required tp {hee hire rate and we are responsible for
all costs. Prolonged off-hire may lead to vessbkstution or termination of the time-charter. Asgel will be deemed to be off-hire if it is in
dry dock. We must periodically dry dock each of wassels for inspection, repairs and maintenandeaay modifications to comply with
industry certification or governmental requiremeiitsaddition, a vessel generally will be deemeiehite if there is a loss of time due to,
among other things: operational deficiencies; eaqaipt breakdowns; delays due to accidents, crewriigs, certain vessel detentions or
similar problems; or our failure to maintain thessel in compliance with its specifications and cactual standards or to provide the required
crew.

Liguefied Gas Segment
LNG Carriers

The LNG carriers in our liquefied gas segment campethe LNG market. LNG carriers are usually ¢téiad to carry LNG pursuant to time-
charter contracts, where a vessel is hired foxedfperiod of time, usually between 20 and 25 yeard the charter rate is payable to the owne
on a monthly basis. LNG shipping historically hagb transacted with long-term, fixed-rate time-t#vacontracts. LNG projects require
significant capital expenditures and typically ilwean integrated chain of dedicated facilities andperative activities. Accordingly, the
overall success of an LNG project depends heavillong-range planning and coordination of projetivities, including marine
transportation. Most shipping requirements for méWG projects continue to be provided on a long-teamsis, though the level of spot voyage:
(typically consisting of a single voyage), shontatetime-charters and medium-term time-charters lggoan in the past few years.

In the LNG market, we compete principally with atipgivate and state-controlled energy and utilitempanies that generally operate captive
fleets, and independent ship owners and operditansy major energy companies compete directly wittependent owners by transporting
LNG for third parties in addition to their own LNGiven the complex, long-term nature of LNG pragechajor energy companies historically
have transported LNG through their captive flektmwever, independent fleet operators have beerinifiggan increasing percentage of
charters for new or expanded LNG projects as soajemenergy companies have continued to divestamoa-businesses.

LNG carriers transport LNG internationally betwdigpuefaction facilities and import terminals. Afteatural gas is transported by pipeline f
production fields to a liquefaction facility, it sipercooled to a temperature of approximately tinagyd60 degrees Fahrenheit. This process
reduces its volume to approximately 1/600 of ithiwe in a gaseous state. The reduced volume faesiteconomical storage and
transportation by ship over long distances, englidimuntries with limited natural gas reserves mited access to long-distance transmission
pipelines to import natural gas. LNG carriers imiga sophisticated containment system that hollk WG and provides insulation to redt



the amount of LNG that boils off naturally. The ura boil off is either used as fuel to power tingi@es on the ship or it can be reliquefied an
put back into the tanks. LNG is transported ovesseapecially built tanks on double-hulled shipsitreceiving terminal, where it is offloaded
and stored in insulated tanks. In regasificatianilifees at the receiving terminal, the LNG is neted to its gaseous state (egasified) and

then shipped by pipeline for distribution to natas customers.
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With the exception of tharctic SpiritandPolar Spiritwhich are the only two ships in the world thatimélthe Ishikawajima Harima Heavy
Industries Self Supporting Prismatic Tank IMO Tygéor IHI SPB) independent tank technology, the remainder offleet makes use of one
of the Gaz Transport and Technigaz @rT) membrane containment systems. The GTT membrastersg are used in the majority of LNG
tankers now being constructed. New LNG carriersgareerally expected to have a lifespan of approtéina5 to 40 years. Unlike the oil
tanker industry, there currently are no regulatithrad require the phase-out from trading of LNGrieas after they reach a certain age. As at
December 31, 2012, our LNG carriers had an aveaggenf approximately six years, compared to thddMaX G carrier fleet average age of
approximately 11 years. In addition, as at tha¢ dditere were approximately 373 vessels in thedidXG fleet and approximately 86
additional LNG carriers under construction or odesrfor delivery through 2017.

The following table provides additional informatiabout our LNG carriers as of December 31, 2012:

Expiration
of
Vesse Capacity Delivery Our Ownership Charterer Charter )
(cubic meters’
Operating LNG carriers:
Hispania Spirit 137,81 2002 10C% Repsol YPF, S.A Sep. 202™
Catalunya Spiri 135,420 2003 10C% Gas Natural SD( Aug. 202®
Galicia Spirit 137,81 2004 10C% Union Fenosa Ge Jun. 202®)
Madrid Spirit 135,420 2004 10C% Repsol YPF, S.A Dec. 202@
Ras Laffan Liquefied Natural Gas
Al Marrouna 149,53¢ 2006 70%- capital leas® Company Ltd Oct. 202(®)
Ras Laffan Liquefied Natural G¢
Al Areesh 148,78t 2007 70%- capital leas® Company Ltd Jan. 2026
70% -capital Ras Laffan Liquefied Natural Gas
Al Daayen 148,85 2007 leas@ Company Ltd Apr. 20274
The Tangguh Production Sharir
Tangguh Hiri 151,88 2008 69% Contractors Jan. 202
The Tangguh Production Sharing
Tangguh Sag 155,00 2009 69% Contractors May 202¢
Ras Laffan Liquefied Natural G¢
Al Huwaila 214,17¢ 2008 40% ©) Company Ltd Apr. 203
Ras Laffan Liquefied Natural Gas
Al Kharsaat 214,19¢ 2008 40% © Company Ltd Apr. 2031
Ras Laffan Liquefied Natural G¢
Al Shamal 213,53t 2008 40% © Company Ltd May 20314
Al Khuwair 213,10 2008 40% © Ras Laffan Liquefie Jul. 203®
Natural Gas Company Ltd. Teek
Arctic Spirit 87,30¢ 1993 9% Corporation Apr. 201¢®)
Polar Spirit 87,30t 1993 99%% Teekay Corporatio Apr. 201¢®
Excelsior 138,08 2005 50% (10) Excelerate Energy L Jan. 202®
Excalibur 138,00( 2002 50%- capital leas® Excelerate Energy L Mar. 202:
Soyo 160,40( 2011 33% () Angola LNG Supply Services LL  Aug. 203:®
Malanje 160,40( 2011 33% () Angola LNG Supply Services LL  Sep. 203@
Lobito 160,40( 2011 33% (@) Angola LNG Supply Services LL  Oct. 203.®
Cubal 160,400 2012 33% (@)  Angola LNG Supply Services LL  Jan. 203®
Total E&P Norge AS Mansel
Meridian Spirit 165,70 2010 5205 (12) Limited Oct. 203(™
Qatar Gas Transport Company
Magellan Spirit 165,70( 2009 529 (12) Limited Sep. 201
Marib Spirit 165,50( 2008 529 (12) Yemen LNG Company Limite Mar. 2024
Arwa Spirit 165,50( 2008 529 (12) Yemen LNG Company Limite Apr. 20247
Methane Spiri 165,50( 2008 5205 (12) BP Shipping Limitec Apr. 2015®)
Woodside Donaldso 165,50( 2009 529 (12) Pluto LNG Party Limitec Oct. 202(®)

Total Capacity: 4,241,24!
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(1) Each of our tim-charters are subject to certain termination andimasge provision:

(2) We lease the vessel under a tax lease arramg@meé have an ownership interest of 70%. Pleaskltem 18 - Financial Statements:
Note 6- Leases and Restricted Ca

(3) The charterer has one option to extend the termarfadditional five year:

(4) The charterer has two options to extend the temaricadditional five years eac

(5) The charterer has three options to extend the fer@nadditional five years eac

(6) The charterer has four options to extend the temam additional five years eac

(7) The charterer has three options to extend the feriwne, five and five additional years, respediiv

(8) The charterer has one option to extend the termrieradditional yea

(9) The RasGas 3 LNG Carriers are accounted for umgeedquity methoc

(10) The Exmar LNG Carriers are accounted for undeethéty method

(11) The Angola LNG Carriers are accounted for underetgty method

(12) The MALT LNG Carriers are accounted for under thaity method

The following table presents the percentage ofcomsolidated voyage revenues from LNG custometsait@ounted for more than 10% of our
consolidated voyage revenues during 2012, 20126am8.

Year Ended December 31

201% 2011 201(
Ras Laffan Liquefied Natural Gas Company Ltd. 18% 18% 18%
Repsol YPF, S.A 13% 14% 14%
The Tangguh Production Sharing Contrac 12% 12% 11%
Teekay Corporatio 10% Less than 1% 10%

No other LNG customer accounted for 10% or moreuwsfrevenues during any of these periods. Thedbasy significant customer or
substantial decline in the amount of services rstpaeby a significant customer could harm our kessnfinancial condition and results of
operations.

Each LNG carrier that is owned by us is encumbéged mortgage relating to the vessel’'s financiracheof theAl Marrouna, Al Areesh, Al
DaayenandExcaliburis considered to be subject to a capital leas@aseleead Item 18 — Financial Statements: Note €asés and Restricted
Cash.

LPG Carriers

LPG shipping involves the transportation of thre@imtategories of cargo: liquid petroleum gasekiding propane, butane and ethane;
petrochemical gases including ethylene, propylemkttatadiene; and ammonia.

As of December 31, 2012, the worldwide LPG tankestfconsisted of approximately 1,236 vessels aiitlaverage age of approximately 16
years and approximately 97 additional LPG vesseigwn order for delivery through 2016. LPG casri@nge in size from approximately 2

to approximately 85,000 cubic meters. Approximat39s of the number of vessels in the worldwidetflge less than 5,000 cubic meters in
size. New LPG carriers are generally expected e ladifespan of approximately 30 to 35 years.

LPG carriers are mainly chartered to carry LPGioreicharters, on contracts of affreightment or smytage charters. The two largest
consumers of LPG are residential users and thegietmical industry. Residential users, particularlgeveloping regions where electricity
and gas pipelines are not developed, do not halesWwitching alternatives and generally are not Li?iGe sensitive. The petrochemical
industry, however, has the ability to switch betawé®G and other feedstock fuels depending on @nekavailability of alternatives.

The following table provides additional informatiabout our LPG carriers as of December 31, 201&;wioes not include our 50%
ownership interest in 20 owned LPG carriers (incigeeight newbuildings scheduled for delivery betw@014 and 2016) and five chartered-
LPG carriers acquired subsequent to December 32, 89 described in Item 18 — Financial Stateméage 21 — Subsequent Events:

Vesse Capacity Delivery Ownership Charterer Expiration of Charter
(cubic meters

Operating LPG carriers:

Norgas Pal 10,00( 2009 99% I.M. Skaguen AS/ Mar. 202

Norgas Cathink 10,00( 2009 99% I.M. Skaguen AS/ Oct. 202

Norgas Camille 10,00¢( 2011 99%% I.M. Skaguen AS/ Sep. 202

Norgas Unikurr 12,00( 2011 99%% I.M. Skaguen AS/ Jun. 202

Norgas Visior 12,00( 2011 9% [.M. Skaguen AS/ Oct. 202t
Total Capacity: 54,00(
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Conventional Tanker Segment

Oil has been the world’s primary energy sourcediecades. Seaborne crude oil transportation is arenatdustry. The two main types of oll
tanker operators are major oil companies (includitage-owned companies) that generally operatévesfieets, and independent operators the
charter out their vessels for voyage or time-charse. Most conventional oil tankers controlleditgependent fleet operators are hired for on
or a few voyages at a time at fluctuating marketgdased on the existing tanker supply and denTdrebe charter rates are extremely sen:

to this balance of supply and demand, and smaligdsin tanker utilization have historically ledrétatively large short-term rate changes.
Long-term, fixed-rate charters for crude oil tramsation, such as those applicable to our convaatitanker fleet, are less typical in the
industry. As used in this discussion, “conventidmdl tankers exclude those vessels that can amnybulk and ore, tankers that currently are
used for storage purposes and shuttle tankeratbatesigned to transport oil from offshore prouturcplatforms to onshore storage and
refinery facilities.

Oil tanker demand is primarily a function of sevdaators, primarily the locations of oil produatiorefining and consumption and world oil
demand and supply, while oil tanker supply is prilga function of new vessel deliveries, vessebpping and the conversion or loss of
tonnage.

The majority of crude oil tankers range in sizexfrapproximately 80,000 to approximately 320,000.@&utezmax tankers, which typically
range from 120,000 to 200,000 dwt, are the mid-sfzée various primary oil tanker types. As of Bether 31, 2012, the world tanker fleet
included 437 conventional Suezmax tankers, reptiegeapproximately 14% of worldwide oil tanker cajig, excluding tankers under
10,000 dwt.

As of December 31, 2012, our conventional tankadsdn average age of approximately eight yearghnibiconsistent with the average age
for the world conventional tanker fleet. New contiemal tankers generally are expected to havesagdn of approximately 25 to 30 years,
based on estimated hull fatigue life.

The following table provides additional informatiabout our conventional oil tankers as of Decendier2012:

Expiration of

Tanker @ Capacity Delivery Our Ownership Charterer Charter
(dwt)
Operating Conventional tankers
Tenerife Spiril 149,99¢ 2000 Capital leas® CEPSA Aug. 201®
Algeciras Spiril 149,99¢ 2000 Capital leas® CEPSA Nov. 2013
Huelva Spirit 149,99¢ 2001 Capital leas® CEPSA Apr. 20143
Teide Spirit 149,99¢ 2004 Capital leas® CEPSA Oct. 201°®)
Toledo Spirit 159,34. 2005 Capital leas® CEPSA Jul. 201®
European Spiri 151,84¢ 2003 10C% ConocoPhillips Shipping LL( Sep. 201®
African Spirit 151,73¢ 2003 10C% ConocoPhillips Shipping LL( Nov. 201
Asian Spirit 151,69: 2004 10C% ConocoPhillips Shipping LL( Jan. 201®
Bermuda Spiri 159,00( 2009 10C% Centrofin Management In May. 202:5)
Hamilton Spirit 159,00( 2009 10C% Centrofin Management In Jun. 202®)
Alexander Spirit 40,08: 2007 10C% Caltex Australian Petroleum Pty L Mar. 202(
Total Capacity 1,572,69

(1) The conventional tankers listed in the tabkeal Suezmax tankers, with the exception ofAlexander Spiritvhich is a Handymax
tanker.

(2) We are the lessee under a capital lease amargeand may be required to purchase the vessgelthé end of the lease terms for a fixed
price. Please read Item - Financial Statements: Note- Leases and Restricted Ca

(3) Compania Espanole de Petroleos, S.ACEEPSA) has the right to terminate the time-charter 1&yeafter the original delivery date
without penalty. Expiration date assumes the teation at the end of year 13 of the charter conttamwvever, if the charterer does not
exercise its annual termination rights, from thd ehyear 13 onwards, the charter contract coutdrekto 20 years after the original
delivery date

(4) The term of the time-charter is 12 years frowm driginal delivery date, which may be extendethatcustomer’s option for up to an
additional six years. In addition, the customer ti@sright to terminate the time-charter upon retiad payment of a cancellation fee.
Either party also may require the sale of the Mdss& third party at any time, subject to the otbarty’s right of first refusal to purchase
the vessel

(5) Centrofin Management Inc. has the option tahase the two vessels, which right is exercisafée the end of five years and every year
thereafter until the end of the charter agreentemth purchase option ranges between $53.8 milfien five years to $29.4 million at tt
end of the charte

CEPSA accounted for 12% of our 2012, 2011 and 20h8olidated voyage revenues. No other conventiaméer customer accounted for
10% or more of our revenues during any of thesmg@sr The loss of any significant customer or astattial decline in the amount of services
requested by a significant customer could harmbosiness, financial condition and results of openat



Business Strategies
Our primary business objective is to increase ithistable cash flow per unit by executing the foliogvstrategies:

. Expand our LNG and LPG business global. We seek to capitalize on opportunities emergingifthe global expansion of the
LNG and LPG sectors by selectively targeti

. projects which involve mediu-to lonc-term, fixec-rate charters
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. joint ventures and partnerships with companiestieat provide increased access to opportunitiefiiaciive LNG ani
LPG importing and exporting geographic regic

. strategic vessel and business acquisitions
. specialized projects in adjacent areas of the bssirincluding floating storage and regasificatiaits (orFSRUE).

. Provide superior customer service by maintainingghireliability, safety, environmental and qualitgfemdards.LNG and LPG
project operators seek LNG and LPG transportatamngrs that have a reputation for high reliahil#gfety, environmental and
quality standards. We seek to leverage our owrTadtkay Corporation’s operational expertise to e@asustainable competitive
advantage with consistent delivery of superior @usr service

. Manage our conventional tanker fleet to provide bta cash flowsThe remaining terms for our existing long-term camional
tanker charters are 1 to 9 years. We believe ®eelfrate time-charters for our tanker fleet prouidestable cash flows during their
terms and a source of funding for expanding our L@ LPG operations. Depending on prevailing mackeatlitions during and :
the end of each existing charter, we may seektenethe charter, enter into a new charter, opéhateessel on the spot market or
sell the vessel, in an effort to maximize returnar conventional tanker fleet while managingdeal risk.

Safety, Management of Ship Operations and Administtion

Teekay Corporation, through its subsidiaries, &ssis in managing our ship operations. Safety and@mental compliance are our top
operational priorities. We operate our vesselsnmaaner intended to protect the safety and heélifieoemployees, the general public and the
environment. We seek to manage the risks inhenemtii business and are committed to eliminatinglamds that threaten the safety and
integrity of our vessels, such as groundings, ficeflisions and petroleum spills. In 2007, Teelkarporation introduced a behavior-based
safety program called “Safety in Action” to furtremhance the safety culture in our fleet. We ase abmmitted to reducing our emissions anc
waste generation. In 2008, Teekay Corporation thtced the Quality Assurance and Training OfficerSATO) Program to conduct rigoro
internal audits of our processes and provide théasers with onboard training.

Teekay Corporation has achieved certification unlderstandards reflected in International Stand@mgnization’s (0fSO) 9001 for Quality
Assurance, 1ISO 14001 for Environment Managemente8ys Occupational Health and Safety Advisory $ewil8001 for Occupational
Health and Safety, and the IMO'’s International Mggraent Code for the Safe Operation of Ships anlditiRoi Prevention (otfSM Code)
conforming to the definition of ISM Code in Item 4rformation on the Partnership: C — Regulations-etflmational Maritime Organization on
a fully integrated basis. As part of Teekay Corfioraés compliance with the ISM Code, all of our ek’ safety management certificates are
maintained through ongoing internal audits perfairbg our certified internal auditors and intermeeliexternal audits performed by the
classification society Det Norske Veritas. Subjecsatisfactory completion of these internal angteal audits, certification is valid for five
years.

We have established key performance indicatoradiithte regular monitoring of our operationalfoemance. We set targets on an annual
basis to drive continuous improvement, and we reyierformance indicators quarterly to determineihedial action is necessary to reach ou
targets.

In addition to our operational experience, TeekaypOration’s in-house global shore staff perforthspugh its subsidiaries, the full range of
technical, commercial and business developmentcssfor our LNG and LPG operations. This stafbgisovides administrative support to
our operations in finance, accounting and humaouregs. We believe this arrangement affords a s#ieient and cost-effective operation.
Critical ship management functions undertaken tsiliaries of Teekay Corporation are:

. vessel maintenanc

. crewing;

. purchasing

. shipyard supervisior

. insurance; an

. financial management servict
These functions are supported by onboard and oaslystems for maintenance, inventory, purchasidgoaget management.

In addition, Teekay Corporation’s day-to-day foomscost control is applied to our operations. 1020Teekay Corporation and two other
shipping companies established a purchasing cotpe@greement called the TBW Alliance, which leagas the purchasing power of the
combined fleets, mainly in such commodity areasagne lubricants, coatings and chemicals and gasesugh our arrangements with
Teekay Corporation, we benefit from this purchasitignce.

We believe that the generally uniform design of sahour existing and newbuilding vessels and theption of common equipment standards
provides operational efficiencies, including wittspect to crew training and vessel managementpeguit operation and repair, and spare
parts ordering.

Risk of Loss, Insurance and Risk Management



The operation of any ocean-going vessel carridala@rent risk of catastrophic marine disasterstrderinjury of persons and property losses
caused by adverse weather conditions, mechanibaefs, human error, war, terrorism, piracy andeottircumstances or events. In addition,
the
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transportation of crude oil, petroleum products G Bnd LPG is subject to the risk of spills and tsibess interruptions due to political
circumstances in foreign countries, hostilitiegdastrikes and boycotts. The occurrence of arth@de events may result in loss of revenues «
increased costs.

We carry hull and machinery (marine and war rigk®) protection and indemnity insurance coveragedtect against most of the accident-
related risks involved in the conduct of our busseHull and machinery insurance covers loss ofaonage to a vessel due to marine perils
such as collision, grounding and weather. Protaciad indemnity insurance indemnifies us agaiasillties incurred while operating vessels,
including injury to our crew or third parties, carpss and pollution. The current maximum amourtdwfcoverage for pollution is $1 billion
per vessel per incident. We also carry insurandieips covering war risks (including piracy andrtegism) and, for some of our LNG carriers,
loss of revenues resulting from vessel off-hiregtidue to a marine casualty. We believe that oueatiinsurance coverage is adequate to
protect against most of the accident-related riskslved in the conduct of our business and thatwaintain appropriate levels of
environmental damage and pollution insurance c@esrdowever, we cannot guarantee that all covasid are adequately insured against,
that any particular claim will be paid or that wéle able to procure adequate insurance coveatgemmercially reasonable rates in the
future. More stringent environmental regulationgeneesulted in increased costs for, and may réastiite lack of availability of, insurance
against risks of environmental damage or pollution.

We use in our operations Teekay Corporation’s thgharisk management program that includes, amamey ehings, risk analysis tools,
maintenance and assessment programs, a seafargssteoce training program, seafarers workshopsrerdbership in emergency response
organizations. We believe we benefit from TeekaypBmation’s commitment to safety and environmeptatection as certain of its
subsidiaries assist us in managing our vessel tipesa

Flag, Classification, Audits and Inspections

Our vessels are registered with reputable flagstand the hull and machinery of all of our veskalve been “Classed” by one of the major
classification societies and members of Internatiérssociation of Classification Societies Itd [ACS): BV, Lloyd’'s Register of Shipping or
American Bureau of Shipping.

The applicable classification society certifiestttee vessel's design and build conforms to thdiegple Class rules and meets the
requirements of the applicable rules and regulatadfrthe country of registry of the vessel andithernational conventions to which that
country is a signatory. The classification socigo verifies throughout the vessel’s life thatahtinues to be maintained in accordance with
those rules. In order to validate this, the vesamssurveyed by the classification society, inoadance to the classification society rules, whicl
in the case of our vessels follows a compreherfsieeyear special survey cycle, renewed every figlar. During each five-year period the
vessel undergoes annual and intermediate surveysctutiny and intensity of which is primarily @ited by the age of the vessel. As our
vessels are modern and we have enhanced thenmegibié the underwater coatings of each vesseldndimarked the hull to facilitate
underwater inspections by divers, their underwateas are inspected in a dry-dock at five yeaniats. In-water inspection is carried out
during the second or third annual inspection (llging an Intermediate Survey).

In addition to class surveys, the vessel’s flatestdso verifies the condition of the vessel duangual flag state inspections, either
independently or by additional authorization tosslaAlso, port state authorities of a vessel's pbdall are authorized under international
conventions to undertake regular and spot checkessels visiting their jurisdiction.

Processes followed onboard are audited by eitleefldly state or classification society acting ohdleof the flag state to ensure that they mee
the requirements of the ISM Code. DNV typicallyrgss out this task. We also follow an internal @es of internal audits undertaken at each
office and vessel annually.

We follow a comprehensive inspections scheme stp@dry our sea staff, shob&sed operational and technical specialists andbeesmof ou
QATO program. We carry out a minimum of two sucépections annually, which helps ensure us that:

. our vessels and operations adhere to our opersttimglards

. the structural integrity of the vessel is being m&ined;

. machinery and equipment is being maintained to giliable service

. we are optimizing performance in terms of speedfaaticonsumption; an

. the vess¢'s appearance supports our brand and meets custapeatations
Our customers also often carry out vetting inspastiunder the Ship inspection Report Program, wisiehsignificant safety initiative

introduced by the Oil Companies International Marfforum to specifically address concerns aboutsadard vessels. The inspection result
permit charterers to screen a vessel to ensuré tihnaets their general and specific risk-basegghg requirements.

We believe that the heightened environmental ardity§jiconcerns of insurance underwriters, regukatord charterers will generally lead to
greater scrutiny, inspection and safety requiresientall vessels in the oil tanker and LNG and ld@@ier markets and will accelerate the
scrapping or phasing out of older vessels througtimse markets.

Overall we believe that our relatively new, wellimtained and high-quality vessels provide us wittompetitive advantage in the current
environment of increasing regulation and customapleasis on quality of service.
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C. Regulations
General

Our business and the operation of our vesselsgméisantly affected by international conventioaisd national, state and local laws and
regulations in the jurisdictions in which our vdsseperate, as well as in the country or counwoigheir registration. Because these
conventions, laws and regulations change frequentiycannot predict the ultimate cost of compliaoctheir impact on the resale price or
useful life of our vessels. Additional conventiolasys, and regulations may be adopted that coniid Gur ability to do business or increase
cost of our doing business and that may materédiersely affect our operations. We are requiredarious governmental and quasi-
governmental agencies to obtain permits, licensdscartificates with respect to our operations.j&atito the discussion below and to the fact
that the kinds of permits, licenses and certifisatgjuired for the operations of the vessels we willrdepend on a number of factors, we
believe that we will be able to continue to obtalinpermits, licenses and certificates materighoconduct of our operations.

International Maritime Organization (or IMO)

The IMO is the United Nations’ agency for maritisegfety. IMO regulations relating to pollution pretien for oil tankers have been adopted
by many of the jurisdictions in which our tankezdt operates. Under IMO regulations and subjelitited exceptions, a tanker must be of
double-hull construction, be of a mid-deck desigtihwlouble-side construction or be of another appdodesign ensuring the same level of
protection against oil pollution. All of our tanlseare double hulled.

Many countries, but not the United States, haviéedtand follow the liability regime adopted byethMO and set out in the International
Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Daage, 1969, as amended @IrC). Under this convention, a vessel’s registeredenvis
strictly liable for pollution damage caused in tegitorial waters of a contracting state by diggesof persistent oil (e.g. crude oil, fuel oil,
heavy diesel oil or lubricating oil), subject tateén defenses. The right to limit liability to spied amounts that are periodically revised is
forfeited under the CLC when the spill is causedh®yowner’s actual fault or when the spill is adiby the owner’s intentional or reckless
conduct. Vessels trading to contracting states ipastide evidence of insurance covering the limitebility of the owner. In jurisdictions
where the CLC has not been adopted, various legsleegimes or common law governs, and liabilgyrhposed either on the basis of fault or
in a manner similar to the CLC.

IMO regulations also include the International Cemtion for Safety of Life at Sea (BIOLAS), including amendments to SOLAS
implementing the International Ship and Port Facliecurity Code (oiSPS), the ISM Code, the International Convention omadd.ines of
1966, and, specifically with respect to LNG and L&4Briers, the International Code for Constructon Equipment of Ships Carrying
Liquefied Gases in Bulk (thiksC Code). SOLAS provides rules for the construction of @agiipment required for commercial vessels and
includes regulations for safe operation. Flag statieich have ratified the convention and the tregtyerally employ the classification societ
which have incorporated SOLAS requirements intdr ttlass rules, to undertake surveys to confirm glnce.

SOLAS and other IMO regulations concerning safetgiuding those relating to treaties on trainingsbipboard personnel, lifesaving
appliances, radio equipment and the global maritimtress and safety system, are applicable t@pearations. Non-compliance with IMO
regulations, including SOLAS, the ISM Code, ISPH #re IGC Code, may subject us to increased ligiili penalties, may lead to decreases
in available insurance coverage for affected vesmetl may result in the denial of access to omdietein some ports. For example, the U.S.
Coast Guard and European Union authorities haviedtet that vessels not in compliance with the ISdtle will be prohibited from trading in
U.S. and European Union ports. The ISM Code requiessel operators to obtain a safety managemsificegion for each vessel they
manage, evidencing the shipowner’s developmentaaidtenance of an extensive safety managementnsygi&ch of the existing vessels in
our fleet is currently ISM Code-certified, and wepect to obtain safety management certificategémh newbuilding vessel upon delivery.

LNG and LPG carriers are also subject to regulatioder the IGC Code. Each LNG and LPG carrier robstin a certificate of compliance
evidencing that it meets the requirements of thé {@»de, including requirements relating to its gesind construction. Each of our LNG and
LPG carriers is currently IGC Code certified.

Annex VI to the IMO’s International Convention ftire Prevention of Pollution from Ships @nnex VI) sets limits on sulfur oxide and
nitrogen oxide emissions from ship exhausts andipits emissions of ozone depleting substancesssams of volatile compounds from ca
tanks and the incineration of specific substangegex VI also includes a worldide cap on the sulfur content of fuel oil and atofor specie
areas to be established with more stringent canbwolsulfur emissions.

The IMO has issued guidance regarding protectimgnag acts of piracy off the coast of Somalia. Vumply with these guidelines.

In addition, the IMO has proposed that all tanladrthe size we operate that are built startingdh2contain ballast water treatment systems,
and that all other similarly sized tankers instisdhtment systems by 2016. This convention hagetdbeen ratified, but when it becomes
effective, we estimate that the installation ofiéstl water treatment systems on our tankers maybedseen $2 million and $3 million per
vessel.

European Union (or EVU)

Like the IMO, the EU has adopted regulations ptagsut single-hull tankers. All of our tankers acble-hulled. On May 17, 2011 the
European commission carried out a number of “daaiatsi’, or unannounced inspections, at the offidfesome of the world’s largest container
line operators starting an antitrust investigatdfe are not directly affected by this investigataord believe that we are compliant with antit
rules. Nevertheless, it is possible that the ingatibn could be widened and new companies andipesccome under scrutiny within the E



The EU has also adopted legislation (directive 2D8/Econ Port State Control) that: bans from Euaopeaters manifestly sub-standard
vessels (defined as vessels that have been detaiieedby EU port authorities, in the preceding tyears); creates obligations on the part of
EU member port states to inspect at least 24% sdele using these ports annually; provides foreimsed surveillance of vessels posing a higt
risk to maritime safety or the marine environmemtgl provides the EU with greater authority and mmtver classification societies, including
the ability to seek to suspend or revoke the aithof negligent societies. Two new regulations avartroduced by the European Commission
in September 2010, as part of the implementaticdh@Port State Control Directive. These came fiotoe on January 1, 2011 and introduce a

ranking system (published on a public website grthted daily) displaying shipping companies opeggin the EU with the worst safety
records. The ranking is
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judged upon the results of the technical inspestimarried out on the vessels owned be a partishigping company. Those shippi
companies that have the most positive safety racarel rewarded by subjecting them to fewer inspestiwhilst those with the most safety
shortcomings or technical failings recorded upapéattion will in turn be subject to a greater freiey of official inspections to their vessels.

The EU has, by way of Directive 2005/35/EC, whiels lheen amended by Directive 2009/123/EC credegbhframework for imposing
criminal penalties in the event of discharges band other noxious substances from ships saifiritsiwaters, irrespective of their flag. This
relates to discharges of oil or other noxious sadrsts from vessels. Minor discharges shall notaatically be considered as offences, excep
where repetition leads to deterioration in the dyalf the water. The persons responsible may bgestito criminal penalties if they have actec
with intent, recklessly or with serious negligeraral the act of inciting, aiding and abetting a per® discharge a polluting substance may
lead to criminal penalties.

The EU has adopted regulations requiring the usevotulfur fuel. Currently, vessels are requiredbuirn fuel with sulfur content not
exceeding 1%. Beginning January 1, 2015, vesseleeguired to burn fuel with sulfur content noteading 0.1% while within EU member
states’ territorial seas, exclusive economic zamespollution control zones that are included iX3mission Control Areas. Other
jurisdictions have also adopted regulations reqgithe use of low sulfur fuel. The California Aieources Board ((CARB) requires vessels
to burn fuel with 0.1% sulfur content or less witt@4 nautical miles of California as of Januarg@14. IMO regulations require that, as of
January 1, 2015, all vessels operating within Eimmsscontrol Areas (0ECA) worldwide must comply with 0.1% sulfur requirenten
Currently, the only grade of fuel meeting this Isuifur content requirement is low sulfur marine gdgor LSMGO). Since July 1, 2010, the
applicable sulfur content limits in the North St Baltic Sea and the English Channel sulfur ab@treas have been 0.1%. Certain
modifications were completed on our Suezmax tanikessder to optimize operation on LSMGO of equipneriginally designed to operate
Heavy Fuel Oil (oHFO), and to ensure our compliance with the Directimeaddition, LSMGO is more expensive than HFO #nsl impacts
the costs of operations. However, for vessels epapl@n fixed-term business, all fuel costs, inahgdany increases, are borne by the chartere

United States

The United States has enacted an extensive requkatd liability regime for the protection and ale@ of the environment from oil spills,
including discharges of oil cargoes, bunker fuellkibricants, primarily through the Oil PollutioncAof 1990 (01OPA 90) and the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensatidhiability Act (orCERCLA). OPA 90 affects all owners, bareboat charternd,
operators whose vessels trade to the United Stafesterritories or possessions or whose vesgedsate in United States waters, which inc
the U.S. territorial sea and 200-mile exclusivereroic zone around the United States. CERCLA appdi¢ke discharge of “hazardous
substances” rather than “o#ihd imposes strict joint and several liability ugba owners, operators or bareboat charterersssele for cleant
costs and damages arising from discharges of hazaslibstances. We believe that petroleum prodmct$. NG and LPG should not be
considered hazardous substances under CERCLAdHitivas to oil or lubricants used on LNG or LPGraars might fall within its scope.

Under OPA 90, vessel owners, operators and barebasters are “responsible parties” and are jojrsiwerally and strictly liable (unless the
oil spill results solely from the act or omissidinacthird party, an act of God or an act of war #melresponsible party reports the incident and
reasonably cooperates with the appropriate autb®yitor all containment and cleanup costs andratheages arising from discharges or
threatened discharges of oil from their vesselgséhother damages are defined broadly to include:

. natural resources damages and the related assessrats;

. real and personal property damag

. net loss of taxes, royalties, rents, fees and ddstrevenues

. lost profits or impairment of earning capacity dagroperty or natural resources dams

. net cost of public services necessitated by a gsfponse, such as protection from fire, safetyeaith hazards; ar
. loss of subsistence use of natural resou:

OPA 90 limits the liability of responsible partissan amount it periodically updates. The liabilitpits do not apply if the incident was
proximately caused by violation of applicable Ueleral safety, construction or operating regufetjoncluding IMO conventions to which t
United States is a signhatory, or by the respongibtéy’s gross negligence or willful misconduct,faihe responsible party fails or refuses to
report the incident or to cooperate and assisbimection with the oil removal activities. Liabilitnder CERCLA is also subject to limits
unless the incident is caused by gross negligemiti&l misconduct or a violation of certain regtilans. We currently maintain for each of our
vessel’s pollution liability coverage in the maximwoverage amount of $1 billion per incident. Aasaitophic spill could exceed the coverage
available, which could harm our business, financaddition and results of operations.

Under OPA 90, with limited exceptions, all newlyilbor converted tankers delivered after Januar{2B4 and operating in U.S. waters must
be double-hulled. All of our tankers are doubleldull

OPA 90 also requires owners and operators of \v@ss@stablish and maintain with the United St@east Guard (o€oast Guard evidence

of financial responsibility in an amount at leagtial to the relevant limitation amount for suchagds under the statute. The Coast Guard has
implemented regulations requiring that an ownesperator of a fleet of vessels must demonstratdeagie of financial responsibility in an
amount sufficient to cover the vessel in the flegting the greatest maximum limited liability un@®A 90 and CERCLA. Evidence of
financial responsibility may be demonstrated byirasce, surety bond, self-insurance, guaranty @tamnate method subject to approval by
the Coast Guard. Under the self-insurance prowssitire shipowner or operator must have a net vamthworking capital, measured in assets
located in the United States against liabilitiesaked anywhere in the world, that exceeds the egdle amount of financial responsibility. \



have complied with the Coast Guard regulationsdiggiself-insurance for certain vessels and obtgifinancial guaranties from a third party
for the remaining vessels. If other vessels inftagt trade into the United States in the future,expect to obtain guaranties from third-party
insurers.
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OPA 90 and CERCLA permit individual U.S. statesmgose their own liability regimes with regard tiba hazardous substance pollution
incidents occurring within their boundaries, anthecstates have enacted legislation providing feimited strict liability for spills. Several
coastal states, such as California and Alaska regtate-specific evidence of financial responisibéind vessel response plans. We intend to
comply with all applicable state regulations in gogts where our vessels call.

Owners or operators of vessels, including tankpesating in U.S. waters are required to file vesssponse plans with the Coast Guard, and
their tankers are required to operate in compliamitte their Coast Guard approved plans. Such resppfans must, among other things:

. address a “worst case” scenario and identify asdiren through contract or other approved meansavha#ability of necessary
private response resources to respond‘worst case dischar”;

. describe crew training and drills; a
. identify a qualified individual with full authorityo implement removal action

We have filed vessel response plans with the G@aatd and have received its approval of such plareddition, we conduct regular oil spill
response drills in accordance with the guideliretost in OPA 90. The Coast Guard has announdatkitds to propose similar regulations
requiring certain vessels to prepare response [fitartse release of hazardous substances.

OPA 90 and CERCLA do not preclude claimants froekg® damages resulting from the discharge ofmail Bazardous substances under
other applicable law, including maritime tort la8uch claims could include attempts to charactahiedransportation of LNG or LPG aboard a
vessel as an ultra-hazardous activity under a mhecthat would impose strict liability for damagesulting from that activity. The application
of this doctrine varies by jurisdiction.

The United States Clean Water Act also prohibiésdischarge of oil or hazardous substances inta8gable waters and imposes strict
liability in the form of penalties for unauthorizédscharges. The Clean Water Act imposes substéiatidity for the costs of removal,
remediation and damages and complements the resradidable under OPA 90 and CERCLA discussed above

Our vessels that discharge certain effluents, dioballast water, in U.S. waters must obtain ea@lWater Act permit from the
Environmental Protection Agency (BPA) titled the “Vessel General Permit” and complytwit range of effluent limitations, best
management practices, reporting, inspections amgt oequirements. The current Vessel General Pevastissued in December 2008 and
expires on December 19, 2013. A new Vessel GeRenathit was issued in March 2013 and will becomedtiffe on December 19, 2013. In
addition to the ballast water best managementipesctequired under the 2008 Vessel General Petiri?013 Vessel General Permit cont
numeric technology-based ballast water effluenitéitions that will apply to certain commercial velsswith ballast water tanks. For certain
existing vessels, the EPA has adopted a staggeigdmentation schedule to require vessels to rhedbdllast water effluent limitations by 1
first dry docking after January 1, 2014 or Janugrg016, depending on the vessel size. Vesselaitbatonstructed after December 1, 2013 ar
subject to the ballast water numeric effluent latidns immediately upon the effective date of tA@2Vessel General Permit.

Since 2009, several environmental groups and inglassociations have filed challenges in U.S. faldeourt to the EPA’s issuance of the
Vessel General Permit. The EPA issued a final egl/idessel General Permit in March 2013 with anctiffe date of December 19, 2013.

Greenhouse Gas Regulation

In February 2005, the Kyoto Protocol to the Unikations Framework Convention on Climate ChangaheKyoto Protocol) entered into
force. Pursuant to the Kyoto Protocol, adoptingninas are required to implement national progrém&duce emissions of greenhouse gase:
In December 2009, more than 27 nations, includirgUnited States, entered into the Copenhagen Actbe Copenhagen Accord is non-
binding, but is intended to pave the way for a coghpnsive, international treaty on climate chafge IMO is evaluating various mandatory
measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions ftemaitional shipping, which may include marketsed instruments or a carbon tax. The
also has indicated that it intends to propose gamsion of an existing EU emissions trading redion@clude emissions of greenhouse gases
from vessels, and individual countries in the EU/nmapose additional requirements. In the Unitededtathe EPA issued an “endangerment
finding” regarding greenhouse gases under the GMraAct. While this finding in itself does not ingge any requirements on our industry, it
authorizes the EPA to regulate directly greenh@aseemissions through a ruteaking process. In addition, climate change initext are bein
considered in the United States Congress and lividludl states. Any passage of new climate corégislation or other regulatory initiatives
by the IMO, EU, the United States or other coustdestates where we operate that restrict emisgsibgreenhouse gases could have a
significant financial and operational impact on business that we cannot predict with certaintiattime.
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Vessel Security

The ISPS was adopted by the IMO in December 20@2einvake of heightened concern over worldwideoté&am and became effective on
July 1, 2004. The objective of ISPS is to enhanaétime security by detecting security threatships and ports and by requiring the
development of security plans and other measurggred to prevent such threats. Each of the egistassels in our fleet currently complies
with the requirements of ISPS and MTSA.

D. Properties
Other than our vessels, we do not have any mamdglerty.

E. Organizational Structure

Our sole general partner is Teekay GP L.L.C., wigcnwholly-owned subsidiary of Teekay CorporatibiyY SE: TK). Teekay Corporation
also controls its public subsidiaries Teekay Offeh®artners L.P. (NYSE: TOO) and Teekay Tankers (N SE: TNK).

The following is a list of our significant subsidies as at December 31, 2012:

Name of Significant Subsidiary Ownership State or Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Teekay LNG Operating L.L.C 10C% Marshall Island:
Teekay Luxembourg S.a.r 10C% Luxembourg
Teekay Spain S.L 10C% Spain

Teekay Il Iberia S.L 10C% Spain

Teekay Shipping Spain S. 10C% Spain

Teekay LNG Holdings L.F 99% United State:
Teekay Nakilat Holdings Corporatic 10C% Marshall Island:
Teekay Nakilat Corporatio 70% Marshall Island:
Teekay Nakilat (1) Holdings Corporatic 10C% Marshall Island:
Teekay BLT Corporatiol 69% Marshall Island:
Teekay Tangguh Holdings Corporati 99% Marshall Island:
Teekay Tangguh Borrower L.L.( 99% Marshall Island:
Teekay LNG Holdco L.L.C 99% Marshall Island:

Iltem 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable

32



Table of Contents

Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospect
Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial@dition and Results of Operations
General

Teekay LNG Partners L.P. is an international preriof marine transportation services for liquefiedural gas (0LNG ), liquefied petroleum
gas (or.PG) and crude oil. We were formed in 2004 by TeekaypOration, the world’s largest owner and operafanedium sized crude oil
tankers, to expand its operations in the LNG simigiector. Our primary growth strategy focuses>qraading our fleet of LNG and LPG
carriers under long-term, fixed-rate charters.X¥aceiting our growth strategy, we may engage inelessbusiness acquisitions or enter into
joint ventures and partnerships with companiesniet provide increased access to emerging opptigsifiiom global expansion of the LN
and LPG sectors. We seek to leverage the expertisgionships and reputation of Teekay Corporatiod its affiliates to pursue these
opportunities in the LNG and LPG sectors and maysiter other opportunities to which our competittheengths are well suited. Although
may acquire additional crude oil tankers from titméime, we view our conventional tanker fleet painity as a source of stable cash flow as wi
seek to expand our LNG and LPG operations.

SIGNIFICANT DEVELOPMENTS IN 2012 AND EARLY 2013
Exmar LPG Joint Venture

On February 12, 2013, we entered into a joint vienaigreement with Belgium-based Exmar NVE&mar) to own and charter LPG carrier:
with a primary focus on the mid-size gas carrigmsent. The joint venture entity, called Exmar LP@H3\, took economic effect as of
November 1, 2012 and includes 16 owned LPG carfiectuding four newbuildings scheduled for deliyém 2014) and five charter-in LPG
carriers. In addition, the joint venture recentigered another four medium-size gas carrier newingk with deliveries scheduled between
2015 and 2016, with options to order up to fourithololl vessels, which brings the total fleet sifé&=xmar LPG BVBA to 25 vessels,
excluding options. For our 50% ownership interaghie joint venture, including newbuilding paymemtade prior to the November 1, 2012
economic effective date of the joint venture, weested approximately $134 million of equity andusssd approximately $108 million of our
pro rata share of the existing debt and lease atidigs as of the economic effective date, secuyetkhtain vessels in the Exmar LPG BVBA
fleet. Exmar will continue to commercially and teatally manage and operate the vessels. SinceataitExmar LPG BVBA will be shared
jointly between Exmar and us, we expect to accamExmar LPG BVBA using the equity methc

Two LNG Newbuildings

On December 12, 2012, we entered into an agreenimDaewoo Shipbuilding & Marine Engineering Cbtd. (or DSME) of South Korea
for the construction of two 173,400 cubic meter Li&rier newbuildings, with options to order ughieee additional vessels. We intend to
secure long-term contract employment for both Megseor to their scheduled deliveries in the finsif of 2016. The newbuildings will be
constructed with M-type, Electronically Controllgdas Injection (0MEGI ) twin engines, which are expected to be signifigamore fuel-
efficient and have lower emission levels than otiregines currently being utilized in LNG shippifige contract with DSME includes a
favorable installment payment schedule, with thgonitst of the purchase price due upon delivery. pé@ $38.6 million on the first installme
payment and we intend to finance the future instatit payments during construction with a portiowaf existing liquidity, which was
approximately $495.0 million as of December 31,2040/e expect to secure long-term debt financingHertwo vessels prior to their
scheduled delivery.

Equity Offering

In September 2012, we completed a public offerihg.® million common units (including 225,863 commanits issued upon exercise of the
underwriters’ over-allotment option) at a price$88.43 per unit, for gross proceeds of approxirge®@B9.2 million (including our general
partners 2% proportionate capital contribution). We udsainiet proceeds from the offering of approxima$dlg2.3 million to prepay a portit
of our outstanding debt under two of our revolvangdit facilities.

Norwegian Bond Issuance

In May 2012, we issued in the Norwegian bond maNa@tvegian Kroner (o0NOK) 700 million in senior unsecured bonds that matufday
2017 and bear interest at NIBOR plus a margin 25%. The aggregate principal amount of the bondsjisvalent to approximately $125
million and we entered into a cross currency swgrp@ment to swap all interest and principal paysignio U.S. Dollars, with the interest
payments fixed at a rate of 6.88%. We used thegas of the bonds to prepay outstanding debt underevolving credit facilities and for
general corporate purposes. The bonds are listéldeoBslo Stock Exchange.

Maersk LNG Carriers

In 2011, we and the Marubeni Corporation Marubeni) entered into an agreement to acquire, througlindyenture, ownership interests in
six LNG carriers from Denmark-based A.P. Moller-MaeA/S (orMaersk) for an aggregate purchase price of approxima&gl$ billion. We
and Marubeni have 52% and 48% economic interestpectively, but share control of the joint ventALT LNG Holdings ApS (or the
Teekay LNG-Marubeni Joint Venturethat we formed to acquire the LNG carriers. ébfuary 2012, the Teekay LNG-Marubeni Joint Ventur
acquired a 100% interest in the six LNG carriergli@e MALT LNG Carriers). Four of the six MALT LNG Carriers are currentdperating

under long-term, fixed-rate time-charter contraatih an average remaining firm contract perioégpproximately 17 years, plus extension
options. The other two vessels are currently operatnder medium-term, fixed-rate time-chartersweih average remaining firm contract
period of approximately four years. Since contfahe Teekay LN(-Marubeni Joint Venture is shared jointly betweerrdb&ni and us, w



account for our investment in the Teekay LNG-Manilwint Venture using the equity method.

The Teekay LNG-Marubeni Joint Venture financed agjnately $1.06 billion of the purchase price foe t(MALT LNG Carriers with secured
loan facilities, and $266 million from equity coaibutions from us and Marubeni Corporation. We adreeguarantee our 52% share of the
secured loan facilities of the Teekay LNG-Marubé&sint Venture and as a result, deposited $30 millica restricted cash account as security
Our 52% share of the equity contribution was apionaxely $138 million. We financed this equity cabtition by drawing on our existing
credit facilities. Subsidiaries of Teekay Corpavatprovide technical management of the acquiredalss
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Important Financial and Operational Terms and Concepts
We use a variety of financial and operational teamd concepts when analyzing our performance. Tinetede the following:

Voyage RevenuesVoyage revenues currently include revenues frbarters accounted for under operating and diraeniing leases. Voya
revenues are affected by hire rates and the nuaflmiendar-ship-days a vessel operates. Voyagmues are also affected by the mix of
business between time and voyage charters. Hige fat voyage charters are more volatile, as theyypically tied to prevailing market rates
at the time of a voyage.

Voyage ExpensesVoyage expenses are all expenses unique toiayartvoyage, including any bunker fuel expengest fees, cargo loadir
and unloading expenses, canal tolls, agency feds@nmissions. Voyage expenses are typically paidhéd customer under charters and by u
under voyage charters.

Net Voyage Revenut. Net voyage revenues represent voyage revenuesdgage expenses. Because the amount of voyagesegwe inct
for a particular charter depends upon the typ@éeficharter, we use net voyage revenues to imphavedmparability between periods of
reported revenues that are generated by the diffeypes of charters. We principally use net voyagyenues, a non-GAAP financial measure,
because it provides more meaningful informationg@bout the deployment of our vessels and thefopeance than voyage revenues, the
most directly comparable financial measure ural&AP.

Vessel Operating ExpensedJnder all types of charters and contracts fon@mssels, except for bareboat charters, we aremsgpe for vessel
operating expenses, which include crewing, reismaintenance, insurance, stores, lube oils aminzinication expenses. The two largest
components of our vessel operating expenses arectts and repairs and maintenance. We exped thgenses to increase as our fleet
matures and to the extent that it expands.

Income from Vessel Operatior. To assist us in evaluating our operations by sggnwe sometimes analyze the income we receive &ach
segment after deducting operating expenses, bt forthe deduction of interest expense, taxesgjdarcurrency and derivative gains or losses
and other income (expense). For more informatitegge read Item 18 — Financial Statements: No®e€gment Reporting.

Dry docking. We must periodically dry dock each of our ves$misnspection, repairs and maintenance and angifinations required to
comply with industry certification or governmentafjuirements. Generally, we dry dock each of ogsebs every two and a half to five years,
depending upon the type of vessel and its agedditian, a shipping society classification interriade survey is performed on our LNG carr
between the second and third year of a five-yegiddcking period. We capitalize a substantial mortdf the costs incurred during dry docking
and for the survey and amortize those costs oramBt-line basis from the completion of a dry diogkor intermediate survey over the
estimated useful life of the dry dock. We expers@aurred costs for routine repairs and mainteagreformed during dry docking or
intermediate survey that do not improve or extdreduseful lives of the assets. The number of dokitigs undertaken in a given period and
the nature of the work performed determine thellef/dry-docking expenditures.

Depreciation and Amortizatior. Our depreciation and amortization expense tylyicansists of the following three components:

. charges related to the depreciation of the hisabdost of our fleet (less an estimated residukle)eover the estimated useful lives
of our vessels

. charges related to the amortization of-docking expenditures over the useful life of the dock; anc

. charges related to the amortization of the faiugalf the time-charters acquired in a 2004 acdoisiif LNG carriers (over the
expected remaining terms of the charte

Revenue Day. Revenue days are the total number of calendar dayvessels were in our possession during ag&ss the total number of
off-hire days during the period associated withanagpairs, dry dockings or special or intermedgateseys. Consequently, revenue days
represents the total number of days availablehfervessel to earn revenue. Idle days, which ars d&gn the vessel is available to earn
revenue, yet is not employed, are included in reeafays. We use revenue days to explain changes imet voyage revenues between per

Calendar-Ship-Days Calendar-ship-days are equal to the total nurobealendar days that our vessels were in our gs&se during a period.
As a result, we use calendar-ship-days primarilgxplaining changes in vessel operating expensgtsi@preciation and amortization.

Utilization . Utilization is an indicator of the use of ourdteduring a given period, and is determined bydiig our revenue days by our
calendar-ship-days for the period.

Restricted Cash Deposi. Under capital lease arrangements for three of bi@ carriers, we (a) borrowed under term loans @eybsited the
proceeds into restricted cash accounts and (bjezhieto capital leases, also referred to as “bmaebharters,” for the vessels. The restricted
cash deposits, together with interest earned odépesits, will equal the remaining amounts we aweer the lease arrangements, including
our obligation to purchase the vessels at the étliedease terms, where applicable. During 20XRiarconnection with the acquisition of the
MALT LNG Carriers, the Teekay LNG-Marubeni JointMare borrowed under an 18-month bridge loan whpitvided that we maintain a
minimum of $30.0 million in restricted cash on dspaintil maturity in August 2013. For more infortiza, please read Iltem 18 — Financial
Statements: Note 6 — Leases and Restricted Cash.

34



Table of Contents

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Items You Should Consider When Evaluating Our Resu$ of Operations
Some factors that have affected our historicalrfoia performance and may affect our future perfamoe are listed below:

The amount and timing of dry docking of our vesselsn significantly affect our revenues between pefs. Our vessels are off-
hire at various points of time due to scheduledamstheduled maintenance. During the years endedritzer 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, we had 23, 133 and 197 off-hire days relatndry docking, respectively. The financial imp&am these periods of off-hire,
if material, is explained in further detail belokive vessels, where there will be associatecho#f; are scheduled for dry docking
2013.

The size of our fleet change. Our historical results of operations reflect agagin the size and composition of our fleet due to
certain vessel deliveries. Please read “Liquefied Gegment” below and “Significant Development®0t2 and Early 20134bove
for further details about certain prior and futuessel deliveries

Vessel operating and other costs are facing indy-wide cost pressure The shipping industry continues to experience aajlo
manpower shortage of qualified seafarers due tarttwrin the world fleet, which in recent years hasulted in upward pressure on
manning costs. Lately, the gap between demand@gmulysof officers has narrowed, which has allowetbast on a temporary
basis, for wages in certain sectors to stabilizeawe smaller increases than has previously bexoate. Going forward, there may
be increases in crew compensation as vessel aiedra$tipply dynamics continue to change. In addijtfactors such as pressure on
commodity and raw material prices, as well as ckarg regulatory requirements could also contrilboiteperating expenditure
increases. We continue to take action aimed atdmipg operational efficiencies, and to temper tfieat of inflationary and other
price escalations, however increases to operatowss are still likely to occur in the futu

Our financial results are affected by fluctuatioria the fair value of our derivative instrumentThe change in fair value of our
derivative instruments is included in our net ineoas our derivative instruments are not designaddtedges for accounting
purposes. These changes may fluctuate significastinterest rates and spot tanker rates flucteédting to our interest rate swaps
and to the agreement we have with Teekay Corparagiating to the time charter contract for fr@edo SpiritSuezmax tanker.
Please read Item 18 — Financial Statements: Nd&) +2Related Party Transactions and Note 13 —~vBtve Instruments. The
unrealized gains or losses relating to changeaiirvélue of our derivative instruments do not irctpaur cash flows

Our financial results are affected by fluctuationia currency exchange ratesUnder GAAP, all foreign currency-denominated
monetary assets and liabilities (including cash @ash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts r@gleivaccounts payable, accrued
liabilities, unearned revenue, advances from af, obligations under capital lease and long-tkebt) are revalued and reported
based on the prevailing exchange rate at the etltegieriod. These foreign currency translationsttlate based on the strength of
the U.S. Dollar relative mainly to the Euro and N@kKd are included in our results of operations. {fflueslation of all foreign
currency-denominated monetary assets and lialilitieeach reporting date results in unrealizeddgareurrency exchange gains or
losses but do not impact our cash flo

Six of our Suezmax tankers earn revenues basedlpam spot market ratesThe time-charter contracts for six of our Suezmax
tankers contain a component providing for additioa@enues to us beyond the fixbite rate when spot market rates exceed ce
threshold amounts. Accordingly, even though deatjrspot market rates will not result in our recegyviess than the fixed-hire rate,
our results of operations and cash flow from openatwill be influenced, by the variable componehthe charters in periods
where the spot market rates exceed the threshobdirzis

Our financial results reflect the results of the farests in vessels acquired from Teekay Corporafionall periods the vesse
were under common controln March 2010, we acquired interests in two Suezmessels, thBermuda Spiriand theHamilton
Spirit (collectively, theCentrofin Suezmax@sand a Handymax product tanker, Klexander Spirit from Teekay Corporation.
These transactions were deemed to be businessaics between entities under common control. Adicgly, we have
accounted for these transactions in a manner simildne pooling of interest method whereby ouaficial statements prior to the
date these vessels were acquired by us are rettelgcdjusted to include the results of these &eguwessels. The periods
retroactively adjusted include all periods thatamel the acquired vessels were both under commdnotof Teekay Corporation
and had begun operations. As a result, our finastagements reflect these vessels and their eestitiperations (referred to herein
as theDropdown Predecess9ras if we had acquired them when each respectssel began operations under the ownership of
Teekay Corporation, which were May 27, 20@etmuda Spiri), June 24, 2009KHamilton Spirit) and September 3, 2009

( Alexander Spiri).

Our financial results reflect the consolidation dhe Skaugen Multigas Carriers prior to our purchass interests in those entitie
that own those vessels July 2008, the Skaugen Multigas Subsidiarieaesigcontracts for the purchase of the two Skaugen
Multigas Carriers from subsidiaries of Skaugendascribed below, we had agreed to acquire the Skeliylltigas Subsidiaries
that own the Skaugen Multigas Carriers from TedRayporation upon delivery of the vessels. Aftey 2008 and before the
delivery of the vessels, we consolidated the Skadldeltigas Subsidiaries as they were variable egeentities and we were the
primary beneficiary during this period. We acquitgD% of the shares of the two Skaugen Multigasi€aron June 15, 2011 and
October 17, 2011, respectively. Please read Item HiBancial Statements: Notes 12(firelated Party Transactions and Note 1
— Commitments and Contingencit

Year Ended December 31, 2012 versus Year Ended Dadeer 31, 2011
Liquefied Gas Segmer



As of December 31, 2012, our liquefied gas segrfieet (in which our interests ranged from 33% t@%) included 27 LNG carriers and five
LPG/Multigas carriers. Our partial interests in LN@&rriers included our 33% interest in the four 8lagLNG Carriers, our 40% interest in

Teekay Nakilat () Corporation, which owns thaifdRasGas 3 LNG Carriers, our 50% interest in oint jventures with Exmar NV (or the
Excalibur and
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Excelsior Joint Ventur), which own two LNG carriers (or tHexcalibur and Excelsior LNG Carriefs our 52% interest in the Teekay LNG-
Marubeni Joint Venture, which owns the six MALT LNGarriers, our 69% interest in the Teekay Tanganiht Y/enture (ofTeekay BLT
Corporation), which owns th&angguh Hiriand theTangguh Sag¢or theTangguh LNG Carrier$, our 70% interest in Teekay Nakilat
Corporation (oiTeekay Nakila}, which is the lessee under 30-year capital leasssigements relating to three LNG carriers (oiRheGas Il
LNG Carriers), our 99% interest in tha&rctic SpiritandPolar SpiritLNG carriers (or th&enai LNG Carriers) and our 99% interest in five
LPG/Multigas carriers. The table below only incladel LNG carriers and five LPG carriers becausaégtudes the six MALT LNG Carriers,
the four Angola LNG Carriers, the four RasGas 3 LO@&rtiers and the Excalibur and Excelsior LNG Gas; which are all accounted for
under the equity method.

The following table compares our liquefied gas segts operating results for 2012 and 2011, and compirest voyage revenues (which i
non-GAAP financial measure) for 2012 and 2011,dgage revenues, the most directly comparable GAddéhtial measure. The following
table also provides a summary of the changes andak-ship-days and revenue days for our liquefaisegment:

Year Ended December 31

(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except revenue deglends-ship-days and percentage 2012 2011 % Change
Voyage revenue 278,51: 269,40¢ 34
Voyage expenses (recoveris 66 (87) 175.¢
Net voyage revenue 278,44! 269,49! 3.3
Vessel operating expens 45,81¢ 47,77: (4.7
Depreciation and amortizatic 69,06¢ 62,88¢ 9.8
General and administrativ®) 17,53: 13,38t 31.C
Income from vessel operatio 146,03: 145,44t 0.4
Operating Data

Revenue Days (A 5,83: 5,061 i15.8
Calenda-Shig-Days (B) 5,85¢ 5,12¢ 14.2
Utilization (A)/(B) 99.6% 98.7%

@ Includes direct general and administrative expeasesndirect general and administrative expenakscated to each segment based on

estimated use of resource

Our liquefied gas segment’s total calendar-stags increased by 14% to 5,856 days in 2012 frd&gays in 2011, as a result of the deliy
of two multigas carriers, thdorgas UnikunandNorgas Vision on June 15, 2011 and October 17, 2011, respégtaved the delivery of an
LPG carrier, théNorgas Camilla, on September 15, 2011.

During 2012, thedispania Spiritwas off-hire for approximately 21 days relatingatescheduled dry docking, compared to two LNG ces rigf-
hire for 61 days relating to scheduled dry dockiimg2011.
Net Voyage Revenu. Net voyage revenues increased during 2012 compgar2011, primarily as a result of:

. an increase of $9.8 million due to the deliveriethe Norgas Unikurr, Norgas CamilleandNorgas Visiorin 2011;

. an increase of $3.2 million due to tAectic SpiritandPolar Spiritbeing off-hire for 11 days and 50 days, respeativiel 2011 for
scheduled dry docking

. an increase of $1.6 million due to operating expeesovery adjustments under charter provisionsrardases in the charter-hire
rates for theTangguh HiriandTangguh Sagat the beginning of 2012; ai

. an increase of $0.8 million due to one additiorménrdar day during 201

partially offset by

. a decrease of $4.2 million due to the effect onEwno-denominated revenues from the weakeningeoEtiro against the
U.S. Dollar in 2012 compared to 20!

. a decrease of $1.4 million due to tHispania Spiritbeing off-hire for 21 days in the second quarte2@f?2 for a scheduled dry
docking;

. a decrease of $0.8 million due to a decrease ihitkeates for thérctic SpiritandPolar Spiritas a result of crewing rate
adjustments; an

. a net decrease of $0.5 million relating to paymén012 and 2011 for delaying the scheduled digkihy of theGalicia Spiritin
2012 and thiCatalunya Spiriin 2011.
Vessel Operating Expensegessel operating expenses decreased during 20t@ared to 2011, primarily as a result of:

. a decrease of $1.5 million primarily due to theseffon our Euro-denominated crew manning expemeasthe weakening of the
Euro against the U.S. Dollar during 2012 compaece@11 (a portion of our vessel operating expeasesienominated in Euros,
which is primarily due to the nationality of ouresr); and



a decrease of $0.9 million due to the cancelatibloss of hire insurance on tfiangguh HiriandTangguh Sagm the third quarte
of 2011 and lower insurance premiums on certain ldd@iers.
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Depreciation and Amortizatio. Depreciation and amortization increased durintZ2€mpared to 2011, primarily as a result of:

. an increase of $3.3 million as a result of amotittraof dry-dock expenditures incurred in 2011 #mel first and second quarters of
2012; anc

. an increase $2.9 million due to the deliverieshe@iNorgas Unikun, Norgas CamilleandNorgas Visiorin 2011.

Conventional Tanker Segment

As at December 31, 2012, our fleet included terzBuzex-class double-hulled conventional crude oikéais and one Handymax product tanker
All of our conventional tankers operate under ldegn, fixed-rate time-charters. TBermuda Spirit'sandHamilton Spirit'stime-charter
contracts were amended in the fourth quarter o220Xeduce the daily hire rate on each vesselll2yd®0 for a duration of 24 months,
commencing October 1, 2012. Consequently, our éutevenue, earnings and cash flow will be negativepacted. However, during this
renegotiated period, if Suezmax tanker spot rateseaa the renegotiated charter rate, the chaméllgray us the excess amount up to a
maximum of the original charter rate.

In addition, the time-charter contracts for thré¢he five Suezmax tankers on charter to CEPSA leaneellation options first exercisable in
August 2013, November 2013 and April 2014, respebti While we have not received official notifigat of termination, we expect the
charterer to exercise these options and the vessbissold to a third party. Excluding the impakcthe impairment loss on these vessels, the
impact on our net income will not be materiallyestied if this termination occurs. During the fougtiarter of 2012, we determined that these
vessels were impaired and consequently we recogjaizémpairment loss in the amount of $29.4 milliBiease read Iltem 18 — Financial
Statements: Note 20 — Write Down of Vessels.

The following table compares our conventional tardegment’s operating results for the years endsgkBber 31, 2012 and 2011, and
compares its net voyage revenues (which is a noAdS#nancial measure) for the years ended Decer®bg?012 and 2011 to voyage
revenues, the most directly comparable GAAP fingintieasure. The following table also provides ammany of the changes in calendar-ship-
days and revenue days for our conventional tardgment:

Year Ended December 31

(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except revenue deglende-shif-days and percentage 2012 2011 % Change
Voyage revenue 113,74( 110,56 2.9
Voyage expense 1,70¢ 1,474 15.7
Net voyage revenue 112,03 109,09: 2.7
Vessel operating expens 40,53 41,27: (1.9
Depreciation and amortizatic 30,76 29,03( 6.C
General and administrativ® 9,611 10,73t (10.9
Write down of vessel 29,367 — 100.(
Income from vessel operatio 1,75¢ 28,05¢ (93.7)
Operating Data

Revenue Days (A 4,02¢ 3,941 2.2
Calenda-Shig-Days (B) 4,02¢ 4,01¢ 0.3
Utilization (A)/(B) 100.(% 98.2%

@ Includes direct general and administrative expeasdsindirect general and administrative expernakscéted to each segment based on

estimated use of corporate resourc

Net Voyage Revenu. Net voyage revenues increased during 2012 compar2011, primarily as a result of;

. an increase of $2.4 million due to adjustmentsieodaily charter rates based on inflation and aresse in interest rates in
accordance with the time-charter contracts for Suezmax tankers (however, under the terms ofeflaged capital leases, we had
corresponding increases in our lease paymentshvenereflected as increases to interest expemsefore, these and future sim
interest rate adjustments do not affect our cash €ir net income)

. an increase of $1.7 million due to tHuelva Spiritbeing ofthire for 72 days in 2011 for a scheduled dry decid

. an increase of $0.5 million relating to tAkexander Spirifor crew manning adjustments in the charter-hites;ahe crew manning
adjustments increased due to higher crewing costsle strengthening of the Australian Dollar agathe U.S. Dollar compared
2011,
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partially offset by

. a decrease of $1.0 million relating to lower revenaarned by thEoledo Spiritrelating to the agreement between us and CEPSA
for the Toledo Spirit time-charter contract (howewee had a corresponding increase in our realigéa on a related derivative
with Teekay Corporation; therefore this decreaskfature decreases or increases related to théeawnt did not and will not
affect our cash flow or net income); a

. a decrease of $0.7 million relating to the redudalter rates on tfgermuda SpiriandHamilton Spirit, commencing in the fourth
quarter of 2012

Vessel Operating Expensegessel operating expenses decreased during 20dgased to 2011, primarily as a result of a deaed$1.0
million due to the effect on our Euro-denominategixcmanning expenses from the weakening of the Bgainst the U.S. Dollar during 2012
compared to 2011 (a portion of our vessel operaimenses are denominated in Euros, which is pilyrdre to the nationality of our crew).
Depreciation and Amortizatio. Depreciation and amortization increased durint?22€ompared to 2011, as a result of:

. an increase of $1.2 million due to the acceleratedrtization of the intangible assets relatingh® ¢harter contracts of five
Suezmax tankers as we expect the life of thesagditife assets will be shorter than originally assdnanc

. an increase of $0.5 million due to a full year ofaatization of dr-dock expenditures incurred in 20:

Write down of VesseldNrite down of vessels was $29.4 million for treay ended December 31, 2012, resulting from impaitrof three
Suezmax tankers on charter to CEPSA.

Other Operating Results

General and Administrative ExpenséSeneral and administrative expenses increasedt@3®%y7.1 million for 2012, from $24.1 million for
2011, primarily as a result of:

. an increase $3.0 million primarily as a result ofa@reement executed with Teekay Corporation femass development services
as of January 2012; al

. an increase of $0.7 million as a result of a oneetprocurement fee received in 2009 being fully @imed by the end of the first
quarter of 2012

partially offset by

. a decrease of $0.9 million relating to the one-tmenagement fee charged to us by Teekay Corporatithe first quarter of 2011,
associated with the portion of stock-based comp@msgrants to Teekay Corporation’s former ChiekEutive Officer that had not
yet vested prior to the date of his retirem:

The general and administrative expenses for oundfigd Gas segment increased whereas general andistilative expenses decreased for
our Conventional Tanker segment in 2012 as compar@2811 as a result of our growth in the liquefigd market, including our equity
accounted joint ventures, over 2012, which requarbsgher level of administrative support.

Equity IncomeEquity income was $78.9 million for 2012, compate®20.6 million for 2011, primarily as a result of
. an increase of $40.2 million due to the acquisittba 52% ownership interest in the six MALT LNGr@ers in February 201:

. an increase of $11.4 million due to an unrealizaid gn derivative instruments in 2012 compareditomrealized loss on
derivatives in 2011 in our 40% investment in Teekakilat (11l) Corporation and our 33% investmenttihe Angola LNG Project;
and

. an increase of $8.7 million due to our 33% investhie the Angola LNG Project that we acquired ugetivery of the four Angola
LNG Carriers in the third and fourth quarters ofl2@nd the first quarter of 201

partially offset by

. a decrease of $2.2 million mainly due to a providiar our customer’s claim relating to tRecaliburandExcelsiorLNG carriers in
2012.

Interest Expens. Interest expense increased to $54.2 million k22 from $49.9 million for 2011. Interest expepsinarily reflects interest
incurred on our capital lease obligations and ltarga debt. This increase was primarily the resfilt o

. an increase of $6.0 million as a result of the N@Kd issuance in May 201

. an increase of $3.1 million as a result of refinagone of our debt facilities with a higher marghian the previous debt facilit

. an increase of $2.3 million due to an increaseumnbmrrowings upon our acquisitions of three LPGltigas vessels during the
second, third and fourth quarters of 20
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. an increase of $1.2 million due to increased LIB&R a higher principal debt balance due to drawarexisting debt facility
during 2012; ani

. an increase of $0.6 million due to an interest aaligstment on our five Suezmax tanker capitaldedsigations (however, as
described above, under the terms of the time-chestatracts for these vessels, we have a correspwpirttrease in charter receipts,
which are reflected as an increase to voyage resr

partially offset by

. a decrease of $5.1 million due to the maturityhefMadrid Spiritcapital lease in the fourth quarter of 2011 (vhedrid Spiritwas
financed pursuant to a Spanish tax lease arrangeometer which we borrowed under a term loan ampbsiéed the proceeds into a
restricted cash account and entered into a cdp#ak for the vessel; as a result, this decreasgeirest expense from the capital
lease is offset by a corresponding decrease imtagest income from restricted cash); i

. a decrease of $4.0 million due to lower EURIBORitiely to Eur-denominated dehb

Interest Incomt. Interest income decreased to $3.5 million in 20ddn $6.7 million for 2011. These changes weimarily the result of:
. a decrease of $4.4 million due to the repaymethi@tapital lease on one of our LNG carriers,Mta&lrid Spirit, during the fourth
quarter of 2011, which was funded from restrictashg
partially offset by
. an increase of $1.2 million due to increased LIB&R restricted cash deposits during 2012 primaeilgting to a $30.0 million
security deposit associated with the debt facftitythe MALT LNG Carriers

Realized and Unrealized Loss on Derivative Instmis. Net realized and unrealized losses on derivatisgeuments decreased to a loss of
($29.6) million for 2012, from a loss of ($63.0)llain for 2011 as set forth in the table below.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 201, December 31, 201
Unrealize( Unrealize(
Realized Realized
gains gains gains gains
(in thousands of U.S. Dollar (losses; (losses; Total (losses’ (losses’ Total
Interest rate swap agreeme (37,42 5,20C (32,227 (62,66() (9,677 (72,33)
Toledo Spirit tim-charter derivativ 907 1,70C 2,607 (93) 9,40( 9,30i

(36,520  6,90C (29,620 (62,759 (277 (63,030

As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had intessstsivap agreements with an aggregate averagetstarming notional amount of
approximately $902.9 million and $948.6 millionspectively, with average fixed rates of 4.6% ar8¥%d.respectively. The decreases in
realized losses from 2011 to 2012 relating to aterest rate swaps were primarily due to the se#id of our interest rate swaps relating to thi
debt on theMadrid Spiritfor $22.6 million in 2011 and higher short-termiahie benchmark interest rates in 2012 compar@d1d.

During 2012, we recognized an unrealized gain arirgarest rate swaps associated with our U.S.apalenominated long-term debt and
capital leases. The net unrealized gain resultad the transfer of $49.2 million of previously rgo@zed unrealized losses to realized losses
related to actual cash settlements, offset by a@mental $34.4 million of unrealized losses ratto further declines in long-term LIBOR
benchmark interest rates relative to the prior ykeang-term LIBOR benchmark interest rates declidedng 2011; which resulted in us
incurring an unrealized loss of $154.1 million fraur U.S. Dollar-denominated long-term debt andteafeases. The net unrealized loss was
partially offset by a $51.8 million unrealized gaésulting from interest rate swaps settlementsenthding the year.

Long-term EURIBOR benchmark interest rates declidng 2012 and 2011, which resulted in us inogrinrealized losses of $15.5 million
and $0.4 million, respectively, from our interestas swaps associated with our Euro-denominategdtkEnm debt.

Long-term LIBOR benchmark interest rates declinedrdy 2012 and 2011, which resulted in us recoggizinrealized gains of $5.9 million
and $93.0 million from our interest rate swaps esded with our restricted cash deposits, respelstiv

The projected average tanker rates in the tankeketan 2012 decreased compared to 2011, whicHtessin a $1.7 million unrealized gain on
our Toledo Spirit time-charter derivative. The TddeSpirit time-charter derivative is the agreemeitih Teekay Corporation under which
Teekay Corporation pays us any amounts payablestoharterer of th€oledo Spiritas a result of spot rates being below the fixeg, ratd we
pay Teekay Corporation any amounts payable to ubhdogharterer of th€oledo Spiritas a result of spot rates being in excess of Heel fiate
(see Item 18 - Financial Statements: Note 13 -\a&xie Instruments).

Foreign Currency Exchange (Losses) Ge. Foreign currency exchange (losses) gains wer@)$&llion and $10.3 million for 2012 and 20
respectively. These foreign currency exchange €k)sgains, substantially all of which were unrealizare due primarily to the relevant period
end revaluation of our NOK-denominated debt andEuwnmo-denominated term loans, capital leases astdated cash for financial reporting
purposes and the realized and unrealized (loss@$3 gn our cross currency swap. Losses on NOK+daraied and Euro-denominated
monetary liabilities reflect a weaker U.S. Dollgiainst the NOK and Euro on the date of revaluadiosettlement compared to the rate in ef



at the beginning of the period. Gains on NOK-denmtdéd and Euro-denominated monetary liabilitiekotfa stronger U.S. Dollar against the
NOK and Euro on the date of revaluation or settihecempared to the rate in effect at the beginwointipe period
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For 2012, foreign currency exchange losses inatedized gains of $0.3 million and unrealized Iesse$2.7 million on our cross currency
swap and unrealized losses of $0.8 million on éwaluation of our NOKdenominated debt. For 2012, foreign currency exgbdlosses) gair
also include the revaluation of our Euro-denomidatstricted cash, debt and capital leases reguitian unrealized loss of ($4.7) million as
compared to an unrealized gain of $10.5 millionZ6L1.

Other Income (Expenseé)ther income (expense) increased to $1.7 millior2fid2 from ($0.1) million in 2011, primarily agesult of:

. an increase of $0.8 million due to the amortizattba guarantee liability related to the acquisitaf the six MALT LNG Carriers i
February 2012; an

. an increase of $0.5 million due to an insurancteseent relating to a 2011 claim on the LNG carAlgeciras Spirit.

Year Ended December 31, 2011 versus Year Ended Dadger 31, 2010
Liquefied Gas Segmer

As at December 31, 2011, our fleet (in which oteriests ranged from 33% to 100%) included 20 LNfBi@s and five LPG/Multigas carriers.
Our partial interests in LNG carriers included 88f6 interest in three of the Angola LNG Carriens;, 40% interest in Teekay Nakilat (111)
Corporation, which owns the four RasGas 3 LNG @asriour 50% interest in the Excalibur and Exceld@nt Ventures, which own the two
Excalibur and Excelsior LNG Carriers, our 69% iettrin Teekay Tangguh Joint Venture, which ownsweTangguh LNG Carriers, our
70% interest in Teekay Nakilat, which is the lesseder 30-year capital lease arrangements relgtitite three RasGas Il LNG Carriers, our
99% interest in the two Kenai LNG Carriers and @9 interest in five LPG/Multigas carriers.

The following table compares our liquefied gas segts operating results for 2011 and 2010, and compirest voyage revenues (which i
non-GAAP financial measure) for 2011 and 2010,dgage revenues, the most directly comparable GAddhtial measure. The following
table also provides a summary of the changes andak-ship-days and revenue days for our liquefaisegment:

(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except revenue ¢ Year Ended December 31

calenda-shig-days and percentage 2011 2010 % Change
Voyage revenue 269,40t 264,81t 1.7
Voyage (recoveries) expens (87) 29 (400.0)
Net voyage revenue 269,49! 264,78 1.8
Vessel operating expens 47,77: 46,49t 2.7
Depreciation and amortizatic 62,88¢ 60,95¢ 3.2
General and administrativ®) 13,38¢ 12,23¢ 9.4
Gain on sale of vess — (4,340 100.(
Income from vessel operatio 145,44¢ 149,43t (2.7
Operating Data

Revenue Days (A 5,061 5,00¢ 1.1
Calenda-Shig-Days (B) 5,12¢ 5,051 15
Utilization (A)/(B) 98.7% 99.1%

@ Includes direct general and administrative expeasesndirect general and administrative expenaskscated to each segment based on

estimated use of resource

Our liguefied gas segment’s operating results @r12included 11 LNG and five LPG carriers (but exi@ the three Angola LNG Carriers, the
four RasGas 3 LNG Carriers and the Excalibur anckEior LNG Carriers that are accounted for unberequity method). Our total calendar-
ship-days increased by 1% to 5,126 days in 201h @51 days in 2010, as a result of the delivétyo Skaugen Multigas Carriers, the
Norgas UnikurrandNorgas Vision on June 15, 2011 and October 17, 2011, respégtaved the delivery of an LPG carrier, tNergas
Camilla, on September 15, 2011, partially offset by tHe ehan LPG carrier, thBania Spirit, on November 5, 2010.

During 2011, two of our LNG carriers, tiectic SpiritandPolar Spirit, were off-hire for approximately 11 days and 5@gjaespectively,
relating to scheduled dry dockings, compared tof2hire days in 2010.

Net Voyage Revenu. Net voyage revenues increased during 2011 comipar2010, primarily as a result of:

. an increase of $5.3 million due to the deliveriethe Norgas Unikum Norgas CamillaandNorgas Visioron June 15,
2011, September 15, 2011 and October 17, 2011gctegeply;

. an increase of $4.1 million due to the effect onBuro-denominated revenues from the strengtheofitige Euro against the U.S. Dollar
compared to the prior yee
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. an increase of $1.1 million due to 1Arctic Spiritbeing ofthire for 22 days in the first quarter of 2010 fascineduled dry docl

. an increase of $0.9 million, due to operating esperecovery adjustments during 2011 in the chéiterrates for the Tangguh LNG
Carriers; anc

. an increase of $0.6 million due to an increasédntire rates for tharctic SpiritandPolar Spiritduring 2011 as compared to prior year
as a result of crewing rate adjustme
partially offset by

. a decrease of $4.0 million due to the sale oDania Spiriton November 5, 2010; ar

. a decrease of $3.2 million due to theetic SpiritandPolar Spiritbeing off-hire for 11 days and 50 days, respedtivielr scheduled dry
dockings during 2011

Vessel Operating Expensegessel operating expenses increased during 20hpared to 2010, primarily as a result of:

. an increase of $2.9 million due to the scope anentf service and maintenance activities perfariared an increase in manning costs
for certain of our LNG carrier:

. an increase of $0.8 million due to the chartereekiy Corporation, not being able to find employtentheArctic Spiritfor most of
2010 and, as a result, we were able to operatestse! throughout 2010 with a reduced average nuaflaeew on board and reductior
the amount of repair and maintenance activitiefopmed; anc

. an increase of $0.7 million due to the effect onBuro-denominated crew manning expenses fromtteagthening of the Euro against
the U.S. Dollar during 2011 compared to 2010 (diporof our vessel operating expenses are denoetdnatEuros, which is primarily
due to the nationality of our crew

partially offset by
. a decrease of $2.3 million due to the sale oDania Spiriton November 5, 2010; at
. a decrease of $1.0 million due to lower insuramtesr upon renewal in 201

Depreciation and Amortizatio. Depreciation and amortization increased durinffl2€@bmpared to 2010, primarily as a result of:

. an increase of $1.5 million due to the deliveriethe Norgas Unikum Norgas CamillaandNorgas Visioron June 15,
2011, September 15, 2011 and October 17, 2011

. an increase of $1.2 million as a result of amotitwaof dry-dock expenditures incurred during 20
partially offset by

. a decrease of $0.9 million due to the sale oDania Spiriton November 5, 201(

Gain on sale of vesselThe $4.3 million gain on sale of vessel in 20&@tes to the sale of tl@ania Spiriton November 5, 2010 for proceeds
of $21.5 million.

Conventional Tanker Segment

As at December 31, 2011, our fleet included terzBizex-class double-hulled conventional crude oikéais and one Handymax product tanker
All of our conventional tankers operate under ldagn, fixed-rate time-charters.
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The following table compares our conventional tardegment’s operating results for the years endsge®ber 31, 2011 and 2010, and
compares its net voyage revenues (which is a noAfS#nancial measure) for the years ended Decer@bg?011 and 2010 to voyage
revenues, the most directly comparable GAAP fingintieasure. The following table also provides ammany of the changes in calendar-ship-
days and revenue days for our conventional targgment:

(€3]

Year Ended
(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except revenue ¢ December 31
calenda-shig-days and percentage 2011 2010 % Change
Voyage revenue 110,56 109,19: 1.3
Voyage expense 1,47¢ 2,012 (26.9
Net voyage revenue 109,09: 107,17¢ 1.8
Vessel operating expens 41,27: 38,08: 8.4
Depreciation and amortizatic 29,03( 28,39: 2.2
General and administrativ® 10,73t 11,00¢ (2.5)
Restructuring charg — 17t (100.0
Income from vessel operatio 28,05¢ 29,52: (4.9
Operating Data
Revenue Days (A 3,941 3,86¢ 2.C
Calenda-Shig-Days (B) 4,01¢ 4,01t —
Utilization (A)/(B) 98.2% 96.2%

Includes direct general and administrative expeasesndirect general and administrative experaséscated to each segment based on

estimated use of corporate resourc

Net Voyage Revenu. Net voyage revenues increased during 2011 comipar2010, primarily as a result of:

an increase of $3.8 million due to thenerife Spirit, Algeciras SpiréndToledo Spiritbeing off-hire for 73, 63 and 15 days,
respectively, during 2010 for scheduled dry docgi

an increase of $2.2 million due to adjustmenthédaily charter rates based on inflation and are&se in interest rates in
accordance with the time-charter contracts for Suezmax tankers (however, under the terms of egsi¢al leases, we had
corresponding increases in our lease paymentshvenereflected as increases to interest expemsefore, these and future sim
interest rate adjustments did not and will notetffeur cash flow or net income); a

increases of $1.0 million relating to crew mannaatjustments in the charter-hire rates in ordeetmgnize the foreign exchange
impact on Australian-denominated crew manning egpemwhich flow through to the charterer; the creanmng adjustments
increased due to the strengthening of the Austrddiallar against the U.S Dollar during 2011 compaxethe prior yeai

partially offset by

a decrease of $1.8 million as only a nominal amefiaidditional revenue was earned by Tidedo Spiriin 2011 compared to
2010, relating to the agreement between us andaye@krporation for th&oledo Spiritime-charter contract (however, we had a
corresponding decrease in our realized loss ovateres; therefore this increase and future in@eas decreases related to this
agreement did not and will not affect our cash flmwet income)

a decrease of $1.7 million due to tHeelva Spiritbeing off-hire for 72 days in the second quarte2@f1 for a scheduled dry dock;
and

a decrease of $1.6 million as only a nominal amefiaidditional revenue was earned on the four Sagzankers, th&eide Spirit,
Algeciras Spiril, Huelva SpiritandTenerife Spiriin 2011 as market rates did not exceed the spdafieounts under our time
charter, as they did in 2010 (the time chartettierfour Suezmax vessels contain a component pngyfdr additional revenues to
us beyond the fixed hire rate when spot markesrakeeed threshold amount

Vessel Operating Expensegessel operating expenses increased during 20hpared to 2010, primarily as a result of:

an increase of $1.9 million due to the scope anentf service and maintenance activities perfariamed an increase in manning
costs for certain of our conventional tank

an increase of $1.0 million due to the effect onAustralian-denominated crew manning expenses flanstrengthening of the
Australian Dollar against the U.S Dollar during 20dompared to the prior year (however, we had eesponding increase in our
net revenue as the foreign exchange impact on gramning expenses flow through to the charteren;

an increase of $0.8 million due to the effect onBuro-denominated crew manning expenses fromttkagthening of the Euro
against the U.S. Dollar during 2011 compared taptti@r year (a portion of our vessel operating eyges are denominated in Euros
which is primarily due to the nationality of ourear);

partially offset by

a decrease of $0.4 million due to lower insuramatesr upon renewal in 201
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Depreciation and Amortizatio. Depreciation and amortization increased durinffl2€@mpared to 2010, as a result of a full year of
amortization of dry-dock expenditures incurredtia fourth quarter of 2010 and a partial year of dixettion of drydock expenditures incurre
in the second quarter of 2011.

Other Operating Results

General and Administrative ExpenséSeneral and administrative expenses increasetb4824.1 million for 2011, from $23.2 million for
2010, primarily as a result of:

. an increase of $0.9 million relating to the onegimanagement fee charged to us by Teekay Corpo&ociated with the portion
of stock-based compensation grants to Teekay Catipais former Chief Executive Officer that had et vested prior to the date
of his retirement on March 31, 201

. an increase of $0.8 million related to a greateowmh of corporate services provided to us by Teékagporation to support our
growth;

. an increase of $0.7 million related to a chargedfpreciation of office wide systems allocated legRay Corporation, commencing
in 2011; anc

. an increase of $0.6 due to more consulting feasriad by us related to higher levels of businesgld@ment activity in 2011

partially offset by

. a decrease of $2.0 million relating to a 2010 paynt@ Teekay Corporation for its support in sucfidisacquiring interests in the
Excalibur and Excelsior Joint Ventur:

Interest Expens. Interest expense increased to $49.9 million 8112 from $49.0 million for 2010. Interest expepsienarily reflects interest
incurred on our capital lease obligations and lterga debt. This increase was primarily the resfilt o

. an increase of $2.8 million due to increased EURRB@tes relating to Eu-denominated deb

. an increase of $1.2 million due to an interest aaligstment on our five Suezmax tanker capitaldedsigations (however, as
described above, under the terms of the time-chestatracts for these vessels, we have a correspwpirttrease in charter receipts,
which are reflected as an increase to voyage rasnanc

. an increase of $0.8 million due to a draw on owUsjen debt facilities upon delivery of vesselsmyithe third and fourth quarters
of 2011,

partially offset by

. a decrease of $2.1 million due to principal depgasenents made during 2011 and decreases of theR.IB&@s relating to our
variable-rate debt; an

. a decrease of $1.8 million from the scheduled e&fgase repayments on the LNG carhitadrid Spirit (the Madrid Spiritwas
financed pursuant to a Spanish tax lease arrangeomeer which we borrowed under a term loan ampbsiéed the proceeds into a
restricted cash account and entered into a cdp#at for the vessel; as a result, this decreasgeirest expense from the capital
lease is offset by a corresponding decrease imtaeest income from restricted cash). During therth quarter of 2011, tHdadrid
Spiritlease expired and the purchase obligation was fuliged with restricted cash depos

Interest Incom.. Interest income decreased to $6.7 million in 26ddm $7.2 million for 2010. Interest income printareflects interest earne
on restricted cash deposits that approximate tbgept value of the remaining amounts we owe urdesel arrangements on four of our LNG
carriers. This decrease was primarily the resuttobieduled capital lease repayments on one of N@ tarriers, théMadrid Spirit, which was

funded from restricted cash.

Realized and Unrealized Loss on Derivative Instmis. Net realized and unrealized losses on derivatisgeuments decreased to a loss of
($63.0) million for 2011, from a loss of ($78.7)liwin for 2010 as set forth in the table below.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 201 December 31, 201!
Unrealize: Unrealizec
Realized Realized
gains gains gains gains

(in thousands of U.S. Dollar (losses; (losses; Total (losses’ (losses’ Total
Interest rate swap agreeme (62,660) (9,677) (72,337 (42,49YH (34,906 (77,40)
Toledo Spirit tim-charter derivativ (93 9,40( 9,30 (1,919 60C (1,319

(62,759 (277) (63,030 (44,419 (34,300 (78,720

During 2011 and 2010, we had interest rate swapeagents with an aggregate average net outstandtignal amount of approximately
$948.6 million and $997.5 million, respectively tivaverage fixed rates of 4.8% and 4.9%, respdygtifde increase in realized losses from
2010 to 2011 relating to our interest rate swaps pvanarily due to the settlement of our interesé rswaps relating to the debt on khadrid
Spirit for $22.6 million, partially offset by higher sh-term variable benchmark interest rates in 2011 @etpto 201C
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Long-term benchmark interest rates declined in 201d 2010, causing us to incur unrealized loss&8 af million and $34.9 million,
respectively, for our interest rate swap agreeméiéase see Item 5 - Operating and Financial Reaied Prospects: Valuation of Derivative
Instruments, which explains how our derivative fimstents are valued, including the significant fest@nd uncertainties in determining the
estimated fair value and why changes in these facesult in material variances in realized anckalized (losses) gains on derivative
instruments.

Spot rates in the tanker market declined in 201itkvtesulted in an increase in an unrealized ga$8ad million relating to our Toledo Spirit
time charter derivative. The Toledo Spirit time tbaderivative is the agreement with Teekay Caxpon under which Teekay Corporation
pays us any amounts payable to the charterer dfdleslo Spiritas a result of spot rates being below the fixed, @td we pay Teekay
Corporation any amounts payable to us by the cleartd theToledo Spiritas a result of spot rates being in excess of ieglfrate (see Item 18
- Financial Statements: Note 13 - Derivative Instemts).

Foreign Currency Exchange Gai. Foreign currency exchange gains were $10.3 mibiod $27.5 million for 2011 and 2010, respectively
These foreign currency exchange gains, substanéllbf which were unrealized, are due primardythe relevant period-end revaluation of
our Euro-denominated term loans, capital leasegestdcted cash for financial reporting purposgsins reflect a strengthening U.S. Dollar
against the Euro on the date of revaluation. Lossfesct a weaker U.S. Dollar against the Eurotendate of revaluation.

Equity IncomeEquity income was $20.6 million for 2011, compate&8.0 million for 2010, primarily as a result of;

. an increase of $9.3 million relating to a full yedrequity income from our 50% investments in thedibur and Excelsior Joint
Ventures that we acquired in November 2C

. an increase of $2.9 million due to a decrease iralized losses on derivative instruments for 2€drhpared to the prior year in ¢
40% investment in Teekay Nakilat (111) Corporatic

. an increase of $2.3 million relating to equity im@®from our 33% investment in the Angola LNG Projbat we acquired upon
delivery of three of the four Angola LNG CarriersAugust, September and October 2011;

. an increase of $1.3 million relating to our 40%estment in Teekay Nakilat (I11) Corporation primgmue to increased charthire
rates on the four RasGas 3 LNG Carriers, lowerésteexpense as a result of debt repayments maihg @011 and lower LIBOR
rates during 2011

partially offset by

. a decrease of $2.3 million relating to unrealizesses on derivatives within our 33% investmenh&Angola LNG Project that we
acquired upon delivery of three of the four AngblG Carriers in August, September and October 2@l

. a decrease of $0.9 million due to expenses incutueihg 2011 relating to acquisition costs of oR¥6Ginvestment in the Teekay
LNG-Marubeni Joint Venture

Liquidity and Cash Need

Our business model is to employ our vessels omlfrate contracts with major oil companies, withgoral terms typically between 10 to 25
years. The operating cash flow our vessels geneeatie quarter, excluding a reserve for maintenaapéal expenditures and debt repayme
are generally paid out to our unitholders withiprgximately 45 days after the end of each qua@ar.primary short-term liquidity needs are
to pay these quarterly distributions on our ouwditag units, payment of operating expenses, dry-thgc&xpenditures, debt service costs and t
fund general working capital requirements. We @pdite that our primary sources of funds for ounsterm liquidity needs will be cash flows
from operations.

Our long-term liquidity needs primarily relate top@nsion and maintenance capital expenditures abtdrdpayment. Expansion capital
expenditures primarily represent the purchase psteoction of vessels to the extent the expenditimerease the operating capacity or revenu
generated by our fleet, while maintenance capipéaditures primarily consist of dry-docking expiuaks and expenditures to replace vesse
in order to maintain the operating capacity or nreseegenerated by our fleet. Our primary sourcdards for our long-term liquidity needs are
from cash from operations, long-term bank borrowiagd other debt or equity financings, or a conmtinahereof. Consequently, our ability
to continue to expand the size of our fleet is deleat upon our ability to obtain long-term bankrbarings and other debt, as well as raising
equity.

Our revolving credit facilities and term loans described in Item 18 — Financial Statements: NOte Long-Term Debt. They contain
covenants and other restrictions typical of datrficing secured by vessels, that restrict the @hiping subsidiaries from: incurring or
guaranteeing indebtedness; changing ownershipumstste, including mergers, consolidations, liqtiiolas and dissolutions; making dividends
or distributions if we are in default; making capiéxpenditures in excess of specified levels; mgkiertain negative pledges and granting
certain liens; selling, transferring, assigningonveying assets; making certain loans and invegsnand entering into a new line of business
Certain of our revolving credit facilities and tetoans require us to maintain financial covenalfitse do not meet these financial covenants,
the lender may accelerate the repayment of thdviegocredit facilities and term loans, thus havingignificant impact our shotérm liquidity
requirements. As at December 31, 2012, we andftiliates were in compliance with all covenantsatétg to our credit facilities and term
loans.

As at December 31, 2012, our cash and cash egntgalere $113.6 million, compared to $93.6 millairDecember 31, 2011. Our total
liquidity, which consists of cash, cash equivalearid undrawn mediu-term credit facilities, was $495.0 million as atdember 31, 201:



compared to $538.7 million as at December 31, 20h#&.decrease in liquidity is primarily due to lmwings to fund the acquisition of the
Teekay LNG-Marubeni Joint Venture in February 2ah2, acquisition of our 33% interest in the foultigola LNG carrier, the first
installment payment for two LNG newbuildings andiaerease in restricted cash deposits; partiafiyedfoy $182.3 million resulting from an
equity offering in September 2012 and an incre&$1.25.0 million resulting from our NOK 700 milliodorwegian bond offering in May
2012.
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As of December 31, 2012, we had a working capigdicd of $71.9 million. The working capital incled a $70.3 million current lease
obligation for five Suezmax tankers, under which thvner has the option to require us to purchaseehksels and under the charter contracts
the owner also has cancellation rights. For thfadbefive Suezmax tankers, the cancellation optiare first exercisable in August

2013, November 2013 and April 2014, respectivelild/we have not received notification of termioatiwe expect the charterer to exercise
their cancellation rights and the vessels to be bglthe owner to a third party. Upon sale of thesels, we will not be required to repay the
capital lease obligations as the vessels undetatdgases will be returned to the owner and thpitablease obligations will be concurrently
extinguished.

We expect to manage the remaining working capiéitd primarily with net operating cash flow geatd in 2013 and, to a lesser extent,
existing undrawn revolving credit facilities. Pleagad Item 18 — Financial Statements: Note 14mr@itments and Contingencies.

As described under “Item 4 — Information on the @amy: C. Regulations — Other Environmental Initia,” passage of any climate control
legislation or other regulatory initiatives thastréct emissions of greenhouse gases could hamiicant financial and operational impact on
our business, which we cannot predict with ceryadttthis time. Such regulatory measures coulce@m®e our costs related to operating and
maintaining our vessels and require us to ins&lf Bmission controls, acquire allowances or paggaglated to our greenhouse gas emissior
or administer and manage a greenhouse gas emigsimgrmm. In addition, increased regulation of gremise gases may, in the long term,

to reduced demand for oil and gas and reduced d&foaour services.

Cash Flows.The following table summarizes our cash flow fag feriods presented:

Year Ended December 31

(in thousands of U.S. Dollar 2012 2011 2010

Net cash flow from operating activiti 192,01: 122,04t 174,97(
Net cash flow from (used for) financing activiti 30,37 7,17¢ (167,746
Net cash flow used for investing activiti (202,43) (116,649 (34,519

Operating Cash FlowsNet cash flow from operating activities increase®192.0 million in 2012 from $122.0 million in 201primarily due
to fewer off-hire days relating to scheduled drgkings in 2012 compared to 2011, a correspondingedse in dry-docking expenditures in
2012 and lower net cash flows in 2011 due to thieseent of our interest rate swaps relating todebt on thévladrid Spiritupon refinancing
this debt. Net cash flow from operating activittereased to $122.0 million in 2011 from $175.0iamilin 2010, primarily due to the
settlement of our interest rate swaps relatingnéodebt on th#adrid Spiritupon the refinancing of this debt, increased drgkéity
expenditures related to scheduled dry docking®iilzand repayment of amounts owing to affiliatéatireg to operating activities, partially
offset by higher operating cash flows related ®dkliveries of thiélorgas Unikum Norgas CamillaandNorgas Visiorin June, September a
October 2011, respectively, and dividends we rexkouring 2011 from our equity accounted investeiet cash flow from operating
activities depends upon the timing and amount pfdircking expenditures, repairs and maintenandeigctvessel additions and dispositions
on operating cash flows, foreign currency rateanges in interest rates, timing of dividends frayaity accounted investments, fluctuations in
working capital balances and spot market hire réitethe extent we have vessels operating in tbetspker market or our hire rates are
partially affected by spot market rates). The nundferessel dry dockings tends to vary each period.

Financing Cash FlowsOur investments in vessels and equipment are fethpdmarily with term loans, capital lease arrangats and
proceeds from issuance of securities. Proceedslingiterm debt were $500.3 million, $600.9 milliand $100.9 million, respectively, for
2012, 2011 and 2010. The proceeds from long-teioh fode 2012 includes proceeds received from theanse of our NOK 700 million senior
unsecured bonds in May 2012. From time to timeefimance our loans and revolving credit facilitiBsiring 2012, we primarily used the
proceeds from long-term debt to fund the acquisitbour 52% interest in the six MALT LNG Carriets,fund the first installment payment
for two LNG newbuildings, to fund the acquisitiohaur 33% interest in the fourth Angola LNG Carritr prepay and repay outstanding debt
under our revolving credit facilities and for gealezorporate purposes. During 2011, we refinanbediebt relating to thigladrid Spiritupon
acquisition of the vessel when its capital leas#ednWe also used the proceeds from Itargs debt primarily to fund the acquisition of first
three Angola LNG Carriers, the acquisition of the Skaugen Multigas Carriers and the last Skaud®® tarrier. During 2010, we used
proceeds from long-term debt primarily to fund atjpm of the acquisition of the Centrofin SuezmaithsAlexander Spiritand the Excelsior
and Excalibur Joint Ventures.

On September 10, 2012, we completed a public offesf approximately 4.8 million common units atrace of $38.43 per unit, for net
proceeds of $182.3 million. On November 2, 2011 camapleted a public equity offering of approximgt8l5 million common units at a price
of $33.40 per unit, for net proceeds of $179.5iomll On April 8, 2011, we completed a public equiffering of approximately 4.3 million
common units at a price of $38.88 per unit, forpreceeds of $161.7 million. On July 15, 2010, wepleted a direct equity placement of
approximately 1.7 million common units at a pri¢éb@9.18 per unit, for net proceeds of approxime$80.9 million. All such amounts of
proceeds include our general partners’ 2% coninbuPlease read item 18 — Financial Statementte M@ — Total Capital and Net Income Pel
Unit.



Cash distributions paid during 2012 increased 6% million from $159.4 million for the prior yedFhis increase was the result of:

. an increase in the number of units eligible to reeéhe cash distribution as a result of the pubtjaity offerings during 2012 and
2011; anc

. an increase in our quarterly distribution to $0.@85 unit from $0.63 per unit starting with the @ed quarter distribution in 201
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Cash distributions paid during 2011 increased 9% million from $135.5 million for the prior yeaFhis increase was the result of:

. an increase in the number of units eligible to rex¢he cash distribution as a result of the puétjaity offerings during 2011 and
2010; anc

. an increase in our quarterly distribution to $0p&8 unit from $0.60 per unit starting with the figaiarter distribution in 201

Subsequent to December 31, 2012, a cash distribtdtaling $53.0 million was declared with respiecthe fourth quarter of 2012, which was
paid in February 2013.

Investing Cash FlowNet cash flow used in investing activities increhge$202.4 million in 2012 from $116.6 million 2011, primarily due
to $151.0 million (including working capital cortitition and acquisition costs) to fund the acqueitf our 52% interest in the six MALT
LNG Carriers, $38.6 million to fund the first indtaent payment for two LNG newbuildings and $19.ilion for our acquisition of a 33%
interest in the fourth and last Angola LNG Carriduring 2011, we incurred $64.7 million of capiéadpenditures for vessels and equipment.
These expenditures represent construction paynfamtise two Skaugen Multigas Carrier newbuildintpe acquisition of thélorgas Camilla
in September 2011 and capital modifications fotaierof our vessels. In addition, during 2011 wedi$57.3 million for the purchase of
Teekay Corporation’s 33% ownership interest ingtoethe Angola LNG Carriers. During 2010, we irrear $26.7 million in expenditures for
vessels and equipment. These expenditures reprasestruction payments for the two Skaugen Multi@asrier newbuildings and capital
modifications for certain of our vessels. Also dgr2010, we received proceeds of $21.6 million ftbmsale of th®ania Spiritand used
$35.2 million for the purchase of the Excelsior &xtalibur Joint Ventures.

Credit Facilities

Our revolving credit facilities and term loans deascribed in Item 18 — Financial Statements: NOte Long-Term Debt. Our term loans and
revolving credit facilities contain covenants anldes restrictions typical of debt financing secubgdvessels, including, among others, one or
more of the following that restrict the ship-ownisgbsidiaries from:

. incurring or guaranteeing indebtedne

. changing ownership or structure, including mergessisolidations, liquidations and dissolutio

. making dividends or distributions if we are in ddfa

. making capital expenditures in excess of speclfedls;

. making certain negative pledges and granting celi@nms;

. selling, transferring, assigning or conveying a&¢

. making certain loans and investments;

. entering into a new line of busine
Certain loan agreements require a) that minimuralgeef tangible net worth and aggregate liquidiynbaintained, b) that we maintain certain
ratios of vessel values as it relates to the relevatstanding loan principal balance, c) that wevjale for a maximum level of leverage and d)
one of our subsidiaries to maintain restricted aegtosits. Our ship-owning subsidiaries may nopragrother things, pay dividends or
distributions if we are in default under its termahs or revolving credit facilities. One of oumteloans is guaranteed by Teekay Corporation
and contains covenants that require Teekay Coiipartd maintain the greater of a minimum liquidigash and cash equivalents) of at least

$50.0 million and 5.0% of Teekay Corporation’s tatansolidated debt which has recourse to Teekap&ation. As at December 31, 2012,
we and our affiliates were in compliance with al’enants relating to our credit facilities and taldeases.

We have two facilities that require us to mainta@ssel value to outstanding loan principal balaaties of 110% and 115%, respectively. A
December 31, 2012, we had vessel value to outstghoan principal balance ratios of 164% and 15igpectively. The vessel values are
determined using reference to second-hand markepambles or using a depreciated replacement ppsbach. Since vessel values can be
volatile, our estimates of market value may noirlgicative of either the current or future prickattcould be obtained if the Partnership sold
any of the vessels.
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Contractual Obligations and Contingencies

The following table summarizes our contractual gdgions as at December 31, 2012:

2014 2016
and and Beyond
Total 2013 2015 2017 2017

(in millions of U.S. Dollars)

U.S. Dollar-Denominated Obligations:

Long-term debit® 946.2 71.7 180.z 147.¢ 546.7
Commitments under capital leas? 190.t 80.& 43.& 38.¢ 27.:
Commitments under capital lea<® 977.1 24.C 48.C 48.C 857.
Commitments under operating lea® 402.¢ 24.& 49.€ 49t 278.¢
Newbuilding installment®) 3474  — 77.2 270.2 —
Total U.S. Dollar-denominated obligations 2,864.C 201.: 398.6 553.¢ 1,710.(
Euro-Denominated Obligations:®©
Long-term debt™ 341« 14.& 32.& 37.&  256.(
Total Euro-denominated obligations 341« 14. 32.6 37.& 256.(
Norwegian Kroner-Denominated Obligations:
Long-term debt® 125.8 — — 125.¢ —
Total Norwegian Kroner-Denominated obligations® 125.& — — 125.¢ —
Totals 3,331.. 216.1 431.€ 717.F 1,966.(

®

@)

®

@)

®)

(6)

Q]

®)

Excludes expected interest payments of $17.1 millg913), $28.9 million (2014 and 2015), $21.4 ioill(2016 and 2017) and $19.1
million (beyond 2017). Expected interest paymengsbased on the existing interest rates (fixedgrs) and LIBOR at December 31,
2012, plus margins on debt that has been drawndhged up to 2.75% (variable-rate loans). The egeinterest payments do not
reflect the effect of related interest rate swéyas we have used as an economic hedge of certair ofariabl-rate debt

Includes, in addition to lease payments, amountenag be required to pay to purchase five leaseskele$rom 2014 to the end of the
period when cancellation options are first exetdisarhe purchase price will be based on the unazedrportion of the vessel
construction financing costs for the vessels, whihincluded in the table above. We expect tafyathe purchase price by assuming the
existing vessel financing, although we may be nexglifo obtain separate debt or equity financingaimplete the purchases if the lenders
do not consent to our assuming the financing obtiga. Please read Item - Financial Statements: Note- Leases and Restricted Ce
Existing restricted cash deposits of $475.5 millimgether with the interest earned on these dep@se expected to be sufficient to re
the remaining amounts we currently owe under thedearrangement

We have corresponding leases whereby we are therlaad expect to receive approximately $361.4ioniflor these leases from 2013 to
2029. Please read Item — Financial Statements: Note- Leases and Restricted Ca

In December 2012, we entered into an agreemeitéoconstruction of two LNG newbuildings. The remiag ship yard installments for
these two newbuildings total $347.4 million. Pleeszd Item 18 — Financial Statements: Note 14@prmmitments and Contingencies.
In February 2013, we acquired a 50% ownership im&x_PG BVBA for approximately $134 million, whigf not included in the abo
table. Please read Item — Financial Statements: Note — Subsequent Event

Euro-denominated and NOK-denominated obligatioaegpagsented in U.S. Dollars and have been convasied the prevailing
exchange rate as of December 31, 2I

Excludes expected interest payments of $5.5 mil[gi¥i13), $10.2 million (2014 and 2015), $9.1 milli(2016 and 2017) and $4.9 milli
(beyond 2017). Expected interest payments are bas&dJRIBOR at December 31, 2012, plus marginsrénaged up to 2.25%, as well
as the prevailing U.S. Dollar/Euro exchange ratefd3ecember 31, 2012. The expected interest paggmnnot reflect the effect of
related interest rate swaps that we have used esaaromic hedge of certain of our varierate debt

Excludes expected interest payments of $8.9 mi((&@13), $17.9 million (2014 and 2015) and $11.9iom (2016 and 2017). Expected
interest payments are based on NIBOR at Decemhe&(dP, plus a margin of 5.25%, as well as the gifieg U.S. Dollar/NOK

exchange rate as of December 31, 2012. The expimtézdst payments do not reflect the effect ofrtated cross currency swap that we
have used as an economic hedge of our foreign agehand interest rate exposure associated with@-denominated lor-term debt

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements. Thédsdet@ur equity accounted investments are shawiteim 18 — Financial Statements: Note
19 — Equity Method Investments.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statemendés@ordance with GAAP, which require us to makaredes in the application of our
accounting policies based on our best assumptiedgments and opinions. On a regular basis, manageraviews the accounting policies,
assumptions, estimates and judgments to ensureuhabnsolidated financial statements are predeaidy and in accordance with GAAP.
However, because future events and their effectsatebe determined with certainty, actual resuttsia differ from our assumptions and
estimates, and such differences could be matégabunting estimates and assumptions discussdisise¢ction are those that we consider to
be the most critical to an understanding of ouaicial statements, because they inherently invgityeificant judgments and uncertainties. For
a further description of our material accountingjqies, please read Iltem 18 — Financial Stateméite 1 — Basis of Presentation and
Significant Accounting Policies.

Vessel Lives and Impairment

Description.The carrying value of each of our vessels represenoriginal cost at the time of delivery or phase less depreciation and
impairment charges. We depreciate the original, dess an estimated residual value, of our vessess straight-line basis over each vessel’s
estimated useful life. The carrying values of oessels may not represent their market value apamy in time because the market prices of
secondhand vessels tend to fluctuate with changes inteheates and the cost of newbuildings. Both chaeies and newbuilding costs ten
be cyclical in nature.

We review vessels and equipment for impairment wlienevents or circumstances indicate the carnyéthge of an asset, including the
carrying value of the charter contract, if any, @nehich the vessel is employed, may not be re@iler This occurs when the asset’s carryinc
value is greater than the future undiscounted flagls the asset is expected to generate overrtaireng useful life. For a vessel under
charter, the discounted cash flows from that vasssl exceed its market value, as market valuesassyme the vessel is not employed on ar
existing charter. If the estimated future undisdedrcash flows of an asset exceeds the assatiying value, no impairment is recognized ¢
though the fair value of the asset may be lowen ttsacarrying value. If the estimated future undisted cash flows of an asset is less than i
asset’s carrying value and the fair value of trsetis less than its carrying value, the assetitsew down to its fair value. Fair value is
calculated as the net present value of estimatedefeash flows, which, in certain circumstance8i,approximate the estimated market value
of the vessel.

Our business model is to employ our vessels omlfrate contracts with major oil companies. Thesgreats generally have original terms
between 10 to 25 years in length. Consequentlylevthe market value of a vessel may decline betewadrrying value, the carrying value of a
vessel may still be recoverable based on the futndéscounted cash flows the vessel is expecteditain from servicing its existing contract
and future contracts.

The following table presents by segment the aggeegarket values and carrying values of certaiousfvessels that we have determined hav
a market value that is less than their carryingi@als of December 31, 2012. Specifically, the Yoty table reflects all such vessels, except
those operating on contracts where the remainimg i significant and the estimated future undisted cash flows relating to such contracts
are sufficiently greater than the carrying valuehaf vessels such that we consider it unlikelynapairment would be recognized in the
following year. Consequently, the vessels incluthetthe following table generally include those \@dssear the end of existing charters or
other operational contracts. While the market valofethese vessels are below their carrying valuesnpairment has been recognized on an
of these vessels as the estimated future undisedwatsh flows relating to such vessels are gréadertheir carrying values.

We would consider the vessels reflected in theo¥alhg table to be at a higher risk of future impaént. The estimated future undiscounted
cash flows of the vessels reflected in the follayviable are significantly greater than their retipeaarrying values. Consequently, in these
cases the following table would not necessarilyesent vessels that would likely be impaired inrtbgt 12 months, and the recognition of an
impairment in the future for those vessels may prim depend upon our deciding to dispose of thesgkinstead of continuing to operate it. In
deciding whether to dispose of a vessel, we deterwhether it is economically preferable to sedl Wlessel or continue to operate it. This
assessment includes an estimate of the net proegpdsted to be received if the vessel is soltkiexisting condition compared to the present
value of the vessel's estimated future revenuepheperating costs. Such estimates are basedeaeitims of the existing charter, charter
market outlook and estimated operating costs, giveessek type, condition and age. In addition, we typicdib not dispose of a vessel tha
servicing an existing customer contract.

(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except number obets) Market Values (1) Carrying Values
Reportable Segme Number of Vessel $ $
Conventional Tanker Segment 3 88,50( 114,39

(1) Market values are determined using referensetond-hand market comparable values. Since vealsels can be volatile, our estimates
of market value may not be indicative of either theent or future prices we could obtain if we sohy &f the vessels



Judgments and UncertaintieDepreciation is calculated using an estimated W$iédlof 25 years for conventional tankers, 30 ngefor LPG
Carriers and 35 years for LNG carriers, commenainte date the vessel was originally deliverechftbe shipyard. However, the actual life

a vessel may be different than the estimated usigfulvith a shorter actual useful life resultimgan increase in the quarterly depreciation and
potentially resulting in an impairment loss. Thémaated useful life of our vessels takes into actalesign life, commercial considerations anc
regulatory restrictions. Our estimates of futursiciows involve assumptions about future charés, vessel utilization, operating expenses,
dry-docking expenditures, vessel residual valuektaae remaining estimated life of our vessels. €atimated charter rates are based on rates
under existing vessel contracts and market ratedi@h we expect we can re-charter our vessels.eStimates of vessel utilization, including
estimated off-hire time, are based on historicalegience. Our estimates of operating expenses rdiotking expenditures are based on
historical operating and dry-docking costs andepectations of future inflation and operating iegments. Vessel residual values are a
product of a vessel’s lightweight tonnage and daimesed scrap rate. The remaining estimated liferiovessels used in our estimates of
future cash flows are consistent with those usetercalculation of depreciation.
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Certain assumptions relating to our estimates tiréucash flows are more predictable by their ainiour historical experience, including
estimated revenue under existing contract termgadmg operating costs and remaining vessel ligrt&in assumptions relating to our
estimates of future cash flows require more digmnednd are inherently less predictable, such asdicharter rates beyond the firm period of
existing contracts and vessel residual valuestalfectors such as the volatility in vessel charéées and vessel values. We believe that the
assumptions used to estimate future cash flowsiofessels are reasonable at the time they are."éelean make no assurances, however, :
to whether our estimates of future cash flows,ipalarly future vessel charter rates or vesseles|will be accurate.

Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumpticlf we conclude that a vessel or equipment is ingghiwve recognize a loss in an amount equal
to the excess of the carrying value of the asset its fair value at the date of impairment. Théten-down amount becomes the new lower
cost basis and will result in a lower annual dejaitean expense than for periods before the vesgghirment.

Dry docking Life

Description. We capitalize a portion of the costs we incuiimyidry docking and for an intermediate survey anrtize those costs on a
straight-line basis over the useful life of the dock. We expense costs related to routine repailsmaintenance incurred during dry docking
that do not improve operating efficiency or extéinel useful lives of the assets.

Judgments and UncertaintieAmortization of capitalized dry-dock expendituregjuires us to estimate the period of the next dokithg and
useful life of dry-dock expenditures. While we tyally dry dock each vessel every five years analashipping society classification
intermediate survey performed on our LNG and LP@Gieas between the second and third year of theyiwar drydocking period, we may d
dock the vessels at an earlier date, with a shbiféeresulting in an increase in the amortization.

Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumpticlf we change our estimate of the next dry-dock diate vessel, we will adjust our annual
amortization of dry-docking expenditures. Amortiaatexpense of capitalized dry-dock expenditure€@i2, 2011 and 2010 were $13.1
million, $9.6 million and $7.3 million. As at Decédwer 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 our capitalized drka@openditures were $7.5 million, $19.6
million and $12.7 million, respectively. A one-yegaduction in the estimated useful lives of cajrtal dry-dock expenditures would result in
an increase in our current annual amortizationgpreximately $4.2 million.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Description. We allocate the cost of acquired companies, diolyiacquisitions of equity accounted investmetatshe identifiable tangible ar
intangible assets and liabilities acquired, with tamaining amount being classified as goodwilkt&e intangible assets, such as time-chartel
contracts, are being amortized over time. Our futyperating performance will be affected by the dization of intangible assets and poter
impairment charges related to goodwill and intatggibAccordingly, the allocation of purchase ptizéntangible assets and goodwill may
significantly affect our future operating results.

Goodwill is not amortized, but reviewed for impa@nt at the reporting unit level on annual basigore frequently if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely tharreduce the fair value a reporting until belowdsrying value. When goodwill is review
for impairment, we may elect to assess qualitdtietors to determine whether it is more likely theot that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount, including goodwAlkernatively, we may bypass this step and userasédue approach to identify potential
goodwill impairment and, when necessary, measw@athount of impairment. The Partnership uses adiged cash flow model to determine
the fair value of reporting units, unless thera ieadily determinable fair market value. Intangiiassets are assessed for impairment when ar
if impairment indicators exist. An impairment Idsgecognized if the carrying amount of an intafg#msset is not recoverable and its carrying
amount exceeds its fair value.

Judgments and Uncertainti. The allocation of the purchase price of acquaechpanies to intangible assets and goodwill require
management to make significant estimates and aggmapincluding estimates of future cash flowsentpd to be generated by the acquired
assets and the appropriate discount rate to vaasetcash flows. In addition, the process of evtialgdhe potential impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets is highly subjective and requsigsificant judgment at many points during thelgsia. The fair value of our reporting units
was estimated based on discounted expected fudsteflows using a weighted-average cost of camtal The estimates and assumptions
regarding expected cash flows and the discountregpgire considerable judgment and are based uxisting contracts, historical experience,
financial forecasts and industry trends and cooilti

At December 31, 2012, we had one reporting unit wa@odwill attributable to it. As of the date ofgliiling, we do not believe that there is a
reasonable possibility that the goodwill attribuéato this reporting unit might be impaired withihre next year. However, certain factors that
impact this assessment are inherently difficufotecast and as such we cannot provide any as®ganat an impairment will or will not occ
in the future. An assessment for impairment invslaeumber of assumptions and estimates that aesllwm factors that are beyond our
control. These are discussed in more detail irfdlbewing section entitled in Part- Forwarc-Looking Statements



Amortization expense of intangible assets for ezfdhe years 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $11.0 mil$86 million and $9.6 million,
respectively. If actual results are not consisteitt our estimates used to value our intangible@ssve may be exposed to an impairment
charge and a decrease in the annual amortizatigense of our intangible assets.

Valuation of Derivative Instruments

Description.Our risk management policies permit the use ofvairie financial instruments to manage interest resk, foreign exchange risk
and spot tanker market risk. Changes in fair valugerivative financial instruments that are nosigaated as cash flow hedges for accounting
purposes are recognized in earnings.

Judgments and UncertaintieA substantial majority of the fair value of our dative instruments and the change in fair valuewfderivative
instruments from period to period result from ose wf interest rate swap agreements. The fair \@loer interest rate swap agreements is the
estimated amount that we would receive or payruiteate the agreements at the reporting date,dakio account current interest rates and
the current credit worthiness of both us and thepseounterparties. The estimated amount is theptesilue of estimated future cash flows,
being equal to the difference between the benchinéekest rate and the fixed rate in the interat swap agreement, multiplied by the
notional principal amount of the interest rate s\agpeement at each interest reset date.

49



Table of Contents

The fair value of our interest and currency swagagents at the end of each period are most signily affected by the interest rate implied
by the benchmark interest yield curve, includirsgrélative steepness, and forward foreign exchaaigs. Interest rates and foreign exchange
rates have experienced significant volatility inaet years in both the short and long term. Whigefair value of our interest and currency s
agreements are typically more sensitive to chaimgsBort-term rates, significant changes in theylterm benchmark interest and foreign
exchange rates also materially impact our inteaadtcurrency swap agreements.

The fair value of our interest and currency swaggaents are also affected by changes in our $pep#dit risk included in the discount
factor. We discount our interest rate swap agre¢sneith reference to the credit default swap spsesdsimilarly rated global industrial
companies and by considering any underlying colidt&he process of determining credit worthinesguires significant judgment in
determining which source of credit risk informatimost closely matches our risk profile.

The benchmark interest rate yield curve and oucifiperedit risk are expected to vary over the lif the interest rate swap agreements. The
larger the notional amount of the interest ratepsagreements outstanding and the longer the rengathiration of the interest rate swap
agreements, the larger the impact of any varighitithese factors will be on the fair value of auterest rate swaps. We economically hedge
the interest rate exposure on a significant amotintir long-term debt and for long durations. Astsuwe have historically experienced, and
we expect to continue to experience, material tiana in the period-to-period fair value of our idative instruments.

The fair value of our derivative instrument relgtiio the agreement between us and Teekay Corpoffatidthe Toledo Spirit time-charter
contract is the estimated amount that we wouldivecar pay to terminate the agreement at the reqgpdate. This amount is estimated using
the present value of our projected future spot etadnker rates, which has been derived from ctisgeot market rates and lobgrm historica
average rates.

Effect if Actual Results Differ from AssumpticAlthough we measure the fair value of our derivaiivstruments utilizing the inputs and
assumptions described above, if we were to termitiet agreements at the reporting date, the amaumatould pay or receive to terminate the
derivative instruments may differ from our estimatdair value. If the estimated fair value diffdrem the actual termination amount, an
adjustment to the carrying amount of the applicaelévative asset or liability would be recognizeearnings for the current period. Such
adjustments could be material. See Item 18 — FinhBtatements: Note 13 — Derivative Instrumentdlie effects on the change in fair value
of our derivative instruments on our consolidatedesnents of income.

Taxes
Description. We record a valuation allowance to reduce ouemetl tax assets to the amount that is more litkeely not to be realized.

Judgments and Uncertainti. The future realization of deferred tax assetseddp on the existence of sufficient taxable incoifbe
appropriate character in either the carryback owéaward period. This analysis requires, amongeothings, the use of estimates and
projections in determining future reversals of temgpy differences, forecasts of future profitalitind evaluating potential tax-planning
strategies.

Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumpticlf we determined that we were able to realize adeétrred tax asset in the future, in excess o
the net recorded amount, an adjustment to the réeféax assets would typically increase our netnme (or decrease our loss) in the period
such determination was made. Likewise, if we deteeohthat we were not able to realize all or a padur deferred tax asset in the future, an
adjustment to the deferred tax assets would tylpidalcrease our net income (or increase our los#)d period such determination was made.
As at December 31, 2012, we had a valuation alloearf $85.9 million (2011 - $89.2 million).

Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employee

Management of Teekay LNG Partners L.P.

Teekay GP L.L.C., our General Partner, managesperrations and activities. Unitholders are nottkaatito elect the directors of our General
Partner or directly or indirectly participate inrcdmanagement or operation.

Our General Partner owes a fiduciary duty to outhatders. Our General Partner is liable, as gérgdner, for all of our debts (to the extent
not paid from our assets), except for indebtednessher obligations that are expressly nonrecotorsie Whenever possible, our General
Partner intends to cause us to incur indebtedresther obligations that are nonrecourse t



The directors of our General Partner oversee oaratipns. The day-to-day affairs of our businessnaanaged by the officers of our General
Partner and key employees of certain of our opegatubsidiaries. Employees of certain subsidiafééeekay Corporation provide assistance
to us and our operating subsidiaries pursuantrioces agreements. Please read Item 7 — Major bldighhs and Related Party Transactions.

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial ioé of our General Partner, Peter Evensen, aksdais time between managing our
business and affairs and the business and affaireakay Corporation and its subsidiaries Teekagl@ire (NYSE: TOO) and Teekay Tankers
Ltd. (NYSE: TNK) (orTeekay Tankers Mr. Evensen is the President and Chief Execuiiffecer of Teekay Corporation. He also holds the
roles of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financficer of Teekay Offshore’s general partner, R@gOffshore GP L.L.C. The amount of
time Mr. Evensen allocates between our businesshendusinesses of Teekay Corporation and TeekEh@%® varies from time to time
depending on various circumstances and needs diugiaesses, such as the relative levels of stcadegjvities of the businesses. We believe
Mr. Evensen devotes sufficient time to our busireess affairs as is necessary for their proper condu

Officers of our General Partner and those indivisipaoviding services to us or our subsidiaries 1&g a conflict regarding the allocation of
their time between our business and the other basimterests of Teekay Corporation or its aféatOur General Partner seeks to cause its
officers to devote as much time to the managemkemtiobusiness and affairs as is necessary foptbeer conduct of our business and affairs.

50



Table of Contents

Directors, Executive Officers and Key Employees

The following table provides information about tfieectors and executive officers of our Generatitarand a key employee of our operating
subsidiary Teekay Shipping Spain SL. Directorsedeeted for one-year terms. The business addresachfof our directors and executive
officers listed below is c/o# Floor, Belvedere Birg, 69 Pitts Bay Road, Hamilton, HM 08, Bermud@ae business address of our key
employee of Teekay Shipping Spain SL. is Musgoeste—28023, Madrid, Spain. Ages of the individumis as of December 31, 2012.

Name Age Position

C. Sean Da 63 Chairmar

Peter Evense 54  Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer@irector

Robert E. Boyc 74  Director®@

Kenneth Hvid 44  Director until September 18, 2012 and rejoined ebrkary 19, 201®)
Ida Jane Hinkle 62 Director®

Joseph E. McKechni 54  Director beginning February 19, 204

George Watso 65 Director®@

Michael Balask 56  Vice Presiden

Andres Lune 56  Managing Director, Teekay Shipping Spain

(1) Member of Audit Committee and Conflicts Committ

(2) Member of Corporate Governance Commit

(3) Mr. Kenneth Hvid resigned from the General Rar's Board effective September 18, 2012 to alloevBoard to maintain a majority of
independent directors and rejoined the Board omuzefp 19, 2013

(4) Mr. Joseph E. McKechnie joined the Board onrkaty 19, 2013, replacing Mr. Ihab J.M. Massoudowdtired from the Board effective
September 14, 201

Certain biographical information about each of theslividuals is set forth below:

C. Sean Dayhas served as Chairman of Teekay GP L.L.C. singastformed in November 2004. Mr. Day has alsoestas Chairman of the
Board for Teekay Corporation since September 19686kay Offshore GP L.L.C. since it was formed irgAst 2006, and Teekay Tankers Ltd.
since it was formed in October 2007. From 19893891 he was President and Chief Executive Offi¢étavios Corporation, a large bulk
shipping company based in Stamford, Connecticitr R this, Mr. Day held a number of senior mamagat positions in the shipping and
finance industry. He is currently serving as a Blioe of Kirby Corporation and Chairman of Compaseebsified Holdings. Mr. Day is engag
as a consultant to Kattegat Limited, the parentgamy of Teekay’s largest shareholder, to overssi@vestments, including that in the Teekay
group of companies.

Peter Evenserhas served as Chief Executive Officer and Chie&kamal Officer of Teekay GP L.L.C. since it wasrfad in November 2004
and as a Director since January 2005. He has efsedsas Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financidfi€2r, a Director of Teekay Offshore GP
L.L.C., formed in August 2006 and as a Directoifetkay Tankers Ltd., formed in October 2007. EffecApril 1, 2011, he assumed the
position of President and Chief Executive OfficéTeekay Corporation and also became a Directdreakay Corporation. Mr. Evensen joir
Teekay Corporation in May 2003 as Senior Vice Flerd, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer. He apgointed Executive Vice President
and Chief Strategy Officer of Teekay Corporatior2@06. Mr. Evensen has over 25 years’ experienbairking and shipping finance. Prior to
joining Teekay Corporation, Mr. Evensen was Mangddirector and Head of Global Shipping at J.P. Meor&ecurities Inc., and worked
other senior positions for its predecessor firms.ipternational industry experience includes posg in New York, London and Oslo.

Robert E. Boyd has served as a Director of Teekay GP L.L.C. siaceiary 2005. From May 1999 until his retiremenlarch 2004,

Mr. Boyd was employed as the Senior Vice PresidadtChief Financial Officer of Teknion Corporati@ngompany engaged in the design,
manufacture and marketing of office systems anid®furniture products. From 1991 to 1999, Mr. Bayals employed by The Oshawa Group
Limited, a company engaged in the wholesale aradl distribution of food products and real estatg\dties, where his positions included
Executive Vice President-Financial and Chief FinahOfficer. Prior to 1991, Mr. Boyd held senionéincial positions with several major
companies, including Gulf Oil Corporation.

Kenneth Hvid served as a Director of Teekay GP L.L.C. from AfriR011 to September 18, 2012, when he resigioed this position to

allow the Board to maintain a majority of indepemnidBirectors. Mr. Hvid rejoined the Board as a Btor of Teekay GP L.L.C. on

February 19, 2013. Since April 2011, he has seage@hief Strategy Officer and Executive Vice Presicf Teekay Corporation and as a
Director of Teekay Offshore GP L.L.C. He joined Kag Corporation in October 2000 and was responéilsleeading its global procurement
activities until he was promoted in 2004 to SeMare President, Teekay Gas Services. During thig tiMr. Hvid was involved in leading
Teekay Corporation through its entry and growtthi LNG business. He held this position until tlegibning of 2006, when he was appointec
President of the Teekay Shuttle and Offshore divisif Teekay Corporation. In this role, he is resible for Teekay Corporation’s global
shuttle tanker business as well as initiativehaftoating storage and offtake business and itlaffishore activities. Mr. Hvid has 18 years of
global shipping experience, 12 of which were spétit A.P. Moller in Copenhagen, San Francisco anddiKong.

Ida Jane Hinkley has served as a Director of Teekay GP L.L.C. siaceiary 2005. From 1998 to 2001, she served asdianBirector of
Navion Shipping AS, a shipping company at that tafféiated with the Norwegian ste-owned oil company Statoil ASA (and subsequently
acquired by Teekay Corporation’s in 2003). From@ 881997, Ms. Hinkley was employed by the Gotaasskn Shipping Corporation, an
international provider of marine transportationvéses for crude oil and gas (including LNG), segvas its Chief Financial Officer from 19



to
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1992 and its Managing Director from 1993 to 1997 8urrently serves as a non-executive directaherBoard of Premier Oil plc, a London
Stock Exchange listed oil exploration and produtttompany. From 2007 to 2008 she served as @&recdtive director on the Board of Re
Energy ASA, a Norwegian listed oil company. In Daber, 2012 Ms. Hinkley was appointed nexecutive director of Vesuvius plc, a Lonc
Stock Exchange listed engineering company.

Joseph E. McKechnigoined the board of Teekay GP L.L.C. on February2td 3. Mr. McKechnie is a retired United Stateag&dsuard
Officer, having served for more than 23 years, mafnyhich focused on marine safety and securityait emphasis on LNG. In 2000 he
joined Tractebel LNG North America (formerly CathdNG) in Boston, Massachusetts as the Vice Preside8hipping, where he oversaw i
LNG shipping operations for the Port of Boston.rRr2006 to 2011, Mr. McKechnie was transferred todan and then Paris to continue his
work with SUEZ, (the parent company of Tractebek) altimately GDF-SUEZ, as the Senior Vice Presiadrshipping, and Deputy Head of
the Shipping Department. He is a former membehefBoard of Directors of Society of InternationasGlrankers and Terminal Operators, an
Gaz-Ocean, the GDF-SUEZ Owned LNG vessel operatingpany. In 2011, he left GDF-SUEZ following thesessful merger of GDF and
SUEZ, and ultimately formed J.E. McKechnie LLC arlg 2011.

George Watsonhas served as a Director of Teekay GP L.L.C. siaceiary 2005. He currently serves as Executiver@laai of Critical

Control Solutions Inc. (formerly WNS Emergent),rayader of information control applications for thaergy sector. He held the position of
CEO of Critical Control from 2002 to 2007. From Radiry 2000 to July 2002, he served as Executivar@iaa at VerticalBuilder.com Inc.

Mr. Watson served as President and Chief Exec@ifieer of TransCanada Pipelines Ltd. from 1993999 and as its Chief Financial Officer
from 1990 to 1993.

Michael Balaskihas served as Vice President of Teekay Offshor&.GE. since December 6, 2011. He was also appaixitee President of
Teekay GP L.L.C. on December 6, 2011. In 2011 ¢ehiead as a partner in the Tax Services Group icERmaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) in
Vancouver, where he was a member of the Internaltibax Group specializing in the international gy sector. Mr. Balaski was a partne
PwC Canada for over ten years. During that timeybked closely with Teekay Corporation, spendingcmof his working time at Teekay
Corporation’s office.

Andres Luna has served as the Managing Director of Teekay $igpPpain SL since April 2004. Mr. Luna joined ABhipping, S.A., a
former affiliate company of Naviera F. Tapias SiA.September 1992 and served as its General Manatjehe was appointed Commercial
General Manager of Naviera F. Tapias S.A. in DeeamB99. He also served as Chief Executive Oftidédaviera F. Tapias S.A. from July
2000 until its acquisition by Teekay Corporatiordipril 2004, when it was renamed Teekay ShippingiSpMr. Luna’s responsibilities with
Teekay Spain have included business developmenhuikeling contracting, project management, develeptof its LNG business and the
renewal of its tanker fleet. He has been in thpmhg business since his graduation as a navaitactfrom Madrid University in 1981.

Annual Executive Compensation

Because the Chief Executive Officer and Chief FaianOfficer of our General Partner, Peter Evensean employee of Teekay Corporation,
his compensation (other than any awards undewotigeterm incentive plan described below) is setpaid by Teekay Corporation, and we
reimburse Teekay Corporation for time he spendgastnership matters. In addition, Michael Balaskihie Vice President of our General
Partner. His compensation is set and paid by ome@ Partner, and we reimburse our General Pdidnéime he spends on our partnership
matters. During 2012, the aggregate amount for lwvhie reimbursed Teekay Corporation for compensaiqenses of the officers of the
General Partner incurred on our behalf and for ammsption earned by the one key employee of Teepaindisted above was $1.7 million.
These amounts were paid primarily in U.S. DollarsndEuros, but are reported here in U.S. Dollaisg an exchange rate 0.7584 Euro for
each U.S. Dollar, the exchange rates on Decemhe&t03R. Teekay Corporation’s annual bonus plamhith each of the Officers participates,
considers both company performance, through comgato established targets, and individual perfoicea

Compensation of Directors

Officers of our General Partner or Teekay Corporatiho also serve as directors of our General Bado not receive additional compensa
for their service as directors. Effective Januarg2d12, each non-employee director received congtiemsfor attending meetings of the Board
of Directors, as well as committee meetings. Nompleyee directors receive a director fee of $50,/20Q@he year and common units with a
value of approximately $50,000 for the year. Thai@han of the Board of Directors receives an anfembf $87,500 and common units with
a value of approximately $87,500 for the year. Merslof the Audit Committee and the Conflicts Contesis each receive a committee fee of
$5,000 for the year and the chairs of the Audit Guttee and Conflicts Committee receive a fee of,820. The Corporate Governance
Committee chairman receives a fee of $5,000 forisgrin that role. In addition, each director igmbursed for out-of-pocket expenses in
connection with attending meetings of the boardim#ctors or committees. Each director is fullyenthified by us for actions associated with
being a director to the extent permitted under Maltdslands law.

During 2012, the five non-employee directors reedjpin the aggregate, $320,000 in cash fees farghevices as directors, plus
reimbursement of their out-of-pocket expenses. &rdl 2012, our general partner’'s Board of Directpesited to the five non-employee
directors an aggregate of 7,262 common units.

2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Our General Partner adopted the Teekay LNG PartnBr2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan for employeed directors of and consultants to
our General Partner and employees and directaadtonsultants to its affiliates, who perform g=s for us. The plan provides for the awn
of restricted units, phantom units, unit optionsit appreciation rights and other unit or c-based awards. Other than the previously menti



common units awarded to our General Partner’s elirecwe did not make any awards in 2012 unde@®5 long-term incentive plan.
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Board Practices
Teekay GP L.L.C., our General Partner, managesperations and activities. Unitholders generally ot entitled to elect the directors of our
General Partner or directly or indirectly partidpé& our management or operation.

Our General Partner’s board of directorstfer Board) currently consists of seven members. Directoesagipointed to serve until their
successors are appointed or until they resigneoreanoved.

There are no service contracts between us andfany directors providing for benefits upon terntina of their employment or service.

The Board has the following three committees: A@timmittee, Conflicts Committee, and Corporate Goaace Committee. The members

of these committees and the function of each ottdmmittees are described below. Each of the coraesitis currently comprised of
independent members and operates under a writtetecladopted by the Board. The committee chafterthe Audit Committee, the Conflicts
Committee and the Corporate Governance Commitia\ailable under the “Partnership Governance” dinkhe About Us page of our web
site at www.teekaylng.com. During 2012, the Boagttifour meetings. Each director attended all Baaegttings and each committee membe
attended all applicable committee meetings.

Audit Committe.. The Audit Committee of our General Partner is posed of three or more directors, each of whom mesit the
independence standards of the New York Stock ExginéorNY SE)and the SEC. This committee is currently comprisiedirectors Robert E.
Boyd (Chair), Ida Jane Hinkley and George Watsdhm&mbers of the committee are financially literand the Board has determined that
Mr. Boyd qualifies as an audit committee finan@apert.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilliiig responsibilities for general oversight of:

. the integrity of our financial statemen

. our compliance with legal and regulatory requiretag

. the independent audit¢ qualifications and independence; ¢

. the performance of our internal audit function ardependent auditor
Conflicts CommitteeThe Conflicts Committee of our General Partnemisposed of the same directors constituting the t\0dmmittee,
being George Watson (Chair), Robert E. Boyd andl&dee Hinkley. The members of the Conflicts Conaritinay not be officers or employ:
of our General Partner or directors, officers optapees of its affiliates, and must meet the heightt NYSE and SEC director independence
standards applicable to audit committee membeishipcertain other requirements.
The Conflicts Committee:

. reviews specific matters that the Board believeg maolve conflicts of interest; ar

. determines if the resolution of the conflict oférest is fair and reasonable to
Any matters approved by the Conflicts Committed bél conclusively deemed to be fair and reasontables, approved by all of our partners,

and not a breach by our General Partner of angslittimay owe us or our unitholders. The Boardtsabligated to seek approval of the
Conflicts Committee on any matter, and may deteentlire resolution of any conflict of interest itself

Corporate Governance Committe&he Corporate Governance Committee of our Geraeher is composed of at least two directors, a
majority of whom must meet the director indepen@estandards established by the NYSE. This comniitearrently comprised of directors,
Ida Jane Hinkley (Chair) effective September 20i€rdhab J.M. Massoud’s retirement from the Bo&dbert E. Boyd, George Watson and
Joe E. McKechnie, effective March 2013.

The Corporate Governance Committee:

. oversees the operation and effectiveness of thedBoal its corporate governan

. develops and recommends to the Board corporateigawee principles and policies applicable to us@mdGeneral Partner and
monitors compliance with these principles and pesi@and recommends to the Board appropriate chaagd

. oversees director compensation and the-term incentive plan described abo

Crewing and Staff

As of December 31, 2012, approximately 1,370 sewpsiaff served on our vessels and approximatebtdfs served on shore in technical,
commercial and administrative roles in various d¢das. Certain subsidiaries of Teekay Corporatimpley the crews, who serve on the ves
pursuant to agreements with the subsidiaries, @mstkdy Corporation subsidiaries also provide onehdwvisory, operational and
administrative support to our operating subsidgapersuant to service agreements. Please read lteMajor Unitholders and Related Party
Transactions.
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We regard attracting and retaining motivated seagpersonnel as a top priority. Like Teekay Corfiora we offer our seafarers competitive
employment packages and comprehensive benefitsgpattunities for personal and career developnvenich relates to a philosophy of
promoting internally.

Teekay Corporation has entered into a Collectiveg8aing Agreement with the Philippine Seafarersidsh, an affiliate of the International
Transport Workers’ Federation (BFF ), and a Special Agreement with ITF London, whioker substantially all of the officers and seamen
that operate our Bahamian-flagged vessels. OuriSipafficers and seamen for our Spanish-flaggedelesre covered by two different
collective bargaining agreements (one for Suezraakdrs and one for LNG carriers) with Spain’s Uniaeneral de Trabajadores and
Comisiones Obreras, and the Filipino crewmembers@ed on our Spanish-flagged LNG and Suezmax tarie covered by the Collective
Bargaining Agreement with the Philippine Seafar&hgon. We believe Teekay Corporation’s and ouatiehships with these labor unions are
good.

Our commitment to training is fundamental to theedlepment of the highest caliber of seafarers tormarine operations. Teekay Corporatior
has agreed to allow our personnel to participattsitraining programs. Teekay Corporation’s cadahing approach is designed to balance
academic learning with hands-on training at seakag Corporation has relationships with trainingfitations in Canada, Croatia, India,
Latvia, Norway, Philippines, Turkey and the Unit€iigdom. After receiving formal instruction at onethese institutions, our cadets’ training
continues on board on one of our vessels. TeekaydZation also has a career development plan tadbibow, which was designed to ensure
a continuous flow of qualified officers who areitred on its vessels and familiarized with its opieraal standards, systems and policies. We
believe that high-quality crewing and training pas will play an increasingly important role irstinguishing larger independent shipping
companies that have in-house or affiliate capadslitrom smaller companies that must rely on oetsiip managers and crewing agents on tt
basis of customer service and safety.

Unit Ownership

The following table sets forth certain informatimgarding beneficial ownership, as of Decembe2812, of our units by all directors and
officers of our General Partner and key employd@sekay Spain as a group. The information is matessarily indicative of beneficial
ownership for any other purpose. Under SEC rulggraon or entity beneficially owns any units tthegt person has the right to acquire as of
March 3, 2013 (60 days after December 31, 2012uthin the exercise of any unit option or other rigiless otherwise indicated, each persol
has sole voting and investment power (or shards gawers with his or her spouse) with respect ¢outhits set forth in the following table.
Information for all persons listed below is basedrormation delivered to us.

Percentage o

Common Common Units
Units
Identity of Person or Group Owned Owned ®)
All directors and officers as a group (9 pers® @ 143,71¢ 0.22%

(1) Excludes units owned by Teekay Corporationcivldontrols us and on the board of which servalitextors of our General Partner, C.
Sean Day and Peter Evensen. Peter Evensen is tbieEXkcutive Officer of Teekay Corporation, thei€ftExecutive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of Teekay Offshore GP L.L.C., amdirector of Teekay GP L.L.C., Teekay OffshorelGP.C. and Teekay Tankers
Ltd. Kenneth Hvid is a director of Teekay GP L.Lahd Teekay Offshore GP L.L.C. Mr. Hvid is also €ltrategy Officer and
Executive Vice President of Teekay CorporationaBéeread Item — Major Unitholders and Related Party Transactiomsrfore detail

(2) Each director, executive officer and key emp®peneficially owns less than 1% of the outstapdmmon units. Under SEC rules a
person beneficially owns any units as to whichgheson has or shares voting or investment pc

(3) Excludes the 2% general partner interest held byG@mneral Partner, a wholly owned subsidiary ofkbgeCorporation

Item 7. Major Unitholders and Related Party Transactions
Major Unitholders

The following table sets forth information regamglimeneficial ownership, as of March 1, 2013, of cemmon units by each person we kno\
beneficially own more than 5% of the outstandinghomon units. The number of units beneficially owhgdeach person is determined under
SEC rules and the information is not necessariycitive of beneficial ownership for any other psp. Under SEC rules a person beneficially
owns any units as to which the person has or shvatesy or investment power. In addition, a perbeneficially owns any units that the per:

or entity has the right to acquire as of April 2013 (60 days after March 1, 2013) through theesgerof any unit option or other right. Unless
otherwise indicated, each unitholder listed bel@s bole voting and investment power with respetiteaunits set forth in the following table.

Percentage o
Common Units

Common
Identity of Person or Group Units Owned Owned @)
Teekay Corporatio® 25,208,27 36.2%

(1) Excludes the 2% general partner interest held byG@mmneral Partner, a wholly owned subsidiary ofkbgeCorporation
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Teekay Corporation has the same voting rights véfipect to common units it owns as our other utdérs. We are controlled by Teekay
Corporation. We are not aware of any arrangemémgspperation of which may at a subsequent datdtriesa change in control of us.

Related Party Transactions

a) We have entered into an amended and restateithosragreement with Teekay Corporation, our Gerfeaatiner, our
operating company, Teekay LNG Operating L.L.C.,kegeOffshore and related parties. The followingcdision describes
certain provisions of the omnibus agreem

Noncompetition Under the omnibus agreement, Teekay CorporatidnTeekay Offshore have agreed, and have causied the
controlled affiliates (other than us) to agree, toadwn, operate or charter LNG carriers. Thisrietsdn does not prevent Teekay
Corporation, Teekay Offshore or any of their coleaffiliates (other than us) from, among othHengs:

. acquiring LNG carriers and related time-charterpaxs of a business and operating or charteringethvessels if a majority
of the value of the total assets or business aedusrnot attributable to the LNG carriers andtegldime-charters, as
determined in good faith by the board of directufr§eekay Corporation or the conflict committeettué board of directors
of Teekay Offshore’s general partner; howevert dray time Teekay Corporation or Teekay Offshomagletes such an
acquisition, it must offer to sell the LNG carriensd related time-charters to us for their fair keawalue plus any additional
tax or other similar costs to Teekay Corporatiod @ekay Offshore that would be required to trandferLNG carriers and
time-charters to us separately from the acquired bus;

. owning, operating or chartering LNG carriers theate to a bid or award for a proposed LNG prdjleat Teekay
Corporation or any of its subsidiaries has submhittehereafter submits or receives; however, &t [€80 days prior to the
scheduled delivery date of any such LNG carriegKbg Corporation must offer to sell the LNG caraed related time-
charter to us, with the vessel valued at its “fidlyilt-up cost”,which represents the aggregate expenditures irec(oreo be
incurred prior to delivery to us) by Teekay Corgimmato acquire or construct and bring such LNGieato the condition
and location necessary for our intended use, ptessonable allocation of overhead costs relatéetalevelopment of such
project and other projects that would have beejesulo the offer rights set forth in the omnibgseement but were not
completed; o

. acquiring, operating or chartering LNG carriersut General Partner has previously advised TeekadZation or Teekay
Offshore that the board of directors of our GenPaattner has elected, with the approval of its lactsfcommittee, not to
cause us or our subsidiaries to acquire or opénatearriers

In addition, under the omnibus agreement we haveealgnot to own, operate or charter crude oil tesike the following “offshore
vessels” — dynamically positioned shuttle tankBogting storage and off-take units or floating guotion, storage and off-loading
units, in each case that are subject to contraitisaremaining duration of at least three yeaxslugling extension options. This
restriction does not apply to any of the convergldankers in our current fleet, and the ownerstigiration or chartering of any oil
tankers that replace any of those oil tankers fmeagtion with certain events. In addition, theniebn does not prevent us from,
among other things:

. acquiring oil tankers or offshore vessels and atgted time-charters or contracts of affreightnanpart of a business and
operating or chartering those vessels, if a mgjafithe value of the total assets or businessiesdjis not attributable to the
oil tankers and offshore vessels and any relatadets or contracts of affreightment, as determimethe conflicts
committee of our General Partner’s board of dine;tbowever, if at any time we complete such arusitipn, we are
required to promptly offer to sell to Teekay Comgtion the oil tankers and time-charters or to TgeR#shore the offshore
vessels and timeharters or contracts of affreightment for fair ketrvalue plus any additional tax or other simdasts to u:
that would be required to transfer the vesselscamtiacts to Teekay Corporation or Teekay Offstsearately from the
acquired business;

. acquiring, operating or chartering oil tankers fislwore vessels if Teekay Corporation or Teekayskife, respectively, has
previously advised our General Partner that itddasted not to acquire or operate those ves

Rights of First Offer on Suezmax Tankers, LNG @asrand Offshore Vesseldnder the omnibus agreement, we have granted to
Teekay Corporation and Teekay Offshore a 30-dayt nfifirst offer on any proposed (a) sale, transfeother disposition of any of
our conventional tankers, in the case of Teekay@mattion, or certain offshore vessels in the cddeeekay Offshore, or (b) re-
chartering of any of our conventional tankers dsldre vessels pursuant to a time-charter or contfaaffreightment with a term

of at least three years if the existing charteriregpor is terminated early. Likewise, each of Taekorporation and Teekay
Offshore has granted a similar right of first offerus for any LNG carriers it might own. Thesehtgof first offer do not apply to
certain transactions.
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1)

(2)
3)

(4)

b)

d)

C. Sean Day is the Chairman of our General Bgrireekay GP L.L.C. He also is the Chairman okageCorporation,
Teekay Offshore GP L.L.C. (the general partnereékay Offshore Partners L.P., a publicly held gasghip controlled by
Teekay Corporation) and Teekay Tankers Ltd., aiplyttheld corporation controlled by Teekay Corparat

Peter Evensen is the Chief Executive Officer angfdfinancial Officer and a director of Teekay GR.C. and Teekay
Offshore GP L.L.C. On April 1, 2011, Mr. Evensensmgppointed President and Chief Executive Offi¢ereekay
Corporation and became a director of Teekay CotmoraMr. Evensen is also a director of Teekay Teask td. and was the
Executive Vice President of Teekay Tankers Ltdil éxygril 1, 2011.

Effective April 1, 2011, Kenneth Hvid was appointdicector of Teekay GP L.L.C. and held this positimtil September 1!
2012 when he resigned to allow the Board to mairdainajority of independent directors. Mr. Hvidaieged the Board on
February 19, 2013. Mr. Hvid was also appointedstedttive Vice President, Chief Strategy OfficeiTekay Corporation
and director of Teekay Offshore GP L.L.C. effectiveril 1, 2011.

Michael Balaski is the Vice President of Teekaysbéfre GP L.L.C. and Teekay GP L.L.C.

Because Mr. Evensen is an employee of Teekay Catiparor another of its subsidiaries, his compeosgbther than any
awards under our long-term incentive plan) is set@aid by Teekay Corporation or such other applecaubsidiary.
Pursuant to our partnership agreement, we haveadoereimburse Teekay Corporation or its applieaibsidiary for time
spent by Mr. Evensen on our management matterargStoef Executive Officer and Chief Financial @#i. Because

Mr. Balaski is an employee of our general parthex compensation is set and paid by our generéh@arPursuant to our
partnership agreement, we have agreed to reimbursgeneral partner for his time spent by Mr. Belas our partnership
matters.

On March 17, 2010, we acquired from Teekay Cafian two 2009-built Suezmax tankers, Bermuda Spiriend the
Hamilton Spirit, and a 2007-built Handymax product tanker,Afexander Spirit and the associated long-term fixed-rate
time-charter contracts for a total cost of $160io1il For more information, please read Item 1B rancial Statements: N¢
12(a)- Related Party Transactior

TheArctic SpiritandPolar Spiritare employed on long-term charter contracts withsgliaries of Teekay Corporation. In
addition, we and certain of our subsidiaries havered into services agreements with subsidiafid®ekay Corporation
pursuant to which the Teekay Corporation subsigisalniave agreed to provide certain non-strategidrastnative services to
us, crew training, advisory, technical and admiaiste services that supplement existing capabdlitf the employees of ¢
operating subsidiaries, business development gand strategic consulting and advisory servic@sit operating
subsidiaries relating to our business, unless theigion of those services would materially integfavith Teekay
Corporation’s operations. These services are fortdeded in a commercially reasonable manner armh tipe reasonable
request of our General Partner or our operatingididries, as applicable. The Teekay Corporatidisisiiaries that are
parties to the services agreements may provide th&wices directly or may subcontract for certdithese services with
other entities, including other Teekay Corporasabsidiaries. We pay a reasonable, arm’s-lengtlfiofethe services that
include reimbursement of the reasonable cost ofdinggt and indirect expenses the Teekay Corparatidsidiaries incur in
providing these services. Finally, we reimburse ®aneral Partner for expenses incurred by our GéRartner that are
necessary for the conduct of our business. Sualkeceparty transactions, excluding expenses aiddatus as part of the
result of the Dropdown Predecessor, were as folfowthe periods indicate:

Year Ended
December December December
31, 31, 31,
2012 2011 2010
$ $ $

Revenues) 37,63( 35,06¢ 36,51:
Vessel operating expens®) 2,54¢ 2,74; 3,791
General and administrativ® (4} 19,71( 15,46¢ 14,91¢

Commencing in 2008, the two Kenai LNG Carrieese time-chartered to Teekay Corporation at adfisegte for a period of ten years,
(plus options exercisable by Teekay Corporatioextend up to an additional 15 yeal

Teekay Corporatic’'s crew training

Includes commercial, technical, strategic, bess development and administrative managementfegged by Teekay Corporation and
reimbursements to Teekay Corporation and our GeRaréner for costs incurred on our beh

Amounts are net of $0.2 million, $1.0 millionca$1.0 million for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respedtyivehich consist of the amortization of
$3.0 million paid to us by Teekay Corporation infgta2009 for the right to provide ship managementises to certain of our vesse

e)

As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, crewing anthing costs of nil and $4.1 million, respectivelere payable to
affiliates and were included as part of accouny@pke and accrued liabilities in our consolidatathhce sheets. In addition,
as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, non-interesinigeadvances to affiliates totaled $13.9 milliord&11.9 million,
respectively, and non-interest bearing advances fffiliates totaled $12.1 million and $17.4 miliiorespectively. These
advances are unsecured and have no fixed repayerer.

Our Suezmax tanker, thimledo Spirit, operates pursuant to a time-charter contractnicetases or decreases the fixed rate
established in the charter depending on the spotetrates that we would have earned had we trédedessel in the spot
tanker market. The remaining term of the time-dracbntract is 13 years, although the charterethe@sght to terminate



the time-charter in July 2018. We entered into gre@ment with Teekay Corporation such that Teekay jpis any amounts
payable to the charter party as a result of sgesraeing below the fixed rate, and we pay Teekayp@ration any amounts
payable to us as a result of spot rates beingdessxof the fixed rate. During 2012, 2011 and 20&0incurred $0.9 million,

($0.1) million and ($1.9) million, respectively, amounts received from or (paid to) Teekay Corponaas a result of this
agreement
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0) On July 28, 2008, Skaugen Multigas Subsidissigeed contracts for the purchase of two technjadlvanced 12,000-cubic
meter newbuilding Multigas vessels from subsidmagéSkaugen and we agreed to acquire the Skaugéighs
Subsidiaries from Teekay Corporation upon deliv

On June 15, 2011 and October 17, 2011, the twodgaMultigas Carriers were delivered and commeegdce under a
15-year, fixed-rate charters to Skaugen. On dsliwee concurrently acquired Teekay Corporation’8%0wnership
interests in the Skaugen Multigas Subsidiarieafpurchase price of $114.5 million. These traneastivere concluded
between entities under common control and, thisasisets acquired were recorded at historical alle. The excess of
the combined purchase price over the combined kahle of the assets of $8.2 million was accountecd$ an equity
distribution to Teekay Corporation.

h) During 2010, we agreed to acquire an interastswap, with a notional amount of $30.0 millioglating to an LPG Carrier
newbuild from Teekay Corporation for no considenatand we accounted for this swap during 2010.&kteal acquisition
of this interest rate swap was concurrent withdélkéevery of the LPG Carrier on September 15, 201is transaction was
concluded between related parties and, thus, teeest rate swap was recorded at its carrying wahieh was equal to its
fair value. The excess of the liability assumedrdkie consideration paid amounting to $1.5 milless charged to equity
during 2010

i) During September and October 2011, we sold 1%uofownership interest in our Skaugen Multigassilibries and the
Skaugen LPG Carriers at that time to our GenenahBafor approximately $1.8 milliot

)i In December 2007, a consortium in which Teekay G@fion had a 33% ownership interest agreed taehtre four
Angola LNG Carriers for a period of 20 years to AlegLNG Supply Services LLC. The consortium entargd agreements
to construct the four LNG carriers at a total aafs$906.2 million (of which Teekay Corporation’s@3ortion was $299.0
million), excluding capitalized interest. The vdssare chartered at fixed rates, with inflationuestinents, commencing upon
delivery of the vessels. In March 2011, we agreeactjuire Teekay Corporation’s 33% ownership irgieirethese vessels
and related charter contracts upon delivery of easisel

Three of the four Angola LNG Carriers deliveredidgrAugust to October 2011 and commenced their&dryfixed-rate
charters to Angola LNG Supply Services. Concursentle acquired Teekay Corporation’s 33% ownerstigrest in these
three vessels and related charter contracts faabdquity purchase price of $57.3 million (neassumed debt of $193.8
million). This transaction was concluded betweetities under common control and, thus, the assefgiged were recorded
at historical book value. The excess of the purelmaiee over the book value of the assets of $#fillibn was accounted fc
as an equity distribution to Teekay Corporatio2011.

In January 2012, the remaining Angola LNG Carrielivéired and commenced its 20-year, fixed-ratetenhaConcurrently,
we acquired Teekay Corporation’s 33% ownershipr@stein this vessel and related charter contraca total equity
purchase price of $19.1 million (net of assumed dé$64.8 million). The excess of the purchaseegudver the book value
of the assets (including the fair market valuehef interest rate swap associated with debt sedayréloe vessel) underlying
the 33% ownership interest in the fourth vess@1&.9 million was accounted for as an equity distibn to Teekay
Corporation. Our investments in the Angola LNG @as are accounted for using the equity method.

K) In February 2012, we incurred a $7.0 million earelating to a one-time fee to Teekay Corporefiw its support in our
successful acquisition of our 52% interest in ING_carriers (for more information, please read It Financial
Statements: Note 19 — Equity Method Investments)s &cquisition fee is reflected as part of investis in and advances to
equity accounted joint ventures in our consoliddtalhnce sheet

Item 8. Financial Information

A. Consolidated Financial Statements and Other Finacial Information

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

Please see Item 18 — Financial Statements beloadiditional information required to be disclosedemthis Item.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time we have been, and expect to ooatto be, subject to legal proceedings and clairttse ordinary course of our business,
principally personal injury and property casualgims. These claims, even if lacking merit, cowddult in the expenditure of significant
financial and managerial resources. We are not@wafany legal proceedings or claims that we beligill have, individually or in the
aggregate, a material adverse effect on us.

Cash Distribution Policy
Rationale for Our Cash Distribution Polic

Our partnership agreement requires us to distrigli@f our available cash (as defined in our panghip agreement) within approximately 45
days after the end of each quarter. This cashilalision policy reflects a basic judgment that onitliolders are better served by our distribu
our cash available after expenses and reserves thdn our retaining it. Because we believe wégeherally finance any capital investments
from external financing sources, we believe thatiouvestors are best served by our distributinggitiur available cash.
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Limitations on Cash Distributions and Our Abilityat Change Our Cash Distribution Polic

There is no guarantee that unitholders will recejuarterly distributions from us. Our distributipolicy is subject to certain restrictions and
may be changed at any time, including:

. Our distribution policy is subject to restrictioos distributions under our credit agreements. Sjsadly, our credit agreements
contain material financial tests and covenantswaimust satisfy. Should we be unable to satisfgetrestrictions under our credit
agreements, we would be prohibited from making chstiibutions to unitholders notwithstanding otated cash distribution

policy.

. The board of directors of our General Partner hasuthority to establish reserves for the prudentuct of our business and for
future cash distributions to our unitholders, amel éstablishment of those reserves could resalr@duction in cash distributions to
unitholders from levels we anticipate pursuantuostated distribution polic

. Even if our cash distribution policy is not moddier revoked, the amount of distributions we paglarrour cash distribution policy
and the decision to make any distribution is debeech by our General Partner, taking into considenahe terms of our partnerst
agreement

. Under Section 51 of the Marshall Islands LimitedtRership Act, we may not make a distribution tithusiders if the distribution
would cause our liabilities to exceed the fair eatd our asset:

. We may lack sufficient cash to pay distribution®tw unitholders due to increases in our genemlaiministrative expenses,
principal and interest payments on our outstandityf, tax expenses, the issuance of additionad (witiich would require the
payment of distributions on those units), workirgpital requirements and anticipated cash ne

. While our partnership agreement requires us taiblige all of our available cash, our partnerstgpeament, including provisions
requiring us to make cash distributions, may berated. Our partnership agreement can be amendedhegitpproval of a majori
of the outstanding common units, voting as a qlesduding common units held by affiliates of oue&ral Partner

Minimum Quarterly Distribution

Common unitholders are entitled under our partripragreement to receive a minimum quarterly distidn of $0.4125 per unit, or $1.65 per
year, to the extent we have sufficient cash fromamerations after establishment of cash resemégpayment of fees and expenses, inclu
payments to our General Partner. Our General Raraeethe authority to determine the amount ofamailable cash for any quarter. This
determination must be made in good faith. Thermiguarantee that we will pay the minimum quartdistribution on the common units in
any quarter, and we will be prohibited from makany distributions to unitholders if it would cawme event of default, or an event of default
exists, under our credit agreements.

Our cash distributions were $0.60 per unit in 2Qk8n increased to $0.63 per unit effective forfirg quarter of 2011 which was maintained
throughout 2011 and further increased to $0.6731p#1in the second quarter of 2012 and througR6d®.

Incentive Distribution Rights

Incentive distribution rights represent the rightéceive an increasing percentage of quartertyiloigions of available cash from operating
surplus (as defined in our partnership agreeméieat) the minimum quarterly distribution and thegeir distribution levels have been achieved.
Our General Partner currently holds the incentig&ritdution rights, but may transfer these rigtgparately from its general partner interest,
subject to restrictions in our partnership agregmen

The following table illustrates the percentagedlions of the additional available cash from opiegasurplus among the unitholders and our
General Partner up to the various target distrilbuévels. The amounts set forth under “MarginatBetage Interest in Distributions” are the
percentage interests of the unitholders and oue@éRartner in any available cash from operatinglas we distribute up to and including the
corresponding amount in the column “Total Quart®istribution Target Amount,” until available cagfom operating surplus we distribute
reaches the next target distribution level, if aflye percentage interests shown for the unitholdedsour General Partner for the minimum
quarterly distribution are also applicable to gedytdistribution amounts that are less than theimim quarterly distribution. The percentage
interests shown for our General Partner includ@2%sgeneral partner interest and assume the GePariaer has not transferred the incentive
distribution rights.

Quarterly Distribution Target Amount

(per unit) Marginal Percentage Interest In Distributions
Unitholders General Partner
Minimum Quarterly Distribution $0.4125 98% 2%
First Target Distributior Up to $0.462¢ 98% 2%
Second Target Distributic Above $0.4625 up to $0.53 85% 15%
Third Target Distributior Above $0.5375 up to $0.¢ 7% 25%
Thereaftel Above $0.6t 5C% 50%

B. Significant Changes
Please read Item 18 — Financial Statements: NoteQlbsequent Events.
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Item 9. The Offer and Listing

Our common units are listed on the NYSE under yme®l “TGP”. The following table sets forth the high and lowcps for our common uni

on the NYSE for each of the periods indicated.

Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31

Years Ended 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
High $42.2¢ $41.5( $38.28 $26.91 $32.5(
Low 33.0¢ 28.61 19.7¢ 15.1: 9.1C
Mar. 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 3C June 30 Mar. 31,

Quarters Ended 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011
High $42.6( $38.6( $41.41 $42.2¢ $40.4¢ $36.8¢ $38.4( $41.2C $41.5(
Low 37.7: 34.5( 37.0C 34.6¢ 33.0(¢ 28.61 28.81 33.5¢ 34.0(
Mar. 31, Feb. 28 Jan. 31, Dec. 31 Nov. 30. Oct. 31, Sept. 3C

Months Ended 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012
High $41.81 $42.6( $42.0z $38.6( $37.92 $38.5( $40.1¢
Low 38.1: 37.7: 38.4¢ 36.5( 34.5( 35.51 37.0C

ltem 10. Additional Information

Memorandum and Articles of Association

The information required to be disclosed under 1168 is incorporated by reference to our RegisiraBtatement on Form 8-A/A filed with
the SEC on September 29, 2006.

Material Contracts

The following is a summary of each material cortirather than material contracts entered into endfdinary course of business, to which we
or any of our subsidiaries is a party, for the fwears immediately preceding the date of this AniRegort, each of which is included in the list
of exhibits in Iltem 19:

(a) Agreement, dated February 21, 2001, for a $180,000,000 Revolving Credit Facility between Na&iTeekay Gas S.L., J.P.
Morgan plc and various other banks. This facilitgswefinanced in 200

(b) Agreement dated December 7, 2005, for a U.37&D0,000 Revolving Credit Facility between Asgpirit L.L.C., African Spirit
L.L.C., and European Spirit L.L.C., Den Norske BafA and various other banks. This facility beauteiest at LIBOR plus a
margin of 0.50%. The amount available under thdifiaceduces by $4.4 million semi-annually, wittballet reduction of $57.7
million on maturity in April 2015. The credit fadif may be used for general partnership purposdg@fund cash distributions.
Our obligations under the facility are secured liysa-priority mortgage on three of our Suezmaxkiers and a pledge of certain
shares of the subsidiaries operating the Sueznmkeits.

(c) Amended and Restated Omnibus agreement witkale@orporation, Teekay Offshore, our General FRaramd related parties
Please read Item- Major Unitholders and Related Party Transactiomafsummary of certain contract terr

(d) We and certain of our operating subsidiariesshentered into services agreements with certdisigiaries of Teekay Corporation
pursuant to which the Teekay Corporation subsielsaprovide us and our operating subsidiaries véttai non-strategic services
such as, crew training, advisory, technical andinthtnative services that supplement existing céjtigls of the employees of our
operating subsidiaries. Teekay Corporation subsétialso provide business development servicestmatbgic consulting and
advisory services. All these services are chargeglasonable fee that includes reimbursement ofghgonable cost of any direct
and indirect expenses they incur in providing theswices. Please read Item 7 — Major UnitholdedsRelated Party Transactions
for a summary of certain contract terr

(e) Syndicated Loan Agreement between Naviera Tye€lkes 111, S.L. (formerly Naviera F. Tapias Gas BLA.) and Caixa de Aforros
de Vigo Ourense e Pontevedra, as Agent, dated@stober 2, 2000, as amended. This facility wasl tieenake restricted cash
deposits that fully fund payments under a cap@asé for one of our LNG carriers, tBatalunya Spirit Interest payments are ba
on EURIBOR plus a margin. The term loan maturea0ia3 with monthly payments that reduce over ti

() Credit Facility Agreement between Naviera Tegelgas 1V, S.L. (formerly Naviera F. Tapias Gas 8/A.) and Chase Manhattan
International Limited, as Agent, dated as of Decen#i, 2001, as amended. This facility was useadahke restricted cash deposits
that fully fund payments under a capital leaseofoe of our LNG carriers, tHdadrid Spirit. Interest payments are based on
EURIBOR plus a margin. The term loan was termin&te2D11.
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(9)
(h)

(i)

()

(k)

()

(m)

(n)

(0)

(9)

(a)

(r)

Teekay LNG Partners L.P. 2005 Long-Term IncenRlan. Please read Item ®#rectors, Senior Management and Employees
summary of certain plan terrr

Agreement dated August 23, 2006, for a U.SO#H3,000 Secured Revolving Loan Facility betweeaky LNG Partners L.P.,
ING Bank N.V. and other banks. This facility bearerest at LIBOR plus a margin of 0.55%. The am@wailable under the
facility reduces semi-annually by amounts rangiogrf $4.3 million to $8.4 million, with a bullet radtion of $188.7 million on
maturity in August 2018. The revolver is collatézad by first-priority mortgages granted on twooof LNG carriers. The credit
facility may be used for general partnership puescend to fund cash distributiol

Agreement dated June 30, 2008, for a U.S. 80000 Secured Revolving Loan Facility betweenti&rgpirit L.L.C., Polar Spirit
L.L.C and DnB Nor Bank A.S.A. and other banks. Thaisllity bears interest at LIBOR plus a margindad80%. The amount
available under the facility reduces by $6.1 milleemi-annually, with a balloon reduction of $5@#lion on maturity in June
2018. The revolver is collateralized by first-piipmortgages granted on two of our LNG carrierise Eredit facility may be used
for general partnership purposes and to fund cesshiaitions.

Deed of Amendment and Restatement dated Octtle2008, relating to a Loan Agreement for a $%2,400,000 Buyer Credit
and a U.S. $117,600,000 Commercial Loan betweenTMiNG I, Ltd., BNP Paribas S.A., and other bankd &inancial
institutions. The Buyers Credit bears interestI&QR plus a margin of 0.78% and the Commercial Lbears interest at LIBOR
plus a margin of 1.30%. In addition, a commitmes® Will be charged at the rate of 0.25% and 0.48%rwrawn and uncancelled
amounts of the Buyer Credit and Commercial Loaspeetively. The amount available under the faesitieduces quarterly by
amounts ranging from $1.2 million to $2.5 milliothe Commercial Loan is due by one installment otunitg in 2023.

Deed of Amendment and Restatement dated Octidhe2008, relating to a Loan Agreement for a $$2,400,000 Buyer Credit
and a U.S. $117,600,000 Commercial Loan betweenTMING I, Ltd., BNP Paribas S.A., and other banksl &inancial
institutions. The Buyers Credit bears interestl&QR plus a margin of 0.78% and the Commercial Lbaars interest at LIBOR
plus a margin of 1.30%. In addition, a commitmez Will be charged at the rate of 0.25% and 0.4B8%rwrawn and uncancelled
amounts of the Buyer Credit and Commercial Loaspeetively. The amount available under the faeBitieduces quarterly by
amounts ranging from $1.2 million to $2.5 millicfFhe Commercial Loan is due by one installment otunits in 2023.

Deed of Amendment and Restatement dated Octtle2008, relating to a Loan Agreement for a $%2,400,000 Buyer Credit
and a U.S. $117,600,000 Commercial Loan betweenTMiNG lIl, Ltd., BNP Paribas S.A., and other barksl financial
institutions. The Buyers Credit bears interestI&QR plus a margin of 0.78% and the Commercial Lbears interest at LIBOR
plus a margin of 1.30%. In addition, a commitmes® Wwill be charged at the rate of 0.25% and 0.48%rwrawn and uncancelled
amounts of the Buyer Credit and Commercial Loaspeetively. The amount available under the faesitieduces quarterly by
amounts ranging from $1.2 million to $2.5 milliothe Commercial Loan is due by one installment otunity in 2023.

Deed of Amendment and Restatement dated Ocldhex008, relating to a Loan Agreement for a $%2,400,000 Buyer Credit
and a U.S. $117,600,000 Commercial Loan betweenTMING 1V, Ltd., BNP Paribas S.A., and other banks &inancial
institutions. The Buyers Credit bears interestl&QR plus a margin of 0.78% and the Commercial Lbaars interest at LIBOR
plus a margin of 1.30%. In addition, a commitmes® Wwill be charged at the rate of 0.25% and 0.48%rwrawn and uncancelled
amounts of the Buyer Credit and Commercial Loaspeetively. The amount available under the faeBitieduces quarterly by
amounts ranging from $1.2 million to $2.5 millicfFhe Commercial Loan is due by one installment otunits in 2024.

Agreement dated October 27, 2009, for a U.82%100,000 million credit facility that is secured the Skaugen LPG Carriers and
the Skaugen Multigas Carriers. Interest paymentieuthe facility are based on three months LIBOlS@.75% and require
quarterly payments. This loan facility is collatezed by first priority mortgages on the five velsst® which the loans relate to,
together with certain other related security anguiaranteed by us. The loans have varying matsititieough 201&

Agreement dated March 17, 2010, for a U.S. $255Z8million senior loan and U.S. $80,000,000 milljunior loan secured loi
agreement between Bermuda Spirit L.L.C., HamiltpiriSL.L.C, Summit Spirit L.L.C., Zenith Spirit L.C., and Credit Agricole
CIB Bank. At December 31, 2010, we had $120.6 onilbf the U.S. Dollar-denominated term loan outdiagy. The facility was
used to finance up to 80% of the shipyard confpeice for theBermuda Spiriend theHamilton Spirit. Interest payments on one
tranche under the loan facility are based on sirtm&@IBOR plus 0.30%, while interest payments am skcond tranche are based
on six-month LIBOR plus 0.70%. One tranche rediceemiannual payments while the other tranche correspghdis drawn uj
every six months with a final $20 million bulletyzaent per vessel due 12 years and six months femrh eessel delivery date. This
loan facility is collateralized by first-priority antgages on the two vessels to which the loaneg|abgether with certain other
related security and is guaranteed by Teekay Catjoor.

Agreement dated September 30, 2011, for a EER49,933,766 Credit Facility between Naviera TeeRag IV S.L.U., ING Bank
N.V. and other banks and financial institutionsisTacility bears interest at EURIBOR plus a margir2.25%. The amout
available under the facility reduces monthly by amts ranging from $0.4 million to $0.7 million, Wit bullet reduction of $104.4
million on maturity in 2018. The loan facility isigranteed by u:

Agreement dated February 17, 2012, for a USEBRB000 loan facility between Malt LNG Holdings 3pDNB Bank ASA, ABN
AMRO Bank N.V., Citigroup Global Markets Limited,@velopment Bank of Japan Inc., and various lendéms.loan bears intere
at LIBOR plus a margin of 2.4% for the twelve manttiter execution and interest at LIBOR plus a riman§) 3.0% for the
remainder of the facility period. In addition, anwmitment fee will be charged at the rate of 30%hefmargin on undrawn and
uncancelled amounts. The full amount of the loaduis on maturity in 201:

Agreement dated February 17, 2012, for a US$5100DRdoan facility between Malt LNG Holdings ApSjayho Corporate Ban



Ltd., Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd., and various lersl The loan bears interest at LIBOR plus a masfih35% and provides a
commitment fee that will be charged at the rat8.&#6 on the undrawn and uncancelled amounts. Tharflount of the loan is due
on maturity in 2013
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(s) Agreement dated February 28, 2012; Teekay LN&r&ting LLC and Marubeni Corporation entered eBmcagreement to acquire,
through the Teekay LNG-Marubeni Joint Venture, 108&kership of six LNG carriers from Maersk. Plessad Item 18 —
Financial Statements: Note — Subsequent Event

(t) Agreement dated April 30, 2012, for NOK 700,08, Senior Unsecured Bonds due May 2017, amaozekdy LNG Partners L.P.
and Norsk Tillitsmann ASA

Exchange Controls and Other Limitations Affecting Lhitholders

We are not aware of any governmental laws, deaeesgulations, including foreign exchange contrsighe Republic of The Marshall
Islands that restrict the export or import of cabior that affect the remittance of dividendserast or other payments to noasident holders
our securities.

We are not aware of any limitations on the righhof-resident or foreign owners to hold or vote segurities imposed by the laws of the
Republic of The Marshall Islands or our partnersiupeement.

Taxation

Marshall Islands Tax Consequence. Because we and our subsidiaries do not, and wmstexpect that we and our subsidiaries will, eatd
business or operations in the Republic of The Maldblands, neither we nor our subsidiaries willdubject to income, capital gains, profits ol
other taxation under current Marshall Islands las/a result, distributions by our subsidiaries $ontill not be subject to Marshal Islands
taxation. In addition, because all documentatidatee to our initial public offering and follow-asfferings were executed outside of the
Republic of the Marshall Islands, under current $hatl Islands law, no taxes or withholdings aredsgd by the Republic of The Marshall
Islands on distributions, including upon a retufrcapital, made to unitholders, so long as suckB@es do not reside in, maintain offices in, nol
engage in business in the Republic of The Marsblahds. Furthermore, no stamp, capital gains loerataxes are imposed by the Republic of
The Marshall Islands on the purchase, ownershgisposition by such persons of our common units.

United States Tax Consequencethe following discussion of the material U.S. fexléncome tax considerations that may be relevant t
common unitholders who are individual citizensesidents of the United States is based upon pomssif the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of
1986 (or theCode), legislative history, applicable U.S. TreasungRlations (ofTreasury Regulationk judicial authority and administrative
interpretations, as of the date of this Annual Ref@dl of which are subject to change, possiblthwetroactive effect. Changes in these
authorities may cause the tax consequences tosudastantially from the consequences described bélovess the context otherwise requires,
references in this section “we,” “our” or “us” areferences to Teekay LNG Partners, L.P.

This discussion is limited to unitholders who htidir units as capital assets for tax purposes disicussion does not address tax
considerations that may be important to a partrautétholder in light of their individual circumstaes, or to certain categories of unitholders
that may be subject to special tax rules, such as:

. dealers in securities or currenci

. traders in securities that have elected the -to-market method of accounting for their securit

. persons whose functional currency is not the U.@lap,

. persons holding our units as part of a hedge, dieadonversion or oth¢ synthetic securil” or integrated transactio
. certain U.S. expatriate

. financial institutions

. insurance companie

. persons subject to the alternative minimum

. persons that actually or under applicable congtre@wnership rules own 10.0 percent or more ofumnits; anc

. entities that are texempt for U.S. federal income tax purpo

If a partnership (including any entity or arrangetneeated as a partnership for U.S. federal inctargourposes) holds our common units, the
tax treatment of a partner generally will dependrufhe status of the partner and the activitiethefpartnership. If you are a partner in a
partnership holding our common units, you shouldscidt your own tax advisor about the U.S. federabme tax consequences of owning and
disposing the common units.

This discussion does not address any U.S. estatotesiderations or tax considerations arising utige laws of any state, local or non-U.S.
jurisdiction. Each unitholder is urged to constdtaown tax advisor regarding the U.S. federalgestatcal and other tax consequences o
ownership or disposition of our common units.

Classification as a Partnership.

For purposes of U.S. federal income taxation, énpaship is not a taxable entity, and althoughatrhe subject to withholding taxes on behalf
of its partners under certain circumstances, apeship itself incurs no U.S. federal income tability. Instead, each partner of a partnersh
required to take into account his share of itemsadme, gain, loss, deduction and credit of thengaship in computing his U.S. fede



income tax liability, regardless of whether cas$tritiutions are made to him by the partnershiptriDistions by a partnership to a partner
generally are not taxable unless the amount of desttibuted exceeds the partner’s adjusted tais liais partnership interest.
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Section 7704 of the Code provides that publicigédipartnerships generally will be treated as aatpms for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. However, an exception, referred to a8Qbalifying Income Exception,” exists with respéotpublicly traded partnerships whose
“qualifying income” represents 90.0 percent or mafréheir gross income for every taxable year. @yialy income includes income and gains
derived from the transportation and storage of emit| natural gas and products thereof, includiggefied natural gas. Other types of
qualifying income include interest (other than frarfinancial business), dividends, gains from #ile sf real property and gains from the sale
or other disposition of capital assets held forgheduction of qualifying income, including stodke have received a ruling from the Internal
Revenue Service (0RS) that we requested in connection with our inipiablic offering that the income we derive from sparting LNG and
crude oil pursuant to time charters existing attitme of our initial public offering is qualifyinqcome within the meaning of Section 7704. A
ruling from the IRS, while generally binding on thRS, may under certain circumstances be revokedaafified by the IRS retroactively.

We estimate that less than 5.0 percent of our ntineome is not qualifying income and thereforehedieve that we will be treated as a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposesvéter, this estimate could change from time tetfor various reasons. Because we have
not received an IRS ruling or an opinion of courikat any (1) income we derive from transporting=Lé&nd petrochemical gases pursuant to
charters that we have entered into or will ent&y in the future, (2) income we derive from tranging crude oil, natural gas and products
thereof, including LNG, pursuant to bareboat charte (3) income or gain we recognize from foreigimrency transactions, is qualifying
income, we are currently treating income from theserces as non-qualifying income. Under some gistances, such as a significant change
in foreign currency rates, the percentage of incomgain from foreign currency transactions intielato our total gross income could be
substantial. We do not expect income or gains fiteese sources and other income or gains that aiguatifying income to constitute 10.0
percent or more of our gross income for U.S. fddatmme tax purposes. However, it is possible thatoperation of certain of our vessels
pursuant to bareboat charters could, in the futaase our non-qualifying income to constitute Ji&€cent or more of our future gross income
if such vessels were held in a pass-through strecin order to preserve our status as a partrefshiU.S. federal income tax purposes, we
have received a ruling from the IRS that effecihallows us to conduct our bareboat charter opmratias well as our LPG operations, in a
subsidiary corporation.

Status as a Partner

The treatment of unitholders described in thisisacipplies only to unitholders treated as partirerss for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
Unitholders who have been properly admitted astdéichpartners of Teekay LNG Partners L.P. will leated as partners in us for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. In addition, assignees of comumits who have executed and delivered trangfiglications, and are awaiting admission
as limited partners and unitholders whose commats ane held in street name or by a nominee andhelve the right to direct the nominee in
the exercise of all substantive rights attendai¢oownership of their common units will be treb#es partners in us for U.S. federal income
purposes.

The status of assignees of common units who areehtio execute and deliver transfer applicatiand thereby become entitled to direct the
exercise of attendant rights, but who fail to exxe@nd deliver transfer applications, is uncleaaddition, a purchaser or other transferee of
common units who does not execute and delivemesfea application may not receive some U.S. fedataime tax information or reports
furnished to record holders of common units, unthescommon units are held in a nominee or stragtenaccount and the nominee or broker
has executed and delivered a transfer applicatiothbse common units.

Under certain circumstances, a beneficial ownerooimon units whose units have been loaned to anothg lose his status as a partner with
respect to those units for U.S. federal incomeptarposes.

In general, a person who is not a partner in anpaship for U.S. federal income tax purposes iseguired or permitted to report any share of
the partnership’s income, gain, deductions or le$ésesuch purposes, and any cash distributiorewred by such a person from the partnershi
therefore may be fully taxable as ordinary incobieitholders not described here are urged to cotiseit own tax advisors with respect to
their status as partners in us for U.S. federairime tax purposes.

Consequences of Unit Ownership

Flow-through of Taxable Incom&ach unitholder is required to include in computigtaxable income his allocable share of our stefn
income, gains, loss, deductions and credit fortaxable year ending with or within his taxable yagithout regard to whether we make
corresponding cash distributions to him. Our tagafgdar ends on December 31. Consequently, we rfamatd income to a unitholder as of
December 31 of a given year, and the unitholddrbeilrequired to report this income on his taxmefior his tax year that ends on or includes
such date, even if he has not received a caslibdistm from us as of that date.

In addition, certain U.S. unitholders who are indials, estates or trusts are required to pay ditiaal 3.8 percent tax on, among other
things, the income allocated to them for taxabl@rgédeginning after December 31, 2012, subjecttmin exceptions. Unitholders should
consult their tax advisors regarding the effecany, of this tax on their ownership of our comnuwrits.



Treatment of Distribution®istributions by us to a unitholder generally witit be taxable to the unitholder for U.S. fedemabime tax

purposes to the extent of his tax basis in his commmnits immediately before the distribution. Oasle distributions in excess of a unitholder’s
tax basis generally will be considered to be geamfthe sale or exchange of the common units, texakaccordance with the rules described
under “—Disposition of Common Units” below. Any rextion in a unitholder’s share of our liabilities fwhich no partner, including the
general partner, bears the economic risk of lasgwk as “nonrecourse liabilities,” will be treatasl a distribution of cash to that unitholder. A
decrease in a unitholder’s percentage interess ineg¢ause of our issuance of additional commors wniit decrease his share of our
nonrecourse liabilities, and thus will result ic@responding deemed distribution of cash. To #terg our distributions cause a unitholder’s
“at risk” amount to be less than zero at the endyftaxable year, he must recapture any lossestitlin previous years.

A non-pro rata distribution of money or propertyymasult in ordinary income to a unitholder, redasd of his tax basis in his common units,
if the distribution reduces the unitholder’s shaf®ur “unrealized receivables,” including depréicia recapture, and/or substantially
appreciated “inventory items,” both as definedhia €ode (or, collectivel\ection 751 Asse}sTo that extent, he will be treated as having
been distributed his proportionate share of thei@e@51 Assets and having exchanged those asgbtasvin return for the non-pro rata
portion of the actual distribution made to him. S kitter deemed exchange will generally resulb@unitholder’s realization of ordinary

income, which will equal the excess of (1) the poo-rata portion of that distribution over (2) tineitholder’s tax basis for the share of
Section 751 Assets deemed relinquished in the exgeha
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Basis of Common UnitA unitholder’s initial U.S. federal income tax b&$or his common units will be the amount he paidtfie common
units plus his share of our nonrecourse liabilitiEsat basis will be increased by his share ofimcwme and by any increases in his share of ot
nonrecourse liabilities and decreased, but notbekro, by distributions from us, by the unitholdeshare of our losses, by any decreases in
his share of our nonrecourse liabilities and byshiare of our expenditures that are not dedudtibd®@mputing taxable income and are not
required to be capitalized. A unitholder will have share of our debt that is recourse to the gépartner, but will have a share, generally
based on his share of profits, of our nonrecoued®lities.

Limitations on Deductibility of LosseThe deduction by a unitholder of his share of agsés will be limited to the tax basis in his uaitsl, in
the case of an individual unitholder or a corporati#holder more than 50.0 percent of the valuthefstock of which is owned directly or
indirectly by five or fewer individuals or some taxempt organizations, to the amount for whichuhiholder is considered to be “at risk”
with respect to our activities, if that is lessrtas tax basis. In general, a unitholder will beisk to the extent of the tax basis of his units,
excluding any portion of that basis attributabléni® share of our nonrecourse liabilities, redusgdny amount of money he borrows to acg
or hold his units, if the lender of those borroviedds owns an interest in us, is related to théhoitder or can look only to the units for
repayment. A unitholder must recapture losses dedun previous years to the extent that distrimaicause his at risk amount to be less thai
zero at the end of any taxable year. Losses disatldo a unitholder or recaptured as a result@deHimitations will carry forward and will be
allowable to the extent that his tax basis orskt @mount, whichever is the limiting factor, is seguently increased. Upon the taxable
disposition of a unit, any gain recognized by aholder can be offset by losses that were prewosisspended by the at risk limitation but n
not be offset by losses suspended by the basittion. Any excess suspended loss above that gaio ionger utilizable.

The passive loss limitations generally provide thdtviduals, estates, trusts and some closely-betdorations and personal service
corporations can deduct losses from a passiveitgotinly to the extent of the taxpayer's incomenfrthe same passive activity. Passive
activities generally are corporate or partnerslaip/aies in which the taxpayer does not materiglfyrticipate. The passive loss limitations are
applied separately with respect to each publieygéd partnership. Consequently, any passive legsggenerate only will be available to offset
our passive income generated in the future andnwilbe available to offset income from other passictivities or investments, including our
investments or investments in other publicly tragadnerships, or salary or active business incdtassive losses that are not deductible
because they exceed a unitholder’s share of inceengenerate may be deducted in full when he digpofhis entire investment in us in a
fully taxable transaction with an unrelated pafiye passive activity loss rules are applied afteeoapplicable limitations on deductions,
including the at risk rules and the basis limitatio

Dual consolidated loss restrictions also may applymit the deductibility by a corporate unithotd®f losses we incur. Corporate unitholders
are urged to consult their own tax advisors regaydhe applicability and effect to them of dual solidated loss restrictions.

Limitations on Interest DeductiorThe deductibility of a non-corporate taxpayer’'svéstment interest expense” generally is limitetht®
amount of that taxpayer’s “net investment incontef this purpose, investment interest expense desluamong other things, a unitholder’s
share of our interest expense attributed to paotfotome. The IRS has indicated that net passigermne earned by a publicly traded
partnership will be treated as investment incomiéstanitholders. In addition, the unitholder’s shaf our portfolio income will be treated as
investment income.

Entity-Level Collectionslf we are required or elect under applicable laywdgy any U.S. federal, state or local or foreiggbme or withholding
taxes on behalf of any present or former unitholitethe general partner, we are authorized to paget taxes from our funds. That payment, if
made, will be treated as a distribution of castheopartner on whose behalf the payment was mathe payment is made on behalf of a
person whose identity cannot be determined, weawatteorized to treat the payment as a distributioalltcurrent unitholders. We are authori

to amend the partnership agreement in the manmessary to maintain uniformity of intrinsic tax caeteristics of units and to adjust later
distributions, so that after giving effect to thelstributions, the priority and characterizatidrdestributions otherwise applicable under the
partnership agreement are maintained as nearfy@adticable. Payments by us as described abaNe give rise to an overpayment of tax on
behalf of an individual partner, in which event fletner would be required to file a claim in ortiepbtain a credit or refund of tax paid.

Allocation of Income, Gain, Loss, Deduction andditeln general, if we have a net profit, our itemsrmafdme, gain, loss, deduction and credit
will be allocated among the general partner andittitholders in accordance with their percentager@sts in us. At any time that incentive
distributions are made to the general partner,sgirmome will be allocated to the general partnghé extent of these distributions. If we have
a net loss for the entire year, that loss genereillybe allocated first to the general partner éimel unitholders in accordance with their
percentage interests in us to the extent of thasitive capital accounts and, second, to the géparter.



Specified items of our income, gain, loss and dédoavill be allocated to account for any differerizetween the tax basis and fair market
value of any property held by the partnership imiaedly prior to an offering of common units, refirto in this discussion as “Adjusted
Property.” The effect of these allocations to ahwider purchasing common units in an offering egably will be the same as if the tax basis
of our assets were equal to their fair market value time of the offering. In addition, itemsretapture income will be allocated to the ex
possible to the partner who was allocated the dextugiving rise to the treatment of that gain @sapture income in order to minimize the
recognition of ordinary income by some unitholdé&igally, although we do not expect that our ogerest will result in the creation of negati
capital accounts, if negative capital accounts rtheéess result, items of our income and gain bellallocated in an amount and manner to
eliminate the negative balance as quickly as ptessib

An allocation of items of our income, gain, lossddction or credit, other than an allocation reggiipy the Code to eliminate the difference
between a partner’s “book” capital account, whigleriedited with the fair market value of Adjustedgerty, and “tax” capital account, which
is credited with the tax basis of Adjusted Propemryerred to in this discussion as the “Book-Taggdarity,” generally will be given effect for
U.S. federal income tax purposes in determiningréangr’'s share of an item of income, gain, losslud&on or credit only if the allocation has
substantial economic effect. In any other casgrimpr’s share of an item will be determined onliasis of his interest in us, which will be
determined by taking into account all the facts aincimstances, including:

. this relative contributions to u
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. the interests of all the partners in profits argsés
. the interest of all the partners in cash flow;
. the rights of all the partners to distributionscapital upon liquidatior

A unitholder’s taxable income or loss with respeca common unit each year will depend upon a nurabfactors, including (1) the nature
and fair market value of our assets at the timéhtiider acquired the common unit, (2) whether weaésadditional units or we engage in cel
other transactions and (3) the manner in whichiteans of income, gain, loss, deduction and creditadlocated among our partners. For this
purpose, we determine the value of our assetshencktative amounts of our items of income, gaiss) deduction and credit allocable to our
unitholders and our general partner as holderefrtbentive distribution rights by reference to adue of our interests, including the incentive
distribution rights. The IRS may challenge any aéilbn determinations that we make, particularlyoathe incentive distribution rights, for
which there is no public market. Moreover, the i&BId challenge certain other aspects of the mainnghich we determine the relative
allocations made to our unitholders and to the g@mmartner as holder of our incentive distributraghts. A successful IRS challenge to our
valuation or allocation methods could increaseattm@unt of net taxable income and gain realized brgitholder with respect to a common
unit.

Section 754 ElectionWe have made an election under Section 754 of tdue @ adjust a common unit purchaser’'s U.S. féderame tax
basis in our assets (mrside basig to reflect the purchaser’s purchase price (Beation 743(b) adjustmentThe Section 743(b) adjustment
belongs to the purchaser and not to other unitmslded does not apply to unitholders who acquiea tommon units directly from us. For
purposes of this discussion, a unitholder’s in&idsis in our assets will be considered to havecwoponents: (1) his share of our tax basis in
our assets (arommon basiyand (2) his Section 743(b) adjustment to thaishas

In general, a purchaser's common basis is depegt@tamortized according to the existing methdlizet by us. A positive Section 743(b)
adjustment to that basis generally is depreciatedrmrtized in the same manner as property ofdheegype that has been newly placed in
service by us. A negative Section 743(b) adjustrteettiat basis generally is recovered over the neimuseful life of the partnership’s
recovery property.

The calculations involved in the Section 743(buatthent are complex and will be made on the bdsissumptions as to the value of our
assets and in accordance with the Code and aplditagasury Regulations. We cannot assure youttieadeterminations we make will not be
successfully challenged by the IRS and that theickemhs resulting from them will not be reducedd@allowed altogether. Should the IRS
require a different basis adjustment to be made should, in our judgment, the expense of compéamaeed the benefit of the election, we
may seek consent from the IRS to revoke our Se@ia@helection. If such consent is given, a subsetgmerchaser of units may be allocated
more income than he would have been allocatedi®dlection not been revoked.

Treatment of Short Sale#\ unitholder whose units are loaned to a “sholtesewho sells such units may be considered toehdigposed of
those units. If so, he would no longer be a pantvitr respect to those units until the terminatidrthe loan and may recognize gain or loss
from the disposition. As a result, any of our in@main, loss, deduction or credit with resped¢htunits may not be reportable by the
unitholder who loaned them and any cash distrilmsti@ceived by such unitholder with respect toghasts may be fully taxable as ordinary
income.

Unitholders desiring to assure their status aspestand avoid the risk of gain recognition frotoan to a short seller are urged to ensure that
any applicable brokerage account agreements ptdahdi brokers from borrowing their units.

Tax Treatment of Operations

Accounting Method and Taxable YeWe use the calendar year as our taxable year anattdrual method of accounting for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. Each unitholder will be regphiio include in income his share of our incomén,dass, deduction and credit for our
taxable year ending within or with his taxable ygaraddition, a unitholder who disposes of alh@f units must include his share of our
income, gain, loss, deduction and credit throughddite of disposition in income for his taxablentbat includes the date of disposition, with
the result that a unitholder who has a taxable gading on a date other than December 31 and veposis of all of his units following the
close of our taxable year but before the close@®ofaxable year must include his share of more thenyear of our income, gain, loss,
deduction and credit in income for the year ofdigposition.

Asset Tax Basis, Depreciation and AmortizatThe tax basis of our assets will be used for puepa@$ computing depreciation and cost
recovery deductions and, ultimately, gain or losshe disposition of these assets. The U.S. fedwerame tax burden associated with any
difference between the fair market value of ouetsand their tax basis immediately prior to arferifig of common units will be borne by the
general partner and the existing limited partn



To the extent allowable, we may elect to use thaBation and cost recovery methods that will kesuthe largest deductions being taken in
the earliest years after assets are placed incge®roperty we subsequently acquire or constragtime depreciated using any method
permitted by the Code.

If we dispose of depreciable property by sale,dlm®ure or otherwise, all or a portion of any gaietermined by reference to the amount of
depreciation previously deducted and the natuteeproperty, may be subject to the recapture auelstaxed as ordinary income rather than
capital gain. Similarly, a unitholder who has talk®st recovery or depreciation deductions with eespo property we own likely will be
required to recapture some or all of those dedostas ordinary income upon a sale of his interegsi

The U.S. federal income tax consequences of themskiip and disposition of units will depend in partour estimates of the relative fair
market values, and the tax bases, of our asstte time the holder acquired the common unit, waaésadditional units or we engage in certair
other transactions. Although we may from time togiconsult with professional appraisers regardadgation matters, we will make many of
the relative fair market value estimates ourselVagse estimates and determinations of basis ajectuo challenge and will not be binding
the IRS or the courts. If the estimates of fair kewalue or basis are later found to be incoritbet,character and amount of items of income,
gain, loss, deductions or credits previously regmbtiy unitholders might change, and unitholdershintig required to adjust their tax liability
for prior years and incur interest and penaltigh wespect to those adjustments.
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Disposition of Common Uni

Recognition of Gain or LosIn general, gain or loss will be recognized onla s&aunits equal to the difference between the ameoealized

and the unitholder’s tax basis in the units soldimitholder’'s amount realized will be measuredtsy sum of the cash, the fair market value of
other property received by him and his share ofrmmrecourse liabilities. Because the amount redlincludes a unitholder’s share of our
nonrecourse liabilities, the gain recognized ongdie of units could result in a tax liability iraess of any cash or property received from the
sale.

Prior distributions from us in excess of cumulatin taxable income for a common unit that decrtasenitholder’s tax basis in that common
unit will, in effect, become taxable income if tbemmon unit is sold at a price greater than théhotder’s tax basis in that common unit, even
if the price received is less than his originaltcBxcept as noted below, gain or loss recognized bnitholder on the sale or exchange of a
generally will be taxable as capital gain or Ig@3apital gain recognized by an individual on the s#lunits held more than one year generally
will be taxed at preferential tax rates.

A portion of a unitholder’'s amount realized mayaflecable to “unrealized receivables” or to “invertitems” we own. The term “unrealized
receivables” includes potential recapture itemsluiding depreciation and amortization recaptureniholder will recognize ordinary income
or loss to the extent of the difference betweerptirtion of the unitholder's amount realized alloleato unrealized receivables or inventory
items and the unitholder’s share of our basis shseceivables or inventory items. Ordinary incaattebutable to unrealized receivables,
inventory items and depreciation or amortizatiorepure may exceed net taxable gain realized uposale of a unit and may be recognized
even if a net taxable loss is realized on the gheunit. Thus, a unitholder may recognize botfirary income and a capital loss upon a sa
units. Net capital losses generally may only beluseoffset capital gains. An exception permitsvidlals to offset up to $3,000 of net capital
losses against ordinary income in any given year.

The IRS has ruled that a partner who acquiresédsterin a partnership in separate transactions consbine those interests and maintain a
single adjusted tax basis for all those interddpgn a sale or other disposition of less thanfahose interests, a portion of that tax basis mus
be allocated to the interests sold using an “ebldtapportionment” method. Treasury Regulationseni@&ction 1223 of the Code allow a
selling unitholder who can identify common unitnsferred with an ascertainable holding perioddotdo use the actual holding period of the
common units transferred. Thus, according to thiagua common unitholder will be unable to selleigh or low basis common units to sell as
would be the case with corporate stock, but, aéagrib the regulations, may designate specific comuomits sold for purposes of determining
the holding period of units transferred. A unithei@lecting to use the actual holding period of smm units transferred must consistently use
that identification method for all subsequent salesxchanges of common units. A unitholder considethe purchase of additional units or a
sale of common units purchased in separate traosads urged to consult his tax advisor as topisible consequences of this ruling and
application of the regulations.

In addition, certain U.S. unitholders who are indials, estates or trusts are required to pay ditianal 3.8 percent tax on, among other
things, capital gain from the sale or other dispmsiof their units for taxable years beginningeafbecember 31, 2012, subject to certain
exceptions. Unitholders should consult their taxisals regarding the effect, if any, of this taxtbeir ownership of our common units.

Allocations Between Transferors and Transferln general, our taxable income or loss will be dataed annually, will be prorated on a
monthly basis and will be subsequently apportica@dng the unitholders in proportion to the numbarmits owned by each of them as of the
opening of the applicable exchange on the firsinass day of the month. However, gain or loss zedlion a sale or other disposition of our
assets other than in the ordinary course of busiwilkbe allocated among the unitholders on th&t fiusiness day of the month in which that
gain or loss is recognized. As a result of thedoneg, a unitholder transferring units may be aled income, gain, loss, deduction and credit
realized after the date of transfer. A unithold&ovwwns units at any time during a calendar quarterwho disposes of them prior to the
record date set for a cash distribution for thatrtpr will be allocated items of our income, géiss and deductions attributable to months
within that quarter in which the units were held Wll not be entitled to receive that cash digitibn.

Transfer Notification Requirement.unitholder who sells any of his units, other thlarough a broker, generally is required to noti§yin
writing of that sale within 30 days after the s@lg if earlier, January 15 of the year followirgetsale). A unitholder who acquires units
generally is required to notify us in writing ofathacquisition within 30 days after the purchasdess a broker or nominee will satisfy such
requirement. We are required to notify the IRSmyf auch transfers of units and to furnish specifigdrmation to the transferor and transfel
Failure to notify us of a transfer of units maydda the imposition of substantial penalti



Constructive Termination’We will be considered to have been terminated f&. federal income tax purposes if there is a@axchange of
50.0 percent or more of the total interests inaapital and profits within a 12-month period. A stmctive termination results in the closing of
our taxable year for all unitholders. In the cafa anitholder reporting on a taxable year othanth calendar year, the closing of our taxable
year may result in more than 12 months of our texaizome or loss being includable in his taxaboime for the year of termination. v
would be required to make new tax elections afteraination, including a new election under Setfi®4 of the Code, and a termination
would result in a deferral of our deductions fopiiation. A termination could also result in piiea if we were unable to determine that the
termination had occurred. Moreover, a terminatiagghteither accelerate the application of, or scbijes to, tax legislation applicable to a
newly formed partnership.

Foreign Tax Credit Consideratiot

Subject to detailed limitations set forth in thed€pa unitholder may elect to claim a credit agaimsliability for U.S. federal income tax for
his share of foreign income taxes (and certainidoréaxes imposed in lieu of a tax based upon irggoaid by us. Income allocated to
unitholders likely will constitute foreign souragcome falling in the passive foreign tax crediegatry for purposes of the U.S. foreign tax
credit limitation. The rules relating to the detaration of the foreign tax credit are complex amitholders are urged to consult their own tax
advisors to determine whether or to what extent theuld be entitled to such credit. A unitholderavioes not elect to claim foreign tax
credits may instead claim a deduction for his sloffereign taxes paid by us.
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Tax-Exempt Organizations and Non-U.S. Investors

Investments in units by employee benefit plansgiothx-exempt organizations and ndrs. persons, including nonresident aliens of théed
States, non-U.S. corporations and non-U.S. trusiseatates (collectivelyyon-U.S. unitholder} raise issues unique to those investors and, as
described below, may result in substantially advéas consequences to them.

Employee benefit plans and most other organizatsesnpt from U.S. federal income tax, includingiwdlal retirement accounts and other
retirement plans, are subject to U.S. federal iretex on unrelated business taxable income. Vigtaéll of our income allocated to a
unitholder that is such a tax-exempt organizatidhbe unrelated business taxable income to iteciifio U.S. federal income tax.

A non-U.S. unitholder may be subject to a 4.0 petrtkeS. federal income tax on his share of the WoBrce portion of our gross income
attributable to transportation that begins or gl not both) in the United States, unless ei(aan exemption applies and he files a

U.S. federal income tax return to claim that exeampor (b) that income is effectively connectedhittte conduct of a trade or business in the
United States (0d.S. effectively connected incojné&or this purpose, transportation income includesme from the use, hiring or leasing
vessel to transport cargo, or the performance wices directly related to the use of any vessélansport cargo. The U.S. source portion of
our transportation income is deemed to be 50.0gpe@f the income attributable to voyages thattegiend in the United States. Generally
amount of the income from voyages that begin amboertside the United States is treated as U.Scepand consequently none of our
transportation income attributable to such voyagesibject to U.S. federal income tax. Althoughehére amount of transportation income
from voyages that begin and end in the United Stateuld be fully taxable in the United States, weently do not expect to have any
transportation income from voyages that begin anttie the United States; however, there is no asserthat such voyages will not occur.

A non-U.S. unitholder may be entitled to an exempfrom the 4.0 percent U.S. federal income taa mfund of tax withheld on

U.S. effectively connected income that constittitassportation income if any of the following aggdli (1) such non-U.S. unitholder qualifies
for an exemption from this tax under an incomettaaty between the United States and the counterevbuch non-U.S. unitholder is resident
(2) in the case of an individual non-U.S. unithe]de qualifies for the exemption from tax undect®m 872(b)(1) of the Code as a resident of
a country that grants an equivalent exemption ftaxto residents of the United States; or (3) em¢hse of a corporate non-U.S. unitholder, it
qualifies for the exemption from tax under Sec®&3 of the Code (or th®ection 883 Exemptigr(for the rules relating to qualification for the
Section 883 Exemption, please read below under tssible Classification as a Corporation — The $ad883 Exemption”).

We may be required to withhold U.S. federal incame computed at the highest statutory rate, frashdistributions to non-U.S. unitholders
with respect to their shares of our income th&t.B. effectively connected income. Our transpastatncome generally should not be treate
U.S. effectively connected income unless we hafixea place of business in the United States amndtsmtially all of such transportation
income is attributable to either regularly schedutansportation or, in the case of income deriveoh bareboat charters, is attributable to the
fixed place of business in the United States. Wiidedo not expect to have any regularly schedubatsportation or a fixed place of business
in the United States, there can be no guarantedhiisawill not change. Under a ruling of the IRSportion of any gain recognized on the sale
or other disposition of a unit by a n@hS. unitholder may be treated as U.S. effecticelynected income to the extent we have a fixedepdé
business in the United States and a sale of oetsag®uld have given rise to U.S. effectively cartad income. A non-U.S. unitholder would
be required to file a U.S. federal income tax netiarreport his U.S. effectively connected incotnel(iding his share of any such income
earned by us) and to pay U.S. federal income taglaim a credit or refund for tax withheld on suobome. Further, unless an exemption
applies, a non-U.S. corporation investing in unitsy be subject to a branch profits tax, at a 3@r@ent rate or lower rate prescribed by a
treaty, with respect to its U.S. effectively conteetincome.

Non-U.S. unitholders must apply for and obtain a WaSpayer identification number in order to file Uf8deral income tax returns and must
provide that identification number to us for purpe®f any U.S. federal income tax information nesuve may be required to file. Non-

U.S. unitholders are encouraged to consult witlr then tax advisors regarding the U.S. federakestad local tax consequences of an
investment in units and any filing requirementsited thereto.

Functional Currency

We are required to determine the functional cuyesfaany of our operations that constitute a sepagaalified business unit (QBU ) for

U.S. federal income tax purposes and report trerafbf any QBU in this functional currency to aunitholders. Any transactions conductec
us other than in the U.S. Dollar or by a QBU ottten in its functional currency may give rise togign currency exchange gain or loss.
Further, if a QBU is required to maintain a funotibcurrency other than the U.S. Dollar, a unitkeolehay be required to recognize foreign
currency translation gain or loss upon a distrifmutof money or property from a QBU or upon the sdleommon units, and items or income,
gain, loss, deduction or credit allocated to thighatder in such functional currency must be tratesdl into the unithold’s functional currency



For purposes of the foreign currency rules, a QBtluides a separate trade or business owned byreegslrip in the event separate books and
records are maintained for that separate tradesiness. The functional currency of a QBU is debeeth based upon the economic
environment in which the QBU operates. Thus, a QBldse revenues and expenses are primarily detedrimirgecurrency other than the

U.S. Dollar will have a non-U.S. Dollar functiormirrency. We believe our principal operations citmigt a QBU whose functional currency is
the U.S. Dollar, but certain of our operations ¢itute separate QBUs whose functional currencieso#irer than the U.S. Dollar.

Proposed regulations (or t&ection 987 Proposed Regulatigrigrovide that the amount of foreign currency tfatisn gain or loss recognized
upon a distribution of money or property from a QBitlupon the sale of common units will reflect #ppreciation or depreciation in the
functional currency value of certain assets arullitees of the QBU between the time the unitholgerchased his common units and the time
we receive distributions from such QBU or the uaiitler sells his common units. Foreign currencydiation gain or loss will be treated as
ordinary income or loss. A unitholder must adjingt U.S. federal income tax basis in his commorstnireflect such income or loss prior to
determining any other U.S. federal income tax cqueaces of such distribution or sale. A unitholttbo owns less than a 5.0 percent interest
in our capital or profits generally may elect ntave these rules apply by attaching a staterodms ttax return for the first taxable year the
unitholder intends the election to be effectivertRer, for purposes of computing his taxable inc@ameé U.S. federal income tax basis in his
common units, a unitholder will be required to siate into his own functional currency items ofdnte, gain, loss or deduction of such QBU
and his share of such QBU'’s liabilities. We inteéagrovide such information based on generally iapple U.S. exchange rates as is necessa
for unitholders to comply with the requirementglod Section 987 Proposed Regulations as part df iBefederal income tax information we
will furnish unitholders each year. However, a haltler may be entitled to make an election to applylternative exchange rate with respect
to the foreign currency translation of certain igefdnitholders who desire to make such an eleaimuld consult their own tax advisors.
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Based upon our current projections of the capite¢sted in and profits of the non-U.S. Dollar QBWs, believe that unitholders will be
required to recognize only a nominal amount ofifpreeurrency translation gain or loss each yearwgpuh their sale of units. Nonetheless, the
rules for determining the amount of translatiomgai loss are not entirely clear at present asstion 987 Proposed Regulations currentl
not effective. Unitholders are urged to consulirtbevn tax advisors for specific advice regardihg application of the rules for recognizing
foreign currency translation gain or loss undeirtben circumstances. In addition to a unitholdegsognition of foreign currency translation
gain or loss, the U.S. Dollar QBU will engage imtag transactions denominated in the Euro, whighgive rise to a certain amount of forei
currency exchange gain or loss each year. Thisggio@irrency exchange gain or loss will be treasdrdinary income or loss.

Information Returns and Audit Procedul

We intend to furnish to each unitholder, within@dys after the close of each calendar year, spadifs. federal income tax information,
including a document in the form of IRS Form 108Bhedule K-1, which sets forth his share of oungef income, gain, loss, deductions and
credits as computed for U.S. federal income tay@ses for our preceding taxable year. In prepdhisinformation, which will not be
reviewed by counsel, we will take various accountind reporting positions, some of which have baentioned earlier, to determine each
unitholder’s share of such items of income, gaiss) deduction and credit. We cannot assure yaduhbse positions will yield a result that
conforms to the requirements of the Code, TreaRagulations or administrative interpretations @& RS. We can not assure unitholders that
the IRS will not successfully contend that thossifians are impermissible. Any challenge by the BR8ld negatively affect the value of the
units.

We will be obligated to file U.S. federal income faformation returns with the IRS for any yeawhich we earn any U.S. source income or
U.S. effectively connected income. In the eventweee obligated to file a U.S. federal income tawimation return but failed to do so,
unitholders would not be entitled to claim any detthns, losses or credits for U.S. federal incomegurposes relating to us. Consequently
may file U.S. federal income tax information retifor any given year. The IRS may audit any suébrination returns that we file.
Adjustments resulting from an IRS audit of our ratmay require each unitholder to adjust a pri@rigetax liability, and may result in an au
of his return. Any audit of a unitholder’s returoutd result in adjustments not related to our retlas well as those related to our returns. Any
IRS audit relating to our items of income, gairsdpdeduction or credit for years in which we areraquired to file and do not file a

U.S. federal income tax information return woulddo@ducted at the partner-level, and each unithatdey be subject to separate audit
proceedings relating to such items.

For years in which we file or are required to filé5S. federal income tax information returns, wd W treated as a separate entity for purpose
of any U.S. federal income tax audits, as welleptirposes of judicial review of administrativgusdments by the IRS and tax settlement
proceedings. For such years, the tax treatmenamfi@rship items of income, gain, loss, deductiwh @edit will be determined in a partners
proceeding rather than in separate proceedingsthétipartners. The Code requires that one parméebignated as the “Tax Matters Partner”
for these purposes. The partnership agreement naestsy GP L.L.C. as our Tax Matters Partner.

The Tax Matters Partner will make some U.S. fediaklections on our behalf and on behalf of widbrs. In addition, the Tax Matters
Partner can extend the statute of limitations gmeasment of tax deficiencies against unitholdergdms reported in the information returns
we file. The Tax Matters Partner may bind a unitleolwith less than a 1.0 percent profits intenests to a settlement with the IRS with resy

to these items unless that unitholder elects, Imgfa statement with the IRS, not to give thahauty to the Tax Matters Partner. The Tax
Matters Partner may seek judicial review, by whadiithe unitholders are bound, of a final partngrgtdministrative adjustment and, if the Tax
Matters Partner fails to seek judicial review, pidi review may be sought by any unitholder havahéeast a 1.0 percent interest in profits @
any group of unitholders having in the aggregaleast a 5.0 percent interest in profits. Howewaty one action for judicial review will go
forward, and each unitholder with an interest ia dluitcome may participate.

A unitholder must file a statement with the IRSntiying the treatment of any item on his U.S. fiedéncome tax return that is not consistent
with the treatment of the item on an informatioture that we file. Intentional or negligent disregjaf this consistency requirement may
subject a unitholder to substantial penalties

Special Reporting Requirements for Owners of Nd.-Bartnerships.

A U.S. person who either contributes more than $1@®to us (when added to the value of any othepeaty contributed to us by such person
or a related person during the previous 12 monthspllowing a contribution owns, directly, inda#y or by attribution from certain related
persons, at least a 10.0 percent interest in usgqisred to file IRS Form 8865 with his U.S. fealdncome tax return for the year of the
contribution to report the contribution and proviatain details about himself and certain relaedons, us and any persons that own a 10.C
percent or greater direct interest in us. We witiyide each unitholder with the necessary infororatibout us and those persons who own a
10.0 percent or greater direct interest in us aleitly the Schedule -1 information described previous



In addition to the foregoing, a U.S. person wheclly owns at least a 10.0 percent interest in ag be required to make additional disclost
on IRS Form 8865 in the event such person acqudisgpses or has his interest in us substantiatiseased or reduced. Further, a U.S. persol
who directly, indirectly or by attribution from dain related persons, owns at least a 10.0 peicenest in us may be required to make
additional disclosures on IRS Form 8865 in the egenh person, when considered together with amgrdd.S. persons who own at least a
percent interest in us, owns a greater than 50depeinterest in us. For these purposes, an &stéin us generally is defined to include an
interest in our capital or profits or an interesbur deductions or losses.

Significant penalties may apply for failing to sf§i IRS Form 8865 filing requirements and thus huliders are advised to contact their tax
advisors to determine the application of thesadiliequirements under their own circumstances.

In addition, individual citizens or residents oétbinited States who hold certain specified fordigancial assets, including units in a foreign
partnership not held in an account maintained figaacial institution, with an aggregate value xtess of $50,000, may be required to report
such assets on IRS Form 8938 with their U.S. fddlecame tax return. Penalties apply for failurgptoperly complete and file Form 8938.
You are encouraged to consult with your tax advisgearding the filing of this form.
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Accurac\-related Penalties.

An additional tax equal to 20.0 percent of the ami@f any portion of an underpayment of U.S. fetigreome tax attributable to one or more
specified causes, including negligence or disregérdles or regulations and substantial understatgs of income tax, is imposed by the
Internal Revenue Code. No penalty will be imposenyever, for any portion of an underpayment iSishown that there was a reasonable
cause for that portion and that the taxpayer aatg@od faith regarding that portion.

A substantial understatement of income tax in amglle year exists if the amount of the understaigraxceeds the greater of 10.0 percent o
the tax required to be shown on the return fortéixable year or $5,000. The amount of any undensiant subject to penalty generally is
reduced if any portion is attributable to a positazlopted on the return:

(1) for which there is, or wasubstantial authori”; or
(2) as to which there is a reasonable basis and thiegerfacts of that position are disclosed onrttarn.

More stringent rules, including additional penaltend extended statutes of limitations, may applg eesult of our participation in “listed
transactions” or “reportable transactions withgn#icant tax avoidance purpose.” While we do niti@pate participating in such transactions
if any item of income, gain, loss, deduction orditéncluded in the distributive shares of unithels for a given year might result in an
“understatementdf income relating to such a transaction, we waktbse the pertinent facts on a U.S. federal inetem information return f
such year. In such event, we also will make a mrealsle effort to furnish sufficient information fanitholders to make adequate disclosure on
their returns and to take other actions as mayppeogriate to permit unitholders to avoid liabilfgr penalties.

Possible Classification as a Corporati

If we fail to meet the Qualifying Income Exceptidascribed above with respect to our classificatiom partnership for U.S. federal income
purposes, other than a failure that is determinethé IRS to be inadvertent and that is cured withreasonable time after discovery, we will
be treated as a non-U.S. corporation for U.S. Eddecome tax purposes. If previously treated parénership, our change in status would be
deemed to have been effected by our transfer off allir assets, subject to liabilities, to a nefelymed nonk).S. corporation, in return for stc

in that corporation, and then our distribution lrditt stock to our unitholders and other ownersquitiation of their interests in us. Unitholders
that are U.S. persons would be required to file F®8n 926 to report these deemed transfers andthey transfers they made to us while we
were treated as a corporation and may be requirestbgnize income or gain for U.S. federal incaaepurposes to the extent of certain prior
deductions or losses and other items. Substamralpes may apply for failure to satisfy theseortipg requirements, unless the person
otherwise required to report shows such failure eeesto reasonable cause and not willful neglect.

If we were treated as a corporation in any taxgbhe, either as a result of a failure to meet thalifying Income Exception or otherwise, our
items of income, gain, loss, deduction and creditil not pass through to unitholders. Instead, walt/be subject to U.S. federal income tax
based on the rules applicable to foreign corpanatioot partnerships, and such items would bedtless our own. Any distribution made to a
unitholder would be treated as taxable dividenaine to the extent of our current and accumulateciregs and profits, a nontaxable return of
capital to the extent of the unitholder’s tax basikis common units, and taxable capital gaingh#er. Section 743(b) adjustments to the bas
of our assets would no longer be available to pasels in the marketplace.

Taxation of Operating IncoméNe expect that substantially all of our grosome and the gross income of our corporate subdiaiill be
attributable to the transportation of LNG, LPG, aomia, crude oil and related products. For this peep gross income attributable to
transportation (offransportation Incomgincludes income derived from, or in connectiothythe use (or hiring or leasing for use) of aseds
to transport cargo, or the performance of senvitietly related to the use of any vessel to trarntspargo, and thus includes both time charter
and bareboat charter income.

Transportation Income that is attributable to tpomgation that begins or ends, but that does ntit begin and end, in the United States will be
considered to be 50.0 percent derived from soumitiin the United States (d.S. Source International Transportation Incojme
Transportation Income attributable to transportatltat both begins and ends in the United Statb$®iconsidered to be 100.0 percent der
from sources within the United States (b5. Source Domestic Transportation Incom€ransportation Income attributable to transpata
exclusively between non-U.S. destinations will basidered to be 100.0 percent derived from sowutsde the United States. Transportatior
Income derived from sources outside the UnitedeStgenerally will not be subject to U.S. federabime tax.

Based on our current operations and the operatibosr subsidiaries, we expect substantially atbaf Transportation Income to be from
sources outside the United States and not sulnjé¢iS. federal income tax. However, if we or anyof subsidiaries does earn U.S. Source
International Transportation Income or U.S. Souboenestic Transportation, our income or our subsiessincome may be subject to

U.S. federal income taxation under one of two at#ve tax regimes (the 4.0 percent gross basiertéixe net basis tax, as described below),
unless the exemption from U.S. taxation under 8a@B3 of the Code (or ttSection 883 Exemptic) applies.



The Section 883 Exemptidn.general, the Section 883 Exemption providesitt@non-U.S. corporation satisfies the requiretaaf

Section 883 of the Code and the regulations thel@ufor the Section 883 Regulations), it will netsubject to the 4.0 percent gross basis tax
or the net basis tax and branch profits taxes destbelow on its U.S. Source International Tramgimn Income. The Section 883 Exempt
does not apply to U.S. Source Domestic Transportdticome.

A non-U.S. corporation will qualify for the Secti®83 Exemption if, among other things, it is orgaai in a jurisdiction outside the United
States that grants an equivalent exemption frontdaorporations organized in the United Statesi(dEquivalent Exemptio)y it meets one of
three ownership tests described in the SectionRR&fulations (or th©wnership Testand it meets certain substantiation, reportingd) @her
requirements (or thBubstantiation Requiremerts

We are organized under the laws of the Republithaf Marshall Islands. The U.S. Treasury Departrhastrecognized the Republic of The
Marshall Islands as a jurisdiction that grants gaitzalent Exemption. We also believe that we wdldble to satisfy the Substantiation
Requirements necessary to qualify for the Sect@$hBxemption. Consequently, our U.S. Source Intevnal Transportation Income
(including for this purpose, any such income eafmedur subsidiaries that have properly electeloettreated as partnerships or disregarded &
entities
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separate from us for U.S. federal income tax pieppwould be exempt from U.S. federal income taxafirovided we could satisfy the
Ownership Test. However, we do not believe thatvee the Ownership Test in 2012 and we do not exjpetieet the Ownership Test in all
succeeding years. As a result, in the event we tweated as a corporation, we would not qualifytfer Section 883 Exemption and our U.S.
Source International Transportation Income woultbeexempt from U.S. federal income taxation.

The 4.0 Percent Gross Basis T#xve were to be treated as a corporation andeifSaction 883 Exemption described above and theasis

tax described below does not apply, we would béestito a 4.0 percent U.S. federal income tax anlb®. Source International
Transportation Income, without benefit of deducsiot/e estimate that, in this event, we would bgesho less than $200,000 of U.S. federal
income tax in 2013 and in each subsequent yead(ition to any U.S. federal income taxes on obskgliaries, as described below) based on
the amount of U.S. Source International Transpioridhcome we earned for 2012 and our expected &b8rce International Transportation
Income for subsequent years. The amount of sucfotaxhich we would be liable for any year in whiale were treated as a corporation for
U.S. federal income tax purposes would depend tippamount of income we earn from voyages intoubiobthe United States in such year,
however, which is not within our complete control.

Net Basis Tax and Branch Profits TWe currently do not expect to have a fixed placbusiness in the United States. Nonetheless,sf thi
were to change or we otherwise were treated an@avich a fixed place of business in the UniteteStaur U.S. Source International
Transportation Income may be treated as effectiwehnected with the conduct of a trade or busimetise United States (dffectively
Connected Incomgif substantially all of our U.S. Source Intermetal Transportation Income is attributable to ragylscheduled
transportation or, in the case of income derivedifbareboat charters, is attributable to the fixade of business in the United States. Based
on our current operations, none of our potenti&.Bource International Transportation Incometisbaitable to regularly scheduled
transportation or is derived from bareboat char¢tributable to a fixed place of business in timitéd States. As a result, if we were classifiec
as a corporation, we do not anticipate that amyuofU.S. Source International Transportation Incavoeld be treated as Effectively Connec
Income. However, there is no assurance that wedwoatl earn income pursuant to regularly schedubatsportation or bareboat charters
attributable to a fixed place of business in thét&thStates in the future, which would result islsincome being treated as Effectively
Connected Income if we were classified as a cotfmaraAny income that we earn that is treated dediifvely Connected Income would be
subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax (igbést statutory rate currently is 35.0 percem)ess the Section 883 Exemption (as discu
above) applied. The 4.0 percent U.S. federal inctamelescribed above is inapplicable to Effectiv@nnected Income.

Unless the Section 883 Exemption applied, a 30r&gmet branch profits tax imposed under Section@ate Code also would apply to our
earnings that result from Effectively Connectedoime, and a branch interest tax could be imposezkdain interest paid or deemed paid by
us.

On the sale of a vessel that has produced Effédgtvennected Income, we could be subject to thébasis corporate income tax and to the
30.0 percent branch profits tax with respect togain not in excess of certain prior deductionsdigpreciation that reduced Effectively
Connected Income. Otherwise, we would not expebeteubject to U.S. federal income tax with respethe remainder of any gain realized
on sale of a vessel because it is expected thasaayf a vessel will be structured so that dtassidered to occur outside of the United States
and so that it is not attributable to an officeotirer fixed place of business in the United States.

Consequences of Possible PFIC Classification.

A non-United States entity treated as a corpordtiotd.S. federal income tax purposes will be aspaesforeign investment company (or
PFIC) in any taxable year in which, after taking intwaunt the income and assets of the corporatiorcartdin subsidiaries pursuant to a
“look through” rule, either (i) at least 75.0 pentef its gross income is “passive” income or #ii)least 50.0 percent of the average value of it
assets is attributable to assets that producevgaissiome or are held for the production of pasgieeme. For purposes of these tests, “passiv
income” includes dividends, interest, and gaingiftbe sale or exchange of investment property antsrand royalties other than rents and
royalties that are received from unrelated paitiesonnection with the active conduct of a tradéwsiness. For purposes of these tests, incon
derived from the performance of services does apstitute” passive incom”



Based upon our current assets and operations, wetdzelieve that we would be considered to be l€Rven if we were treated as a
corporation. No assurance can be given, howevat ttile IRS would accept this position or that weaildanot constitute a PFIC for any future
taxable year if we were treated as a corporatiahtbare were to be changes in our assets, incompevations. In addition, the decision of the
United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth CitdoiTidewater Inc. v. United States65 F.3d 299 (5th Cir. 2009) held that income dsdiv
from certain time chartering activities should temated as rental income rather than services indomgurposes of a foreign sales corporation
provision of the Code. However, the IRS statedniiation on Decision (AOD 2010-001) that it disaggewvith, and will not acquiesce to, the
way that the rental versus services framework vadied to the facts in th€idewaterdecision, and in its discussion stated that the timarter
at issue irfTidewaterwould be treated as producing services income F6€RPurposes. The IRS’s statement with respegidewatercannot b
relied upon or otherwise cited as precedent byagers. Consequently, in the absence of any birldigg) authority specifically relating to the
statutory provisions governing PFICs, there candassurance that the IRS or a court would nabfiothe Tidewaterdecision in interpreting
the PFIC provisions under the Code. Neverthelessed on our current assets and operatiaesbelieve that we would not now be nor would
have ever been a PFIC even if we were treateccagparation.

If we were to be treated as a PFIC for any taxgb# during which a unitholder owns units, a uritleo generally would be subject to special
rules (regardless of whether we continue theresdtbe a PFIC) resulting in increased tax liabiitiyh respect to (1) any “excess

distribution” (i.e., the portion of any distributie received by a unitholder on our common units faxable year in excess of 125.0 percent of
the average annual distributions received by thi#nalder in the three preceding taxable yearsf@harter, the unitholder’s holding period for
the units) and (2) any gain realized upon the satgther disposition of units. Under these rules:

. the excess distribution or gain will be allocatathbly over the unithold's aggregate holding period for the common ui
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. the amount allocated to the current taxable yedraany taxable year prior to the taxable year weeViiest treated as a PFIC with
respect to the unitholder would be taxed as orgliirarome in the current taxable ye

. the amount allocated to each of the other taxaddesywould be subject to U.S. federal income takeahighest rate in effect for t
applicable class of taxpayer for that year;

. an interest charge for the deemed deferral bewefild be imposed with respect to the resultingatdsibutable to each such other
taxable yeatr

In addition, if we were treated as a PFIC, a uhitaowould be required to file Form 8621 annualiyfwthe IRS and would be required to
comply with all other applicable filing requirement

Certain elections, such as a qualified electinglf(or QEF ) election or mark to market election, may be akdé to a unitholder if we were
classified as a PFIC. If we determine that we angilb be a PFIC, we will provide unitholders withformation concerning the potential
availability of such elections.

Under current law, dividends received by individaigizens or residents of the United States fromméstic corporations and qualified foreign
corporations generally are treated as net captialsgand subject to U.S. federal income tax ateceduates. However, if we were classified |
PFIC for our taxable year in which we pay a dividewe would not be considered a qualified foreigrporation, and individuals receiving
such dividends would not be eligible for the rediicate of U.S. federal income tax.

Consequences of Possible Controlled Foreign CorpamnaClassificationlf we were to be treated as a corporation for fe8eral income tax
purposes and if CFC Shareholders (generally, Udkddds who each own, directly, indirectly or constively, 10.0 percent or more of the tc
combined voting power of our outstanding sharegledtto vote) own directly, indirectly or consttiwely more than 50.0 percent of either the
total combined voting power of our outstanding skantitled to vote or the total value of all of outstanding shares, we generally would be
treated as a controlled foreign corporation (@RLC).

CFC Shareholders are treated as receiving curistnibditions of their shares of certain incomete CFC without regard to any actual
distributions and are subject to other burdenson$e féderal income tax and administrative requirgsiéut generally are not also subject to
the requirements generally applicable to sharehsldia PFIC. In addition, a person who is or hesnba CFC Shareholder may recognize
ordinary income on the disposition of shares of@. Although we do not believe we are or will e a CFC even if we were to be treatec
as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax pueppb).S. persons purchasing a substantial interest should consider the potential
implications of being treated as a CFC Sharehdid#re event we become a CFC in the future.

The U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.8lerowho are not CFC Shareholders would not chantfee event we become a CFC in
the future.

Taxation of Our Subsidiary Corporations

Our subsidiaries Teekay LNG Holdco L.L.C., DHJS IHNb. 2007-001 L.L.C and DHJS Hull No. 2007-002 ICl are classified as
corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposebsare subject to U.S. federal income tax basetthi@nules applicable to foreign corporati
described above under “Possible Classification @erporation — Taxation of Operating Income,” irdilug, but not limited to, the 4.0 percent
gross basis tax or the net basis tax if the Se@8hExemption does not apply. We believe thatSibetion 883 Exemption would apply to our
corporate subsidiaries only to the extent thatatild apply to us if we were to be treated as aa@aton. As such, we believe that the

Section 883 Exemption did not apply for 2012 andildaot apply in subsequent years and therefoee410 percent gross basis tax applied to
our subsidiary corporations in 2012 and will apjglyur subsidiary corporations in subsequent yéarhis regard, we estimate that we will be
subject to approximately $100,000 or less of UeBefal income tax in 2013 and in each subsequenthgsed on the amount of U.S. Source
International Transportation Income these subselagarned for 2012 and their expected U.S. Sdateenational Transportation Income for
2013 and subsequent years. The amount of suclettastich they would be liable for any year will dgw upon the amount of income they
earn from voyages into or out of the United Statesuch year, which, however, is not within thesnmplete control.

As non-U.S. entities classified as corporationdfd. federal income tax purposes, our subsididrgekay LNG Holdco L.L.C., DHJS Hull
No. 200°-001 L.L.C and DHJS Hull No. 2007-002 L.L.C. colle considered PFICs. We received a ruling from®&&that our subsidiary
Teekay LNG Holdco L.L.C. will be classified as aCFather than a PFIC as long as it is wr-owned by a U.S. partnersh



DHJS Hull No. 2007-001 L.L.C and DHJS Hull No. 20002 L.L.C. are also owned by our U.S. partnersiiip.intend to take the position tl
these subsidiaries should also be treated as GEkkr than PFICs following this restructuring. N@@rance can be given, however, that the
IRS, or a court of law, will accept this positionwould not follow theTidewaterdecision in interpreting the PFIC provisions untier Code
(as discussed above).

Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequencé#e following discussion is a summary of the malefianadian federal income tax
consequences under thicome Tax AcfCanada) (or th€anada Tax Ack that we believe are relevant to holders of commmaits who, for the
purposes of the Canada Tax Act and the CanadadU8tates Tax Convention 1980 (or tbanada-U.S. Treat), are at all relevant times
resident in the United States and entitled to fathe benefits of the Canada — U.S. Treaty and déa at arm’s length with us and Teekay
Corporation (otJ.S. Resident Holde)s This discussion takes into account all propca@endments to the Canada Tax Act and the regugatiol
thereunder that have been publicly announced lopdrehalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) ptiothe date hereof and assumes that sut
proposed amendments will be enacted substantislfy@osed. However, no assurance can be givesubhtproposed amendments will be
enacted in the form proposed or at all. This disitusassumes that we are, and will continue talbssified as a partnership for United States
federal income tax purposes.

A U.S. Resident Holder will not be liable to taxdem the Canada Tax Act on any income or gains aiémtby us to the U.S. Resident Holder ir
respect of such U.S. Resident Holder's common ppitsvided that for purposes of the Canada-U.Safjr€a) we do not carry on business
through a permanent establishment in Canada arsiifh) U.S. Resident Holder does not hold such camumds in connection with a busine
carried on by such U.S. Resident Holder througbranpnent establishment in Canada.
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A U.S. Resident Holder will not be liable to taxdem the Canada Tax Act on any income or gain frieenstale, redemption or other disposition
of such U.S. Resident Holder’'s common units, pregithat, for purposes of the Canada-U.S. Treath sammon units do not, and did not at
any time in the twelve-month period preceding thgedf disposition, form part of the business priypef a permanent establishment in
Canada of such U.S. Resident Holder.

In this regard, we believe that our activities affidirs can be conducted in a manner that we willoe carrying on business in Canada and th
U.S. Resident Holders should not be consideree toelorying on business in Canada for purposeseoftinada Tax Act or the Canada-U.S.
Treaty solely by reason of the acquisition, holdidigposition or redemption of common units. Weintt that this is and continues to be the
case, notwithstanding that Teekay Shipping Lim{gedubsidiary of Teekay Corporation that is residenl based in Bermuda) provides certait
services to Teekay LNG Partners L.P. and obtainsesor all such services under subcontracts witha@iam service providers. However, we
cannot assure this result.

Other Taxation

We and our subsidiaries are subject to taxatiaremain non-U.S. jurisdictions because we or obsgliaries are either organized, or conduct
business or operations, in such jurisdictions. Werid that our business and the business of osidiakies will be conducted and operated
manner that minimizes taxes imposed upon us anduhsidiaries. However, we cannot assure thistrasubx laws in these or other
jurisdictions may change or we may enter into nemsiriess transactions relating to such jurisdictiarigch could affect our tax liability. Plee
read Item 18 — Financial Statements: Note 11 —rfrcdax.

Documents on Display

Documents concerning us that are referred to heneiy be inspected at our principal executive headqts at 4' Floor, Belvedere Building,
69 Pitts Bay Road, Hamilton, HM 08, Bermuda. Thdseuments electronically filed via the SEC’s Elentc Data Gathering, Analysis, and
Retrieval (ofEDGAR) system may also be obtained from the SEC’s weladitww.sec.goy free of charge, or from the SEC’s Public
Reference Section at 100 F Street, NE, Washindddd, 20549, at prescribed rates. Further infornmagio the operation of the SEC public
reference rooms may be obtained by calling the SEI5800-SEC-0330.
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Item 11.
Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate asmpgmarily through our borrowings that requirdasnake interest payments based on
LIBOR or EURIBOR. Significant increases in interegties could adversely affect our operating margiesults of operations and our ability to
service our debt. We use interest rate swaps taeedur exposure to market risk from changes erést rates. The principal objective of thes
contracts is to minimize the risks and costs assediwith our floating-rate debt.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to credit loss in the event of renfispmance by the counterparties to the interdstsaap agreements. In order to minimize
counterparty risk, we only enter into derivativensactions with counterparties that are rated Aetier by Standard & Poor’s or A3 or better
by Moody'’s at the time of the transactions. In #iddj to the extent practical, interest rate swagsentered into with different counterparties tc
reduce concentration risk.

The table below provides information about ourfiicial instruments at December 31, 2012, that areitbee to changes in interest rates. For
long-term debt and capital lease obligations, didet presents principal payments and related wedgaverage interest rates by expected
maturity dates. For interest rate swaps, the fatd@eents notional amounts and weighted-averageegiteates by expected contractual maturity
dates.

Expected Maturity Date

Fair
There- Value R Se
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 after Total Liability i
(in millions of U.S. Dollars, except percentage:

Long-Term Debt:
Variable-Rate ($U.S.@ 46.¢ 47.4 83.C 48.t 49.2 504.: 779.: (692.9) 1.2%
Variable-Rate (Euro® @) 14.¢ 15.¢ 17.C 18.2 19.¢ 256.( 341.¢ (307.¢) 1.€%
Variable-Rate (NOK)® ) — — — 125.¢ — 125.¢ (129.9) 7.1%
Fixec-Rate Debt ($U.S. 24.¢ 24.¢ 24.¢ 24.¢ 24.¢ 42.2 166.¢ (170.) 5.3%
Average Interest Ra 54% 54% 54% 5.4% 5.4% 5.2% 5.2%
Capital Lease Obligations®
Variable-Rate ($U.S.™ 70.2 31.7 4.4 4.5 28.2 26.2 165.5 (165.5) 7.4%
Average Interest Ra®) 91% 7.7% 54% 5.4% 4.€% 6.4% 7.4%
Interest Rate Swaps:
Contract Amount ($U.S©® © 19.4 19.€ 20.€ 21.2 151.¢ 366.1 599.% (152.9)) 5.5%
Average Fixe-Pay Rate? 56% 5% 5% 5% 5.2% 5.6% 5.5%
Contract Amount (Eurc® @0, 14.¢ 15.¢ 17.C 18.2 19.€ 256.( 341.¢ (41.9 3.1%
Average Fixe-Pay Rate®) 31% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1%

(1) Rate refers to the weighted-average effectiterést rate for our long-term debt and capitadéeabligations, including the margin we pay
on our floating-rate debt and the average fixednadg for our interest rate swap agreements. Theage interest rate for our capital leas
obligations is the weighted-average interest rag@icit in our lease obligations at the inceptidrite leases. The average fixed pay rate
for our interest rate swaps excludes the margipayeon our drawn floatingate debt, which as of December 31, 2012 rangad 6:@0%
to 2.75%. Please read Item — Financial Statements: Note — Long-Term Debt.

(2) Interest payments on U.S. Do-denominated debt and interest rate swaps are loaselBOR.

(3) Interest payments on Ei-denominated debt and interest rate swaps are basedRIBOR.

(4) Euro-denominated and NOK-denominated amounts baen converted to U.S. Dollars using the preagagxchange rate as of
December 31, 201.

(5) Interest payments on our NOK-denominated debitan our cross currency swap are based on NIB@QRNOK-denominated debt has
been economically hedged with a cross currency steagwap all interest and principal payments bt8. Dollars, with the interest
payments fixed at a rate of 6.88%, and the trareffprincipal fixed at $125.0 million upon maturity exchange for NOK 700 millior

(6) Under the terms of the capital leases for the@as || LNG Carriers (see Item 18 — Financialedtents: Note 6 — Leases and Restricted
Cash), we are required to have on deposit, sutgjexctvariable rate of interest, an amount of chah together with interest earned on the
deposit, will equal the remaining amounts owingenttie variable-rate leases. The deposits, whiet Becember 31, 2012 totaled
$475.5 million, and the lease obligations, whiclagBecember 31, 2012 totaled $472.1 million, Haeen swapped for fixedite deposit
and fixed-rate obligations. Consequently, Teekakildhis not subject to interest rate risk fromgbebligations and deposits and,
therefore, the lease obligations, cash depositselated interest rate swaps have been excludedtfie table above. As at December 31
2012, the contract amount, fair value and fixedriest rates of these interest rate swaps relaf€dakay Nakilat's capital lease
obligations and restricted cash deposits were $4million and $469.3 million, ($110.6) million ai®165.7 million, and 4.9% and 4.8%,
respectively

72



Table of Contents

(7) The amount of capital lease obligations represthe present value of minimum lease paymenttieg with our purchase obligation, as
applicable.

(8) The average interest rate is the weighted-@eeiraterest rate implicit in the capital lease géfions at the inception of the leases. Interes
rate adjustments on these leases have correspaadfungiments in charter receipts under the terntiseo€harter contracts to which these
leases relate t

(9) The average variable receive rate for our U.S.dl-denominated interest rate swaps is set quarted-month LIBOR.

(10) The average variable receive rate for our -denominated interest rate swaps is set monthl-month EURIBOR

Spot Market Rate Risk

One of our Suezmax tankers, theledo Spirit, operates pursuant to a time-charter contractiticatases or decreases the otherwise fixed-rat
established in the charter depending on the spotatrates that we would have earned had we trédedessel in the spot tanker market. The
remaining term of the time-charter contract wayéars as of December 31, 2012, although the cleartas the right to terminate the time-
charter in July 2018. We have entered into an agee¢ with Teekay Corporation under which Teekayp@oation pays us any amounts
payable to the charterer as a result of spot tetegy below the fixed rate, and we pay Teekay Qg any amounts payable to us from the
charterer as a result of spot rates being in exufetbe fixed rate. The amounts receivable or plytbfrom Teekay Corporation are settled at
the end of each year. At December 31, 2012, thevédiie of this derivative asset was $1.1 milliord ahe change from reporting period to
period has been reported in realized and unrealos=don derivative instruments.

Foreign Currency Fluctuations

Our functional currency is U.S. Dollars. Our resuf operations are affected by fluctuations irr@ocy exchange rates. The volatility in our
financial results due to currency exchange ratetdlations is attributed primarily to foreign curegrrevenues and expenses, our Euro-
denominated loans and restricted cash deposite@andOK-denominated bonds. A portion of our voyageenues are denominated in Euros.
A portion of our vessel operating expenses andrgéaaed administrative expenses are denominaté&aiias, which is primarily a function of
the nationality of our crew and administrative Gti#fe have Euro-denominated interest expense anat-@nominated interest income related
to our Euro-denominated loans and Euro-denominaiticted cash deposits, respectively. We alsoriN©OK-denominated interest expense
on our NOK-denominated bonds; however, we enterteda cross currency swap to economically hedgéotteégn exchange risk on the
principal and interest for these bonds. Please ltead 18 — Financial Statements: Note 13 — Denreathstruments. At December 31, 2012, the
fair value of this derivative liability was $2.6 fion and the change from the date of issuance @y 012 to the reporting period has been
reported in foreign currency exchange (loss) gama result, fluctuations in the Euro and NOK rekato the U.S. Dollar have caused, and are
likely to continue to cause, fluctuations in oupaged voyage revenues, vessel operating expegsesral and administrative expenses, int
expense, interest income, realized and unreal@Esidn derivative instruments and foreign currenahange (loss) gain.
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ltem 12.  Description of Securities Other than Equity Securites
Not applicable

PART Il

ltem 13.  Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencie
None.

Item 14.  Material Modifications to the Rights of Unitholders and Use of Proceed
Not applicable

Iltem 15. Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresléfised in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeB#wurities and Exchange Act of 1934, a
amended (or thExchange Ac)) that are designed to ensure that (i) informatemuired to be disclosed in our reports that éed br submitte:
under the Exchange Act, are recorded, processetnatized, and reported within the time periods sigekin the SEC’s rules and forms, and
(i) information required to be disclosed by ughe reports we file or submit under the Exchangei®\accumulated and communicated to our
management, including the principal executive afiicppal financial officers, or persons performisignilar functions, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

We conducted an evaluation of our disclosure césaind procedures under the supervision and wélpé#rticipation of the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on tivaleation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chiefdncial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are effectivaf &ecember 31, 2012.

During the year ended 2012, we implemented a neeauatting system designed to improve the effectigermad efficiency of our accounting
and financial reporting processes. Although thipleamentation changed certain specific activitieghimithe accounting function, it did not
significantly affect the overall controls and prdaees followed by the Company in establishing imi¢controls over financial reporting. Other
than this accounting system implementation, theretbeen no changes in our internal control ovemitial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred dutirgyear ended December 31, 2012 that have mageafédcted or are reasonably likely to
materially affect our internal control over finaaktieporting.

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial ioé do not expect that our disclosure controlmtarnal controls will prevent all error and
all fraud. Although our disclosure controls andqadures were designed to provide reasonable assush@achieving their objectives, a coni
system, no matter how well conceived and operat®u provide only reasonable, not absolute, asserat the objectives of the system are
met. Further, the design of a control system mefigct the fact that there are resource constraamts the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because oirtherent limitations in all control systems, no leragion of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instancauwd, if any, within us have been detected. Thelserent limitations include the realities that
judgments in decisic-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns canrdsecause of simple error or mistake. Additionatigntrols can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persbgsollusion of two or more people, or by managetoverride of the control. The design
of any system of controls also is based partly entain assumptions about the likelihood of futurergs, and there can be no assurance the
design will succeed in achieving its stated goaldeu all potential future conditions.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining for us adequate internal controls diremcial reporting.

Our internal controls are designed to provide reable assurance as to the reliability of our finaneporting and the preparation and
presentation of the consolidated financial statamfn external purposes in accordance with acéogmtrinciples generally accepted in the
United States. Our internal controls over finanoggdorting include those policies and proceduras th) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faeRect the transactions and dispositions of ouetas®) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepaation of the financial statements in accordavitte U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles, and that our receipts and expenditaredeing made in accordance with authorizatiomearfagement and the directors; and 3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, vselisposition of our assets that could
have a material effect on our consolidated findrstatements



We conducted an evaluation of the effectivenesmaiofnternal control over financial reporting basgubn the framework in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiong Organizations of the Treadway Commissidmns €valuation included review of
the documentation of controls, evaluation of theigie effectiveness of controls, testing of the afirg effectiveness of controls and a
conclusion on this evaluation.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cotgrover financial reporting may not prevent oregtéimisstatements even when determined to
be effective and can only provide reasonable asser&ith respect to financial statement preparadiwh presentation. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies and @doces may deteriorate. Based on the evaluationagemnent has determined that the
internal control over financial reporting was etfee as of December 31, 2012.

Our independent auditors, KPMG LLP, a registerédlipiaccounting firm, has audited the accompanyiogsolidated financial statements anc
our internal control over financial reporting. Thattestation report on the effectiveness of oterimal control over financial reporting can be
found on page F-2 of this Annual Report.
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Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Board of Directors of our General Partner heteminined that director Robert E. Boyd qualifiesiasaudit committee financial expert and
is independent under applicable NYSE and SEC stdada

Item 16B. Code of Ethics

We have adopted Standards of Business Condudntiiatie a Code of Ethics for all our employees #redemployees and directors of our
General Partner. This document is available undeotit Us - Partnership Governance” from the HomgeRaf our web site

( www.teekaylng.com). We intend to disclose, under “About us - Paghgr Governance” in the About Us section of our \sib, any waivers
to or amendments of our Standards of Business @orduthe benefit of any directors and executiffecers of our General Partner.

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Our principal accountant for 2012 and 2011 was KPM®, Chartered Accountants. The following tablewh the fees we paid or accrued for
audit and audit-related services provided by KPM@® lfor 2012 and KPMG LLP and Ernst & Young LLP #011.

2012 2011

Fees(in thousands of U.S. Dollar _$ _$
Audit Feesh@ 71¢ 68¢
Audit-Related Fee® 10 16
Tax Fee® = .13
Total 72¢ 717

(1) Audit fees represent fees for professional servyicesided in connection with the audit of our cditated financial statements, review
our quarterly consolidated financial statementsljtaaervices provided in connection with otherstaty audits and professional services
in connection with the review of our regulatoryrfgs for our equity offerings

(2) Total audit fees incurred with respect to KPMI3 were approximately $719,000 and $642,000 fdr28nd 2011, respectively. Total
audit fees incurred with respect to Ernst & YoungPlwere approximately nil and $46,000 for 2012 28d1, respectively

(3) Audit-related fees relate to other accounting consuitat

(4) Tax fees relate primarily to corporate tax compi@fees

No fees for other services were provided to the gamy by the auditor during the term of their appoients in 2012 and 201

The Audit Committee of our General Partner’s Boafr®irectors has the authority to pre-approve pssibie audit-related and non-audit
services not prohibited by law to be performed byiadependent auditors and associated fees. Engagse for proposed services either may
be separately pre-approved by the Audit Committeentered into pursuant to detailed pre-approvities and procedures established by the
Audit Committee, as long as the Audit Committemfermed on a timely basis of any engagement edtierte on that basis. The Audit
Committee separately pre-approved all engagementée@s paid to our principal accountant in 2012.

Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees
Not applicable

Item 16E. Purchases of Units by the Issuer and Affiliated Pwhasers
Not applicable

Item 16F. Change in Registran’s Certifying Accountant
Not applicable

Iltem 16G. Corporate Governance

There are no significant ways in which our corpemgdvernance practices differ from those followgdlbmestic companies under the listing
requirements of the New York Stock Exchange.

Item 16H. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable
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PART IlI

Iltem 17. Financial Statements
Not applicable

Iltem 18. Financial Statements

The following financial statements, together witle related reports of KPMG LLP, Independent Reggst®ublic Accounting Firm, and
Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Publicd\mting Firm, thereon, are filed as part of thimaal Report:

Page

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfiings F-1, F-2, F-3
Consolidated Financial Statement:

Consolidated Statements of Inco F-4
Consolidated Balance She F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc F-6
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Total E« F-7
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statem F-8

All schedules for which provision is made in thekgable accounting regulations of the SEC arereqtiired, are inapplicable or have been
disclosed in the Notes to the Consolidated FindSt@tements and therefore have been omitted.

Item 19.  Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed as part of this iual Report:

1.1 Certificate of Limited Partnership of Teekay LNGfpars L.P. (1

1.2 First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limitedrieeship of Teekay LNG Partners L.P., as amendefibgndment No. 1
dated as of May 31, 2006 and Amendment No. 2 damdary 1, 2007. (:

1.3 Certificate of Formation of Teekay GP L.L.C.

1.4 Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Comypa&greement of Teekay GP L.L.C. (

2.1 Agreement, dated April 30, 2012, for NOK 700,00@,08enior Unsecured Bonds due May 2017, among,aleleMG Partners
L.P. and Norsk Tillitsmann ASA.(«

4.1 Agreement, dated February 21, 2001, for a U.S. $I0W0000 Revolving Credit Facility between Navigéeekay Gas S.L., J.P.
Morgan plc and various other banks

4.2 Teekay LNG Partners L.P. 2005 L«-Term Incentive Plan (<

4.3 Amended and Restated Omnibus Agreemen

4.4 Administrative Services Agreement with Teekay Shigd_imited (3)

4.5 Advisory, Technical and Administrative Services égment (3

4.6 LNG Strategic Consulting and Advisory Services Agnent (3]

4.7 Syndicated Loan Agreement between Naviera TeekayllGa.L. (formerly Naviera F. Tapias Gas Il AS). and Caixa de
Aforros de Vigo Ourense e Pontevedra, as Agengddas of October 2, 2000, as amende

4.8 Bareboat Charter Agreement between Naviera Teeka&yliG S.L. (formerly Naviera F. Tapias Gas IlIA and Poseidon Gas
AIE dated as of October 2, 2000

4.9 Credit Facility Agreement between Naviera Teekag 64 S.L. (formerly Naviera F. Tapias Gas IV, §.And Chase Manhattan
International Limited, as Agent, dated as of Deceni#i, 2001, as amended

4.10 Bareboat Charter Agreement between Naviera Teekayl'G S.L. (formerly Naviera F. Tapias Gas IV, §.And Pagumar AIE

dated as of December 30, 2003



411

412

4.13

4.14

4.15
4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

Agreement, dated December 7, 2005, for a U.S. $D87000 Secured Reducing Revolving Loan Facilityekgnent between
Asian Spirit L.L.C., African Spirit L.L.C., Europe&aSpirit L.L.C., DNB Nor Bank ASA and other bani&

Agreement, dated August 23, 2006, for a U.S. $3B0AD0 Secured Revolving Loan Facility between agdlNG Partners
L.P., ING Bank N.V. and other banks |

Purchase Agreement, dated November 2005, for tipgisition of Asian Spirit L.L.C., African Spirit L.C. and European Spirit
L.L.C. (8)

Agreement, dated June 30, 2008, for a U.S. $1720800ecured Revolving Loan Facility between Ar8pirit L.L.C., Polar
Spirit L.L.C and DnB Nor Bank A.S.A. (¢

Credit Facility Agreement between Taizhou L.L.Cd&@HJS L..L.C and Calyon, as Agent, dated as obtt 27, 2009 (1(

Credit Facility Agreement between Bermuda Spirit.C., Hamilton Spirit L.L.C., Zenith Spirit L.L.CSummit Spirit L.L.C. an
Credit Argicole CIB, dated March 17, 2010 (;

Credit Facility Agreement between Great East Hall 8717 L.L.C., Great East Hull No. 1718 L.L.C.S:H.I Hull No. S363
L.L.C., H.S.H.I Hull No. S364 L.L.C. and Calyon,tdd December 15, 2006 (1

Agreement, dated September 30, 2011, for a EUR®,838,766 Credit Facility between Naviera Teekag G&S.L.U., ING
Bank N.V. and other banks and financial instituti¢t?2)

Deed of Amendment and Restatement dated Octob@008, relating to a Loan Agreement for a U.S. 92,000 Buyer Credit
and a U.S. $117,600,000 Commercial Loan betweenTMING |, Ltd., BNP Paribas S.A., and other bankd éinancial
institutions.(13)
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4.20 Deed of Amendment and Restatement dated Octob@008, relating to a Loan Agreement for a U.S. 492,000 Buyer Cred

and a U.S. $117,600,000 Commercial Loan betweenTMiNG I, Ltd., BNP Paribas S.A., and other banks éinancial
institutions.(13

4.21 Deed of Amendment and Restatement dated Octob@008, relating to a Loan Agreement for a U.S. 49,000 Buyer Cred

and a U.S. $117,600,000 Commercial Loan betweenTMiNG llI, Ltd., BNP Paribas S.A., and other bamks financial
institutions.(13

4.22 Deed of Amendment and Restatement dated Novembh@008, relating to a Loan Agreement for a U.S.,409Q2,000 Buyer

Credit and a U.S. $117,600,000 Commercial Loan eetaMiNT LNG 1V, Ltd., BNP Paribas S.A., and otll@nks and financi
institutions.(13

4.23 Agreement dated February 17, 2012, for a US$5530P80oan facility between Malt LNG Holdings ApSNB Bank ASA,
ABN AMRO Bank N.V., Citigroup Global Markets Limitk Development Bank of Japan Inc., and variousdend13)
4.24 Agreement dated February 17, 2012, for a US$51000Pdoan facility between Malt LNG Holdings ApSjavho Corporate
Bank, Ltd., Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd., and vasdenders. (13
4.25 Share purchase agreement dated February 28, 2@l2@diosase Maersk LNG A/S through the Teekay LNG+MNeani Joint
Venture from Maersk. (13
4.26 Agreement dated January 1, 2012, for business ol@wvent services between Teekay LNG Operating LL&CTaekay Shipping
Limited.
8.1 List of Subsidiaries of Teekay LNG Partners L
12.1 Rule 13-15(e)/15¢15(e) Certification of Teekay LNG Partners I's Chief Executive Office
12.2 Rule 13-15(e)/15¢15(e) Certification of Teekay LNG Partners I's Chief Financial Office
13.1 Teekay LNG Partners L.P. Certification of Peter isan, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financiéfi€2r, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fi6rof the Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002
15.1 Consent of KPMG LLP, as independent registeredipaaicounting firm, for Teekay LNG Partners L
15.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, as former independegistered public accounting firm, for Teekay LR@rtners L.P
15.3 Consolidated Financial Statements of MALT LNG Halghk ApS

101.INS XBRL Instance Documer

101.SC. XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schen

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkba
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbat
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkba
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb.

1)
(2)
3)
(4)
()
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)

(11)

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Partn@’'shRegistration Statement on Form F-1 (File N83-320727), filed with the SEC on
November 24, 2004, and hereby incorporated by eafsr to such Annual Repa

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Partn@shReport on Form 6-K filed with the SEC on Aug@g, 2006, and hereby incorporated by
reference to such Repao

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Parth@shAmendment No. 3 to Registration Statement omF-1 (File No. 333-120727), filed
with the SEC on April 11, 2005, and hereby incogbed by reference to such Registration Stater

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Partn@'shReport on Form 6-K filed with the SEC on Seplteer 27, 2012, and hereby incorporatec
by reference to such Repc

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Partn@'shAnnual Report on Form 20-F (File No. 1-3247/@gd with the SEC on April 19, 2007
and hereby incorporated by reference to such re

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Partn@shAnnual Report on Form 20-F (File No. 1-3247#@gd with the SEC on April 14, 2006
and hereby incorporated by reference to such re

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Partn@shReport on Form 6-K (File No. 1-32479), filedtivthe SEC on December 21, 2006 and
hereby incorporated by reference to such re|

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Partn@'shAmendment No. 1 to Registration Statement om¥F-1 (File No. 333-129413), filed
with the SEC on November 3, 2005, and hereby iraratpd by reference to such Registration Stater

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Partn@'shReport on Form 6-K (File No. 1-32479), filedtivthe SEC on March 20, 2009 and
hereby incorporated by reference to such re|

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Parth@'s Report on Form 20F (File No. 1-32479), filih the SEC on April 26, 2010 and
hereby incorporated by reference to such re|

Previously filed as an exhibit to the Parth@'s Report on Form 6-K (File No. 1-32479), filadth the SEC on June 1, 2010 and hereby



incorporated by reference to such rep

(12) Previously filed as an exhibit to the Parthg's Report on Form 6-K (File No. 1-32479), filadth the SEC on December 1, 2011 and
hereby incorporated by reference to such re|

(13) Previously filed as an exhibit to the Parthgr's Report on Form 20-F (File No. 1-32479), filwih the SEC on April 11, 2011 and
hereby incorporated by reference to such re|
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caussdéport to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: April 16, 201! TEEKAY LNG PARTNERS L.P
By: Teekay GP L.L.C., its General Parti

By: /s/ Peter Evensen

Peter Evense

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Unitholders of TeekdyG Partners L.P.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Teekay LNG Partners L.P. and subsidiéhe “Partnership”) as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related cdasetl statements of income, cash flows, and chandetal equity for each of the years in
the two year period ended December 31, 2012. Tetmssolidated financial statements are the respiitsitf the Partnership’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hesnsolidated financial statements based on dalitsad’he accompanying consolidated
statements of income, cashflows and changes ihdqtaty of the Partnership for the year ended Ddmer 31, 2010 were audited by other
auditors whose report thereon dated April 1, 2@kpressed an unqualified opinion on those statesnent

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenewnielhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of the
Partnership as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 femnicksults of its operations and its cash flowstmh of the years in the two year period
ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with U.Segelly accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Partnership’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2012, based on criteria establishedtémial Control-Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission and our report dated April28,3 expressed an unqualified
opinion on the effectiveness of the Partnershiptsrnal control over financial reporting.

Vancouver, Canad /sl KPMG LLP
April 16, 2013 Chartered Accountan
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Unitholders of TeekdyG Partners L.P.

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséatits of income, changes in total equity and clasisfof Teekay LNG Partners L.P. and
subsidiaries (or thPartnership) for the year ended December 31, 2010. Thesediabstatements are the responsibility of the Rastinip’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on out. aud

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our auditiges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated results of the operations, cash
flows and changes in total equity of Teekay LNGtifens L.P. and subsidiaries for the year ended mbee 31, 2010, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

Vancouver, Canad /sl Ernst & Young LLF
April 1, 2011 Chartered Accountan
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Unitholders of TeekdyG Partners L.P.

We have audited Teekay LNG Partners L.P. and siabsid (“the Partnership”) internal control ovandncial reporting as of December 31,
2012, based on the criteria established in InteBaailtrol — Integrated Framework issued by the Caemiof Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Partnership’s mamagt is responsible for maintaining effective iingg control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriateontrol over financial reporting, includedfanagemeng Report on Internal Control ov
Financial Reporting in the accompanying Form 2@B&r responsibility is to express an opinion onRiagtnership’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8dé/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corax@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aald&ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestave believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Partnership maintained, imaditerial respects, effective internal control diieancial reporting as of December 31, 2012
based on the criteria established in Internal @brtintegrated Framework issued by the Commitfegponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Partnership as at Decemb2032 and 2011, and the related consolidatednséates of income, cash flows, and change
in total equity for each of the years in the twayperiod ended December 31, 2012, and our reptetddApril 16, 2013, expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated finanstatements.

Vancouver, Canad /sl KPMG LLP
April 16, 2013 Chartered Accountan
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TEEKAY LNG PARTNERS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES (Notes 1 and 2)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except unit and parnit data)

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31

2012 2011 2010

$ $ $
VOYAGE REVENUES (note 12b] 392,25: 379,97 374,00t
OPERATING EXPENSES (note 12b
Voyage expense 1,772 1,38 2,04
Vessel operating expens 86,34’ 89,04¢ 84,57.
Depreciation and amortizatic 99,82¢ 91,91¢ 89,34’
General and administratiynotes 12a and 12t 27,14¢ 24,12( 23,24.
Write down of vessel(note 20) 29,367 — —
Gain on sale of vess(note 17) — — (4,340
Restructuring charg(note 18) — — 17t
Total operating expenses 244,46! 206,47. 195,04t
Income from vessel operation: 147,79: 173,50: 178,96(
OTHER ITEMS
Equity income(note 19) 78,86¢ 20,58¢ 8,04:
Interest expens(notes 6, 10 and 12; (54,21) (49,880) (49,019
Interest incom¢(note 6) 3,50z 6,681 7,19(
Realized and unrealized loss on derivative instntg(note 13) (29,62() (63,030 (78,72()
Foreign currency exchange (loss) g(notes 10 and 1: (8,249 10,31( 27,54¢
Other income (expens 1,68 (37) 61t

(8,029 (75,36¢) (84,349
Net income before income tax expel 139,76 98,13} 94,61«
Income tax expens(note 11) (625) (787) (1,670
Net income 139,14 97,35¢ 92,94«
Non-controlling interest in net incorr 15,431 7,50¢ 3,062
Dropdown Predeces¢'s interest in net incon(note 2) — — 2,25¢
General Partn’s interest in net incorr 21,30s 11,47 8,89¢
Limited partner’ interest in net incom 102,40: 78,37¢ 78,72¢
Limited partner’ interest in net income per ui(note 16)
* Common unit (basic and dilute 1.5¢ 1.3 1.4¢
e Subordinated unit (basic and dilute — — 2.0¢
e Total unit (basic and dilutec 1.5¢ 1.3 1.4¢
Weightec-average number of units outstandi
e Common units (basic and dilute 66,328,49 59,147,42 51,481,03
* Subordinated units (basic and dilut: — — 1,816,59
e Total units (basic and dilute: 66,328,49 59,147,422 53,297,62
Cash distributions declared per common 2.655( 2.520( 2.370(

Related party transactiofisote 12)
The accompanying notes are an integral part ofciwesolidated financial statements.
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TEEKAY LNG PARTNERS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES (Notes 1 and 2)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands of U.S. Dollars)

As at As at
December 31 December 31

2012 2011
$ $

ASSETS
Current
Cash and cash equivalel 113,57 93,62:
Restricted cas- current(note 6) 34,16( —
Accounts receivable, including n-trade of $11,654 (201- $10,011)(note 13) 13,40¢ 13,92:
Prepaid expenst 5,83¢ 4,91¢
Current portion of derivative ass¢note 13) 17,21 15,60¢
Current portion of net investments in direct finiaugcleasey(note 6) 6,65¢ 6,07
Advances to affiliate(note 12c] 13,86¢ 11,92:
Total current assets 204,711 146,06¢
Restricted cas— long-term(note 6) 494,42¢ 495,63:
Vessels and equipment
At cost, less accumulated depreciation of $351(@921— $291,689) 1,286,95  1,339,57
Vessels under capital leases, at cost, less acateduliepreciation of $133,228 (2(- $163,926)(note 6) 624,05¢ 681,55:
Advances on newbuilding contra(note 14) 38,62 —
Total vessels and equipmer 1,949,641 2,021,12!
Investment in and advances to equity accounted yeintures(note 19) 409,73! 191,44t
Net investments in direct financing lea(note 6) 396,73( 403,46
Advances to joint venture partn(note 8) 14,00¢ 10,20(
Other asset(note 11) 25,23 24,56(
Derivative asset(note 13) 145,34 139,65:
Intangible asset net(note 7) 109,98« 120,95(
Gooduwill - liquefied gas segmel(note 7) 35,63: 35,63:
Total assets 3,785,441  3,588,73.
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current
Accounts payable (includes nil and $556 for 201@ 2011, respectively, owing to related part(note 12c; 2,17¢ 3,30z
Accrued liabilities (includes nil and $3,550 fori20and 2011, respectively, owing to related par{iestes 9, 12c

and 13) 38,13¢ 46,74(
Unearned revent 19,417 9,98¢
Current portion of lon-term debi(note 10) 86,48¢ 84,72.
Current obligations under capital le¢note 6) 70,27 47,20:
Current portion of derivative liabilitie(note 13) 48,04¢ 43,97:
Advances from affiliate(note 12c] 12,08 17,40(
Total current liabilities 276,61 253,32¢
Long-term debi(note 10) 1,326,86. 1,230,50!
Long-term obligations under capital lez(note 6) 567,30: 599,84«
Long-term unearned reveni 38,57( 40,00s
Other lon¢-term liabilities(note 6) 73,56¢ 76,09¢
Derivative liabilities(note 13) 248,24¢ 249,24!
Total liabilities 2,531,17;  2,449,02
Commitments and contingenci(notes 6, 10, 13 and 1
Equity
Non-controlling interes 41,29 26,24
Partner’ equity 1,212,98! 1,113,46
Total equity 1,254,27. 1,139,70!
Total liabilities and total equity 3,785,441  3,588,73

Subsequent evenfsote 21)

The accompanying notes are integral part of thesotidated financial statements.
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TEEKAY LNG PARTNERS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES (Notes 1 and 2)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents provided by (usec

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Non-cash items
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instrume(note 13)
Depreciation and amortizatic
Write down of vessel
Unrealized foreign currency exchange loss (g
Equity income, net of dividends received of $14,72011- $15,340 and 201~ nil)
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs ahdn
Gain on sale of vess(note 17)
Change in operating assets and liabili(note 15a;
Expenditures for dry dockin
Net operating cash flow
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of l-term debt
Debt issuance cos
Scheduled repayments of lc-term debr
Prepayments of lor-term debr
Scheduled repayments of capital lease obligatiodsother lon-term liabilities
Proceeds from equity offerings net of offering s(note 16)
Advances to and from affiliate
Advances to joint venture partne
(Increase) decrease in restricted ¢
Cash distributions pai
Purchase of Skaugen Multigas Subsidia(note 12f)

Distribution to Teekay Corporation for the acqudsitof Alexander Spirit LLC, Bermuda

Spirit LLC and Hamilton Spirit LLC(note 2)
Other

Net financing cash flow

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of equity accounted investmi(notes 12i and 1€
Proceeds received from the sale of Dania S(note 17)
Receipts from direct financing leas

Expenditures for vessels and equiprr

Other

Net investing cash flow

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivale
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the ye

Supplemental cash flow informatignote 15)
The accompanying notes are an integral part ofcivesolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010
$ $ $
139,14 97,35¢ 92,94
(6,900) 277 34,30¢
99,82t 91,91¢ 89,34%
29,36 — —
8,92¢ (10,22)) (26,700)
(64,166 (5,249 (8,047
622 1,05¢ 3,52¢
- - (4,340
(7,307) (33,45¢) 6,657
(7,497 (19,63¢) (12,72)
192,01 122,04¢ 174,97(
500,33! 600,86: 100,94!
(2,065 (2,57¢) (137)
(84,666 (290,94() (76,01¢)
(324,27 (383,00() (72,000
(10,162) (89,35() (39,14
182,31t 341,17¢ 50,92:
— 27,04¢ 16,54t
(3,600) — (10,200)
(31,217 76,24¢ 30,74
(195,909 (159,38() (135,51)
— (114,46() —
— — (33,99)
(385) 1,557 11F
30,37+ 7,17¢ (167,741
(170,06) (57,28)) (35,169
— — 21,55¢
6,15¢ 6,15¢ 5,74¢
(39,89/) (64,68¢) (26,65:)
1,36¢ (830) —
(202,43 (116,649 (34,519
19,95( 12,57: (27,299
93,62} 81,05t 108, 35(
113,57 93,62 81,05t
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TEEKAY LNG PARTNERS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES (Notes 1 and 2)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN TOTAL EQUITY
(in thousands of U.S. Dollars and units)

TOTAL EQUITY

Dropdown Partners’ Equity Non-
Predecessc controlling
General
Equity Common Subordinated Partner Interest Total
$ Units $ Units $ $ $ $

Balance as at December 31, 2009 43,017 44,97 754,41: 7,361 67,74" 38,05¢ 13,807 917,03t
Net change in pare’s equity in Dropdown

Predecessc(note 2) 46€ — — — — — — 46€
Net income and comprehensive inca 2,25¢ — 75,02¢ — 3,70( 8,89¢ 3,06z 92,94
Cash distribution — — (118,119 — (8,620) (8,780) — (135,519
Equity based compensati — — 14¢ — — 3 — 151
Additional offering costs related to

November 2009 follo-on equity offering — — (111 — (18) (2 — (137
Acquisition of Alexander Spirit LLC,

Bermuda Spirit LLC and Hamilton Spiri

LLCfrom Teekay Corporatio(note 12a’ (45,737 — (2,479 — (1,020 (14¢) — (49,37¢)
Conversion of subordinated units to common

units — 7,361 61,78" (7,367 (61,78) — — —
Acquisition of interest rate swé(note 12g; — — (1,470 — — (30 — (1,500
Direct equity placement, net of offering ca

of $0.1 million(note 16) — 1,718 49,90: — — 1,02( — 50,92:
Purchase of Excalibur and Excelsior Joint

Ventures(note 16) — 1,05: 37,30¢ — — 761 254 38,32«
Balance as at December 31, 2010 — 55,10¢ 856,42: — — 39,77¢ 17,12: 913,32
Net income and comprehensive inca — — 78,37¢ — — 11,47 7,50¢ 97,35¢
Cash distribution — — (146,909 — — (12,477 (20)) (159,58)
Equity based compensati — — 93 — — 2 — 95
Proceeds from follow-on public offering of

units, net of offering costs of $15.0

million (note 16) — 9,752 334,05t¢ — — 7,122 — 341,17¢
Acquisition of Skaugen Multigas

Subsidiaries (note 12 — — (7,857 — — (379 — (8,23))
Acquisition of equity investment in three

Angola LNG Carrier(note 12i) — — (44,127 — — (2,120 — (46,249
Sale of 1% interest in Skaugen LPG and

Multigas subsidiaries to General Partne

(note 12h) — — — — — — 1,812 1,812
Balance as at December 31, 20: — 64,85¢ 1,070,06! — — 43,40: 26,24: 1,139,70!
Net income and comprehensive inca — — 102,40: — — 21,30: 15,431 139,14.
Cash distribution — — (175,459 — — (20,45 (385) (196,299
Re-investment tax cred(note 11) — — 5,20( — — 10= — 5,30¢
Equity based compensati — — 32 — — 2 — 34
Proceeds from follow-on public offering of

units, net of offering costs of $6.9 millic

(note 16) — 4,82¢ 178,53: — — 3,78¢ — 182,31t
Acquisition of investment in the fourth

Angola LNG Carriel(note 12i) — — (15,149 — — (795) — (15,939
Balance as at December 31, 20: — 69,68: 1,165,63 — — 47,34¢ 41,29 1,254,27.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofcimesolidated financial statements.
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TEEKAY LNG PARTNERS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(all tabular amounts stated in thousands of U.S. Dlars, except unit and per unit data or unless othevise indicated)

1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Ricies

The consolidated financial statements have bequaped in accordance with United States generattggted accounting principles (or
GAAP). These financial statements include the accoofrit®ekay LNG Partners L.P. (or tRartnership), which is a limited partnership
organized under the laws of the Republic of Thed¥all Islands, its wholly owned or controlled sulisiies, the Dropdown Predecessor,
as described below in Note 2, and certain variadtérest entities for which Teekay LNG Partners.laPits subsidiaries are the primary
beneficiaries (see Note 14). Significant intercomphalances and transactions have been elimingtea consolidation. The preparation
of consolidated financial statements in conformitth GAAP requires management to make estimatesaasdmptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements andrapanying notes. Actual results may differ frorasth estimates.

In addition, certain of the comparative figures éi@een reclassified to conform to the presentataopted in the current period relating
to in-process revenue contracts of $6.5 millioDatember 31, 2011 reclassified from intangible tssaed recorded as part of other long
term liabilities in the Partnership’s consolidatedance sheets.

Foreign currency

The consolidated financial statements are statéti$h Dollars and the functional currency of thetfership and its subsidiaries is the
U.S. Dollar. Transactions involving other curremscikiring the year are converted into U.S. Dollaisgithe exchange rates in effect at
the time of the transactions. At the balance stiatt, monetary assets and liabilities that are mé@rated in currencies other than the
U.S. Dollar are translated to reflect the year-erchange rates. Resulting gains or losses aretedlseparately in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income.

Operating revenues and expenses

The lease element of time-charters and barebodtethaccounted for as operating leases are rexedjby the Partnership daily over the
term of the charter as the applicable vessel operatder the charter. The lease element of thedrahip’s time-charters that are
accounted for as direct financing leases are rtefteon the balance sheets as net investmentseict dinancing leases. The lease revenue
is recognized over the lease term using the effedtiterest rate method and is included in voyagemues. The Partnership recognizes
revenues from the non-lease element of time-chaateiracts daily as services are performed. Thm&ahip does not recognize
revenues during days that the vessel is off-hire.

Voyage expenses are all expenses unique to aydartimyage, including bunker fuel expenses, peesf cargo loading and unloading
expenses, canal tolls, agency fees and commissiassel operating expenses include crewing, repasmaintenance, insurance,
stores, lube oils and communication expenses. \lgagenses and vessel operating expenses are immbgien incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Partnership classifies all highly-liquid invesints with a maturity date of three months or elsen purchased as cash and cash
equivalents.

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful acamts

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoicedusnnand do not bear interest. The allowance foibtfal accounts is the Partnership’s
best estimate of the amount of probable crediel®#s existing accounts receivable. The Partnedtiermines the allowance based on
historical write-off experience and customer ecoitotlata. The Partnership reviews the allowance éubtful accounts regularly and
past due balances are reviewed for collectabiibcount balances are charged off against the atioeavhen the Partnership believes
that the receivable will not be recovered.

Advances to Joint Venture Partner

The Partnership’s loan receivables are recordedsit The premium paid over the outstanding pralcmount, if any, is amortized to
interest income over the term of the loan usingetifiective interest rate method. The Partnershigyaes its loans for impairment during
each reporting period. A loan is impaired whengllasn current information and events, it is probdbht the Partnership will be unable
to collect all amounts due according to the cottr@derms of the loan agreement. Factors the Eattip considers in determining that a
loan is impaired include, among other things, esessment of the financial condition of the delyppagment history of the debtor, general
economic conditions, the credit rating of the dekanad any information provided by the debtor relgag their ability to repay the loan.
When a loan is impaired, the Partnership meashesarnount of the impairment based on the presédun wd expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate @tognizes the resulting impairment in earnings.

Vessels and equipment

All pre-delivery costs incurred during the constroie of newbuildings, including interest and supgion and technical costs, are
capitalized. The acquisition cost and all costsiired to restore used vessels purchased by theePstiip to the standards required to
properly service the Partners’s customers are capitalize



Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basesr a vessel's estimated useful life, less aimased residual value. Depreciation is
calculated using an estimated useful life of 25 gdar conventional tankers, 30 years for liquefpetroleum gas (dtPG) carriers and
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TEEKAY LNG PARTNERS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(all tabular amounts stated in thousands of U.S. Dlars, except unit and per unit data or unless othevise indicated)

35 years for liquefied natural gas (dYG) carriers, from the date the vessel is deliverethfthe shipyard, or a shorter period if
regulations prevent the Partnership from operatiegvessels for 25 years, 30 years, or 35 yeapeotively. Depreciation of vessels and
equipment (including depreciation attributablelte Dropdown Predecessor) for the years ended Dexre3dbh 2012, 2011 and 2010
aggregated $76.4 million, $73.2 million and $72i8iom, respectively. Depreciation and amortizatiooludes depreciation on all owned
vessels and amortization of vessels accountedsfoapital leases.

Vessel capital modifications include the additidmew equipment or can encompass various modifinatto the vessel which are aimed
at improving or increasing the operational effidgmnd functionality of the asset. This type of exgiture is amortized over the
estimated useful life of the modification. Expend#s covering recurring routine repairs and maemee are expensed as incurred.

Interest costs capitalized to vessels and equipfoetihe years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 abd 2fgregated $24 thousand, $3.1
million and $4.2 million, respectively.

Gains on vessels sold and leased back under chgaitas are deferred and amortized over the rengaéstimated useful life of the
vessel. Losses on vessels sold and leased back capital leases are recognized immediately teeitient that the fair value of the ves
at the time of sale-leaseback is less than its bable.

Generally, the Partnership dry docks each of issels every five years. In addition, a shippingetgcclassification intermediate survey
is performed on the Partnership’s LNG and LPG essrbetween the second and third year of the feas-yry-docking period. The
Partnership capitalizes certain costs incurredndudiry docking and for the survey and amortizes¢hmsts on a straight-line basis from
the completion of a dry docking or intermediateveyrover the estimated useful life of the dry dothe Partnership includes in
capitalized dry docking those costs incurred asqfathe dry docking to meet regulatory requirensent expenditures that either add
economic life to the vessel, increase the vessalring capacity or improve the vessel's operatiifigiency. The Partnership expenses
costs related to routine repairs and maintenanderpeed during dry docking that do not improve aigrg efficiency or extend the
useful lives of the assets.

Dry-docking activity for the three years ended Deber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 is summarized asafsilo

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$ $ $
Balance at January 34,44¢ 24,39: 20,47
Cost incurred for dry dockin 7,49: 19,63¢ 12,727
Sale of vesse — — (1,477)
Dry-dock amortizatiot (13,12) (9,587 (7,339
Balance at December 2 28,82: 34,44¢ 24,39:

Vessels and equipment that are “held and useddssessed for impairment when events or circumsiandeate the carrying amount of
the asset may not be recoverable. If the asset'sang/ing value exceeds the net undiscounted ftasis expected to be generated over
its remaining useful life, the carrying amount loé asset is reduced to its estimated fair value.eltimated fair value for the
Partnership’s impaired vessels is determined udisgpunted cash flows or appraised values. In osbese an active second hand sale
and purchase market does not exist, the Partnenskipa discounted cash flow approach to estirhatiair value of an impaired vessel.
In cases where an active second hand sale andgserahmarket exists, an appraised value is gen¢hallgmount the Partnership would
expect to receive if it were to sell the vessektlSappraisal is normally completed by the Partriprsh

Investments in joint ventures

The Partnership’s investments in joint venturesam@unted for using the equity method of accogniinder the equity method of
accounting, investments are stated at initial aostare adjusted for subsequent additional invegsyend the Partnership’s proportionate
share of earnings or losses and distributions.Pdrénership evaluates its investment in joint vexgdor impairment when events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying valueuohdnvestments may have experienced an othertdraperary decline in value below
its carrying value. If the estimated fair valudess than the carrying value, the carrying valugrigen down to its estimated fair value
and the resulting impairment is recorded in thdrieaship’s consolidated statements of income.

Debt issuance costs

Debt issuance costs, including fees, commissioddeyal expenses, are presented as other assedseadeferred and amortized on an
effective interest rate method over the term ofrtdevant loan. Amortization of debt issuance castscluded in interest expense.

Gooduwill and intangible assets

Goodwill is not amortized, but reviewed for impa@mnt at the reporting unit level on an annual basisiore frequently if an event occurs
or circumstances change that would more likely thatnreduce the fair value of a reporting unit kelts carrying value. When goodwill
is reviewed for impairment, the Partnership magtdie assess qualitative factors to determine verdths more likely than not that tl



fair
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TEEKAY LNG PARTNERS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(all tabular amounts stated in thousands of U.S. Dlars, except unit and per unit data or unless othevise indicated)

value of a reporting unit is less than its carryamgount, including goodwill. Alternatively, the Ragrship may bypass this step and use &
fair value approach to identify potential goodvinfipairment and, when necessary, measure the ambimpairment. The Partnership
uses a discounted cash flow model to determinéaihgalue of reporting units, unless there isadily determinable fair market value.
Intangible assets are assessed for impairment e iif impairment indicators exist. An impairmeoss$ is recognized if the carrying
amount of an intangible asset is not recoverabdeitarcarrying amount exceeds its fair value.

The Partnership’s finite life intangible assetssishof acquired time-charter contracts and arertizeal on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the timeharters. Finite life intangible assets are assefssempairment when events or circumstances atdithat th
carrying value may not be recoverable.

Derivative instruments

All derivative instruments are initially recordetifair value as either assets or liabilities in #tteompanying consolidated balance sheet
and subsequently remeasured to fair value, regardiethe purpose or intent for holding the denixatThe method of recognizing the
resulting gain or loss is dependent on whethed#h@vative contract is designed to hedge a speggicand whether the contract qualifies
for hedge accounting. The Partnership does noydmalge accounting to its derivative instrumemtsgpt for certain types of interest
rate swaps that it may enter into in the future.

When a derivative is designated as a cash flowédnatig Partnership formally documents the relalignbetween the derivative and the
hedged item. This documentation includes the giyadéad risk management objective for undertakimghttdge and the method that will
be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedgehekige ineffectiveness is recognized immediatearnings, as are any gains and
losses on the derivative that are excluded fromasessment of hedge effectiveness. The Partnelséipnot apply hedge accounting if
it is determined that the hedge was not effectiveith no longer be effective, the derivative waddsor exercised, or the hedged item \
sold, repaid or no longer possible of occurring.

For derivative financial instruments designated quadlifying as cash flow hedges, changes in thevilue of the effective portion of the
derivative financial instruments are initially reded as a component of accumulated other comprisfegnsome in total equity. In the
periods when the hedged items affect earningsagbeciated fair value changes on the hedging desgaare transferred from total
equity to the corresponding earnings line itemhim ¢onsolidated statements of income. The ineffegiortion of the change in fair value
of the derivative financial instruments is immedlgtrecognized in earnings in the consolidatecestants of income. If a cash flow he
is terminated and the originally hedged item i stinsidered possible of occurring, the gains ksdes initially recognized in total eqt
remain there until the hedged item impacts earniagahich point they are transferred to the cqoesling earnings line item (e.g.
interest expense) in the consolidated statemeritgome. If the hedged items are no longer possibtecurring, amounts recognized in
total equity are immediately transferred to thengays item in the consolidated statements of income

For derivative financial instruments that are nesignated or that do not qualify as hedges underfeial Accounting Standards Board
(or FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (AEC) 815,Derivatives and Hedgingthe changes in the fair value of the derivative

financial instruments are recognized in earninggin&and losses from the Partnership’s designated interest rate swaps, cross cur
swap and the Partnership’s agreement with TeekagdZation for the Suezmax tanker fheledo Spiritfsee Note 12e) are recorded in
realized and unrealized loss on derivative instmisia the Partnership’s consolidated statemenitscoime.

Income taxes

The Partnership accounts for income taxes usingiahiity method. All but two of the Partnership8panish-flagged vessels are subject
to the Spanish Tonnage Tax RegimeT®R). Under this regime, the applicable tax is basethe weight (measured as net tonnage) of
the vessel and the number of days during the taxadriod that the vessel is at the Partnershigigadial, excluding time required for
repairs. The income the Partnership receives wipect to the remaining two Spanish-flagged vessédsed in Spain at a rate of 30%.
However, these two vessels are registered in tinar@dslands Special Ship Registry. Consequeritly Rartnership is allowed a credit,
equal to 90% of the tax payable on income fromctiramercial operation of these vessels, againgathetherwise payable. This
effectively results in an income tax rate of appmately 3% on income from the operation of these Spanish-flagged vessels.

The Partnership recognizes the benefits of uneetéai positions when it is more-likely-thaot that a tax position taken or expected t
taken in a tax return will be sustained upon exaim, including resolution of any related appeml$tigation processes, based on the
technical merits of the position. If a tax positimeets the more-likely-than-not recognition thrdghib is measured to determine the
amount of benefit to recognize in the financiatataents. The Partnership recognizes interest amaltpes related to uncertain tax
positions in income tax expense in the Partnershiphsolidated statements of income.

Guarantees

Guarantees issued by the Partnership, excludirggttieat are guaranteeing its own performance gaagnized at fair value at the time
the guarantees are issued and are presentedRattreership’s consolidated balance sheets as lotgterm liabilities. The liability
recognized on issuance is amortized to other ind@xgense) on the Partnership’s consolidated statesof income as the Partnership’s
risk from the guarantees declines over the terth@fuarantee. If it becomes probable that thenBestip will have to perform under a
guarantee, the Partnership will recognize an aafditiliability if the amount of the loss can beseaably estimatec



F-10



Table of Contents

TEEKAY LNG PARTNERS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(all tabular amounts stated in thousands of U.S. Dlars, except unit and per unit data or unless othevise indicated)

2. Dropdowns

The Partnership has accounted for the acquisiiomerests in vessels from Teekay Corporation targsfer of a business between
entities under common control. The method of actingrfor such transfers is similar to the poolifgraerests method of accounting.
Under this method, the carrying amount of net assstognized in the balance sheets of each congpamitity are carried forward to the
balance sheet of the combined entity, and no @thsgts or liabilities are recognized as a resuli@tombination. The excess of the
proceeds paid, if any, by the Partnership over @g€korporation’s historical cost is accounted aa equity distribution to Teekay
Corporation. In addition, transfers of net assetsvben entities under common control are accouoteas if the transfer occurred from
the date that the Partnership and the acquirecisew®re both under the common control of Teekayp@ation and had begun
operations. As a result, the Partnership’s findretetements prior to the date the interests ingh@ssels were actually acquired by the
Partnership are retroactively adjusted to inclieresults of these vessels during the periodswigeg under common control of Teekay
Corporation and had begun operations.

On March 17, 2010, the Partnership acquired tw®28It Suezmax tankers, tlermuda Spiriand theHamilton Spirit(or the

Centrofin Suezmaxgsand a 2007-built Handymax product tanker,Afexander Spirit from Teekay Corporation and the related long-
term, fixed-rate time-charter contracts. Thesesaations were deemed to be business acquisitiingée entities under common
control. As a result, the Partnerslsgonsolidated statements of income and cash flomtee year ended December 31, 2010 reflect
three vessels and their results of operationsyregfeo herein as tHeropdown Predecessomas if the Partnership had acquired them v
each respective vessel began operations undenthership of Teekay Corporation. These vessels begarations under the ownership
of Teekay Corporation on May 27, 200Bérmuda Spiri), June 24, 2009Hamilton Spirit) and September 3, 200%lexander Spiri).
The effect of adjusting the Partnership’s finansiatements to account for these common contrdlanges up to March 17, 2010,
increased the Partnership’s net income by $2.3amifor the year ended December 31, 2010.

The Partnership’s consolidated financial statemieraiside the financial position, results of opavati and cash flows of the Dropdown
Predecessor. In the preparation of these consetidatancial statements, general and administratipenses and interest expense were
not identifiable as relating solely to the vess@isneral and administrative expenses (consistiimgapily of salaries and other employee
related costs, office rent, legal and professide@s, and travel and entertainment) were allocaésgd on the Dropdown Predecessor’s
proportionate share of Teekay Corporation’s tdtgb-®perating (calendar) days for the period preskduring which the vessels were
owned by Teekay Corporation. In addition, the Dimpd Predecessor was capitalized in part with noer@st bearing loans or equity
from Teekay Corporation and its subsidiaries. Thetrcompany loans and equity were generally tigdithance the acquisition of the
vessels. Interest expense includes the allocafiorterest to the Dropdown Predecessor from Teékanporation and its subsidiaries
based upon the weighted-average outstanding batdrthese intercompany loans and equity and thghted-average interest rate
outstanding on Teekay Corporation’s loan facilitiest were used to finance these intercompany laadsquity. Management believes
these allocations reasonably present the genedad@ministrative expenses and interest expendeddtopdown Predecessor (see Note
12a).

3.  Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncement:

In January 2012, the Partnership adopted an amenndmBEASB ASC 820Fair Value Measurementwhich clarifies or changes the
application of existing fair value measurementsluding: that the highest and best use and valugiemise in a fair value measurement
are relevant only when measuring the fair valurasffinancial assets; that a reporting entity shoudghsure the fair value of its own
equity instrument from the perspective of a mapaeticipant that holds that instrument as an assgiermit an entity to measure the fair
value of certain financial instruments on a neideather than based on its gross exposure wherepioeting entity manages its financial
instruments on the basis of such net exposurejrtthe absence of a Level 1 input, a reportingyeshould apply premiums and
discounts when market participants would do so wiréing the asset or liability consistent with i@t of account; and that premiums
and discounts related to size as a characteristieaeporting entity’s holding are not permitiac fair value measurement. The
adoption of this amendment did not have an impadhe Partnership’s consolidated financial stateémether than in the disclosures as
presented in Note 4 — Financial Instruments.

4.  Financial Instruments
a) Fair Value Measuremen
The following methods and assumptions were usedtimate the fair value of each class of financisirument:

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cashThe fair value of the Partnership’s cash and eaglivalents and restricted cash
approximates its carrying amounts reported in thresolidated balance sheets.

Interest and cross currency swap agreements The fair value of the Partnership’s derivativstinments is the estimated amount that
the Partnership would receive or pay to terminla¢éeaigreements at the reporting date, taking intowr@t current interest rates, foreign
exchange rates and the current credit worthinebsthf the Partnership and the derivative countéigzarThe estimated amount is the
present value of future cash flows. The Partnershipsacts all of its derivative instruments thiougvestment-grade rated financial
institutions at the time of the transaction andunegs no collateral from these institutions. Giglea current volatility in the credit marke
it is reasonably possible that the amount recoedea derivative liability could vary by a matedahount in the near terr



Other derivative — The Partnership’s other derivative agreemenéia/éen Teekay Corporation and the Partnershipeates to hire
payments under the time-charter contract for thezBax tankeloledo Spiritsee Note 12e). The fair value of this derivatigee@ment

is the estimated amount that the Partnership waddive or pay to terminate the agreement at thertiag date, based on the present
value of the Partnership’s projection of futuretsparket tanker rates, which have been derived toment spot market tanker rates and
longterm historical average rates. As projections tfreispot rates are specific to the Partnersh@gselare considered Level 3 inputs
the purposes of estimating the fair value.

F-11



Table of Contents

TEEKAY LNG PARTNERS L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(all tabular amounts stated in thousands of U.S. Dlars, except unit and per unit data or unless othevise indicated)

Long-term debt— The fair values of the Partnership’s fixed-ratd &ariable-rate long-term debt is either basedusted market prices
or estimated using discounted cash flow analysssedan rates currently available for debt with Emierms and remaining maturities
and the current credit worthiness of the Partnprshi

The Partnership categorizes the fair value estisrayea fair value hierarchy based on the inputd teeneasure fair value. The fair value
hierarchy has three levels based on the reliakofithe inputs used to determine fair value aofed:

Level 1. Observable inputs such as quoted pricestine markets;
Level 2. Inputs, other than the quoted prices tivaanarkets, that are observable either direatlindirectly; and
Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there idditir no market data, which require the reportintjtg to develop its own assumptions.

The following table includes the estimated fairneabnd carrying value of those assets and liadslitiat are measured at fair value on a
recurring and non-recurring basis, as well as stienated fair value of the Partnership’s finanamstruments that are not accounted for a
a fair value on a recurring basis.

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Amount Value Amount Value
Hierarchy Asset Asset Asset Asset
(Liability) (Liability) (Liability) (Liability)
Level $ $ $ $
Recurring:
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted Level 1 642,16¢ 642,16¢ 589,26 589,26
Derivative instrument(note 13)
Interest rate swap agreeme-— asset: Level Z 165,68 165,68 159,60: 159,60:
Interest rate swap agreeme- liabilities Level Z (304,22() (304,22() (304,06¢) (304,06¢)
Cross currency swap agreem Level Z (2,6279) (2,627 — —
Other derivative Level & 1,10C 1,10¢ (600) (600)
Other:
Advances to joint venture partn(note 8) @ 14,00¢ @ 10,20( @
Long-term debt public (note 10) Level 1 (125,79) (129,439 — —
Long-term deb+ nor-public (note 10) Level z (1,287,56) (1,170,78) (1,315,23) (1,191,11)
(1) The advances from the Teekay Tangguh Jointiertb the joint venture partner together withjthiet venture partner’s equity

investment in the Teekay Tangguh Joint Venture frennet aggregate carrying value of the joint uenpartner’s interest in the Teekay
Tangguh Joint Venture in these consolidated fireratatements. The fair value of the individual poments of such aggregate interest i
not determinable

Changes in fair value during the years ended Deeeib 2012 and 2011 for the Partnership’s othavalive liability, the Toledo Spirit
time-charter derivative, that is measured at falug on a recurring basis using significant unokae inputs (Level 3), are as follows:

Year Ended
December 31
2012 2011
$ $
Fair value at beginning of peric (600) (20,000
Realized and unrealized gains included in earn 2,607 9,307
Settlement: (907) 93
Fair value at end of peric 1,10( (600)

In order to reduce the variability of its reventie Partnership entered into an agreement withaye€lorporation under which Teekay
Corporation pays the Partnership any amounts payalihe charterer of thieoledo Spiritas a result of spot rates being below the fixed
rate, and the Partnership pays Teekay Corporatigramounts payable to the Partnership by the aleairté theToledo Spiritas a result
of spot rates being in excess of the fixed rate @$timated fair value of this other derivativeased in part upon the Partnership’s
projection of future spot market tanker rates, Wtias been derived from current spot market tardtes and longerm historical averay
rates as well as an estimated discount rate. Tiraatsd fair value of this other derivative as efd@mber 31, 2012 is based upon an
average daily tanker rate of $29,139 (DecembeB311 — £9,498) over the remaining duration of the chartertract and a discount r:
of 8.82% (December 31,
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2011 - 8.68%). In developing and evaluating thisreste, the Partnership considers the current ramieeket fundamentals as well as the
short and long-term outlook. A higher or lower age daily tanker rate would result in a higheroovdr fair value liability or a lower or
higher fair value asset. A higher or lower discowaté would result in a lower or higher fair vakgset or liability.

No other assets or liabilities were carried at Vaiue at December 31, 2012 or December 31, 2&tkpe for the impairment of three
vessel asset groups at December 31, 2012, whiah wudtten down to an aggregate estimated fair vafug0.8 million. The estimated
fair value was based on a discounted cash flowogmbr, which is Level 3 in the fair value hierardbge Note 20).

b) Financing Receivable

The following table contains a summary of the Renghip’s loan receivables and other financing reddes by type of borrower and the
method by which the Partnership monitors the cregitlity of its financing receivables on a quastdyasis:

December December
31, 31,
Credit Quality 2012 2011
Class of Financing Receivabl Indicator Grade $ $
Direct financing leases Payment activit Performing 403,38t 409,54:
Other receivable
Long-term receivable included in other ass Payment activit Performing 1,704 78€
Advances to joint venture included in investmerdinal
advances to joint ventur Payment activit Performing — 83C
Advances to joint venture partn@rmote 8) Other internal
metrics Performing 14,00: 10,20(
419,09: 421,35

Segment Reporting

The Partnership has two reportable segmentsqitefied gas segment and its conventional tankeneety The Partnership’s liquefied
gas segment consists of LNG and LPG carriers sutgdong-term, fixed-rate charters to internatioeraergy companies and Teekay
Corporation (see Note 12b). As at December 31, 202Partnership’s liquefied gas segment consst@d LNG carriers (including 16
LNG carriers included in joint ventures that areamted for under the equity method), three LPGiear and two Multigas carriers. The
Partnership’s conventional tanker segment consistéeh Suezmax-class crude oil tankers and on@yaax product tanker operating
on long-term, fixed-rate time-charter contracténternational energy and shipping companies. Segnesults are evaluated based on
income from vessel operations. The accounting jfediapplied to the reportable segments are the aartfeose used in the preparation of
the Partnership’s consolidated financial statements

The following table presents voyage revenues ancepéage of consolidated voyage revenues for cua®that accounted for more than
10% of the Partnership’s consolidated voyage resgmuring any of the periods presented.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
(U.S. Dollars in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Ras Laffan Liquefied Natural Gas Company L. $69.6 or 189 $68.8 or 18% $68.7 or 189
Repsol YPF, S.A® $50.3 or 139 $53.9 or 14¥% $51.9 or 149
Compania Espanola de Petrol(2 $47.3 or 129 $44.4 or 12¥% $44.0 or 129
The Tangguh Production Sharing Contrac® $45.4 or 129 $43.7 or 12¥% $42.8 or 119
Teekay Corporatio® $37.6 or 109 Less than 10¢ $36.5 or 109

@ |iquefied gas segmer
@ Conventional tanker segme
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The following tables include results for these segts for the years presented in these financitdrsiants.

Year Ended December 31, 201
Conventional

Liquefied
Gas Tanker

Segment Segment Tcgal
Voyage revenue 278,51: 113,741 392,25:
Voyage expense 66 1,70¢ 1,772
Vessel operating expens 45,81¢ 40,53: 86,34’
Depreciation and amortizatic 69,06+ 30,76 99,82¢
General and administratiy®) 17,53: 9,611 27,14¢
Write down of vessel 29,36" 29,36"
Income from vessel operatio 146,03: 1,75¢ 147,79:
Equity income 78,86¢ — 78,86¢
Investment in and advances to equity accounted yeintures 409,73! — 409,73!
Total assets at December 31, 2 3,143,20! 495,55( 3,638,76
Expenditures for vessels and equipmr 39,36¢ 52¢ 39,89
Expenditures for dry dockin 6,05¢ 1,43¢ 7,49:

Year Ended December 31, 201
Conventional

Liquefied
Gas Tanker
Segment Segment Total
$ $ $
Voyage revenue 269,40t 110,56° 379,97!
Voyage expense (87 1,474 1,38
Vessel operating expens 47,77: 41,27: 89,04¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 62,88¢ 29,03( 91,91¢
General and administrativ® 13,38t 10,73t 24,12(
Income from vessel operatio 145,44 28,05¢ 173,50:
Equity income 20,58« — 20,58«
Investment in and advances to equity accounted yaintures 191,44 — 191,44t
Total assets at December 31, 2! 2,911,65! 552,68¢ 3,464,34:
Expenditures for vessels and equiprr 63,68t 99¢ 64,68"
Expenditures for dry dockin 13,83: 5,801 19,63¢
Year Ended December 31, 201
Conventional
Liquefied
Gas Tanker
Segment Segment Total
$ $ $
Voyage revenue 264,81 109,19. 374,00:
Voyage expense 29 2,01 2,04z
Vessel operating expens 46,49¢ 38,08: 84,57
Depreciation and amortizatic 60,95¢ 28,39: 89,347
General and administrativ®) 12,23¢ 11,00¢ 23,24
Gain on sale of vess (4,340 — (4,340
Restructuring charg — 17t 17E
Income from vessel operatio 149,43¢ 29,52: 178,96(
Equity income 8,04: — 8,04:
Expenditures for vessels and equiprr 24,09¢ 2,551 26,65:
Expenditures for dry dockin 2,01« 10,71 12,727

@ Includes direct general and administrative expeasesindirect general and administrative expensiscated to each segment based on

estimated use of corporate resourc
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A reconciliation of total segment assets preseintékde consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

December December
31, 31,
2012 2011
$ $
Total assets of the liquefied gas segn 3,143,20! 2,911,65!
Total assets of the conventional tanker segr 495,55t 552,68¢
Unallocated
Cash and cash equivalel 113,57 93,62"
Accounts receivable and prepaid exper 19,24 18,837
Advances to affiliate 13,86 11,92:
Consolidated total asse 3,785,441 3,588,73.
Leases and Restricted Cas
Capital Lease Obligations
December December
31, 31,
2012 2011
$ $
RasGas Il LNG Carrier 472,08! 471,39
Suezmax Tankel 165,48 175,65(
Total 637,57: 647,04°
Less current portio 70,27: 47,20:
Total 567,30: 599,84

RasGas Il LNG CarriersAs at December 31, 2012, the Partnership ownedaifterest in Teekay Nakilat Corporation {a@ekay
Nakilat Joint Venturg, which is the lessee under 30-year capital leassgements relating to three LNG carriers (oRheGas Il LNG
Carriers) that operate under time-charter contracts with Reffan Liquefied Natural Gas Company Limited (H)joint venture between
Qatar Petroleum and ExxonMobil RasGas Inc., a didryi of ExxonMobil Corporation. All amounts belamd in the table above
relating to the RasGas Il LNG Carriers capital ésaimclude the Partnership’s joint venture parg80% share.

Under the terms of the RasGas Il LNG Carriers ehjgfise arrangements, the lessor claims tax daficecon the capital expenditures it
incurred to acquire these vessels. As is typicthése leasing arrangements, tax and change ofdksvare assumed by the lessee. Leas
payments under the lease arrangements are basedtaim tax and financial assumptions at the conuement of the leases. If an
assumption proves to be incorrect, the lessortilehto increase or decrease the lease paymemaintain its agreed after-tax margin.
The Partnership’s carrying amount of the tax indéication guarantee as at December 31, 2012 was$hblion and is included as part
of other long-term liabilities in the Partnership@nsolidated balance sheets.

The tax indemnification is for the duration of flease contract with the third party plus the yéansould take for the lease payments to
be statute barred, and ends in 2041. Although tisere maximum potential amount of future paymenegkay Nakilat Joint Venture
may terminate the lease arrangements on a voluhtesig at any time. If the lease arrangements et Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture
will be required to pay termination sums to thestessufficient to repay the lessor’s investmerthimvessels and to compensate it for the
tax effect of the terminations, including recaptaf@ny tax depreciation (see Note 14d).

At their inception, the weighted-average interast implicit in these leases was 5.2%. These ddpéaes are variable-rate capital lease:
As at December 31, 2012, the commitments undeetbagital leases approximated $977.1 million, idiclg imputed interest of $505.0
million, repayable as follows:

Year Commitment
2013 $ 24,00(
2014 $ 24,00(
2015 $ 24,00(
2016 $ 24,00(
2017 $ 24,00(
Thereaftel $ 857,12¢
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As the payments in the next five years only covporion of the estimated interest expense, theeledligation will continue to increase.
Starting in 2024, the lease payments will increassover both interest and principal to commencicgon of the principal portion of tl
lease obligations.

Suezmax TankerAs at December 31, 2012, the Partnership was & fiadapital leases on five Suezmax tankers. Utldeterms of the
lease arrangements the Partnership is requiredrth@se these vessels for a fixed price, at thieropf the lessor. During 2012, the les
extended the term of one of the five leases andlbfsred its option to sell all five vessels te fartnership until 2014. However, the

Partnership expects the charterer to exercisgtteroto terminate their charter contracts on tithe Suezmax tankers in 2013. If this
occurs, the capital leases for these two vessdisavicurrently terminate and it is expected tht vessels will be sold to a third party.
the inception of these leases, the weighted-avarageest rate implicit in these leases was 7.4BesE capital leases are variable-rate
capital leases. However, any change in the leagagats resulting from changes in interest ratedfset by a corresponding change in
the charter hire payments received by the Partigersh

As at December 31, 2012, the remaining commitmemder these capital leases, including the purcbbbgations, approximated $190.5
million, including imputed interest of $25.0 milliprepayable during 2013 through 2018.

Year Commitment
2013 $ 80,79:
2014 $ 36,00(
2015 $ 7,79
2016 $ 7,67:
2017 $ 30,95:
Thereaftel $ 27,29¢
The Partnership’s capital leases do not contaemfiral or restrictive covenants other than thoksing to operation and maintenance of

the vessels.

Restricted Cash

Under the terms of the capital leases for the RasldaNG Carriers, the Partnership is required dodnon deposit with financial
institutions an amount of cash that, together withrest earned on the deposits, will equal theaieing amounts owing under the leases
These cash deposits are restricted to being usedbital lease payments and have been fully fupdigdarily with term loans (see

Note 10). As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, theuatraf restricted cash on deposit for the threeGasll LNG Carriers was $475.5
million and $476.1 million, respectively. As at Eeaber 31, 2012 and 2011, the weighted-averageesttesites earned on the deposits
were 0.4% and 0.3%, respectively. These rates toeflect the effect of related interest rate swidyad the Partnership has used to
economically hedge its floating-rate restrictedhcdsposits relating to the RasGas Il LNG Carrisee (Note 13).

The Partnership maintains restricted cash depadéting to certain term loans, which cash tot&i&€.0 million and $16.9 million, of
which a majority of these deposits were denominatdtliros, as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, riégplgc During the year ended
December 31, 2012, the Partnership deposited $8illion in a restricted cash account as securitytlie debt within MALT LNG
Holdings ApS, a joint venture between the Partriprahd Marubeni Corporation (or tHeekay LNG-Marubeni Joint Venturén order tc
acquire six LNG carriers (or tRdALT LNG Carriers) from Denmark-based A.P. Moller-Maersk A/S (sedeNtD).

The Partnership maintains restricted cash depad#atng to amounts received from charterers tades only for dry-docking
expenditures and emergency repairs, which totadet! fillion and $2.6 million as at December 31,2@hd 2011, respectively.

Operating Lease Obligations
Teekay Tangguh Joint Venture

The Partnership owns a 99% interest in Teekay Tam@wprrower LLC (ofTeekay Tanggufy which owns a 70% interest in Teekay BLT
Corporation (or th@eekay Tangguh Joint Ventureessentially giving the Partnership a 69% inteirethe Teekay Tangguh Joint
Venture. As at December 31, 2012, the Teekay Tamdgint Venture was a party to operating leasegetlyet is leasing its two LNG
carriers (or th@angguh LNG Carrier$ to a third party company (étead Lease}y The Teekay Tangguh Joint Venture is then leasing
back the LNG carriers from the same third party pany (orSublease}. Under the terms of these leases, the third gantypany claims
tax depreciation on the capital expenditures itiined to lease the vessels. As is typical in theasing arrangements, tax and change of
law risks are assumed by the Teekay Tangguh J@ntwe. Lease payments under the Subleases akdrasertain tax and financial
assumptions at the commencement of the leaseas.a$sumption proves to be incorrect, the lease patsrare increased or decreased
under the Sublease to maintain the agreed aftemtagin. The Teekay Tangguh Joint Venture’'s cagydmount of this tax
indemnification as at December 31, 2012 and Dece®ibe2011 was $9.4 million and $9.9 million, resgpeely, and is included as part
of other long-term liabilities in the consolidatedlance sheets of the Partnership. The tax indéatidn is for the duration of the lease
contract with the third party plus the years it \btake for the lease payments to be statute baaretiends in 2033. Although there is nc
maximum potential amount of future payments, thekég Tangguh Joint Venture may terminate the laassmgements on a voluntary
basis at any time. If the lease arrangements tamaithe Teekay Tangguh Joint Venture will be nexflito pay termination sums to the
third party company sufficient to repay the thiaty compan’s investment in the vessels and to compensatetitéatax effect of th



terminations, including recapture of any tax dejatémn. The Head Leases and the Subleases havea?@erms and are classified as
operating leases. The Head Lease and the Sublaathe ftwo Tangguh LNG Carriers commenced in Noven2008 and March 2009,
respectively.
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As at December 31, 2012, the total estimated funirdmum rental payments to be received and pattbuthe lease contracts are as
follows:

Head Sublease

Lease Payments
Year Receipts®) 12
2013 $ 28,84: $ 24,77¢
2014 $ 28,82¢ $ 24,77¢
2015 $ 22,18¢ $ 24,77¢
2016 $ 21,24 $ 24,77¢
2017 $ 21,24 $ 24,77¢
Thereaftel $239,06:. $278,88:¢
Total $361,40¢ $402,77¢

The Head Leases are fixed-rate operating leasds thiel Subleases have a small variable-rate conmpofis at December 31, 2012, the
Partnership had received $149.0 million of aggredttad Lease receipts and had paid $90.6 milliaggfegate Sublease payments.
portion of the Head Lease receipts that haven’hlveeognized into earnings are deferred and anedrtin a straight line basis over the
lease terms and as at December 31, 2012, $39ibmull Head Lease receipts had been deferred aheded in other long-term
liabilities in the Partnersh’s consolidated balance she:

The amount of payments under the Subleases ar¢adpaianually to reflect any changes in the leagenpats due to changes in tax le

Net Investments in Direct Financing Leases

The Tangguh LNG Carriers commenced their time-enamnvith The Tangguh Production Sharing Contradtodanuary and May 2009,
respectively. Both time-charters are accountecsodirect financing leases with 20-year terms arddllowing table lists the
components of the net investments in direct finagdeases:

December December

31, 31,

2012 2011
s 5
Total minimum lease payments to be recei 623,73¢ 662,91:
Estimated unguaranteed residual value of leasquepios 194,96! 194,96!
Initial direct costs 528 554
Less unearned reven (415,84) (448,890
Total 403,38 409,54:
Less current portio 6,65¢€ 6,074
Total 396,73( 403,46’

As at December 31, 2012, estimated minimum leagmeats to be received by the Partnership underaimgguh LNG Carrier leases in
each of the next five succeeding fiscal years vapm@oximately $39.1 million per year for 2013 thyai2017. Both leases are scheduled
to end in 2029.

Operating Leases

As at December 31, 2012, the minimum scheduleddutevenues in the next five years to be receiyetth® Partnership for the lease anc
non-lease elements under charters that were aambfortas operating leases are approximately $3#0lidn (2013), $319.0 million
(2014), $313.1 million (2015), $288.9 million (20Q1@hd $288.0 million (2017). Minimum scheduled fetuevenues do not include
revenue generated from new contracts entered fren@ecember 31, 2012, revenue from unexercis¢éidroperiods of contracts that
existed on December 31, 2012, or variable or cgetih revenues. Therefore, the minimum scheduleddutvenues should not be
construed to reflect total charter hire revenuesfity of the years.
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7. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, intangible assetsisted of time-charter contracts with a weidkdgerage amortization period of
15.9 years and 19.2 years, respectively. The eagrgimount of intangible assets for the Partnershigportable segments is as follows:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201

Conventional Conventional
Liquefied Liquefied
Gas Tanker Gas Tanker
Segment Segment Total Segment Segment Total
$

Gross carrying amount 179,81: 12,62 192,43t 179,81: 12,620 192,43t
Accumulated amortizatio (74,456 (7,996) (82,45) (65,599 (5,887 (71,486
Net carrying amour 105,35 4,627 109,98: 114,21 6,73¢€ 120,95(

Amortization expense of intangible assets wereGfrillion, $9.6 million and $9.6 million for the ges ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010, respectively. Amortization of intangibisets in the next five years are approximately3d@llion (2013), $9.0 million
(2014), $8.9 million (2015), $8.9 million (2016)cf#8.9 million (2017).

The carrying amount of goodwill as at each of Delsen81, 2012 and 2011 for the Partnershlgjuefied gas segment was $35.6 milli
In 2012 and 2011, the Partnership conducted a gitiadwairment review of its liquefied gas segmanid concluded that no impairment
had occurred.

8. Advances to Joint Venture Partner

The Partnership owns a 69% interest in the Teelangguh Joint Venture and, as of December 31, 26d2Da&cember 31, 2011, the
Teekay Tangguh Joint Venture had advances of $hlion and $10.2 million, respectively, to the Bearship’s joint venture partner,
BLT LNG Tangguh Corporation, and its parent compaly Berlian Laju Tanker. The advances are comgpride $3.6 million
promissory note due on demand that bears interestied-rate of 8.0%. The remaining amount ofddgance is non-interest bearing.

In July 2012, PT Berlian Laju Tanker entered intmart-supervised restructuring in Indonesia ireottd restructure its debts. The
Partnership believes the advances to the jointwwergartner and its parent are still collectibleegi that the expected cash flows
anticipated to be generated by the Teekay Tangginh \Jenture can be used to repay the advances.

9. Accrued Liabilities

@

December December

31, 31,

2012 2011

$ $

Voyage and vessel expen: 6,431 10,89:
Audit, legal and other general expen 6,88: 8,43t
Interest including interest rate swe 20,16: 19,60¢
Payroll and benefit® 4,00: 6,871
Income tax payable and ott 65( 931
Total 38,13« 46,74(

As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, nil and $3.6anjlkespectively, of accrued liabilities relatedctewing and manning costs payable
to the subsidiaries of Teekay Corporation (see Naty.
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10. Long-Term Debt

December December
31, 31,
2012 2011
$ $
U.S. Dolla-denominated Revolving Credit Facilities due thro2ghi8 80,00( 49,27
U.S. Dolla-denominated Term Loan due through 2! 112,26« 120,79t
U.S. Dolla-denominated Term Loan due through 2! 321,85: 346,76¢
U.S. Dolla-denominated Term Loan due through 2! 309,98 321,33
U.S. Dolla-denominated Term Loan due through 2! 108,79¢ 114,86¢
U.S. Dolla-denominated Unsecured Demand L 13,28: 13,28:
Norwegian Krone-denominated Bond due in 20 125,79: —
Eurc-denominated Term Loans due through 2 341,38. 348,90¢
Total 1,413,35 1,315,23
Less current portio 86,48¢ 84,72.
Total 1,326,86. 1,230,50!

As at December 31, 2012, the Partnership had tbnepterm revolving credit facilities available, igh, as at such date, provided for
borrowings of up to $461.4 million, of which $38llion was undrawn. Interest payments are basedlBOR plus margins. The
amount available under the revolving credit faietitreduces by $33.7 million (2013), $34.5 milli@014), $84.1 million (2015), $27.3
million (2016), $28.2 million (2017) and $253.6 laih (2018). All the revolving credit facilities rgabe used by the Partnership to fund
general partnership purposes and to fund caslidistms. The Partnership is required to repaypatrowings used to fund cash
distributions within 12 months of their being drgvftom a source other than further borrowings. féhelving credit facilities are
collateralized by first-priority mortgages grantauseven of the Partnership’s vessels, togethératiiter related security, and include a
guarantee from the Partnership or its subsidiarfied| outstanding amounts.

At December 31, 2012, the Partnership had a U.8aBdenominated term loan outstanding in the ano@i$112.3 million. Interest
payments on this loan are based on LIBOR plus 2.@b&aequire quarterly interest and principal payts@nd a bullet repayment of
$50.7 million due at maturity in 2018. This loawifay is collateralized by first-priority mortgageon the five vessels to which the loan
relates, together with certain other related sécard is guaranteed by the Partnership.

The Partnership owns a 70% interest in Teekay Hbkibrporation (or th&eekay Nakilat Joint Ventujea consolidated entity of the
Partnership. The Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture helsSa Dollar-denominated term loan outstanding,clvhas at December 31, 2012,
totaled $321.9 million, of which $153.7 million beanterest at a fixed-rate of 5.39% and requirgarigrly interest and principal
payments over the remaining term of the loan maduin 2018 and 2019. The remaining $168.2 milliears interest based on LIBOR
plus 0.68%, which requires quarterly interest paytmever the remaining term of the loan and wiljuiee bullet repayments of
approximately $56.0 million for each of three vésskie at maturity in 2018 and 2019. The term lgarollateralized by first-priority
mortgages on the three vessels, together withinestaer related security and certain guarantema the Partnership.

The Partnership owns a 69% interest in the Teelangguh Joint Venture, a consolidated entity ofRhenership. The Teekay Tangguh
Joint Venture has a U.S. Dollar-denominated teram loutstanding, which, as at December 31, 2012e@$310.0 million. Interest
payments on the loan are based on LIBOR plus margiterest payments on one tranche under thefémdlity are based on LIBOR plus
0.30%, while interest payments on the second tmach based on LIBOR plus 0.63%. One tranche raedaaguarterly payments while
the other tranche correspondingly is drawn up aifmal $95.0 million bullet payment for each ofdwessels due in 2021. This loan
facility is collateralized by first-priority mortgges on the two vessels to which the loan relabggther with certain other security and is
guaranteed by the Partnership.

At December 31, 2012, the Partnership had a U.8aBdenominated term loan outstanding in the amof$108.8 million. Interest
payments on one tranche under the loan facilitpbased on LIBOR plus 0.30%, while interest paymentthe second tranche are based
on LIBOR plus 0.70%. One tranche reduces in semitahpayments while the other tranche correspomgisgirawn up every six
months with a final $20.0 million bullet payment &ach of two vessels due 12 years and six mondhs éach vessel delivery date. This
loan facility is collateralized by first-priority artgages on the two vessels to which the loaneglabgether with certain other related
security and is guaranteed by Teekay Corporation.

The Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture has a U.S. Ddllanrominated demand loan outstanding owing to (@&ar Transport Company Ltd.
(Nakilat), which, as at December 31, 2012, totdl£8.3 million. Interest payments on this loan aasedu on a fixed interest rate of 4.8:
The loan is repayable on demand no earlier thanugep 27, 2027.

On May 3, 2012, the Partnership issued Norwegiam#&ir (orNOK) 700 million of senior unsecured bonds that matufday 2017 in

the Norwegian bond market. As at December 31, 202¢arrying amount of the bonds was $125.8 millithe bonds are listed on the
Oslo Stock Exchange. The interest payments ondhddare based on NIBOR plus a margin of 5.25%.Pdrénership entered into a
Cross currency swap, to swap all interest and fpah@ayments into U.S. Dollars, with the inteneayments fixed at a rate of 6.88% (see
Note 13), and the transfer of principal fixed a2$D million upon maturity in exchange for NOK 7@@lion.
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The Partnership has two Euro-denominated term loatstanding, which as at December 31, 2012, @t2#8.8 million Euros ($341.4
million). Interest payments are based on EURIBO# @ margin, which margins ranged from 0.60% t&6%.2s of December 31, 2012,
and require monthly interest and principal paymente term loans have varying maturities through@he term loans are
collateralized by first-priority mortgages on twessels to which the loans relate, together wittagepther related security and are
guaranteed by the Partnership and one of its siabigisl.

The weighted-average effective interest rate ferRartnership’s long-term debt outstanding at Déggrl, 2012 and 2011 was 2.29%.
This rate does not reflect the effect of relatddriest rate swaps that the Partnership has ussmbtmmically hedge certain of its floating-
rate debt (see Note 13). At December 31, 2012midugyins on the Partnership’s outstanding revoldireglit facilities and term loans
ranged from 0.30% to 2.75%.

All Euro-denominated term loans and NOK-denomindiedds are revalued at the end of each period tisenthen-prevailing

U.S. Dollar exchange rate. Due primarily to theateation of the Partnership’s NOK-denominated botius Partnership’s Euro-
denominated term loans, capital leases and restrazdsh, and the change in the valuation of thean@ahip’s cross currency swap, the
Partnership incurred foreign exchange (losses)sgair($8.2) million, $10.3 million and $27.5 miliipof which these amounts were
primarily unrealized, for the years ended Decen®ier2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The aggregate annual lobgrm debt principal repayments required for perimalssequent to December 31, 2012 are $86.5 m{#ioh3),
$88.1 million (2014), $124.9 million (2015), $9Inllion (2016) $219.5 million (2017) and $802.7 liwih (thereafter).

Certain loan agreements require that (a) the Rattipemaintains minimum levels of tangible net vacaihd aggregate liquidity, (b) the
Partnership maintains certain ratios of vesselasahs it relates to the relevant outstanding |loacipal balance, (c) the Partnership not
exceed a maximum level of leverage, and (d) orthe@Partnership’s subsidiaries maintains restrictesh deposits. The Partnership’s
ship-owning subsidiaries may not, among other thipagy dividends or distributions if the Partngpskiin default under its term loans or
revolving credit facilities. One of the Partnershiferm loans is guaranteed by Teekay Corporatmhc@ntains covenants that require
Teekay Corporation to maintain the greater of aimimm liquidity (cash and cash equivalents) of asteb50.0 million and 5.0% of
Teekay Corporation’s total consolidated debt whiak recourse to Teekay Corporation. As at DeceBihe2012, the Partnership, and
Teekay Corporation and their affiliates were in ptimce with all covenants relating to the Parthigr's credit facilities and term loans.

11. Income Tax
The components of the provision for income taxesves follows:
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010
% 8 %
Current 1,652 2,29i 1,34(
Deferred (1,027 (1,51¢ 33C
Income tax expens 62E 781 1,67(

The Partnership operates in countries that haverufif tax laws and rates. Consequently, a cons@itlweighted average tax rate will
vary from year to year according to the sourceaohimgs or losses by country and the change incgipé tax rates. Reconciliations of
the tax charge related to the relevant year aapipdicable statutory income tax rates and the atamacharge related to the relevant year
are as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010
_$ $ $
Net income before income tax expen 139,76 98,13: 94,61¢
Net income not subject to tax (148,119 (205,367 (138,95)
Net loss subject to taxe (8,35 (107,226 (44,337
At applicable statutory tax rates
Amount computed using the standard rate of corpdesd 731 (30,54¢) (24,119
Adjustments to valuation allowance and uncertairnpi@sition (3,357 25,36 19,98(
Permanent and currency differen: (2,069 (2,540 (4,195
Change in tax rat 5,31¢ 8,50¢ —
Tax expense charge related to the current ye: 625 781 1,67(
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The significant components of the Partnership’®def] tax assets (liabilities) included in otheseds were as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2012 2011
3% 3%
Derivative instruments 50,66 59,72+
Taxation loss carryforwarc 40,76: 35,55¢
Vessels and equipme 3,15( 2,17¢
Capitalized interes (2,789 (3,129
91,79: 94,33t
Valuation allowanct (85,889 (89,236
Net deferred tax asse 5,91: 5,097

The Partnership had tax losses in the United King@ar UK ) of $23.0 million as at December 31, 2012 thateasalable indefinitely for
offset against future taxable income in the UK. Pagtnership had tax losses in Spain of 139.4anilkturos (approximately $184.0
million) as at December 31, 2012 that are availéblee carried forward for 15 years for offset agafuture taxable income in Spain. -
Partnership also had tax losses in Luxembourg &f #llion Euros (approximately $104.0 million) asDecember 31, 2012 that are
available indefinitely for offset against taxablgure income in Luxembourg. Certain of the balanodbhe comparative columns above
have been adjusted with no impact on the amoutfteohet deferred tax assets.

As of December 31, 2007, the Partnership had ugrézed tax benefits of 3.4 million Euros (approxietg $5.4 million) relating to a re-
investment tax credit related to a 2005 annuafitieeg. During the third quarter of 2008, the Paatship received the refund on the re-
investment tax credit and met the more-likely-timat-recognition threshold. As a result, the Paghigrreflected this refund as a credit tc
equity as the original vessel sale transactionavadated party transaction reflected in equity2®09, the relevant tax authorities
subsequently challenged the eligibility of the mgestment tax credit and, as a result, the Pafhipebelieved the more-likely-than-not
threshold was no longer met and recognized a iigloif 3.4 million Euros (approximately $4.7 millip and reversed the benefit of the
refund against equity as of December 31, 2009.tAxaember 31, 2011, a liability of 4.2 million ©sr(approximately $5.5 million)
relating to the re-investment tax credit is inclddie other long-term liabilities. In 2012, the redet tax authorities accepted the
Partnership’s claim on its re-investment tax cradi thus the Partnership no longer has any thiifiarelated to the reinvestment tax
credit as of December 31, 2012 and the creditfieated in the Partnership’s equity for 2012.

The Partnership recognizes interest and penaéilated to uncertain tax positions in income taxegige. During the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2009, the Partnenstipred nil, $0.3 million and $1.0 million, respeety, of accrued interest and
penalties relating to income taxes. The tax ye@@62hrough 2012 currently remain open to examamalty the major tax jurisdictions to
which the Partnership is subject.

Related Party Transactions

a) On March 17, 2010, the Partnership acquired ffeekay Corporation the two 2009-built Centrofiredmaxes and th&lexander

Spirit and the associated long-term fixed-rate time-chadatracts for a total cost of $160 million. Assdebed in Note 2, the acquisition
was accounted for as a reorganization of entitieieticommon control and accounted for on a basisasito the pooling of interest
basis. The Partnership financed the acquisitioadspming $126 million of debt, drawing $24 million its existing revolving credit
facilities and using $10 million of cash. In additj the Partnership acquired approximately $15anilbf working capital in exchange for
a short-term vendor loan from Teekay Corporatidme &xcess of the purchase price over the histararaying value of the assets
acquired was $3.6 million and is reflected as &idistion of capital to Teekay Corporation.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, $0.7anilif general and administrative expenses attritb@it® the operations of the
Centrofin Suezmaxes ardexander Spiritvere incurred by Teekay Corporation and have b#ecaded to the Partnership as part of the
results of the Dropdown Predecessor.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, $0.3aniliif interest expense attributable to the opemataf theAlexander Spiritvas
incurred by Teekay Corporation and has been akalctt the Partnership as part of the results obDiflopdown Predecessor.
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b) Two of the Partnership’s LNG carriers, #hestic SpiritandPolar Spirit(or theKenai LNG Carriers), are employed on long-term
charter contracts with subsidiaries of Teekay Cafion. In addition, the Partnership and certaiitobperating subsidiaries have ente
into services agreements with certain subsidiaié&eekay Corporation pursuant to which the TeeRayporation subsidiaries provide
the Partnership and its subsidiaries with admiafiste, crew training, advisory, business developmtechnical and strategic consulting
services. Finally, the Partnership reimburses taeetal Partner for expenses incurred by the GePRarréiher that are necessary for the
conduct of the Partnership’s business. Such reledety transactions, excluding expenses allocat¢le Partnership as part of the result
of the Dropdown Predecessor, were as follows ferpiriods indicated:

Year Ended

December December December

31, 31, 31,

2012 2011 2010

$ $ $

Revenues) 37,63( 35,06¢ 36,51:
Vessel operating expens®) 2,54¢ 2,74; 3,791
General and administrativ® 4 19,71( 15,46¢ 14,91¢

Commencing in 2008, the Kenai LNG Carriers wereetichartered to Teekay Corporation at a fixed-ratefperiod of ten years (plus
options exercisable by Teekay Corporation to extgntb an additional 15 year:

Teekay Corporatic’s crew training

Includes commercial, technical, strategic, busimess&lopment and administrative management feaegetidoy Teekay Corporation and
reimbursements to Teekay Corporation and our GeRaréner for costs incurred on the Partner' s behalf,

Amounts are net of $0.2 million, $1.0 million and.® million for the years ended December 31, 2@D2,1 and 2010, respectively, wh
consist of the amortization of $3.0 million paidtke Partnership by Teekay Corporation in Marcha2fa® the right to provide ship
management services to certain of the Partne’'s vessels

c) As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, crewing anthing costs of nil and $4.1 million, respectiveligre payable to affiliates and were
included as part of accounts payable and accrabdifies in the Partnership’s consolidated balastoeets. In addition, as at

December 31, 2012 and 2011, non-interest bearingraes to affiliates totaled $13.9 million and ®lillion, respectively, and non-
interest bearing advances from affiliates total&d.$ million and $17.4 million, respectively. Themvances are unsecured and have nc
fixed repayment terms.

d) In connection with the Partnerstsphitial public offering in May 2005, the Partnleis entered into an omnibus agreement with Te
Corporation, the General Partner and other relpéetles governing, among other things, when thénBeship and Teekay Corporation
may compete with each other and certain rightérsif 6ffer on LNG carriers and Suezmax tankeréeember 2006, the omnibus
agreement was amended in connection with the lipitiblic offering of Teekay Offshore Partners L(&. Teekay Offshore As
amended, the agreement governs, among other thifhgs, the Partnership, Teekay Corporation and fe€kshore may compete with
each other and certain rights of first offer on LN&riers, oil tankers, shuttle tankers, floatitmyage and offtake units and floating
production, storage and offloading units.

e) The Partnership’'s Suezmax tankerTbéedo Spiritoperates pursuant to a timbarter contract that increases or decreasesileendse
fixed-hire rate established in the charter depandimthe spot charter rates that the Partnershigditave earned had it traded the vesse
in the spot tanker market. The remaining term efttme-charter contract is 13 years, although tiaaterer has the right to terminate the
time-charter in July 2018. The Partnership hasredtsto an agreement with Teekay Corporation umdéch Teekay Corporation pays
the Partnership any amounts payable to the chadsra result of spot rates being below the fixad,rand the Partnership pays Teekay
Corporation any amounts payable to the Partneeshgpresult of spot rates being in excess of ieel fiate.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@hd, the Partnership realized gains (losses) & &lion, ($0.1) million and
($1.9) million, respectively, for amounts receiveam or paid to Teekay Corporation as a resulhaf agreement (see Note 13). The
amounts receivable or payable to Teekay Corporatiersettled at the end of each year.

f) In July 2008, subsidiaries of Teekay CorporaffontheSkaugen Multigas Subsidiarigsigned contracts to purchase from .M.
Skaugen ASA (oBkaugen two multigas carriers (or tigkaugen Multigas Carriers which are two technically advanced 12,000-cubic
meter newbuilding ships capable of carrying LNG@ & ethylene. The Partnership agreed to acquér&kaugen Multigas Subsidiaries
from Teekay Corporation upon delivery of the vessel

On June 15, 2011 and October 17, 2011, the twodgkalultigas Carriers, thdorgas Unikumand theNorgas Visionwere delivered
and commenced service under a 15-year, fixed-fateers to Skaugen. On delivery, the Partnershigwoently acquired Teekay
Corporation’s 100% ownership interests in the Skaugultigas Subsidiaries for a purchase price d#4$3 million. These transactions
were concluded between entities under common daantidy thus, the assets acquired were recordedtatibal book value. The excess
the combined purchase price over the combined bahle of the assets of $8.2 million was accounted$ an equity distribution to
Teekay Corporation.

g) During 2010, the Partnership agreed to acquinaet@rest rate swap, with a notional amount of.838illion, relating to an LPG Carri
newbuild from Teekay Corporation for no considenatand the Partnership accounted for this swamd@010. The actual acquisition



this interest rate swap was concurrent with theveel of the LPG Carrier on September 15, 2011sThinsaction was concluded
between related parties and thus, the interessrap was recorded at its carrying value which &psal to its fair value. The excess of

the liability assumed over the consideration pambanting to $1.5 million was charged to equity dgrthe year ended December 31,
2010.

h) During September and October 2011, the Partipessid 1% of its ownership interest in its Skaufytuitigas Subsidiaries and the
Skaugen LPG Carriers at that time to the Genendh®&afor approximately $1.8 million.

i) In December 2007, a consortium in which Teekaypgoration had a 33% ownership interest agreethaoter four newbuilding
160,400-cubic meter LNG carriers (or tAergola LNG Carrierg for a period of 20 years to Angola LNG Supplyegs LLC. The

consortium entered into agreements to construdioirelLNG carriers at a total cost of $906.2 millilf which Teekay Corporation’s
33% portion was $299.0
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million), excluding capitalized interest. The vdss@re chartered at fixed rates, with inflationustinents, which began upon delivery of
the vessels. In March 2011, the Partnership agmeadquire Teekay Corporation’s 33% ownership ggein these vessels and related
charter contracts upon delivery of each vessel.

Three of the four Angola LNG Carriers deliveredidgrAugust to October 2011 and commenced theiredxyfixed-rate charters to
Angola LNG Supply Services LLC. Concurrently, trertRership acquired Teekay Corporation’s 33% owniprsiterest in these three
vessels and related charter contracts for a tqtatyepurchase price of $57.3 million (net of assahdebt of $193.8 million). This
transaction was concluded between entities undanwmn control and thus, the assets acquired weceded at historical book value. 1
excess of the purchase price over the book valtieechssets of $46.2 million was accounted fomascauity distribution to Teekay
Corporation in 2011.

In January 2012, the remaining Angola LNG Carriglivéired and commenced its 20-year, fixed-ratetehaConcurrently, the
Partnership acquired Teekay Corporation’s 33% oshiprinterest in this vessel and related chartatraot for a total equity purchase
price of $19.1 million (net of assumed debt of 864hillion). The excess of the purchase price okierttook value of the assets (including
the fair market value of the interest rate swapeiated with debt secured by the vessel) underliieg33% ownership interest in the
fourth vessel of $15.9 million was accounted foaasquity distribution to Teekay Corporation. Hetnership’s investments in the
Angola LNG Carriers are accounted for using thdtgquethod.

j) In February 2012, the Partnership incurred & $Tillion charge relating to a one-time fee to TeaelCorporation for its support in the
Partnership’s successful acquisition of its 52%riest in six LNG carriers (see Note 19). This asitjon fee is reflected as part of
investments in and advances to equity accountetlyentures in the Partnership’s consolidated walaheets.

13. Derivative Instruments

The Partnership uses derivative instruments inralecee with its overall risk management policy. Haetnership has not designated
these derivative instruments as hedges for acaayptirposes.

Foreign Exchange Risk

In May 2012, concurrent with the issuance of NOK Tdillion of senior unsecured bonds (see Note th@) Partnership entered into a
cross currency swap and pursuant to this swapahed?ship receives the principal amount in NOKmmaturity date of the swap, in
exchange for payment of a fixed U.S. Dollar amoimaddition, the cross currency swap exchangeseipt of floating interest in NOK
based on NIBOR plus a margin for a payment of D@lar fixed interest. The purpose of the crossaucy swap is to economically
hedge the foreign currency exposure on the paywofanterest and principal of the Partnership’s N@&iominated bonds due in 2017
and to economically hedge the interest rate exgog\s at December 31, 2012, the Partnership wasiibed to the following cross
currency swap:

Fair Value / Weighted-
Carrying Average
Principal Principal Floating Rate Receivable Fixed Amount of Remaining
Amount Amount Reference Rate Liability Term
NOK $ Rate Margin Payable $ (Years)
700,00( 125,00( NIBOR 5.25% 6.88% (2,629 4.2
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Interest Rate Risk

The Partnership enters into interest rate swapshwither exchange a receipt of floating interesef payment of fixed interest or a
payment of floating interest for a receipt of fixatkerest to reduce the Partnership’s exposuretéwést rate variability on its outstanding
floating-rate debt and floating-rate restrictedhcdsposits. As at December 31, 2012, the Partneveds committed to the following
interest rate swap agreements:

Fair Weightec-
Value /
Carrying Average Fixed
Amount Remaining  Interest
Principal of Assets
Interest Amount (Liability) Term Rate
Rate Index $ $ (years) (%) (1)
LIBOR -Based Debt:
U.S. Dolla-denominated interest rate swi? LIBOR 412,88( (110,590 24.1 4.¢
U.S. Dolla-denominated interest rate swi2 LIBOR 203,45! (57,809 6.2 6.2
U.S. Dolla-denominated interest rate swi LIBOR 90,00( (17,937 5.7 4.¢
U.S. Dolla-denominated interest rate swi LIBOR 100,00( (20,205 4.C &
U.S. Dolla-denominated interest rate sw®) LIBOR 206,25( (56,355 16.C 5.2
LIBOR -Based Restricted Cash Deposi
U.S. Dolla-denominated interest rate swi? LIBOR 469,26( 165,68° 24.1 4.¢
EURIBOR -Based Debt:
Eurc-denominated interest rate swi EURIBOR 341,38:. (41,329 11t 3.1
(138,53)

@
@
®
@)

Excludes the margins the Partnership pays onaigific-rate term loans, which, at December 31, 2012, rhifrgen 0.30% to 2.75%
Principal amount reduces quarte!

Principal amount reduces se-annually.

Principal amount reduces monthly to 70.1 milliorr@&u($92.5 million) by the maturity dates of theapaagreement

Credit Risk

The Partnership is exposed to credit loss in tlemesf non-performance by the counterparties tartterest rate swap agreements. In
order to minimize counterparty risk, the Partngrgmly enters into derivative transactions with rt@uparties that are rated A- or better
by Standard & Poor’s or A3 or better by Moody’sta time of the transactions. In addition, to theent practical, interest rate swaps are
entered into with different counterparties to reglaoncentration risk.

Other Derivatives

In order to reduce the variability of its reventie Partnership has entered into an agreementlwékay Corporation under which
Teekay Corporation pays the Partnership any amaaytsble to the charterer of tlieledo Spiritas a result of spot rates being below the
fixed rate, and the Partnership pays Teekay Cotiporany amounts payable to the Partnership bygliagterer of th@oledo Spiritas a
result of spot rates being in excess of the fixad.rThe fair value of the derivative asset at Dexsr 31, 2012 was $1.1 million
(December 31, 2011 — a liability of $0.6 million).

The following table presents the location and ¥aillue amounts of derivative instruments, segregayetype of contract, on the
Partnership’s consolidated balance sheets.

Current Current
portion of portion of
derivative Derivative derivative
Accounts Accrued Derivative
receivable assets assets liabilities liabilities liabilities
As at December 31, 201
Interest rate swap agreeme 451: 16,927 144,24 (10,887 (48,04¢) (245,28)
Cross currency swap agreem 54 28t — — — (2,967)
Toledo Spirit tim-charter derivativ — — 1,10¢ — — —

4567 17,21: 14534 (10,887 (48,040 (248,249

As at December 31, 2011

Interest rate swap agreeme 4,34« 15,60¢ 139,65. (11,44¢ (43,979 (248,64)
Toledo Spirit tim-charter derivativ — — — — — (600)

434. 1560f 139,65 (11,449 (43,979 (249,24
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Realized and unrealized (losses) gains relatingtévest rate swap agreements and the Toledo 8pigtcharter derivative are
recognized in earnings and reported in realizedusmméalized loss on derivative instruments in theriership’s consolidated statements
of income. The effect of the (loss) gain on thesevétives on the Partnership’s consolidated statgmof income is as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Realized Realized Realized
gains gains gains gains gains gains
(losses) (losses) Total (losses) (losses) Total (losses) (losses) Total
Interest rate swap agreeme (37,427 5200 (32,22) (62,660 (9,677 (72,33) (42,49 (34,900 (77,40)
Toledo Spirit tim-charter derivativ 907 1,70C 2,601 (93 9,40( 9,301 (1,919 60C (1,319

14,

(36,520 6,900 (29,620 (62,75 (277) (63,03) (44,419) (34,300 (78,720

Unrealized and realized gains (losses) of the a@os®ncy swap are recognized in earnings and teghar foreign currency exchange
(loss) gain in the Partnership’s consolidated states of income. For the year ended December 3R, 20realized losses of ($2.7)
million and realized gains of $0.3 million were ogoized in earnings.

Commitments and Contingencie:

a) The Partnership consolidates certain varialtégast entities ¢r VIES) within its consolidated financial statementsgémeral, a VIE i

a corporation, partnership, limited-liability conmya trust or any other legal structure used to cehdctivities or hold assets that either
(1) has an insufficient amount of equity to cargy its principal activities without additional suldinated financial support, (2) has a
group of equity owners that are unable to makeifségimt decisions about its activities, or (3) tzagroup of equity owners that do not
have the obligation to absorb losses or the rigihéteive returns generated by its operations.réy phat is a variable interest holder is
required to consolidate a VIE if the holder hashh@l) the power to direct the activities of a VHat most significantly impact the entity’s
economic performance and (b) the obligation to dbkisses of the VIE that could potentially be #igant to the VIE or the right to
receive benefits from the VIE that could potenyidde significant to the VIE.

In July 2008, the Skaugen Multigas Subsidiarieaesiigcontracts for the purchase of the Skaugen §hadtCarriers from Skaugen. The
Partnership agreed to acquire the Skaugen MulBghsidiaries from Teekay Corporation upon deliva@frthe vessels. Subsequent to .
2008 and prior to the delivery of the vessels imeJand October 2011, the Partnership consolidate&kaugen Multigas Subsidiaries as
they were VIEs and the Partnership was the prirbaneficiary during this period. The Partnershipuéieg 100% of the shares of the t
Skaugen Multigas Subsidiaries on June 15, 2011Catdber 17, 2011, respectively.

b) On December 12, 2012, the Partnership signeshtract with Daewoo Shipbuilding & Marine EnginewyiCo. Ltd. for the

construction of two 173,400-cubic meters LNG casr& a total cost of approximately $386 milliorcleiding capitalized interest. The
vessels are scheduled for delivery in 2016. Asetdinber 31, 2012, payments made towards these ¢orents totaled $38.6 million
(excluding $24 thousand of capitalized interestsjog\s at December 31, 2012, the remaining paysnemjuired to be made under these
newbuilding contracts are $19.3 million (2014), bmillion (2015) and $270.2 million (2016).

c) As described in Note 6, the Teekay Nakilat Jvianture is the lessee under B€ar capital lease arrangements with a third darthe
three RasGas Il LNG Carriers (or tRasGas Il Leases The UK taxing authority (ddMRC) has been urging the lessor as well as othe
lessors under capital lease arrangements thatthawenefits similar to the ones provided by the®as Il Leases, to terminate such
finance lease arrangements and has in other citances challenged the use of similar structuresa Assult, the lessor has requested
the Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture enter into nediiies to terminate the RasGas Il Leases. The TeNlkdjlat Joint Venture has declined
this request as it does not believe that HRMC wdedble to successfully challenge the availabdftthe tax benefits of these leases to
the lessor. This assessment is partially basedJamaary 2012 court decision, regarding a simitarfcial lease of an LNG carrier, that
ruled in favor of the taxpayer. However, the HMRGppealing that decision and the appeal is expe¢ctee heard in May 2013. If the
HMRC were able to successfully challenge the Rasldasases, the Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture cdaddsubject to significant costs
associated with the termination of the lease aeiased lease payments to compensate the lessbeflmst tax benefits. The Partnership
estimates its 70% share of the potential exposube tapproximately $29 million, exclusive of potahfinancing and interest rate swap
termination costs.

The Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture has received iwatiion from the lessor of the three vessels akditrating downgrade to the bank
was providing the letter of credit (€ Bank) to Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture’s tax lease. Assult, the lessor has claimed an increase
to the lease rentals over the remaining term oR&asGas Il Leases and instructed that an estin¥dt2dnillion additional amount of cash
be placed on deposit by the Teekay Nakilat Joimt\ie. The Teekay Nakilat Joint Venture has engagéernal legal counsel to assess
these claims. The Partnership’s 70% share of tbegoit value of the lease rental increase claippsoximately $10 million; however,

the final amount is dependent on external legahselis review. The Teekay Nakilat Joint Venturalso looking at other alternatives to
mitigate the impact of the downgrade to the LC Bsugkedit rating.
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Supplemental Cash Flow Information

a) The changes in operating assets and liabiftiegears ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2@l8safiollows:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010
$ $ $

Accounts receivabl 513 5,441 (8,3972)
Prepaid expenst (920 99t 692
Accounts payabl (1,129 (2,059 (32€)
Accrued liabilities (8,606 8,06¢ (3,255
Unearned revenue and lc-term unearned reveni 7,99¢ (5,809 (1,189
Restricted cas (1,469 (2,749 —
Advances to and from affiliates and joint ventuagtpers (7,259 (42,55) 12,88(
Other operating assets and liabilit 3,551 4,19¢ 6,241
Total (7,307) (33,45%) 6,657

b) Cash interest paid (including interest paidhey Dropdown Predecessor and realized losses arshtate swaps) on long-term debt,
advances from affiliates and capital lease obligetj net of amounts capitalized, during the yeaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010 totaled $131.1 million, $154.3 million (incing a termination fee of $22.6 million) and $13&m8lion, respectively.

¢) The Partnership’s consolidated statements d¢f flaws for the year ended December 31, 2010 refigee Dropdown Predecessor as if
the Partnership had acquired the Dropdown Predercessen the vessels began operations under thershipeof Teekay Corporation.

d) During the years ended December 31, 2012, 20d2810 cash paid for corporate income taxes wasiillion, $1.5 million and
$0.2 million, respectively.

e) In November 2010, the $37.3 million portion loé fpurchase price relating to the Partnership’s 86@fisition of the Excalibur and
Excelsior Joint Ventures through the issuance diillion common units was treated as a non-caahsaction in the Partnership’s
consolidated statements of cash flows.

Total Capital and Net Income Per Unit
The following table summarizes the issuances ofmomunits over the three years ending Decembe2(BlL2:

Teekay
Corporation’ s

Number of Offering Gross Net Ownership

Common Proceeds) Proceeds After the

Date Units Issued Price $ $ Offering (@ Use of Proceed

July 2010 Prepayment of revolving credit

facilities and general corporate

1,713,50. $29.1¢ 51,00( 50,92: 47.7(%  purpose:

November 201! Acquisition of Excelsior and
1,052,74" $35.4¢ 38,07( 38,07( 46.89%  Excalibur Joint Venture

April 2011 Prepayment of revolving credit
4,251,801 $38.8¢ 168,68: 161,65 43.62% facilities

November 201.: Prepayment of revolving credit
5,500,000 $33.4( 187,44¢ 179,52 40.09% facilities

September 2012 Prepayment of revolving credit
4,825,86. $38.4: 189,24: 182,31t 37.4% facilities

(€3]
@

Including General Partn's 2% proportionate capital contributic
Including Teekay Corporati’s indirect 2% general partner intere

During 2012, the board of directors of the GenBaattner authorized the award by the Partnership2&3 common units to each of the
four non-employee directors with a value of appmeedely $50,000 for each award. The Chairman wasdetia2,210 common units with
a value of approximately $87,500. These commorsundére purchased by the Partnership in the opekaniar March 2012 and were
fully vested upon grant. During 2011 and 2010,Rhaetnership awarded 1,267 and 1,007 common uagpgectively, as compensation to
each of the four non-employee directors. The awaste fully vested in May 2011 and May 2010, resipety. The compensation to the
non-employee directors is included in general aidinistrative expenses on the consolidated statenuénncome.
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Limited Total Rights
Significant rights of the Partnership’s limited frars include the following:
» Right to receive distribution of available cashhiitapproximately 45 days after the end of eachtqu

* No limited partner shall have any management pawer the Partnerst’s business and affairs; the General Partner sbaliluct,
direct and manage Partner<'s activities.

* The General Partner may be removed if such renisagdproved by unitholders holding at least 66-2(F%e outstanding units
voting as a single class, including units held by General Partner and its affiliats

Subordinated Units

All of the Partnership’s subordinated units, whieére issued in connection with the Partnershiptginpublic offering in 2005, were
held by a subsidiary of Teekay Corporation. Untiergartnership agreement, during the subording@riod applicable to the
Partnership’s subordinated units, the common ungtsthe right to receive distributions of availabdesh from operating surplus in an
amount equal to the minimum quarterly distributadr$0.4125 per quarter, plus any arrearages ipayenent of the minimum quarterly
distribution on the common units from prior quastdyefore any distributions of available cash figmerating surplus may be made on
subordinated units. Distribution arrearages doaicotue on the subordinated units. The purposeec$ibordinated units was to increase
the likelihood that during the subordination peribdre would be available cash to be distributethercommon units.

On May 19, 2009, 3.7 million subordinated units veonverted into an equal number of common uni@gded for under the terms of
the partnership agreement and began participatimggpa with the other common units in distribuiaf available cash commencing v
the August 2009 distribution. The price of the Rarship’s units at the time of conversion was $4.7.6

The subordination period ended on April 1, 2010 #redremaining 7.4 million subordinated units catee into an equal number of
common units. The price of the Partnership’s uaiitsme of conversion was $29.95.

Incentive Distribution Rights

The General Partner is entitled to incentive distions if the amount the Partnership distributesrtitholders with respect to any quarter
exceeds specified target levels shown below:

Genere
Quarterly Distribution Target Amount (per ur Unitholder: Partnel
Minimum quarterly distribution of $0.4125 98% 2%
Up to $0.462¢ 98% 2%
Above $0.4625 up to $0.53° 85% 15%
Above $0.5375 up to $0.¢ 75% 25%
Above $0.6t 50% 50%

During 2012, cash distributions exceeded $0.462%1pi¢ and, consequently, the assumed distribugfamet income resulted in the use of
the increasing percentages to calculate the GeRaraier’s interest in net income for the purpagfale net income per unit calculation.

In the event of a liquidation, all property andltés excess of that required to discharge all ligds will be distributed to the unitholders
and the General Partner in proportion to theirtedpiccount balances, as adjusted to reflect aimyagdoss upon the sale or other
disposition of the Partnership’s assets in liquatain accordance with the partnership agreement.

Net Income Per Unit

Net income per unit is determined by dividing metdme, after deducting the amount of net incoméattble to the Dropdown
Predecessor, the non-controlling interest and tiee@al Partner’s interest, by the weighted-averageber of units outstanding during
the period.

The General Partner's, common unitholders’ and slibated unitholder’s interests in net income aleuwlated as if all net income was
distributed according to the terms of the Partripisipartnership agreement, regardless of whetiese earnings would or could be
distributed. The partnership agreement does naigrdor the distribution of net income; ratherpibvides for the distribution of
available cash, which is a contractually definechtéhat generally means all cash on hand at theo€redch quarter after establishment o
cash reserves determined by the Partnership’s lwfatidectors to provide for the proper conductha# Partnership’s business including
reserves for maintenance and replacement capipeineliture and anticipated credit needs. In additiom General Partner is entitled to
incentive distributions if the amount the Partngrslistributes to unitholders with respect to amader exceeds specified target levels.
Unlike available cash, net income is affected by-nash items, such as depreciation and amortizaiimealized gains or losses on non-
designated derivative instruments and foreign auyréranslation (losses) gains.

Pursuant to the Partnership agreement, allocatmpartners are made on a quarterly basis.
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Other Information

On November 5, 2010, the Partnership sold onesdfftG carriers, thBania Spirit,for proceeds of $21.5 million, resulting in a gain
$4.3 million.

Restructuring Charge

During 2009, the Partnership restructured certaip mianagement functions from the Partnership'sefih Spain to a subsidiary of
Teekay Corporation and changed the nationalityeofain seafarer positions. During the year endeckBer 31, 2010, the Partnership
incurred expenses of $0.2 million, in connectiothvthese restructuring plans. No further expenskesing to this restructuring plan was
incurred subsequent to 2010.

Equity Method Investments

On February 28, 2012, the Teekay LNG-Marubeni Jgarture acquired a 100% interest in the six MALNG Carriers from Denmark-
based A.P. Moller-Maersk A/S for approximately $tilion. The Partnership and Marubeni CorporatijonMarubeni) have 52% and
48% economic interests, respectively, but sharé¢rabof Teekay LNG-Marubeni Joint Venture. Sincentrol of the Teekay LNG-
Marubeni Joint Venture is shared jointly betweernrblb@ni and the Partnership, the Partnership acsdantts investment in the Teekay
LNG-Marubeni Joint Venture using the equity methbde Teekay LNG-Marubeni Joint Venture financed @iiquisition with $1.06
billion from secured loan facilities and $266 nati from equity contributions from the Partnershig &arubeni Corporation. The
Partnership has agreed to guarantee its 52% shdre secured loan facilities of the Teekay LNG-Mgzeni Joint Venture and as a result,
deposited $30 million in a restricted cash accasrgecurity for the debt within the Teekay LNG-Mzeni Joint Venture and recorded a
guarantee liability of $1.4 million. The carryinglue of the guarantee liability as at December2812, was $0.6 million and is included
as part of other long-term liabilities in the Parship’s consolidated balance sheets. The Paripdrab a 52% economic interest in the
Teekay LNG-Marubeni Joint Venture and consequétglghare of the $266 million equity contributioasv$138.2 million. The
Partnership also contributed an additional $5.8anilfor its share of legal and financing costs amcbrded the $7.0 million acquisition
fee paid to Teekay Corporation as part of the itnaeat (see Note 12j). The Partnership financedthgty contributions by borrowing
under its existing credit facilities.

On November 4, 2010, the Partnership acquired aifi@&test in the Excalibur and Excelsior Joint Weas from Exmar NV for a total
equity purchase price of approximately $72.5 milljoet of assumed debt). The Partnership finan8&d3$million of the purchase price
by issuing to Exmar NV approximately 1.1 millioommeommon units with the balance financed by dravangne of the Partnership’s
revolving credit facilities. As part of the trantiaa the Partnership agreed to guarantee its 5@#egif the $206 million of debt secured
by the Excalibur and Excelsior Joint Ventures. €keess of the Partnership’s investment in the Exeabnd Excelsior Joint Ventures
over its underlying equity in the net assets, whinfounts to approximately $51 million, has sub&diptbeen accounted for as an
increase to the carrying value of the vessels @fkcalibur and Excelsior Joint Ventures, in acaomt with the finalized purchase price
adjustments.

The Partnership has a 33% ownership interest inf60,400-cubic meter LNG carriers (or thegola LNG Carriery. The Angola LNG
Carriers are chartered at fixed rates, subjegtftation adjustments, to Angola LNG Supply Servite€ for a period of 20 years from
the date of delivery from the shipyard, with tweefiyear options for the charterer to extend thetehaontract and are classified as direc
financing leases. The charterer has the optioartaihate the charter upon 120 days notice and patyai@n early termination fee, whi
would equal approximately 50% of the fully built-upst of the applicable vessel. Three of the Angd& Carriers delivered in 2011
and the remaining Angola LNG Carrier deliveredamuJary 2012 (see Note 12i).

The Partnership has a 40% interest in the Teek&jldd€lll) Corporation (orRasGas 3 Joint Ventujewhich owns four LNG carriers
that are chartered out under long-term contraetsare classified as direct financing leases.

These joint ventures are accounted for using thiyemethod. The RasGas 3 Joint Venture, the Eiarel®int Venture and the Angola
Joint Venture are considered VIES; however, thénReship is not the primary beneficiary and cordaidion is not required. The
Partnership’s maximum exposure to loss as a resitk investment in the RasGas 3 Joint Venture Bkcelsior Joint Venture and the
Angola LNG Carriers is the amount it has investethiese joint ventures, which were $107.4 milli$s8.7 million and $28.7 million,
respectively, as at December 31, 2012. In addttierPartnership also guarantees its portion oEttelsior Joint Venturg’' debt of $40.!
million and the Angola Joint Venture’s debt and pwaf $282.9 million.

The following table presents aggregated summafipadcial information assuming a 100% ownershigiiest in the Partnership’s equity
method investments and excluding the impact fronclpase price adjustments arising from the acqarsitf the Excalibur and Excelsior
Joint Ventures.
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As at December 31

20122 2011
$ $
Cash and restricted cash 155,94 94,50¢
Other assetdd current 57,86¢ 34,10(
Vessels and equipme 1,653,27. 226,79:
Net investments in direct financing lead] nor-current 1,938,01 1,728,70:
Other assetl] nor-current 180,89¢ 165,91:
Current portion of lon-term debi® 1,075,85. 71,07
Other liabilitiesdd current 122,70: 69,82¢
Long-term debi 1,603,11 1,483,67
Other liabilitiesC]  nor-current 446,73 315,27:

Years ended December 3:

20120A) 2011@ 2010
$ $ $
Voyage revenues 412,97 167,09: 106,37:
Income from vessel operatio 278,06 124,55 83,99:
Realized and unrealized loss on derivative instntg (39,429 (41,627) (35,179
Net Income 180,05¢ 51,49: 20,09:

The results included for the Teekay LNG-Marubemntlgenture were from the acquisition of the MAL NG Carriers, which were
acquired on February 28, 20:

The results included for the Angola Joint Ventuerevfrom the time the vessels were delivered frargust, September, October 2011
and January 2012, respective

The Teekay LNG-Marubeni Joint Venture expects fmamce its existing debt facility maturing in Augfl2013 with two long-term
project facilities and a medium-term facility, seedi by all of the vessels under the joint ventwevall as through guarantees from the
joint venture partners based on their relative shatdings

The results included for the Excalibur and Exceldmint Ventures were from November 4, 20

Write Down of Vessels

The Partnership’s consolidated statement of incfumthe year ended December 31, 2012 includes a$8Blion write-down on three ¢
the Partnership’s conventional Suezmax tankersTé&nerife Spirit Algeciras SpiritandHuelva Spirit.The carrying values of these three
vessels were written down due to the expected tetioin of their time-charter contracts in Augustl ddovember 2013, and April 2014,
respectively, along with the expected terminatibtheir associated capital lease obligation. Thareged fair value was based on a
discounted cash flow approach and such estimateastf flow were based on the existing time-chaxbatracts, lease obligations and
operating costs, developed in connection with therfership’s most recent planning and budgetinggss. The Partnership believes its
assumptions to be consistent with those a markétipant would use for valuation purposes.

Subsequent Event:

In February 2013, the Partnership completed it# jognture agreement with Belgium-based Exmar Nowao and charter-in LPG
carriers with a primary focus on the nsike gas carrier segment. The joint venture ertilled Exmar LPG BVBA, took economic eff
as of November 1, 2012 and includes 16 owned LR€ecs (including four newbuildings scheduled felidery in 2014) and five
chartered-in LPG carriers. In addition, the joiehture recently ordered another four mediiae gas carrier newbuildings with delivel
scheduled between 2015 and 2016, with optionsderarp to four additional vessels, which bringsttital fleet size of Exmar LPG
BVBA to 25 vessels, excluding options. For its 506%nership interest in the joint venture, includimgwvbuilding payments made prior
the November 1, 2012, the Partnership investedosppately $134 million of equity and assumed apprmately $108 million of its pro
rata share of existing debt and lease obligatigraf he economic effective date, secured by aextessels in the Exmar LPG BVBA
fleet. Exmar LPG BVBA is in the process of refinancthe joint venture fleet and four of the newHirs with a new $355 million debt
facility.
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LIST OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of Teekay LNG Partners LsRsignificant subsidiaries as at December 31, 2012

Name of Significant Subsidiary Ownership State or Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Teekay LNG Operating L.L.C 10C% Marshall Island:
Teekay Luxembourg S.a.r 10C% Luxembourg
Teekay Spain S.L 10C% Spain

Teekay Il Iberia S.L 10C% Spain

Teekay Shipping Spain S. 10C% Spain

Teekay LNG Holdings L.F 99%% United State:
Teekay Nakilat Holdings Corporatic 10C% Marshall Island:
Teekay Nakilat Corporatio 70% Marshall Island:
Teekay Nakilat (1) Holdings Corporatic 10C% Marshall Island:
Teekay BLT Corporatiol 69% Marshall Island:
Teekay Tangguh Holdings Corporati 99% Marshall Island:
Teekay Tangguh Borrower L.L.( 99% Marshall Island:
Teekay LNG Holdco L.L.C 99%% Marshall Island:
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1st January 2012
TEEKAY LNG OPERATING LLC
-and-

TEEKAY SHIPPING LIMITED

Exhibit 4.26

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT

TLO/TSL ADMIN SERVICES AGREEMENT



THIS AGREEMENT is made effective the 1st day of January 2012

BETWEEN :

(1) TEEKAY LNG OPERATING LLC , alimited liability company incorporated undee tlaws of the Republic of the Marshall Islands
whose registered office is at Trust Company CompAgaltake Road, Ajeltake Island, Majuro, Marshalands MH96960' TLO"); and

(2) TEEKAY SHIPPING LIMITED , a company incorporated under the laws of the Conwealth of the Bahamas with Company
Registration Number 5621 B whose registered officat Bayside House, Bayside Executive Park, Wagt&reet & Blake Road, P.O.
Box A.P. 59213, Nassau, The Bahan'TSL'")

WHEREAS:

A. TLO is a corporation which, inter alia, is ditlycand indirectly engaged in the business of imiional shipping, holding all of the
issued and outstanding shares in a number of vessihg corporations and being the sole memberrafraber of vessel owning
limited liability companies

B. TSL is a wholly owned subsidiary of Teekay Cagimn (“TSC”) and is a provider of a variety obghl shipping and associated
administrative services; al

C. TLO wishes to contract the services of TSL ascdbed herein and TSL is willing to perform thevéees under the terms of this
Agreement

NOW THEREFORE this Agreement witnesses that in consideratiomefrhutual covenants and agreements herein contdinguhrties
hereto agree as follows:

1 Definitions
1.1 In this Agreement the following terms shall have theanings set out belo
1.1.1 ‘Service’ means all matters and services described in Schédbereto
1.1.2 ‘'Service Fe’ means the fee calculated in accordance with tmestset out in Schedule B here
1.1.3 ‘TSC Grou] means TSC any and all direct and indirect subsatiaand affiliates of Teekay Corporatis
1.1.4 ‘TLO Grouf means TLO any and all direct and indirect subsiesaand affiliates of TLC

TLO/TSL ADMIN SERVICES AGREEMENT 2



1.2

3.2

3.3

3.4

Interpretation: In this Agreemer

1.2.1 References to persons include references to bodigsrate and unincorpora

1.2.2 Unless the context requires otherwise, words Irsthgular number include the plural number and vieresa.
1.2.3 Words in one gender shall include all other genc

1.2.4 Clause headings are inserted for convenienigeand shall not effect the construction of thggeement and, unless otherwise
specified, all references to clauses and scheduet clauses of, and schedules to, this Agreer

Appointment

TLO hereby appoints TSL to provide, and TSlebgragrees to provide, the Services for TLO suligand upon the terms and
conditions set out in this Agreeme

Services

TSL shall, except as otherwise instructed b Th writing, perform all or any of the Services fiLO as TLO may from time to time
reasonably reques

TSL shall retain or procure at all times quedifstaff so as to maintain a level of expertiséicdant to provide the Services for TLO in
accordance with this Agreeme

In exercise of its duties hereunder, TSL shetllin accordance with TLO’s corporate policies atahdards as communicated to it by
TLO from time to time and TSL shall at all timegfoem the Services diligently and in a commerciahasonable manner and be
responsible to TLO for the due and proper perforraanf the same

TSL shall keep full and proper books, recomt @counts showing clearly all transactions negato its provision of the Services in
accordance with established general commerciatipescand in accordance with generally acceptedwating principles, and allow
TLO and its representatives to audit and examieé books, records and accounts at any time dutisgpmary business hou

TLO/TSL ADMIN SERVICES AGREEMENT 3



6.2

6.3

Fees and Expense

In return for TSL providing the Services for@LTLO shall pay to TSL the Service Fee as detezthiand by installments as set out, in
Schedule B herett

Subcontracting

TSL shall not assign, sub-contract or sub-Beeany of the obligations or rights hereunder toparty that is not a member of the
Teekay Corporation Group without the prior writtmnsent of TLO and provided that in all cases TBdllgemain responsible for the
due fulfillment of this Agreemen

Termination and Variation

Either party may terminate this Agreement ugieing to the other party at least sixty (60) dayi®r written notice of the effective date
oftermination.

This Agreement shall automatically terming
6.2.1 should TLO no longer directly or indirectly be eggd in the business of international shipp

6.2.2 at the option of the party not in breaclgjtiier party breaches a material obligation of Agseement and fails to remedy the
breach within thirty (30) days after written notitereof;

6.2.3 at the option of the other party, if a pangkes a general assignment for the benefit of@gitors, files a petition in bankruptcy
or for liquidation, is adjudged insolvent or baniucommences any proceedings for a reorganizati@anrangement of debts,
dissolution, or liquidation under any law or statot any jurisdiction applicable thereto, or if auch proceedings shall be
commenced and not dismissed or otherwise dispdsedion sixty (60) days; o

6.2.4 if a final judgment, order or decree whichtenally and adversely affects the ability of eitiparty to perform its obligations
under this Agreement shall have been obtained teresh against the other party and such judgmedérar decree shall not
have been vacated, discharged or sta

Upon termination of this Agreement the Serfee payable to TSL shall be calculated and paibe@ctual date of termination. Any
overpayment shall be refunded to TLO and any uradenent shall be paid to TS

TLO/TSL ADMIN SERVICES AGREEMENT 4



6.4

7.2

10
10.1

In the event of tennination as herein provi@ie® will be fully responsible and liable for anyst@r expense incurred by TSL in
connection with the provision of the Services ptisuch termination or as a consequence of sugfirtation and TSL shall remain
liable to TLO to account for monies received by TiBlconnection with the provision of the- Servipe®r to termination and not
expended prior to or as a consequence of termime

Ratification and indemnification

TLO ratifies and confirms and undertakes atirmés to ratifY and confirm whatever may be priaypdone or caused to be done by TSL
in the provision of the Service

TLO undertakes to keep TSL and its employedsagents indemnified and to hold them harmlessnagalil actions, proceedings,
claims, demands, or liabilities whatsoever whictyrba brought against them due to this Agreemeridticg, without limitation, all
actions, proceedings, claims, demands or lialiiought under the environmental laws of any glicison, and against and in respect
of all costs and expenses (including legal costkepenses on a full indemnity basis) they mayesudf incur due to defending or
settling any or all of the same, provided howetleaf such indemnity shall exclude any or all losae$ions, proceedings, claims,
demands, costs, damages, expenses and liabilitias@aever which may be caused by or due to thégeegle or willful misconduct of
TSL or its employees or agen

Force Majeure

Neither party shall be liable for any failure tafoem its obligations under this Agreement duenyg aause beyond its reasona
control.

Entire Agreement

This Agreement forms the entire agreement berivilee parties with respect to the subject mattezdf and supersedes and replaces al
previous agreements, written or oral, with respethe subject matter here

Severability

If any provision herein is held to be voiduoenforceable, the validity and enforceability led temaining provisions herein shall remair
unaffected and enforceab
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11
111

12
121

13
131

14
14.1

15
151

16
16.1

Relationship between the Partie:

The relationship between the parties is thatdependent contractor. Nothing herein shallriierpreted so as to create a partnership,
joint venture, employee or agency relationship leetwTSL and TLO or any member of the TLO Grc

Confidential Information

TSL shall keep confidential, both during aftérathe currency of this Agreement, all informatieelating in any way to TLO or any
member of the TLO Group that it has acquired orttgyed in the course of providing the Services utitis Agreement. The foregoing
shall not apply to such information which is gefigrienown to the public other than by way of breaxtthis Agreement by TSL and
shall not apply to the extent that TSL is requipgdaw to disclose any such information. TSL shall make use of such information-
any purpose other than in the course of providiegServices hereunder. TLO shall be entitled toequjtable remedy available at law
or equity, including specific performance, agam$treach by TSL of this obligation. TSL shall nesist such application for relief on
the basis that TLO has an adequate remedy at taWT &L shall waive any requirement for the secudngosting of any bond in
connection with such remec

Surrender of Books and Record:

Upon termination of this Agreement TSL shaitliwith surrender to TLO any and all books, respabcuments and other property in
the possession or control of TSL relating to thiggement and to the business, finance, technotoaemarks or affairs of TLO and
any member of the TLO Group and except as requiyddw shall not retain any copies of the sa

Currency
Unless otherwise Dollars. stated, all currencyreafees herein are to United Stz

Law and arbitration

This Agreement shall for all purposes be gowerand construed in accordance with the laws gfdel & Wales. Any dispute arising
out of this Agreement shall be referred to the esigke jurisdiction of the High Court of England &alés at London, England, subjec
the procedures applicable there

Modification and Benefit

This Agreement shall not be amended, alteredloglified except by an instrument in writing exeszliby the parties hereto and shall be
binding upon and inure to their benefit and be ligand inure to the benefit of their respectivecassors and assig!
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17 Notice

17.1 All notices, requests, demands and other camgations given or made in accordance with the igioms of this Agreement shall be in
writing and shall be given either by hand or by faxhe addresses below and shall be deemed todesvegiven when actually

received.
If to TLO: If to TSL:
Teekay LNG Operating LLC Teekay Shipping Limited
Suite No. 1778 Suite No. 1778
48 Par-la-Ville Road 48 Par-la-Ville Road
Hamilton, HM 11 Bermud Hamilton, HM 11 Bermud.
Attn: Secretary Attn: Director
Fax: (441) 292393 Fax: (441) 292 393

18 Waiver

18.1 The failure of either party to enforce anyrteaf this Agreement shall not act as a waiver. dajver must be specifically stated as suct
in writing

19 Counterparts
19.1 This Agreement may be executed in one or more dignanterparts, facsimile or otherwise, which stagether form one instrumei
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IN WITNESS whereof the parties hereto have caused this Agneetode executed by their duly authorized offidtes day and year first
above written

TEEKAY LNG OPERATING LLC TEEKAY SHIPPING LIMITED
NP Ve

By: By:

Name MARK CAVE Name MARK CAVE

Title: DIRECTOR Title: DIRECTOR

TLO/TSL ADMIN SERVICES AGREEMENT



SCHEDULE ‘A’
SERVICES

TSL shall provide for TLO such of the Services a©Tshall from time to time request and direct T8lptovide for it pursuant to Section 3 of
this Agreement.

In this Agreement ‘Services’ means all matters activities including but not limited to those lidtbelow:

1) Business Development Servic

a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

9)
h)

researching macroeconomic trends affecting thteanker markets

developing and implementing strategic plans forghgose of expanding existing business as welkeasloping new busines
providing advice regarding the negotiating andragilag the purchase, sale and financing of ves

coordinating construction of new vessels in varishigpyards around the worl

monitoring and evaluating ship construction anégpmg activities in order to assess available ager

providing advice and making introductions to enalll® to develop strategic alliance

assisting in implementing strategic business desgssuch as new joint ventures or profit poolingiagements

monitoring and analyzing markets worldwide acoatinuous basis to stay abreast of market a&s/éind potential business
opportunities

providing advice regarding strategic customer iefes;
all such other business development services asmaprequest from TSL from time to tinr

TLO/TSL ADMIN SERVICES AGREEMENT 9



SCHEDULE ‘B’
SERVICE FEE

In return for the provision of the Services byLT8r TLO, TLO shall pay to TSL an annual ServioeeFHor each calendar year during the
term of this Agreement divided into Twelve (12) ebmonthly installments payable in advance and Wisaequal to the annual aggre¢
amount of such costs and expenses (the ‘Costs gmehBes’) as TSL may reasonably incur in connedtiitim the provision of the
Services plus a reasonable profit mark-up to beeabupon and reviewed annually by the partiesisoAreement and which shall be
consistent with the guidelines of the OrganizafmmEconomic Cooperation and Development (‘OECDY transfer pricing as well as
local rules and regulation

In respect of each calendar year during the tdrthis Agreement, TSL shall prepare an estimath®fCosts and Expenses it reasonably
expects to incur during such year and shall subath estimate to TLO within Fourteen (14) daysheflast day of the immediately
preceding yeal

The calculation of TSIs aforesaid estimated Costs and Expenses may l&edifrom time to time by agreement between thiéeggaan:
the Service Fee payable by TLO shall k-calculated accordinglh

Within Ninety (90) days (or such longer periodfaes parties shall agree) after the end of each y&i_ shall submit to TLO an
accounting of the Costs and Expenses it has intumrthat year (th¢ Actual Costs and Expeny’).

Fourteen (14) days (or such longer period apé#nges shall agree) after the date on which TSlvels such accounting of its Actual
Costs and Expense

a) where the aggregate of all Service Fees paitkimelevant year, is less than the Actual CostisEaqpenses with the agreed profit
mark-up (if any), TLO shall pay an Adjustment to T<

b)  where the aggregate of all Service Fees patidemelevant year, is greater than the Actual Castsexpenses with the agreed profit
mark-up (if any), TSL shall pay an Adjustment to TLOpk:

c) where the aggregate of all Service Fees paddyigar, is equal to the Actual Costs and Expengtesthie agreed profit mark-up (if
any), no Adjustment is payab

For the purposes hereof'Adjustment’ means a payrfimade in accordance with the foregoing) inatm®unt of the difference between
the aggregate of all Service Fees paid in a yeartlee Actual Costs and Expenses with the agre#it prark-up (if any) incurred in that
year.

TLO/TSL ADMIN SERVICES AGREEMENT 10



EXHIBIT 12.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Peter Evensen, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-F of Teekay LNG Partners L.P. (t* Registrant”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or en#ttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarnces under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this
report;

| and the Registrant’s other certifying offi¢arich is also myself) are responsible for estdliig and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchangdraitgs 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) and internatrod over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 1-15(f) and 15(c-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha\

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registsagiisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Regyig's internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal year that has riedieaffected, or is reasonably likely to matelyadffect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; a

| and the Registrant’s other certifying offi¢erhich is also myself) have disclosed, based omuast recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the Registtamtuditors and the audit committee of the boardictors of the Registrant’s
General Partner (or persons performing the equivdilanctions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Dated: April 16, 2013

By: /s/ Peter Evensen
Peter Evense
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 12.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Peter Evensen, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-F of Teekay LNG Partners L.F* the Registrant’);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or en#ttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarnces under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this
report;

| and the Registrant’s other certifying offi¢arich is also myself) are responsible for estdliig and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchangdraitgs 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) and internatrod over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 1-15(f) and 15(c-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha\

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registsagiisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Regyig's internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal year that has riedieaffected, or is reasonably likely to matelyadffect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; a

| and the Registrant’s other certifying offi¢erhich is also myself) have disclosed, based omuast recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the Registtamtuditors and the audit committee of the boardictors of the Registrant’s
General Partner (or persons performing the equivdilanctions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Dated: April 16, 2013

By: /s/ Peter Evensen
Peter Evense
President and Chief Financial Offic




EXHIBIT 13.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Teekay LIR@tners L.P. (th&Partnership” ) on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2012
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseinthe date hereof (tilEorm 20-F” ), |, Peter Evensen, Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer of the Partnership, certipursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursa&#06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
that:

(1) The Form 20-F fully complies with the requirerteeof Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiestaxme Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); anc

(2) The information contained in the Form 20-Flfapresents, in all material respects, the findnmadition and results of operations of the
Partnership

Dated: April 16, 2013

By: /s/ Peter Evensen
Peter Evense
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offic




EXHIBIT 15.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference infélewing Registration Statements of Teekay LNGtRers L.P.:
(1) No. 333124647 on Form-8 pertaining to the Teekay LNG Partners L.P. 2006d_-Term Incentive Plal

(2) No. 33:-174220 on Form F-3 and related prospectus fordgbestration of up to $750,000,000 of common urefgesenting limited
partnership units, ar

(3) NO0.333-170838 on Form F-3 and related prospectudéordgistration of 1,052,749 common units represgrimited partnership
units;

of our reports dated April 16, 2013, with respectite consolidated financial statements as at DbeeBil, 2012 and 2011 and for each of the
years in the two year period ended December 312,2801d the effectiveness of internal control owearicial reporting as of December .

2012, of Teekay LNG Partners L.P. and our repaedidMarch 15, 2013, with respect to the consoldl&iteancial statements of MALT LNG
Holdings ApS, which reports appear in the Decen3de2012 Annual Report on Form 20-F of Teekay LNgBtfers L.P.

Vancouver, Canad /sl KPMG LLP
April 16, 2013 Chartered Accountan



EXHIBIT 15.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:
(1) No. 333124647 on Form-8 pertaining to the Teekay LNG Partners L.P. 2006d_-Term Incentive Plal

(2) No. 33:-174220 on Form F-3 and related prospectus forebestration of up to $750,000,000 of common urefgesenting limited
partnership units, ar

(3) No. 33:-170838 on Form-3 and related prospectus for the registration @2,749 common units representing limited partriprshits;

of our report dated April 1, 2011, with respecttte consolidated results of operations, cash flamgschanges in total equity of Teekay LNG
Partners L.P. and subsidiaries for the year endszbidber 31, 2010, included in this Annual RepootitiF20-F) of Teekay LNG Partners L.P.
for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Vancouver, Canad /sl Ernst &Young LLF
April 16, 2013 Chartered Accountan



Exhibit 15.3
Consolidated Financial Statements

MALT LNG Holdings ApS
December 31, 2012



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
MALT LNG Holdings ApS:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated dinhstatements of MALT LNG Holdings Aps (and itssidiaries), which comprise the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 20tiZhe related consolidated statements of indtmes), shareholders’ equity (deficiency),
and cash flows for the year then ended, and tla¢ecthotes to the consolidated financial statements

Managemen's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation aimgpfesentation of these consolidated financatkshents in accordance with U.S. generall
accepted accounting principles; this includes #&gh, implementation, and maintenance of intezoatrol relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of consolidated financial statemdrasdre free from material misstatement, whethertddraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hesnsolidated financial statements based on ddit. aMe conducted our audit in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in thadd States of America. Those standards requireviie plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolifiled@dial statements are free from material mtsstent.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtaidibevidence about the amounts and disclosuréfgiconsolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditorgirjadt, including the assessment of the risks oén@tmisstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or efromaking those risk assessments, the audit@iders internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of tbasolidated financial statements in order to deaigplit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the entitgteiinal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluatingappropriateness of accounting policies used amdeaasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evalubgmgyerall presentation of the consolidated faia@rstatements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtamedfficient and appropriate to provide a basisofur audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly in all materggpects, the financial position of MALT

LNG Holdings ApS (and its subsidiaries) as of DebenB1, 2012, and the results of their operatiostheir cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with U.S. generally acceptedusting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 15, 2013



MALT LNG HOLDINGS APS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)
(in U.S. Dollars)

(unaudited)
From
Incorporation
Date October 17

Year Ended 2011 to

December 31, December 31,
2012 2011
$ $

VOYAGE REVENUES (note 8) 169,637,16 —
OPERATING EXPENSES
Voyage expense 1,101,05! —
Vessel operating expens(note 10b) 26,138,91 —
Depreciation and amortizati(notes 4 and & 38,242,05 —
General and administratiynote 10b 9,996,37 1,602,70
Total operating expenses 75,478,41 1,602,70!
Income (loss) from operations 94,158,75 (1,602,701
OTHER ITEMS
Interest incom 137,67¢ —
Interest expens (19,008,89) —
Foreign exchange lo: (21,479 —
Other income 554,08t —
Total other items (18,338,60) —
Net income (loss) before income tax expe 75,820,15 (1,602,70i)
Income tax expens 149,15¢ —
Net income (loss 75,670,99 (1,602,70)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstEilements.

Refer to note 9 for related party transactio



MALT LNG HOLDINGS APS
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in U.S. Dollars)

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable and accrued reve
Prepaid expenses and deferred debt issuance

Total current assets

Long-term assets
Vessels and equipme(note 4)
Intangible assei(note 5)

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)

Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities(note 6)
Due to related partie(note 10d;
Shor-term debi(note 7)
Current portion of i-process revenue contra(note 8)
Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities
Long-term deferred revenus
In-process revenue contra(note 8)

Total liabilities

Shareholders equity (deficiency)

Share capite(note 9)

Additional paic-in capital(note 9)
Retained earnings (defic

Total shareholders equity (deficiency)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsi@tgements.

As at
December 31,
2012
$

(unaudited)
As at
December 31

2011
$

47,887,39
6,885,34
2,868,80:

57,641,53

1,422,706,35
7,477,08

1,487,824,96

800,11¢
5,090,25!
5,120,63
998,095,20
17,366,00
8,875,36!

1,595,09!

1,035,347,56

1,595,09!

3,497,32i
97,998,42

1,136,843,31

1,595,09

83,351
276,829,99
74,068,29

7,60¢

(1,602,701

350,981,65

(1,595,09)

1,487,824,96




MALT LNG HOLDINGS APS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in U.S. Dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss

Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortizatic

Amortization of ir-process revenue contra

Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs inetlith interest expen
Change in operating assets and liabili(note 11)
Net operating cash flow

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds on issuance of skterm debt
Scheduled repayments of si-term deb:
Equity contribution from shareholde
Debt issuance cos

Net financing cash flow

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of MALT LNG Transport ApS, net of caslssumed of $10.8 millioi(note 2)
Net investing cash flown

Increase in cash
Cash, beginning of the ye

Cash, end of the yea
Supplemental cash flow information (note 11)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstEilements.

(unaudited)
From
Incorporation
Date
October 17,
2011 to
Year Ended December 31
December 31,
2012 2011
$ $
75,670,99 (1,602,701
38,242,05 —
(20,515,57) -
2,810,47. —
17,471,55 1,595,09!
113,679,50 (7,605)
1,063,095,20 —
(65,000,00) -
276,905,75 7,60¢
(5,042,32)) —
1,269,958,63 7,60t

(1,335,750,74)

(1,335,750,74)

47,887,39

47,887,39




MALT LNG HOLDINGS APS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIENCY)
(in U.S. Dollars except for number of shares)

Total

Number of Additional (Deficit) / Shareholders’
Share Paid-In Retained Equity
Common Capital Capital Earnings (Deficiency)
Shares $

Issuance of common stock 80,00( 7,60¢ — — 7,60¢
Net loss — — — (1,602,70)  (1,602,70i)
Balance as at December 31, 2011 (unaudite 80,00( 7,60¢ — (1,602,70)  (1,595,09)
Issuance of common sto 420,000 75,75: 276,829,99 — 276,905,75
Net income — — — 75,670,99 75,670,99
Balance as at December 31, 20: 500,000 83,35" 276,829,99 74,068,29 350,981,65

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsi@gements.



MALT LNG HOLDINGS APS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accountingolicies

The consolidated financial statements have bequaped in conformity with United States generallgegted accounting principles (06
GAAP). These consolidated financial statements incthdeaccounts of MALT LNG Holdings ApS, which is orporated under the laws of
Denmark, and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collegty, theCompany). The following is a list of MALT LNG Holdings ApSubsidiaries:

Proportion
of

Ownership
Name of Significant Subsidiaries Jurisdiction of Incorporation Interest
MALT LNG Transport ApS Denmark 10C%
Meridian Spirit ApS Denmark 10C%
Magellan Spirit Ap< Denmark 10C%
Membrane Shipping Ltc Republic of The Marshall Islanc 10C%
MALT Singapore Pte. Ltc Singapore 10C%

Intercompany balances and transactions have baamaied upon consolidation.

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith US GAAP requires management to make esésiand assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements andrapanying notes. Actual results could differ frdrose estimates.

The Company evaluated events and transactionsraugafter the balance sheet date and throughadhete financial statements were
available to be issued which was March 15, 2013.

Foreign currency

The consolidated financial statements are statéd$h Dollars and the functional currency of ther@any is U.S. Dollars. Transactions
involving other currencies during the year are @ted into U.S. Dollars using the exchange rateffact at the time of the transactions. At
balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabtligsre denominated in currencies other thattBe Dollar are translated to reflect the year
end exchange rates. Resulting gains and losseefleeted separately in the consolidated statenm@ntecome (loss).

Operating revenues and expenses

The lease element of tin@varters and bareboat charters accounted for aatoypeleases are recognized by the Company dady the term o
the charter as the applicable vessel operates tineleharter. The Company recognizes revenuestfiemon-lease element of time-charter
contracts daily as services are performed. The @ompgoes not recognize revenues during days thatassel is off-hire.

Voyage expenses are all expenses unique to aydartimyage, including bunker fuel expenses, pegsf cargo loading and unloading
expenses, canal tolls, agency fees and commissdi@ssel operating expenses include crewing, repailsmaintenance, insurance, stores, lub
oils and communication expenses. Voyage expensksemsel operating expenses are recognized wharreéac

Business Combinations

The Company uses the acquisition method of acaogifitr business combinations and recognizes asgatrad and liabilities assumed
measured at their fair values on the date acquiree fair values of the assets and liabilities &reguare determined based on the Company’s
valuation. The valuation involves making significastimates and assumptions which are based oitediiaancial models including the
projection of future cash flows, the weighted ageraost of capital and any cost saving that areeg to be derived in the future.

Cash
The Company classifies all highly-liquid investmentith a maturity date of three months or less wharchased as cash.

Vessels and equipment

The acquisition cost and all costs incurred toorestised vessels purchased by the Company toahéastls required to properly service the
Company’s customers are capitalized.



MALT LNG HOLDINGS APS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basisr a vessed’ estimated useful life, less an estimated residaiak. Depreciation is calculal
using an estimated useful life of 35 years fordified natural gas (dING) carriers, from the date the vessel is deliverethfthe shipyard, or
shorter period if regulations prevent the Companynfoperating the vessels for 35 years.

Vessel capital modifications include the additidmew equipment or can encompass various modifinatto the vessel which are aimed at
improving or increasing the operational efficieranyd functionality of the asset. This type of exptmd is amortized over the estimated useful
life of the modification. Expenditures covering wedng routine repairs and maintenance are expeaséacurred.

Generally, the Company dry docks each of its vessatry five years. In addition, a shipping socifssification intermediate survey is
performed on the Company’s LNG carriers betweersdwnd and third year of the five-year dry-dockiegiod. The Company capitalizes
certain costs incurred during dry docking and far survey and amortizes those costs on a strarghbasis from the completion of a dry
docking or intermediate survey over the estimatful life of the dry dock. The Company includesapitalized dry docking those costs
incurred as part of the dry docking to meet reguiatequirements, or expenditures that either adehemic life to the vessel, increase the
vessel's earning capacity or improve the vessglerating efficiency. The Company expenses costsew@lto routine repairs and maintenance
performed during dry docking that do not improvegting efficiency or extend the useful lives c# tissets.

Vessels and equipment are assessed for impairntent @vents or circumstances indicate the carryimguat of the asset may not be
recoverable. If the asset’s net carrying value edsdhe net undiscounted cash flows expected ¢eberated over its remaining useful life, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to itsnedéid fair value. Estimated fair value is determibased on discounted cash flows or
appraised values.

Debt issuance costs

Debt issuance costs, including fees, commissioddeayal expenses, relating to bank loan faciliéiesdeferred and amortized using the
effective interest rate method over the term ofrtHevant loan. Amortization of deferred debt iss&is included in interest expense.

Intangible assets

The Company’s finite life intangible assets conefsaicquired time-charter contracts and are anextan a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the time-charters. Finite liféaingible assets are assessed for impairment wheniseor circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable.

Income taxes

The legal jurisdictions in which the Company’s Maa# Island and Singapore subsidiaries are incatedrdo not impose income taxes upon
shipping-related activities. The Compasanish subsidiaries are subject to the Danismaga Tax Regime. Under this regime, the applic
tax is based on the weight (measured as net tohoégjee vessel and the number of days in the taxadriod that the vessel is at the
Company’s disposal, excluding time required foraiep

The Company accounts for income taxes using thditiamethod which requires companies to determitnether it is more-likely-than-not
that a tax position taken or expected to be takentax return will be sustained upon examinatiociuding resolution of any related appeals o
litigation processes, based on the technical mefitise position. If a tax position meets the midkely-than-not recognition threshold, it is
measured to determine the amount of benefit togr@eze in the financial statements based on guidantiee interpretation. The Company
recognizes interest and penalties related to waicetdx positions in income tax expense. As of Ddwer 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, thi
Company did not have any material accrued intenedtpenalties relating to income taxes.

2. Business Combination

On February 28, 2012, the Company acquired six lddf@iers through the purchase of all outstandimgitabstock of MALT LNG Transport
ApS (formerly Maersk LNG Transport A/S), from Demindased A.P. Moller-Maersk A/S (daersk), for approximately $1.3 billion. The
acquisition was financed with $1.06 billion froncaeed loan facilities and $265.7 million from tlssuance of common stock to its
shareholders. Teekay Luxembourg S.a.r.l. and SdaN& Transport, Ltd. are joint venture partnersdintg interest in the Company of 52%
and 48%, respectively.

The Company’s acquisition was accounted for udiregaurchase method of accounting, based upon éesroafair value. The estimated fair
values of certain assets and liabilities have lik@rmined with the assistance of third-party viédumaspecialists and were finalized during the
year. The operating results of MALT LNG Transpopg\are reflected in the Compiés consolidated financial statements from Febrzgy
2012, the effective date of acquisition. During Braber



MALT LNG HOLDINGS APS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2012, the Company recognized $169.6 million of rexeand $83.9 million of net income resulting friis acquisition. In addition, the
Company incurred $1.9 million and $1.1 million efyisition-related expenses for the year ended mMbee 31, 2012 and from incorporation
date October 17, 2011 to December 31, 2011, raspBctwhich are reflected in general and admiaiste expenses.

The following table summarizes the fair valuesha &ssets and liabilities acquired, assumed bZtmepany at February 28, 2012:

As at February

28,
2012
$

ASSETS
Cash 10,800,25
Other current asse 24,371,97
Vessels and equipme 1,458,075,49
Intangible asset 10,350,00
Total assets acquirec 1,503,597,72
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities 17,488,16
Deferred revenue 3,678,56!
In-process revenue contra 135,880,00
Total liabilities assumed 157,046,72
Net assets acquirec 1,346,551,00
Cash consideration 1,346,551,00

3. Fair Value Measurements
The following methods and assumptions were usestimate the fair value of each class of finanicistrument:

Cash— The fair value of the Company’s cash approximasesarrying amounts reported in the consolidét@ldnce sheets.

Short-term debt — The fair values of the Company’s variable-ratersterm debt are estimated using discounted dashdnalyses, based on
rates currently available for debt with similamterand remaining maturities.

The Company categorizes the fair value estimatesflayr value hierarchy based on the inputs useddasure fair value. The fair value
hierarchy has three levels based on the relialofithe inputs used to determine fair value aofed:

Level 1.  Observable inputs such as quoted prices in actaskets;

Level 2. Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active ®igtkhat are observable either directly or indiyeand
Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there idditir no market data, which require the reportintite to develop its own
assumptions

The following table includes the estimated fairneabnd carrying value of those assets and liadslifiat are measured at fair value on a
recurring and non-recurring basis, as well as #tienated fair value of the Company’s financial instents that are not accounted for at a fair
value on a recurring basis.

(unaudited)

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Carrying
Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Carrying Fair Value Asse Asset
Hierarchy Amount Asset (Liability) Asset
(Liability) (Liability) (Liability)
Level $ $ $ $
Cash Level 1 47,887,39 47,887,39 — —
Shor-term debi(note 7) Level Z (998,095,20) (998,095,20) — —

9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Vessels and Equipment

Accumulated

Cost depreciation Net book value
$ $ $
Balance, December 31, 2011 (unaudited) — — —
Acquisition of MALT LNG Transport Ap¢ 1,458,075,49 — 1,458,075,49
Depreciatior — (35,369,13) (35,369,13)
Balance, December, 31 20 1,458,075,49 (35,369,13) 1,422,706,35

5. Intangible Assets

As at December 31, 2012 intangible assets considtede time-charter contract with an amortizageniod of 3.1 years. The carrying amount
of intangible assets for the Company is as follows:

(unaudited)
December 31 December 31
2012 2011
$ $
Gross carrying amount 10,350,00 —
Accumulated amortizatio (2,872,920 —
Net carrying amour 7,477,08 —

Amortization expense of intangible assets is $2IBom for the year ended December 31, 2012. Anzetton of intangible assets for the three
years following 2012 is expected to be $3.2 mill{@gd13), $3.4 million (2014) and $0.9 million (201

6. Accrued Liabilities

December 31

(unaudited)
December 31
2012 2011
3 s
Voyage and vessel accruals 3,219,601 —
Interest accrual 1,236,14 —
Audit, legal and other general accru 401,71: —
Income taxes payable and otl 232,79 —
5,090,25! —
7. Short-term Debt
(unaudited)
December 31 December 31
2012 2011
$ $

U.S. Dollar denominated debt due through 2013 998,095,20 —

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had a U.SaBdénominated term loan outstanding in the amo@i$8619.0 million. This loan has
quarterly interest payments based on LIBOR pluggmarranging between 2.40% and 3.00% and a belpetyment of $519.0 million due at
maturity on August 6, 2013. The term loan is cellatized by shares and earnings of the Compangsel®wning subsidiaries.

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had a U.SaB@¢énominated term loan outstanding in the amotf#79.1 million. This loan has
monthly interest payments based on LIBOR plus 0.35%a bullet repayment of $479.1 million due aturigy on August 6, 2013. The term
loan is collateralized by shares and earnings®fXbmpany’s vessel owning subsidiaries.

The weighted-average effective interest rate ferGompany’s short-term debt outstanding as at Dbeefil, 2012 was 1.71%.

10
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company expects to refinance its existing émblity maturing in August 2013 with two long-terpmoject facilities secured by the
Woodside Donaldsoand theMeridian Spiritvessels for an aggregate amount of approximated® $3llion. The remaining refinancing is
expected to be obtained through a medium termitigcilecured by th#arib Spirit, Arwa Spirit, Methane SpiriendMagellan Spiritas well
as through several guarantees from the joint vergartners based on their relative share holdifigs.total amount of debt refinanced is
anticipated to be $980 million, resulting in a $20lion shortfall compared to the debt maturingtba existing facility. This shortfall will be
covered through operating cash flows and existaghaesources in the Company.

8. In-process Revenue Contracts

As part of the Company’s acquisition of MALT LNGalrsport ApS the Company assumed certain LNG cheotgracts with terms that were
less favorable than the then prevailing market $effine Company has recognized a liability basetherestimated fair value of these contre
The Company is amortizing this liability over thetimated remaining terms of the contracts on a ltedjbasis based on the projected revenu
to be earned under the contracts and are recosdedriof voyage revenues in the Company’s corat@iistatements of income (loss).

As at December 31, 2012 in-process revenue costeacisisted of five time-charter contracts witheighted-average amortization period of
14.5 years. The carrying amount of in-process regawontracts for the Company is as follows:

(unaudited)

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
$ $

Gross carrying amount 135,880,00 —
Accumulated amortizatio (20,515,57) —
Net carrying amour 115,364,42 —
Less current portio 17,366,00 —
97,998,42 —

Amortization for the five years following 2012 ispected to be $17.4 million (2013), $6.7 millior0{2), $6.7 million (2015), $6.7 million
(2016), $6.7 million (2017) and $71.2 million (teafter).

9. Share Capital
On October 17, 2011, the Company issued 80,00@sludiits common stock. The aggregate proceedset@ompany were $7,605. The
Company used these proceeds to pay for legal Esexi@ted with incorporating the Company.

On February 24, 2012, the Company issued 420,08@stof its common stock. The aggregate proceetthe tGompany were $276.9 million,
of which $276.8 million was in excess of the pauesand recognized as additional paid-in capitak Tompany used these proceeds primaril
to acquire a 100% interest in MALT LNG Transport3\pn February 28, 2012 from Maersk.

December 31

(unaudited)
December 31
2012 2011
% %
Authorized
500,000 Common shares, with a par value of $0. 860
Issued and outstanding
500,000 Common shar 83,35 7,60¢

10. Related Party Transactions

a. Teekay Luxembourg S.a.r.l. and Scarlet LNG Tparts Ltd. are joint venture partners holding ovaidp interest in the Company of 52%
and 48%, respectively. Marubeni Corporation isuttienate parent company of Scarlet LNG Transpoid, and Teekay Corporation is
the ultimate parent company of Teekay Luxembouegr $.

b. The Company and certain of its operating subsih have entered into service agreements witkalyeghipping Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Teekay Corporation to which Teekaipimg Ltd. provides the Company and its subsidi

11



MALT LNG HOLDINGS APS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

with corporate and technical ship management sesvio addition, crew training services and tramsitelated services were provided to
the Company by Teekay Shipping Ltd. These senacesneasured at the exchange adjustment amourgdretive parties. For the
periods indicated, these related party transactiare as follows

(unaudited)

From
Incorporation
Date October 17
Year Ended
December 31 2011 to
December 31,
2012 2011
% %
Crew training expenses included in vessel operaiupgnses 371,58: —
Ship management services included in general aminégtrative 1,661,20: —
Corporate services included in general and admatige 1,025,00! —
Transition services included in general and adrratise 2,100,00! —
c. From time to time, other payments are made filjadds on behalf of the Company that are not #jmem any agreements described

above.

d. The amounts due to related parties are nonesitéearing, unsecured and have no fixed repayt@ens. The Company did not incur
interest expense from related party balances dihiegear ended December 31, 2012 and from incatipordate on October 17, 2011 to
December 31, 2011. Balances with related partiesarfollows

(unaudited)

From
Incorporation
Date October 17
Year Ended
December 31 2011 to
December 31,
2012 2011
$ $
Teekay Shipping Limited 4,638,66! 1,595,09!
Teekay Corporatio 365,23! —
Other related partie 116,73. —
5,120,63; 1,595,09!

11. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

a. The changes in operating assets and liabifiiegear ended December 31, 2012 and from theafatecorporation October 17, 2011 to
December 31, 2011 are as folloy

(unaudited)
From
Incorporation
Date October 17

Year Ended 2011 to
December 31 December 31,
2012 2011
$ $

Accounts receivable 13,935,53 —
Prepaid expenst 2,914,13 —
Accounts payabl (5,071,15) —
Accrued liabilities 6,112,93: —
Due to related partie 3,525,53 1,595,09!
Deferred revenue (3,945,43) —

17,471,55 1,595,09!

12
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b.  During the year ended December 31, 2012 and fhendate of incorporation on October 17, 2011 éacénber 31, 2011 cash paid for
interest on sho-term debt was $14.7 million and nil, respectivi

12. Operating Leases

As at December 31, 2012, the minimum scheduleddutvenues in the next five years to be receiyetthd® Company for the lease and non-
lease elements under charters are approximatell,. $h3illion (2013), $188.9 million (2014), $157.2lion (2015), $135.4 million (2016) and
$108.1 million (2017).

Minimum scheduled future revenues do not includemnee generated from new contracts entered inéo Btcember 31, 2012, revenue from
unexercised option periods or contracts that existeDecember 31, 2012 or variable or contingergmaes. Therefore, the minimum
scheduled future revenues should not be constuesflect total charter hire revenues for any ef yiears.
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